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IPSAS 30—FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES
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from International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 7, Financial Instruments:
Disclosures published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Extracts from IFRS 7 are reproduced in this publication of the International Public
Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) of the International Federation of
Accountants (IFAC) with the permission of the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) Foundation.

The approved text of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) is
that published by the IASB in the English language, and copies may be obtained
directly from IFRS Publications Department, First Floor, 30 Cannon Street,
London EC4M 6XH, United Kingdom.

E-mail: publications@ifrs.org
Internet: www.ifrs.org

IFRSs, IASs, Exposure Drafts, and other publications of the IASB are copyright
of the IFRS Foundation.

“IFRS,” “IAS,” “IASB,” “IFRS Foundation,” “International Accounting Stand-
ards,” and “International Financial Reporting Standards” are trademarks of the IFRS
Foundation and should not be used without the approval of the IFRS Foundation.
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IPSAS 30—FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

History of IPSAS

This version includes amendments resulting from IPSASs issued up to
January 31, 2017.

IPSAS 30, Financial Instruments: Disclosures was issued in January 2010.

Since then, IPSAS 30 has been amended by the following IPSASs:

IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits (issued July 2016)

The Applicability of IPSASs (issued April 2016)

Improvements to IPSASs 2015 (issued April 2016)

IPSAS 38, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (issued January 2015)
IPSAS 37, Joint Arrangements (issued January 2015)

IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements (issued January 2015)

IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) (issued January 2015)

Improvements to IPSASs 2011 (issued October 2011)

Table of Amended Paragraphs in IPSAS 30

Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
Introduction section Deleted Improvements to
IPSASs October 2011
3 Amended IPSAS 35 January 2015
IPSAS 37 January 2015
IPSAS 39 July 2016
6 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
7 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
52A New IPSAS 33 January 2015
52B New IPSAS 38 January 2015
IPSAS 37 January 2015
IPSAS 35 January 2015
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Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
52C New Improvements to
IPSASs April 2016
52D New The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
52E New IPSAS 39 July 2016
53 Amended IPSAS 33 January 2015
AG6 Amended IPSAS 38 January 2015
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

International Public Sector Accounting Standard 30, Financial Instruments:
Disclosures, is set out in paragraphs 1-54. All the paragraphs have equal
authority. IPSAS 30 should be read in the context of its objective, the Basis for
Conclusions, the Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards, and
the Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public
Sector Entities. IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors, provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting policies in the
absence of explicit guidance.

IPSAS 30 1344



Objective

1.

Scope

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

The objective of this Standard is to require entities to provide disclosures in
their financial statements that enable users to evaluate:

@)

(b)

The significance of financial instruments for the entity’s financial
position and performance; and

The nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments to
which the entity is exposed during the period and at the end of the
reporting period, and how the entity manages those risks.

The principles in this Standard complement the principles for recognizing,
measuring, and presenting financial assets and financial liabilities in
IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments: Presentation and IPSAS 29, Financial
Instruments.: Recognition and Measurement.

This Standard shall be applied by all entities to all types of financial
instruments, except:

(a)

(b)

©

Those interests in controlled entities, associates, or joint
ventures that are accounted for in accordance with IPSAS 34,
Separate Financial Statements, IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial
Statements or IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures. However, in some cases, IPSAS 34, IPSAS 35, or IPSAS
37 require or permit an entity to account for an interest in a
controlled entity, associate, or joint venture using IPSAS 29; in
those cases, entities shall apply the requirements of this Standard.
Entities shall also apply this Standard to all derivatives linked to
interests in controlled entities, associates, or joint ventures unless
the derivative meets the definition of an equity instrument in
IPSAS 28.

Employers’ rights and obligations arising from employee benefit
plans, to which IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits applies.

Rights and obligations arising under insurance contracts.
However, this Standard applies to:

@A) Derivatives that are embedded in insurance contracts if
IPSAS 29 requires the entity to account for them separately;
and

(i) An issuer of financial guarantee contracts if the issuer
applies IPSAS 29 in recognizing and measuring the
contracts, but shall apply the relevant international or
national accounting standard dealing with insurance
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6.

7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

contracts if the issuer elects to apply those standards in
recognizing and measuring them.

In addition to (i) and (ii) above, an entity may apply this Standard
to insurance contracts which involve the transfer of financial risk.

(d) Financial instruments, contracts, and obligations under share-
based payment transactions to which the relevant international or
national accounting standard dealing with share-based payment
applies, except for contracts within the scope of paragraphs 4—6
of IPSAS 29, to which that Standard applies.

(e) Instruments that are required to be classified as equity instruments
in accordance with paragraphs 15 and 16 or paragraphs 17 and 18
of IPSAS 28.

This Standard applies to recognized and unrecognized financial instruments.
Recognized financial instruments include financial assets and financial
liabilities that are within the scope of IPSAS 29. Unrecognized financial
instruments include some financial instruments that, although outside the
scope of IPSAS 29, are within the scope of this Standard (such as some loan
commitments).

This Standard applies to contracts to buy or sell a non-financial item that are
within the scope of IPSAS 29 (see paragraphs 4—6 of IPSAS 29).

[Deleted]

[Deleted]

Definitions

8.

IPSAS 30

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause
a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in
meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled
by delivering cash or another financial asset.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

Loans payable are financial liabilities, other than short-term trade
payables on normal credit terms.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.
Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate
risk, and other price risk.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices
(other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk),
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual
financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded in the market.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to make a
payment when contractually due.

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same
meaning as in those Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of
Defined Terms published separately.

Classes of Financial Instruments and Level of Disclosure

9.

When this Standard requires disclosures by class of financial instrument,
an entity shall group financial instruments into classes that are appropriate
to the nature of the information disclosed and that take into account the
characteristics of those financial instruments. An entity shall provide
sufficient information to permit reconciliation to the line items presented in
the statement of financial position.

Significance of Financial Instruments for Financial Position and
Financial Performance

10.

An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial
statements to evaluate the significance of financial instruments for its
financial position and performance.

Statement of Financial Position

Categories of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

11.

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories, as defined in
IPSAS 29, shall be disclosed either in the statement of financial position or
in the notes:

(@)  Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit, showing
separately (i) those designated as such upon initial recognition, and
(ii) those classified as held-for-trading in accordance with IPSAS 29;

(b)  Held-to-maturity investments;
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

Loans and receivables;
Available-for-sale financial assets;

Financial liabilities at fair value through surplus or deficit, showing
separately (i) those designated as such upon initial recognition, and (ii)
those classified as held-for-trading in accordance with IPSAS 29; and

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.

Financial Assets or Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit

12.

13.

IPSAS 30

If the entity has designated a loan or receivable (or group of loans or
receivables) as at fair value through surplus or deficit, it shall disclose:

@

(b)

©

@

The maximum exposure to credit risk (see paragraph 43(a)) of the
loan or receivable (or group of loans or receivables) at the end of the
reporting period.

The amount by which any related credit derivatives or similar
instruments mitigate that maximum exposure to credit risk.

The amount of change, during the period and cumulatively, in the
fair value of the loan or receivable (or group of loans or receivables)
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the financial asset
determined either:

(1)  Asthe amount of change in its fair value that is not attributable
to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk; or

(i)  Using an alternative method the entity believes more faithfully
represents the amount of change in its fair value that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of the asset.

Changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk include
changes in an observed (benchmark) interest rate, commodity price,
foreign exchange rate, or index of prices or rates.

The amount of the change in the fair value of any related credit
derivatives or similar instruments that has occurred during the period
and cumulatively since the loan or receivable was designated.

If the entity has designated a financial liability as at fair value through surplus
or deficit in accordance with paragraph 10 of IPSAS 29, it shall disclose:

@

The amount of change, during the period and cumulatively, in the fair
value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the
credit risk of that liability determined either:

(1)  Asthe amount of change in its fair value that is not attributable
to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk
(see Appendix A, paragraph AG4); or
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14.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

(i)  Using an alternative method the entity believes more faithfully
represents the amount of change in its fair value that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability.

Changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk include
changes in a benchmark interest rate, the price of another entity’s
financial instrument, a commodity price, a foreign exchange rate,
or an index of prices or rates. For contracts that include a unit-
linking feature, changes in market conditions include changes in the
performance of the related internal or external investment fund.

(b)  The difference between the financial liability’s carrying amount
and the amount the entity would be contractually required to pay at
maturity to the holder of the obligation.

The entity shall disclose:

(@  The methods used to comply with the requirements in paragraphs
12(c) and 13(a).

(b)  Ifthe entity believes that the disclosure it has given to comply with the
requirements in paragraph 12(c) or 13(a) does not faithfully represent
the change in the fair value of the financial asset or financial liability
attributable to changes in its credit risk, the reasons for reaching this
conclusion and the factors it believes are relevant.

Reclassification

15.

16.

If the entity has reclassified a financial asset (in accordance with paragraphs
60—63 of IPSAS 29) as one measured:

(@) At cost or amortized cost, rather than at fair value; or
(b) At fair value, rather than at cost or amortized cost;

it shall disclose the amount reclassified into and out of each category and the
reason for that reclassification.

If the entity has reclassified a financial asset out of the fair value through
surplus or deficit category in accordance with paragraph 55 or 57 of IPSAS
29 or out of the available-for-sale category in accordance with paragraph 58
of IPSAS 29, it shall disclose:

(@  The amount reclassified into and out of each category;

(b)  For each reporting period until derecognition, the carrying amounts
and fair values of all financial assets that have been reclassified in the
current and previous reporting periods;
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Derecognition

17.

©

@

©

®

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

If a financial asset was reclassified in accordance with paragraph
55 of IPSAS 29, the rare situation, and the facts and circumstances
indicating that the situation was rare;

For the reporting period when the financial asset was reclassified, the
fair value gain or loss on the financial asset recognized in surplus
or deficit or in net assets/equity in that reporting period and in the
previous reporting period;

For each reporting period following the reclassification (including the
reporting period in which the financial asset was reclassified) until
derecognition of the financial asset, the fair value gain or loss that
would have been recognized in surplus or deficit or in net assets/
equity if the financial asset had not been reclassified, and the gain,
loss, revenue, and expense recognized in surplus or deficit; and

The effective interest rate and estimated amounts of cash flows the
entity expects to recover, as at the date of reclassification of the
financial asset.

An entity may have transferred financial assets in such a way that part or all
of the financial assets do not qualify for derecognition (see paragraphs 17-39
of IPSAS 29). The entity shall disclose for each class of such financial assets:

@
(b)

©

@

Collateral

18.

IPSAS 30

The nature of the assets;

The nature of the risks and rewards of ownership to which the entity
remains exposed;

When the entity continues to recognize all of the assets, the carrying
amounts of the assets, and of the associated liabilities; and

When the entity continues to recognize the assets to the extent of
its continuing involvement, the total carrying amount of the original
assets, the amount of the assets that the entity continues to recognize,
and the carrying amount of the associated liabilities.

An entity shall disclose:

@

(b)

The carrying amount of financial assets it has pledged as collateral for
liabilities or contingent liabilities, including amounts that have been
reclassified in accordance with paragraph 39(a) of IPSAS 29; and

The terms and conditions relating to its pledge.
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19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

When an entity holds collateral (of financial or non-financial assets) and is
permitted to sell or repledge the collateral in the absence of default by the
owner of the collateral, it shall disclose:

(a) The fair value of the collateral held;

(b)  The fair value of any such collateral sold or repledged, and whether
the entity has an obligation to return it; and

(c)  The terms and conditions associated with its use of the collateral.

Allowance Account for Credit Losses

20.

When financial assets are impaired by credit losses and the entity records the
impairment in a separate account (e.g., an allowance account used to record
individual impairments or a similar account used to record a collective
impairment of assets) rather than directly reducing the carrying amount of
the asset, it shall disclose a reconciliation of changes in that account during
the period for each class of financial assets.

Compound Financial Instruments with Multiple Embedded Derivatives

21.

If an entity has issued an instrument that contains both a liability and an
equity component (see paragraph 33 of IPSAS 28) and the instrument has
multiple embedded derivatives whose values are interdependent (such as a
callable convertible debt instrument), it shall disclose the existence of those
features.

Defaults and Breaches

22.

23.

For loans payable recognized at the end of the reporting period, an entity
shall disclose:

(@  Details of any defaults during the period of principal, interest, sinking
fund, or redemption terms of those loans payable;

(b)  The carrying amount of the loans payable in default at the end of the
reporting period; and

() Whether the default was remedied, or the terms of the loans payable
were renegotiated, before the financial statements were authorized for
issue.

If, during the period, there were breaches of loan agreement terms other than
those described in paragraph 22, an entity shall disclose the same information
as required by paragraph 22 if those breaches permitted the lender to demand
accelerated repayment (unless the breaches were remedied, or the terms of
the loan were renegotiated, on or before the end of the reporting period).
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

Statement of Financial Performance
Items of Revenue, Expense, Gains, or Losses

24, An entity shall disclose the following items of revenue, expense, gains, or
losses either in the statement of financial performance or in the notes:

(@  Net gains or net losses on:

1) Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
surplus or deficit, showing separately those on financial
assets or financial liabilities designated as such upon initial
recognition, and those on financial assets or financial liabilities
that are classified as held for trading in accordance with IPSAS
29;

(i)  Awvailable-for-sale financial assets, showing separately the
amount of gain or loss recognized in net assets/equity during
the period and the amount reclassified from net assets/equity
and recognized directly in surplus or deficit for the period,

(iii))  Held-to-maturity investments;
(iv)  Loans and receivables; and
(v)  Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost;

(b)  Total interest revenue and total interest expense (calculated using the
effective interest method) for financial assets or financial liabilities
that are not at fair value through surplus or deficit;

(¢)  Feerevenue and expense (other than amounts included in determining
the effective interest rate) arising from:

(1)  Financial assets or financial liabilities that are not at fair value
through surplus or deficit; and

(i)  Trust and other fiduciary activities that result in the holding or
investing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement
benefit plans, and other institutions;

(d) Interest revenue on impaired financial assets accrued in accordance
with paragraph AG126 of IPSAS 29; and

(e) The amount of any impairment loss for each class of financial asset.

Other Disclosures

Accounting Policies

25. In accordance with paragraph 132 of IPSAS 1, an entity discloses, in the
summary of significant accounting policies, the measurement basis (or bases)
used in preparing the financial statements and the other accounting policies
used that are relevant to an understanding of the financial statements.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

Hedge Accounting

26.

An entity shall disclose the following separately for each type of hedge
described in IPSAS 29 (i.e., fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, and hedges
of net investments in foreign operations):

(@ A description of each type of hedge;

(b) A description of the financial instruments designated as hedging
instruments and their fair values at the end of the reporting period;
and

(¢)  The nature of the risks being hedged.

27. For cash flow hedges, an entity shall disclose:

(@  The periods when the cash flows are expected to occur and when they
are expected to affect surplus or deficit;

(b) A description of any forecast transaction for which hedge accounting
had previously been used, but which is no longer expected to occur;

() The amount that was recognized in net assets/equity during the
period;

(d  The amount that was reclassified from net assets/equity and included
in surplus or deficit for the period, showing the amount included in
each line item in the statement of financial performance; and

()  The amount that was removed from net assets/equity during the
period and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of
a non-financial asset or non-financial liability whose acquisition or
incurrence was a hedged highly probable forecast transaction.

28. An entity shall disclose separately:
(@) In fair value hedges, gains or losses:
1) On the hedging instrument; and
(i)  On the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

(b)  The ineffectiveness recognized in surplus or deficit that arises from
cash flow hedges; and

(¢)  The ineffectiveness recognized in surplus or deficit that arises from
hedges of net investments in foreign operations.

Fair Value
29. Except as set out in paragraph 35 for each class of financial assets and

financial liabilities (see paragraph 9), an entity shall disclose the fair value
of that class of assets and liabilities in a way that permits it to be compared
with its carrying amount.
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30.

31.

32.

33.

IPSAS 30

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

In disclosing fair values, an entity shall group financial assets and financial
liabilities into classes, but shall offset them only to the extent that their
carrying amounts are offset in the statement of financial position.

An entity shall disclose for each class of financial instruments the methods
and, when a valuation technique is used, the assumptions applied in
determining fair values of each class of financial assets or financial
liabilities. For example, if applicable, an entity discloses information about
the assumptions relating to prepayment rates, rates of estimated credit losses,
and interest rates or discount rates. If there has been a change in valuation
technique, the entity shall disclose that change and the reasons for making it.

To make the disclosures required by paragraph 33 an entity shall classify fair
value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance
of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy
shall have the following levels:

(a) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1);

(b)  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as price) or
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices) (Level 2); and

(c)  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement
is categorized in its entirety shall be determined on the basis of the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For
this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value
measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable
inputs that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs,
that measurement is a Level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance
of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires
judgment, considering factors specific to the asset or liability.

For fair value measurements recognized in the statement of financial position
an entity shall disclose for each class of financial instruments:

(@  The level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorized in their entirety, segregating fair value
measurements in accordance with the levels defined in paragraph 32.

(b)  Any significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy and the reasons for those transfers. Transfers into each level
shall be disclosed and discussed separately from transfers out of each
level. For this purpose, significance shall be judged with respect to
surplus or deficit, and total assets or total liabilities.
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34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

(¢)  For fair value measurements in Level 3, a reconciliation from the
beginning balances to the ending balances, disclosing separately
changes during the period attributable to the following:

1) Total gains or losses for the period recognized in surplus or
deficit, and a description of where they are presented in the
statement of financial performance;

(i)  Total gains or losses recognized in net assets/equity;

(i)  Purchases, sales, issues, and settlements (each type of move-
ment disclosed separately); and

(iv)  Transfers into or out of Level 3 (e.g., transfers attributable to
changes in the observability of market data) and the reasons for
those transfers. For significant transfers, transfers into Level 3
shall be disclosed and discussed separately from transfers out
of Level 3.

(d) The amount of total gains or losses for the period in (c)(i) above
included in surplus or deficit that are attributable to gains or losses
relating to those assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting
period and a description of where those gains or losses are presented
in the statement of financial performance.

(¢)  For fair value measurements in Level 3, if changing one or more of the
inputs to reasonably possible alternative assumptions would change
fair value significantly, the entity shall state that fact and disclose the
effect of those changes. The entity shall disclose how the effect of a
change to areasonably possible alternative assumption was calculated.
For this purpose, significance shall be judged with respect to surplus
or deficit, and total assets or total liabilities, or, when changes in fair
value are recognized in net assets/equity, total equity.

An entity shall present the quantitative disclosures required by this paragraph
in tabular format unless another format is more appropriate.

If the market for a financial instrument is not active, an entity establishes
its fair value using a valuation technique (see paragraphs AG106—AG112 of
IPSAS 29). Nevertheless, the best evidence of fair value at initial recognition
is the transaction price (i.e., the fair value of the consideration given or
received), unless conditions described in paragraph AG108 of IPSAS 29 are
met. It follows that there could be a difference between the fair value at
initial recognition and the amount that would be determined at that date
using the valuation technique. If such a difference exists, an entity shall
disclose, by class of financial instrument:

(@  Its accounting policy for recognizing that difference in surplus or
deficit to reflect a change in factors (including time) that market
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participants would consider in setting a price (see paragraph AG109
of IPSAS 29); and

The aggregate difference yet to be recognized in surplus or deficit at
the beginning and end of the period and a reconciliation of changes in
the balance of this difference.

Disclosures of fair value are not required:

@

(b)

©

When the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair
value, for example, for financial instruments such as short-term trade
receivables and payables;

For an investment in equity instruments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market, or derivatives linked to such equity
instruments, that is measured at cost in accordance with IPSAS 29
because its fair value cannot be measured reliably; and

For a contract containing a discretionary participation feature if the
fair value of that feature cannot be measured reliably.

In the cases described in paragraph 35(b) and (c), an entity shall disclose
information to help users of the financial statements make their own
judgments about the extent of possible differences between the carrying
amount of those financial assets or financial liabilities and their fair value,

including:

(a) The fact that fair value information has not been disclosed for these
instruments because their fair value cannot be measured reliably;

(b) A description of the financial instruments, their carrying amount, and
an explanation of why fair value cannot be measured reliably;

(c)  Information about the market for the instruments;

(d)  Information about whether and how the entity intends to dispose of
the financial instruments; and

(e)  If financial instruments whose fair value previously could not be

reliably measured are derecognized, that fact, their carrying amount at
the time of derecognition, and the amount of gain or loss recognized.

Concessionary Loans

37.

IPSAS 30

Concessionary loans are granted by entities on below market terms. Examples
of concessionary loans granted by entities include loans to developing
countries, small farms, student loans granted to qualifying students for
university or college education, and housing loans granted to low income
families. For concessionary loans granted an entity shall disclose:
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(@ A reconciliation between the opening and closing carrying amounts
of the loans, including:

) Nominal value of new loans granted during the period;
(i)  The fair value adjustment on initial recognition;

(i)  Loans repaid during the period;

(iv)  Impairment losses recognized;

(v)  Any increase during the period in the discounted amount
arising from the passage of time; and

(vi)  Other changes.
(b)  Nominal value of the loans at the end of the period;
(c)  The purpose and terms of the various types of loans; and

(d)  Valuation assumptions.

Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments

38. An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial
statements to evaluate the nature and extent of risks arising from
financial instruments to which the entity is exposed at the end of the
reporting period.

39. The disclosures required by paragraphs 40—49 focus on the risks that arise
from financial instruments and how they have been managed. These risks
typically include, but are not limited to, credit risk, liquidity risk, and market
risk.

Qualitative Disclosures

40. For each type of risk arising from financial instruments, an entity shall
disclose:

(@  The exposures to risk and how they arise;

(b)  Its objectives, policies, and processes for managing the risk and the
methods used to measure the risk; and

(c)  Any changes in (a) or (b) from the previous period.
Quantitative Disclosures

41. For each type of risk arising from financial instruments, an entity shall
disclose:

(@  Summary quantitative data about its exposure to that risk at the end of
the reporting period. This disclosure shall be based on the information
provided internally to key management personnel of the entity
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(as defined in IPSAS 20, Related Party Disclosures), for example, the
entity’s governing body or chief executive officer.

The disclosures required by paragraphs 43—49, to the extent not
provided in (a), unless the risk is not material (see paragraphs 45—47
of IPSAS 1 for a discussion of materiality).

Concentrations of risk if not apparent from (a) and (b).

If the quantitative data disclosed as at the end of the reporting period are
unrepresentative of an entity’s exposure to risk during the period, an entity
shall provide further information that is representative.

An entity shall disclose by class of financial instrument:

The amount that best represents its maximum exposure to credit
risk at the end of the reporting period without taking account of any
collateral held or other credit enhancements (e.g., netting agreements
that do not qualify for offset in accordance with IPSAS 28);

In respect of the amount disclosed in (a), a description of collateral
held as security and other credit enhancements;

Information about the credit quality of financial assets that are neither
past due nor impaired; and

The carrying amount of financial assets that would otherwise be past
due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated.

Financial Assets that are Either Past Due or Impaired

An entity shall disclose by class of financial asset:

An analysis of the age of financial assets that are past due as at the end
of the reporting period but not impaired;

An analysis of financial assets that are individually determined to be
impaired as at the end of the reporting period, including the factors
the entity considered in determining that they are impaired; and

For the amounts disclosed in (a) and (b), a description of collateral
held by the entity as security and other credit enhancements and,
unless impracticable, an estimate of their fair value.

Collateral and Other Credit Enhancements Obtained

(b)
©
42.
Credit Risk
43,
(@
(b)
(©
@
44.
(@
(b)
©
45.

IPSAS 30

When an entity obtains financial or non-financial assets during the period
by taking possession of collateral it holds as security or calling on other
credit enhancements (e.g., guarantees), and such assets meet the recognition
criteria in other Standards, an entity shall disclose:
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(@  The nature and carrying amount of the assets obtained; and

(b)  When the assets are not readily convertible into cash, its policies for
disposing of such assets or for using them in its operations.

Liquidity Risk
46. An entity shall disclose:

(@ A maturity analysis for non-derivative financial liabilities (including
issued financial guarantee contracts) that shows the remaining
contractual maturities.

(b) A maturity analysis for derivative financial liabilities. The maturity
analysis shall include the remaining contractual maturities for those
derivative financial liabilities for which contractual maturities are
essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows (see
paragraph AGl14).

(©) A description of how it manages the liquidity risk inherent in (a) and
(b).

Market Risk
Sensitivity Analysis
47. Unless an entity complies with paragraph 48, it shall disclose:

(@) A sensitivity analysis for each type of market risk to which the entity
is exposed at the end of the reporting period, showing how surplus or
deficit and net assets/equity would have been affected by changes in
the relevant risk variable that were reasonably possible at that date;

(b)  The methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity
analysis; and

(¢c)  Changes from the previous period in the methods and assumptions
used, and the reasons for such changes.

48. If an entity prepares a sensitivity analysis, such as value-at-risk, that reflects

interdependencies between risk variables (e.g., interest rates and exchange
rates) and uses it to manage financial risks, it may use that sensitivity
analysis in place of the analysis specified in paragraph 47. The entity shall
also disclose:

@

(b)

An explanation of the method used in preparing such a sensitivity
analysis, and of the main parameters and assumptions underlying the
data provided; and

An explanation of the objective of the method used and of limitations
that may result in the information not fully reflecting the fair value of
the assets and liabilities involved.
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Other Market Risk Disclosures

When the sensitivity analyses disclosed in accordance with paragraph 47
or 48 are unrepresentative of a risk inherent in a financial instrument (e.g.,
because the year-end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year),
the entity shall disclose that fact and the reason it believes the sensitivity
analyses are unrepresentative.

Effective Date and Transition

50.

51.

52.

52A.

52B.

52C.

52D.

IPSAS 30

An entity shall apply this Standard for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier
application is encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a period
beginning before January 1, 2013, it shall disclose that fact.

An entity shall not apply this Standard before January 1, 2013, unless it
also applies IPSAS 28 and IPSAS 29.

If an entity applies this Standard for annual periods beginning before
January 1, 2013, it need not present comparative information for the
disclosures required by paragraphs 38—49 about the nature and extent of
risks arising from financial instruments.

Paragraph 53 was amended by IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual
Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) issued
in January 2015. An entity shall apply that amendment for annual
financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1,
2017. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies IPSAS 33 for
a period beginning before January 1, 2017, the amendment shall also be
applied for that earlier period.

IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements, IPSAS 37, Joint Arrange-
ments, and IPSAS 38, Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities, issued in
January 2015, amended paragraphs 3(a) and AG6. An entity shall apply
that amendment when it applies IPSAS 35, IPSAS 37 and IPSAS 38.

Paragraph AG7 was amended by Improvements to IPSASs 2015 issued
in April 2016. An entity shall apply this amendment for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendment
for a period beginning before January 1, 2017 it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 6 and 7 were deleted by The Applicability of IPSASs, issued in
April 2016. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments
for a period beginning before January 1, 2018, it shall disclose that fact.
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Paragraph 3 was amended by IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits, issued in
July 2016. An entity shall apply that amendment for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendment
for a period beginning before January 1, 2018 it shall disclose that fact
and apply IPSAS 39 at the same time.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis IPSASs of accounting as defined in
IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) for financial reporting purposes subsequent
to this effective date, this Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after the date of adoption of
IPSASs.

Withdrawal and Replacement of IPSAS 15 (2001)

54.

This Standard and IPSAS 28 supersede IPSAS 15, Financial Instruments:
Disclosure and Presentation issued in 2001. IPSAS 15 remains applicable
until IPSAS 28 and IPSAS 30 are applied or become effective, whichever is
earlier.
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Appendix A

Application Guidance

This appendix is an integral part of IPSAS 30.

Classes of Financial Instruments and Level of Disclosure (paragraph 9)

AGI.

AG2.

AG3.

Paragraph 9 requires an entity to group financial instruments into classes
that are appropriate to the nature of the information disclosed and that take
into account the characteristics of those financial instruments. The classes
described in paragraph 9 are determined by the entity and are, thus, distinct
from the categories of financial instruments specified in IPSAS 29 (which
determine how financial instruments are measured and where changes in
fair value are recognized).

In determining classes of financial instrument, an entity shall, at a minimum:

(@)  Distinguish instruments measured at amortized cost from those
measured at fair value.

(b)  Treat as a separate class or classes those financial instruments outside
the scope of this Standard.

An entity decides, in the light of its circumstances, how much detail it
provides to satisfy the requirements of this Standard, how much emphasis
it places on different aspects of the requirements and how it aggregates
information to display the overall picture without combining information
with different characteristics. It is necessary to strike a balance between
overburdening financial statements with excessive detail that may not assist
users of financial statements and obscuring important information as a result
of too much aggregation. For example, an entity shall not obscure important
information by including it among a large amount of insignificant detail.
Similarly, an entity shall not disclose information that is so aggregated
that it obscures important differences between individual transactions or
associated risks.

Significance of Financial Instruments for Financial Position
and Financial Performance

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Surplus
or Deficit (paragraphs 13 and 14)

AG4.

If an entity designates a financial liability as at fair value through surplus
or deficit, paragraph 13(a) requires it to disclose the amount of change in
the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the
liability’s credit risk. Paragraph 13(a)(i) permits an entity to determine
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this amount as the amount of change in the liability’s fair value that is not
attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk. If
the only relevant changes in market conditions for a liability are changes
in an observed (benchmark) interest rate, this amount can be estimated as
follows:

(@  First, the entity computes the liability’s internal rate of return at the
start of the period using the observed market price of the liability
and the liability’s contractual cash flows at the start of the period. It
deducts from this rate of return the observed (benchmark) interest
rate at the start of the period, to arrive at an instrument-specific
component of the internal rate of return.

(b)  Next, the entity calculates the present value of the cash flows
associated with the liability using the liability’s contractual cash
flows at the end of the period and a discount rate equal to the sum of
(1) the observed (benchmark) interest rate at the end of the period, and
(i1) the instrument-specific component of the internal rate of return as
determined in (a).

(c)  The difference between the observed market price of the liability
at the end of the period and the amount determined in (b) is the
change in fair value that is not attributable to changes in the observed
(benchmark) interest rate. This is the amount to be disclosed.

This example assumes that changes in fair value arising from factors other
than changes in the instrument’s credit risk or changes in interest rates are
not significant. If the instrument in the example contains an embedded
derivative, the change in fair value of the embedded derivative is excluded in
determining the amount to be disclosed in accordance with paragraph 13(a).

Other Disclosure—Accounting Policies (paragraph 25)

AGS.

Paragraph 25 requires disclosure of the measurement basis (or bases) used
in preparing the financial statements and the other accounting policies used
that are relevant to an understanding of the financial statements. For financial
instruments, such disclosure may include:

(@  For financial assets or financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through surplus or deficit:
(1)  The nature of the financial assets or financial liabilities the

entity has designated as at fair value through surplus or deficit;

(i)  The criteria for so designating such financial assets or financial
liabilities on initial recognition; and

1363 IPSAS 30 APPLICATION GUIDANCE

PUBLIC SECTOR



FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

(i) How the entity has satisfied the conditions in paragraph 10,
13, or 14 of IPSAS 29 for such designation. For instruments
designated in accordance with paragraph (b)(i) of the
definition of a financial asset or financial liability at fair value
through surplus or deficit in IPSAS 29, that disclosure includes
a narrative description of the circumstances underlying
the measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise. For instruments designated in accordance
with paragraph (b)(ii) of the definition of a financial asset or
financial liability at fair value through surplus or deficit in
IPSAS 29, that disclosure includes a narrative description
of how designation at fair value through surplus or deficit is
consistent with the entity’s documented risk management or
investment strategy.

(b)  The criteria for designating financial assets as available for sale.

(©)  Whether regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are ac-
counted for at trade date or at settlement date (see paragraph 40 of
IPSAS 29).

(d)  When an allowance account is used to reduce the carrying amount of
financial assets impaired by credit losses:

1) The criteria for determining when the carrying amount of
impaired financial assets is reduced directly (or, in the case of
a reversal of a write-down, increased directly) and when the
allowance account is used; and

(i)  The criteria for writing off amounts charged to the allowance
account against the carrying amount of impaired financial
assets (see paragraph 20).

(¢)  How net gains or net losses on each category of financial instrument
are determined (see paragraph 24(a)), for example, whether the net
gains or net losses on items at fair value through surplus or deficit
include interest or revenue from dividends or similar distributions.

(f)  The criteria the entity uses to determine that there is objective
evidence that an impairment loss has occurred (see paragraph 24(e)).

(g)  When the terms of financial assets that would otherwise be past due or
impaired have been renegotiated, the accounting policy for financial
assets that are the subject of renegotiated terms (see paragraph 43(d)).

(h)  For financial guarantee contracts issued through a non-exchange
transaction, where no fair value can be determined and a provision
is recognized in accordance with IPSAS 19, Provisions, Contingent
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Liabilities and Contingent Assets, disclosure of the circumstances
that result in a provision being recognized.

Paragraph 137 of IPSAS 1 also requires entities to disclose, in the summary
of significant accounting policies or other notes, the judgments, apart from
those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of
applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements.

Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial
Instruments (paragraphs 38—49)

AG6.

The disclosures required by paragraphs 38—49 shall be either given in the
financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference from the financial
statements to some other statement, such as a management commentary
or risk report, that is available to users of the financial statements on the
same terms as the financial statements and at the same time. Without the
information incorporated by cross-reference, the financial statements are
incomplete. The use of such cross-referencing may be subject to jurisdictional
restrictions.

Quantitative Disclosures (paragraph 41)

AGT.

AGS.

Paragraph 41(a) requires disclosures of summary quantitative data about
an entity’s exposure to risks based on the information provided internally
to key management personnel of the entity. When an entity uses several
methods to manage a risk exposure, the entity shall disclose information
using the method or methods that provide the most relevant and faithfully
representative information. IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors discusses relevance and reliability.

Paragraph 4l(c) requires disclosures about concentrations of risk.
Concentrations of risk arise from financial instruments that have similar
characteristics and are affected similarly by changes in economic or
other conditions. The identification of concentrations of risk requires
judgment taking into account the circumstances of the entity. Disclosure of
concentrations of risk shall include:

(@ A description of how management determines concentrations;

(b) A description of the shared characteristic that identifies each concen-
tration (e.g., counterparty, geographical area, currency, or market);
and

(c)  The amount of the risk exposure associated with all financial instru-
ments sharing that characteristic.
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Maximum Credit Risk Exposure (paragraph 43(a))

AG9.

AGI0.

Paragraph 43(a) requires disclosure of the amount that best represents the
entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk. For a financial asset, this is
typically the gross carrying amount, net of:

(@  Any amounts offset in accordance with IPSAS 28; and
(b)  Any impairment losses recognized in accordance with IPSAS 29.

Activities that give rise to credit risk and the associated maximum exposure
to credit risk include, but are not limited to:

(@)  Granting loans and receivables to customers and placing deposits
with other entities. In these cases, the maximum exposure to credit
risk is the carrying amount of the related financial assets.

(b)  Entering into derivative contracts (e.g., foreign exchange contracts,
interest rate swaps, and credit derivatives). When the resulting asset
is measured at fair value, the maximum exposure to credit risk at the
end of the reporting period will equal the carrying amount.

(c)  Granting financial guarantees. In this case, the maximum exposure
to credit risk is the maximum amount the entity could have to pay if
the guarantee is called on, which may be significantly greater than the
amount recognized as a liability.

(d) Making a loan commitment that is irrevocable over the life of the
facility or is revocable only in response to a material adverse change.
If the issuer cannot settle the loan commitment net in cash or another
financial instrument, the maximum credit exposure is the full amount
of the commitment. This is because it is uncertain whether the amount
of any undrawn portion may be drawn upon in the future. This may
be significantly greater than the amount recognized as a liability.

Quantitative Liquidity Risk Disclosures (paragraphs 41(a), and 46(a) and (b))

AGI1.

In accordance with paragraph 41(a) an entity discloses summary quantitative
data about its exposure to liquidity risk on the basis of the information
provided internally to key management personnel. An entity shall explain
how those data are determined. If the outflows of cash (or another financial
asset) included in those data could either:

(@  Occur significantly earlier than indicated in the data; or

b Be for significantly different amounts from those indicated in the data
g y
(e.g., for a derivative that is included in the data on a net settlement
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basis but for which the counterparty has the option to require gross
settlement);

the entity shall state that fact and provide quantitative information that
enables users of its financial statements to evaluate the extent of this risk
unless that information is included in the contractual maturity analyses
required by paragraph 46(a) or (b).

In preparing the maturity analyses required by paragraph 46(a) and (b), an
entity uses its judgment to determine an appropriate number of time bands.
For example, an entity might determine that the following time bands are
appropriate:

(@  Not later than one month;

(b)  Later than one month and not later than three months;
(c)  Later than three months and not later than one year; and
(d) Later than one year and not later than five years.

In complying with paragraph 46(a) and (b), an entity shall not separate an
embedded derivative from a hybrid (combined) instrument. For such an
instrument, an entity shall apply paragraph 46(a).

Paragraph 46(b) requires an entity to disclose a quantitative maturity
analysis for derivative financial liabilities that shows remaining contractual
maturities if the contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of
the timing of the cash flows. For example, this would be the case for:

(@  Aninterest rate swap with a remaining maturity of five years in a cash
flow hedge of a variable rate financial asset or liability.

(b)  All loan commitments.

Paragraph 46(a) and (b) requires an entity to disclose maturity analyses for
financial liabilities that show the remaining contractual maturities for some
financial liabilities. In this disclosure:

(@  When a counterparty has a choice of when an amount is paid, the
liability is allocated to the earliest period in which the entity can be
required to pay. For example, financial liabilities that an entity can be
required to repay on demand (e.g., demand deposits) are included in
the earliest time band.

(b)  Whenan entity is committed to make amounts available in instalments,
each instalment is allocated to the earliest period in which the entity
can be required to pay. For example, an undrawn loan commitment is
included in the time band containing the earliest date it can be drawn
down.
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c or issued financial guarantee contracts the maximum amount of the
F dfi lg t tracts th t of th
guarantee is allocated to the earliest period in which the guarantee
could be called.

The contractual amounts disclosed in the maturity analyses as required by
paragraph 46(a) and (b) are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, for
example:

(@  Gross finance lease obligations (before deducting finance charges);

(b)  Prices specified in forward agreements to purchase financial assets
for cash;

() Net amounts for pay-floating/receive-fixed interest rate swaps for
which net cash flows are exchanged;

(d)  Contractual amounts to be exchanged in a derivative financial
instrument (e.g., a currency swap) for which gross cash flows are
exchanged; and

(¢)  Gross loan commitments.

Such undiscounted cash flows differ from the amount included in the
statement of financial position because the amount in that statement is based
on discounted cash flows. When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount
disclosed is determined by reference to the conditions existing at the end
of the reporting period. For example, when the amount payable varies with
changes in an index, the amount disclosed may be based on the level of the
index at the end of the period.

Paragraph 46(c) requires an entity to describe how it manages the liquidity
risk inherent in the items disclosed in the quantitative disclosures required
in paragraph 40(a) and (b). An entity shall disclose a maturity analysis of
financial assets it holds for managing liquidity risk (e.g., financial assets
that are readily saleable or expected to generate cash inflows to meet cash
outflows on financial liabilities), if that information is necessary to enable
users of its financial statements to evaluate the nature and extent of liquidity
risk.

Other factors that an entity might consider in providing the disclosure
required in paragraph 40(c) include, but are not limited to, whether the entity:

(@  Has committed borrowing facilities (e.g., commercial paper facilities)
or other lines of credit (e.g., stand-by credit facilities) that it can access
to meet liquidity needs;

(b)  Holds deposits at central banks to meet liquidity needs;
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(c)  Has very diverse funding sources;

(d)  Has significant concentrations of liquidity risk in either its assets or
its funding sources;

(¢)  Has internal control processes and contingency plans for managing
liquidity risk;

(f)  Has instruments that include accelerated repayment terms (e.g., on
the downgrade of the entity’s credit rating);

(g) Has instruments that could require the posting of collateral (e.g.,
margin calls for derivatives);

(h)  Has instruments that allows the entity to choose whether it settles its
financial liabilities by delivering cash (or another financial asset) or
by delivering its own shares; or

@ Has instruments that are subject to master netting agreements.

Market Risk—Sensitivity Analysis (paragraphs 47 and 48)

AGI19.

AG20.

Paragraph 47(a) requires a sensitivity analysis for each type of market risk
to which the entity is exposed. In accordance with paragraph AG3, an entity
decides how it aggregates information to display the overall picture without
combining information with different characteristics about exposures to
risks from significantly different economic environments. For example:

(@  An entity that trades financial instruments might disclose this infor-
mation separately for financial instruments held for trading and those
not held for trading.

(b)  Anentity would not aggregate its exposure to market risks from areas
of hyperinflation with its exposure to the same market risks from
areas of very low inflation.

If an entity has exposure to only one type of market risk in only one economic
environment, it would not show disaggregated information.

Paragraph 47(a) requires the sensitivity analysis to show the effect on surplus
or deficit and net assets/equity of reasonably possible changes in the relevant
risk variable (e.g., prevailing market interest rates, currency rates, equity
prices, or commodity prices). For this purpose:

(@)  Entities are not required to determine what the surplus or deficit
for the period would have been if relevant risk variables had been
different. Instead, entities disclose the effect on surplus or deficit
and net assets/equity at the end of the reporting period assuming
that a reasonably possible change in the relevant risk variable had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to
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the risk exposures in existence at that date. For example, if an entity
has a floating rate liability at the end of the year, the entity would
disclose the effect on surplus or deficit (i.e., interest expense) for
the current year if interest rates had varied by reasonably possible
amounts.

Entities are not required to disclose the effect on surplus or deficit and
net assets/equity for each change within a range of reasonably pos-
sible changes of the relevant risk variable. Disclosure of the effects
of the changes at the limits of the reasonably possible range would be
sufficient.

In determining what a reasonably possible change in the relevant risk
variable is, an entity should consider:

@)

(b)

The economic environments in which it operates. A reasonably
possible change should not include remote or “worst case” scenarios
or “stress tests”. Moreover, if the rate of change in the underlying
risk variable is stable, the entity need not alter the chosen reasonably
possible change in the risk variable. For example, assume that interest
rates are 5 percent and an entity determines that a fluctuation in
interest rates of +50 basis points is reasonably possible. It would
disclose the effect on surplus or deficit and net assets/equity if interest
rates were to change to 4.5 percent or 5.5 percent. In the next period,
interest rates have increased to 5.5 percent. The entity continues to
believe that interest rates may fluctuate by +50 basis points (i.e., that
the rate of change in interest rates is stable). The entity would disclose
the effect on surplus or deficit and net assets/equity if interest rates
were to change to 5 percent or 6 percent. The entity would not be
required to revise its assessment that interest rates might reasonably
fluctuate by +50 basis points, unless there is evidence that interest
rates have become significantly more volatile.

The time frame over which it is making the assessment. The sensitivity
analysis shall show the effects of changes that are considered to be
reasonably possible over the period until the entity will next present
these disclosures, which is usually its next annual reporting period.

Paragraph 48 permits an entity to use a sensitivity analysis thatreflects inter-
dependencies between risk variables, such as a value-at-risk methodology,
if it uses this analysis to manage its exposure to financial risks. This
applies even if such a methodology measures only the potential for loss
and does not measure the potential for gain. Such an entity might comply
with paragraph 48(a) by disclosing the type of value-at-risk model used
(e.g., whether the model relies on Monte Carlo simulations), an explanation
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about how the model works and the main assumptions (e.g., the holding
period and confidence level). Entities might also disclose the historical
observation period and weightings applied to observations within that
period, an explanation of how options are dealt with in the calculations,
and which volatilities and correlations (or, alternatively, Monte Carlo
probability distribution simulations) are used.

An entity shall provide sensitivity analyses for the whole of its operations,
but may provide different types of sensitivity analysis for different classes of
financial instruments.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises on interest-bearing financial instruments recognized
in the statement of financial position (e.g., loans and receivables and debt
instruments issued) and on some financial instruments not recognized in the
statement of financial position (e.g., some loan commitments).

Currency Risk

Currency risk (or foreign exchange risk) arises on financial instruments
that are denominated in a foreign currency (i.e., in a currency other than
the functional currency in which they are measured). For the purpose of
this Standard, currency risk does not arise from financial instruments that
are non-monetary items or from financial instruments denominated in the
functional currency.

A sensitivity analysis is disclosed for each currency to which an entity has
significant exposure.

Other Price Risk

Other price risk arises on financial instruments because of changes in, for
example, commodity prices or equity prices. To comply with paragraph 47,
an entity might disclose the effect of a decrease in a specified stock market
index, commodity price, or other risk variable. For example, if an entity gives
residual value guarantees that are financial instruments, the entity discloses
an increase or decrease in the value of the assets to which the guarantee
applies.

Two examples of financial instruments that give rise to equity price risk are
(@) a holding of equities in another entity, and (b) an investment in a trust
that in turn holds investments in equity instruments. Other examples include
forward contracts and options to buy or sell specified quantities of an equity
instrument and swaps that are indexed to equity prices. The fair values of
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such financial instruments are affected by changes in the market price of the
underlying equity instruments.

AG29. In accordance with paragraph 47(a), the sensitivity of surplus or deficit (that
arises, for example, from instruments classified as at fair value through
surplus or deficit and impairments of available-for-sale financial assets) is
disclosed separately from the sensitivity of net assets/equity (that arises, for
example, from instruments classified as available for sale).

AG30. Financial instruments that an entity classifies as equity instruments are not
remeasured. Neither surplus or deficit nor net assets/equity will be affected
by the equity price risk of those instruments. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis is required.
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Amendments to Other IPSASs
[Deleted]
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 30.

Introduction

BCl.

BC2.

BC3.

BCA4.

This Basis for Conclusions summarizes the IPSASB‘s considerations in
reaching the conclusions in IPSAS 30, Financial Instruments: Disclosures.
As this Standard is based on IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
issued by the IASB, the Basis for Conclusions outlines only those areas
where IPSAS 30 departs from the main requirements of IFRS 7.

This project on financial instruments is noted as a key part of the IPSASB’s
convergence program which aims to converge IPSASs with IFRSs.

In developing this Standard, the IPSASB agreed to retain the existing text of
IFRS 7 wherever consistent with existing IPSASs, except to deal with any
public sector specific issues which result in adding or deleting disclosures.

In September 2007, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1, Presentation
of Financial Statements which introduced a new component into the
presentation of financial statements called “comprehensive income.” As
the IPSASB has not yet considered this, along with some of the other
amendments proposed in IAS 1, those amendments have not been included
in IPSAS 30.

Concessionary Loans

BCs.

Concessionary loans are granted to or received by an entity on below market
terms. Examples of concessionary loans granted by entities include loans
to developing countries, small farms, student loans granted to qualifying
students for university or college education, and housing loans granted to
low income families. Such loans are a feature of the public sector and are
often made to implement a government’s or other public sector entity’s
social policies. The intention of a concessionary loan at the outset is to
provide or receive resources on below market terms. For this reason, the
IPSASB concluded that more comprehensive disclosures are required by
public sector entities for concessionary loans and has included additional
disclosure requirements for such loans in paragraph 37.

Revision of IPSAS 30 as a result of the IPSASB’s The Applicability of IPSASs,
issued in April 2016

BC6.

The IPSASB issued The Applicability of IPSASs in April 2016. This
pronouncement amends references in all IPSASs as follows:

(@  Removes the standard paragraphs about the applicability of IPSASs
to “public sector entities other than GBEs” from the scope section of
each Standard;
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(b)  Replaces the term “GBE” with the term “commercial public sector
entities”, where appropriate; and

()  Amends paragraph 10 of the Preface to International Public Sector
Accounting Standards by providing a positive description of public
sector entities for which IPSASs are designed.

The reasons for these changes are set out in the Basis for Conclusions to
IPSAS 1.
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Implementation Guidance

This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 30.

Introduction

IG1.

IG2.

This guidance suggests possible ways to apply some of the disclosure
requirements in IPSAS 30. The guidance does not create additional
requirements.

For convenience, each disclosure requirement in this Standard is discussed
separately. In practice, disclosures would normally be presented as an
integrated package and individual disclosures might satisfy more than one
requirement. For example, information about concentrations of risk might
also convey information about exposure to credit or other risk.

Materiality

1G3.

1G4.

IPSAS 1 notes that a specific disclosure requirement in an IPSAS need not
be satisfied if the information is not material. IPSAS 1 defines materiality as
follows:

Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could,
individually or collectively, influence the decisions or assessments made
on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends on the size
and nature of the omission or misstatement judged in the surrounding
circumstances. The nature or size of the item, or a combination of both,
could be the determining factor.

IPSAS 1 also explains that definition as follows:

Assessing whether an omission or misstatement could influence
decisions of users, and so be material, requires consideration of the
characteristics of those users. Users are assumed to have a reasonable
knowledge of the public sector and economic activities and accounting
and a willingness to study the information with reasonable diligence.
Therefore, the assessment needs to take into account how users with
such attributes could reasonably be expected to be influenced in making
and evaluating decisions.

Classes of Financial Instruments and Level of Disclosure
(paragraphs 9 and AG1-AG3)

I1Gs.

Paragraph AG3 states that “an entity decides in the light of its circumstances
how much detail it provides to satisfy the requirements of this Standard, how
much emphasis it places on different aspects of the requirements and how
it aggregates information to display the overall picture without combining
information with different characteristics.” To satisfy the requirements,
an entity may not need to disclose all the information suggested in this
guidance.
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Paragraph 29(c) of IPSAS 1 requires an entity to “provide additional disclosures
when compliance with the specific requirements in IPSASs is insufficient to
enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events
and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance.”

Significance of Financial Instruments for Financial Position and
Financial Performance (paragraphs 10-36, AG4 and AGS)

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit (paragraphs 13(a)(i)
and AG4)

1G7.

IGS.

IG9.

IG10.

IG11.

The following example illustrates the calculation that an entity might
perform in accordance with paragraph AG4 of Appendix A of the Standard.

On January 1, 20X1, an entity issues a 10-year bond with a par value of
CU150,000' and an annual fixed coupon rate of 8 percent, which is consistent
with market rates for bonds with similar characteristics.

The entity uses the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) as its observable
(benchmark) interest rate. At the date of inception of the bond, LIBOR is 5
percent. At the end of the first year:

(@)  LIBOR has decreased to 4.75 percent.

(b)  The fair value for the bond is CU153,811, consistent with an interest
rate of 7.6 percent.?

The entity assumes a flat yield curve, all changes in interest rates result from
a parallel shift in the yield curve, and the changes in LIBOR are the only
relevant changes in market conditions.

The entity estimates the amount of change in the fair value of the bond that is
not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk
as follows:

[paragraph AG4(a)]

First, the entity computes the liability’s inter-
nal rate of return at the start of the period using
the observed market price of the liability and
the liability’s contractual cash flows at the
start of the period.

It deducts from this rate of return the observed
(benchmark) interest rate at the start of the
period, to arrive at an instrument-specific
component of the internal rate of return.

At the start of the period of a 10-year bond
with a coupon of 8 percent, the bond’s
internal rate of return is 8 percent.

Because the observed (benchmark) interest
rate (LIBOR) is 5 percent, the instrument-
specific component of the internal rate of
return is 3 percent.

In this guidance monetary amounts are denominated in “currency units (CU).”

This reflects a shift in LIBOR from 5 percent to 4.75 percent and a movement of 0.15 percent which,

in the absence of other relevant changes in market conditions, is assumed to reflect changes in credit
risk of the instrument.
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[paragraph AG4(b)]

Next, the entity calculates the present value
of the cash flows associated with the liability
using the liability’s contractual cash flows at
the end of the period and a discount rate equal
to the sum of (i) the observed (benchmark)
interest rate at the end of the period, and
(ii) the instrument-specific component of
the internal rate of return as determined in
accordance with paragraph AG4(a).

The contractual cash flows of the instrument
at the end of the period are:

* Interest: CU12,000® per year for each of
years 2—10.

e Principal: CU150,000 in year 10.

The discount rate to be used to calculate
the present value of the bond is thus 7.75
percent, which is 4.75 percent end of period
LIBOR rate, plus the 3 percent instrument-
specific component.

This gives a present value of CU152,367.®

[paragraph AG4(c)]

The difference between the observed market
price of the liability at the end of the period
and the amount determined in accordance
with paragraph AG4(b) is the change in fair
value that is not attributable to changes in the
observed (benchmark) interest rate. This is

The market price of the liability at the end of
the period is CU153,811.©

Thus, the entity discloses CU1,444, which is
CU153,811 — CU152,367, as the increase in
fair value of the bond that is not attributable
to changes in market conditions that give
rise to market risk.

the amount to be disclosed.

(a) CUI50,000 x 8% = CU12,000
(b) PV =[CUI2,000 x (1 - (1 +0.0775)*)/0.0775] + CU150,000 x (1 +0.0775)°

(¢) market price = [CU12,000 x (1 — (1 +0.076))/0.076] + CU150,000 x (1 +0.076)*

Defaults and Breaches (paragraphs 22 and 23)

IG12.

Paragraphs 22 and 23 require disclosures when there are any defaults
or breaches of loans payable. Any defaults or breaches may affect the
classification of the liability as current or non-current in accordance with
IPSAS 1.

Total Interest Expense (paragraph 24(b))

IG13.

Total interest expense disclosed in accordance with paragraph 24(b) is a
component of the finance costs, which paragraph 102(b) of IPSAS 1 requires
to be presented separately in the statement of financial performance. The
line item for finance costs may also include amounts associated with non-
financial liabilities.

Fair Value (paragraphs 31-34)

1G14.

IPSAS 30 requires disclosures about the level in the fair value hierarchy
in which fair value measurements are categorized for assets and liabilities
measured in the statement of financial position. A tabular format is required
unless another format is more appropriate. An entity might disclose
the following for assets to comply with paragraph 33(a). (Disclosure of
comparative information is also required, but is not included in the following
example).
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Assets Measured at Fair Value

Fair value measurement at end
of the reporting period using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Dec 31, CU CU CuU

Description 20X2 million million million
Financial assets at fair value
through surplus or deficit

Trading securities 100 40 55 5

Trading derivatives 39 17 20 2
Available-for-sale financial assets

Equity investments 75 30 40 5
Total 214 87 115 12

Note: For liabilities, a similar table might be presented.

IPSAS 30 requires a reconciliation from beginning to ending balances for
those assets and liabilities that are measured in the statement of financial
position at fair value based on a valuation technique for which any significant
input is not based on observable market data (Level 3). A tabular format is
required unless another format is more appropriate. An entity might disclose
the following for assets to comply with paragraph 33(b). (Disclosure of
comparative information is also required, but is not included in the following
example).
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Assets Measured at Fair Value Based on Level 3

Fair value measurement at the end of
the reporting period

Financial assets at Available-

fair value through for-sale
surplus financial
or deficit assets Total
Trading Trading Equity
securities derivatives investments

CU million CU million CU million  CU million

Opening balance 6 5 4 15
Total gains or losses
in surplus or deficit 2) 2) - )
in net assets/ equity - - (1) (1)
Purchases 1 2 2 5
Issues - - - -
Settlements - (1) - (1)
Transfers out of Level 3 - 2) - 2)
Closing balance 5 2 5 12
Total gains or losses for the (1 (1) - 2)

period included in surplus or
deficit for assets held at the
end of the reporting period

(Note: For liabilities, a similar table might be presented.)

Gains or losses included in surplus or deficit for the period (above) are pre-
sented in revenue as follows:

Revenue
Total gains or losses included in surplus or deficit for the period 4)
Total gains or losses for the period included in surplus or deficit for assets ?2)

held at the end of the reporting period

(Note: For liabilities, a similar table might be presented.)

The fair value at initial recognition of financial instruments that are not
traded in active markets is determined in accordance with paragraph AG108
of IPSAS 29. However, when, after initial recognition, an entity will use
a valuation technique that incorporates data not obtained from observable
markets, there may be a difference between the transaction price at initial
recognition and the amount determined at initial recognition using that
valuation technique. In these circumstances, the difference will be recognized
in surplus or deficit in subsequent periods in accordance with IPSAS 29 and
the entity’s accounting policy. Such recognition reflects changes in factors
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(including time) that market participants would consider in setting a price
(see paragraph AG108 of IPSAS 29). Paragraph 33 requires disclosures in
these circumstances. An entity might disclose the following to comply with
paragraph 34:

Background

On January 1, 20X1 an entity purchases for CU15 million financial assets that are not traded
in an active market. The entity has only one class of such financial assets.

The transaction price of CU15 million is the fair value at initial recognition.

After initial recognition, the entity will apply a valuation technique to establish the financial
assets’ fair value. This valuation technique includes variables other than data from observable
markets.

At initial recognition, the same valuation technique would have resulted in an amount of
CU14 million, which differs from fair value by CU1 million.

The entity has existing differences of CUS million at January 1, 20X1.
Application of Requirements

The entity’s 20X2 disclosure would include the following:
Accounting Policies

The entity uses the following valuation technique to determine the fair value of financial
instruments that are not traded in an active market: [description of technique not included in
this example]. Differences may arise between the fair value at initial recognition (which, in
accordance with IPSAS 29, is generally the transaction price) and the amount determined at
initial recognition using the valuation technique. Any such differences are [description of the
entity’s accounting policy].

In the Notes to the Financial Statements

As discussed in note X, the entity uses [name of valuation technique] to measure the fair
value of the following financial instruments that are not traded in an active market. However,
in accordance with IPSAS 29, the fair value of an instrument at inception is generally the
transaction price. If the transaction price differs from the amount determined at inception
using the valuation technique, that difference is [description of the entity’s accounting policy].

The differences yet to be recognized in surplus or deficit are as follows:

Dec 31,X2  Dec 31,X1

CU CU

million million

Balance at beginning of year 53 5.0

New transactions - 1.0
Amounts recognized in surplus or deficit during

the year 0.7) (0.8)

Other increases - 0.2

Other decreases 0.1) 0.1)

Balance at end of year 4.5 53
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Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial
Instruments (paragraphs 38—49 and AG6-AG30)

Qualitative Disclosures (paragraph 40)

IG17. The type of qualitative information an entity might disclose to meet the
requirements in paragraph 40 includes, but is not limited to, a narrative
description of:

(@  The entity’s exposures to risk and how they arose. Information about
risk exposures might describe exposures both gross and net of risk
transfer and other risk-mitigating transactions.

(b) The entity’s policies and processes for accepting, measuring,
monitoring, and controlling risk, which might include:

(1)  The structure and organization of the entity’s risk management
function(s), including a discussion of independence and
accountability;

(i) The scope and nature of the entity’s risk reporting or
measurement systems;

(i)  The entity’s policies for hedging or mitigating risk, including
its policies and procedures for taking collateral; and

(iv) The entity’s processes for monitoring the continuing
effectiveness of such hedges or mitigating devices.

(c) The entity’s policies and procedures for avoiding excessive
concentrations of risk.

IG18. Information about the nature and extent of risks arising from financial
instruments is more useful if it highlights any relationship between financial
instruments that can affect the amount, timing or uncertainty of an entity’s
future cash flows. The extent to which a risk exposure is altered by such
relationships might be apparent to users from the disclosures required by
this Standard, but in some cases further disclosures might be useful.

IG19. In accordance with paragraph 40(c), entities disclose any change in the
qualitative information from the previous period and explain the reasons
for the change. Such changes may result from changes in exposure to risk or
from changes in the way those exposures are managed.

Quantitative Disclosures (paragraphs 41-49 and AG7-AG30)

IG20. Paragraph 41 requires disclosure of quantitative data about concentrations of
risk. For example, concentrations of credit risk may arise from:

(@)  Industry sectors. Thus, if an entity’s counterparties are concentrated
in one or more industry sectors (such as retail or wholesale), it would
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disclose separately exposure to risks arising from each concentration
of counterparties.

(b)  Credit rating or other measure of credit quality. Thus, if an entity’s
counterparties are concentrated in one or more credit qualities (such
as secured loans or unsecured loans) or in one or more credit ratings
(such as investment grade or speculative grade), it would disclose
separately exposure to risks arising from each concentration of
counterparties.

(¢c)  Geographical distribution. Thus, if an entity’s counterparties are
concentrated in one or more geographical markets (such as Asia or
Europe), it would disclose separately exposure to risks arising from
each concentration of counterparties.

(d) A limited number of individual counterparties or groups of closely
related counterparties.

Similar principles apply to identifying concentrations of other risks,
including liquidity risk and market risk. For example, concentrations of
liquidity risk may arise from the repayment terms of financial liabilities,
sources of borrowing facilities or reliance on a particular market in which
to realize liquid assets. Concentrations of foreign exchange risk may arise if
an entity has a significant net open position in a single foreign currency, or
aggregate net open positions in several currencies that tend to move together.

In accordance with paragraph AGS, disclosure of concentrations of
risk includes a description of the shared characteristic that identifies
each concentration. For example, the shared characteristic may refer to
geographical distribution of counterparties by groups of countries, individual
countries or regions within countries.

When quantitative information at the end of the reporting period is
unrepresentative of the entity’s exposure to risk during the period, paragraph
42 requires further disclosure. To meet this requirement, an entity might
disclose the highest, lowest, and average amount of risk to which it was
exposed during the period. For example, if an entity typically has a large
exposure to a particular currency, but at year-end unwinds the position,
the entity might disclose a graph that shows the exposure at various times
during the period, or disclose the highest, lowest, and average exposures.

Credit Risk (paragraphs 43-45, AG9 and AG10)

Paragraph 43 requires an entity to disclose information about its exposure
to credit risk by class of financial instrument. Financial instruments in the

IPSAS 30 IMPLEMENTATION GUIDANCE 1384



1G24.

1G25.

1G26.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

same class share economic characteristics with respect to the risk being
disclosed (in this case, credit risk). For example, an entity might determine
that residential mortgages, unsecured consumer loans, and commercial
loans each have different economic characteristics.

Collateral and Other Credit Enhancements Pledged (paragraph 43(b))

Paragraph 43(b) requires an entity to describe collateral available as security
for assets it holds and other credit enhancements obtained. An entity might
meet this requirement by disclosing:

(@  The policies and processes for valuing and managing collateral and
other credit enhancements obtained;

(b) A description of the main types of collateral and other credit
enhancements (examples of the latter being guarantees, credit
derivatives, and netting agreements that do not qualify for offset in
accordance with [PSAS 28);

() The main types of counterparties to collateral and other credit
enhancements and their creditworthiness; and

(d) Information about risk concentrations within the collateral or other
credit enhancements.

Credit Quality (paragraph 43(c))

Paragraph 43(c) requires an entity to disclose information about the credit
quality of financial assets with credit risk that are neither past due nor
impaired. In doing so, an entity might disclose the following information:

(@  An analysis of credit exposures using an external or internal credit
grading system;

(b)  The nature of the counterparty;
(c)  Historical information about counterparty default rates; and
(d)  Any other information used to assess credit quality.

When the entity considers external ratings when managing and monitoring
credit quality, the entity might disclose information about:

(@  The amounts of credit exposures for each external credit grade;
(b)  The rating agencies used;
(¢)  The amount of an entity’s rated and unrated credit exposures; and

(d)  The relationship between internal and external ratings.
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When the entity considers internal credit ratings when managing and
monitoring credit quality, the entity might disclose information about:

(@)  The internal credit ratings process;
(b)  The amounts of credit exposures for each internal credit grade; and

(¢c)  The relationship between internal and external ratings.

Financial Assets that are either Past Due or Impaired (paragraph 44)

A financial asset is past due when the counterparty has failed to make a
payment when contractually due. As an example, an entity enters into a
lending agreement that requires interest to be paid every month. On the first
day of the next month, if interest has not been paid, the loan is past due.
Past due does not mean that a counterparty will never pay, but it can trigger
various actions such as renegotiation, enforcement of covenants, or legal
proceedings.

When the terms and conditions of financial assets that have been classified
as past due are renegotiated, the terms and conditions of the new contractual
arrangement apply in determining whether the financial asset remains past
due.

Paragraph 44(a) requires an analysis by class of the age of financial assets that
are past due but not impaired. An entity uses its judgment to determine an
appropriate number of time bands. For example, an entity might determine
that the following time bands are appropriate:

(@  Not more than three months;

(b)  More than three months and not more than six months;
(©) More than six months and not more than one year; and
(d)  More than one year.

Paragraph 44(b) requires an analysis of impaired financial assets by class.
This analysis might include:

(@  The carrying amount, before deducting any impairment loss;
(b)  The amount of any related impairment loss; and

(©) The nature and fair value of collateral available and other credit
enhancements obtained.

Market Risk (paragraphs 47-49 and AG19-AG30)

Paragraph 47(a) requires a sensitivity analysis for each type of market risk
to which the entity is exposed. There are three types of market risk: interest
rate risk, currency risk, and other price risk. Other price risk may include
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risks such as equity price risk, commodity price risk, prepayment risk (i.e.,
the risk that one party to a financial asset will incur a financial loss because
the other party repays earlier or later than expected), and residual value risk
(e.g., a lessor of motor cars that writes residual value guarantees is exposed
to residual value risk). Risk variables that are relevant to disclosing market
risk include, but are not limited to:

(@  The yield curve of market interest rates. It may be necessary to
consider both parallel and non-parallel shifts in the yield curve.

(b)  Foreign exchange rates.
(c)  Prices of equity instruments.
(d)  Market prices of commodities.

Paragraph 47(a) requires the sensitivity analysis to show the effect on surplus
or deficit and net assets/equity of reasonably possible changes in the relevant
risk variable. For example, relevant risk variables might include:

(@)  Prevailing market interest rates, for interest-sensitive financial
instruments such as a variable rate loan; or

(b)  Currency rates and interest rates, for foreign currency financial
instruments such as foreign currency bonds.

For interest rate risk, the sensitivity analysis might show separately the effect
of a change in market interest rates on:

(a) Interest revenue and expense;

(b)  Other line items of surplus or deficit (such as trading gains and losses);
and

(c)  When applicable, net assets/equity.

An entity might disclose a sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk for each
currency in which the entity has material exposures to interest rate risk.

Because the factors affecting market risk vary depending on the specific
circumstances of each entity, the appropriate range to be considered in
providing a sensitivity analysis of market risk varies for each entity and for
each type of market risk.

The following example illustrates the application of the disclosure
requirement in paragraph 47(a):
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Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 20X2, if interest rates at that date had been 10 basis points
lower with all other variables held constant, surplus for the year would have
been CU1.7 million (20X1—CU2.4 million) higher, arising mainly as a result
of lower interest expense on variable borrowings, and other revenue would have
been CU2.8 million (20X1—CU3.2 million) higher, arising mainly as a result of
an increase in the fair value of fixed rate financial assets classified as available for
sale. If interest rates had been 10 basis points higher, with all other variables held
constant, surplus would have been CU1.5 million (20X 1—CU?2.1 million) lower,
arising mainly as a result of higher interest expense on variable borrowings,
revenue would have been CU3.0 million (20X1—CU3.4 million) lower, arising
mainly as a result of a decrease in the fair value of fixed rate financial assets
classified as available for sale. Surplus is more sensitive to interest rate decreases
than increases because of borrowings with capped interest rates. The sensitivity
is lower in 20X2 than in 20X1 because of a reduction in outstanding borrowings
that has occurred as the entity’s debt has matured (see note X).®

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

At December 31, 20X2, if the CU had weakened 10 percent against the US dollar
with all other variables held constant, surplus for the year would have been CU2.8
million (20X1—CU6.4 million) lower, revenue would have been CU1.2 million
(20X1—CU1.1 million) higher. Conversely, if the CU had strengthened 10
percent against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, surplus would
have been CU2.8 million (20X1—CU6.4 million) higher, revenue would have
been CU1.2 million (20X1—CU1.1 million) lower. The lower foreign currency
exchange rate sensitivity in surplus in 20X2 compared with 20X1 is attributable
to a reduction in foreign currency denominated debt. Revenue is more sensitive
in 20X2 than in 20X1 because of the increased use of hedges of foreign currency
purchases, offset by the reduction in foreign currency debt.

(a) Paragraph 46 requires disclosure of a maturity analysis of liabilities.

(b)

Other Market Risk Disclosures (paragraph 49)

Paragraph 49 requires the disclosure of additional information when the
sensitivity analysis disclosed is unrepresentative of a risk inherent in a
financial instrument. For example, this can occur when:

(@ A financial instrument contains terms and conditions whose effects

are not apparent from the sensitivity analysis (e.g., options that remain
out of (or in) the money for the chosen change in the risk variable);

Financial assets are illiquid (e.g., when there is a low volume of
transactions in similar assets and an entity finds it difficult to find a
counterparty); or

()  An entity has a large holding of a financial asset that, if sold in its

entirety, would be sold at a discount or premium to the quoted market
price for a smaller holding.
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1G309.

1G40.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: DISCLOSURES

In the situation in paragraph IG37(a), additional disclosure might include:
(@  Theterms and conditions of the financial instrument (e.g., the options);

(b)  The effect on surplus or deficit if the term or condition were met (i.e.,
if the options were exercised); and

(¢c) A description of how the risk is hedged.

For example, an entity may acquire a zero cost interest rate collar that
includes an out-of-the-money leveraged written option (e.g., the entity pays
ten times the amount of the difference between a specified interest rate floor
and the current market interest rate). The entity may regard the collar as
an inexpensive economic hedge against a reasonably possible increase in
interest rates. However, an unexpectedly large decrease in interest rates
might trigger payments under the written option that, because of the leverage,
might be significantly larger than the benefit of lower interest rates. Neither
the fair value of the collar nor a sensitivity analysis based on reasonably
possible changes in market variables would indicate this exposure. In this
case, the entity might provide the additional information described above.

In the situation described in paragraph 1G38(b), additional disclosure might
include the reasons for the lack of liquidity and how the entity hedges the
risk.

In the situation described in paragraph 1G38(c), additional disclosure might
include:

(@  The nature of the security (e.g., entity name);

(b)  The extent of holding (e.g., 15 percent of the issued shares);
(¢c)  The effect on surplus or deficit; and

(d)  How the entity hedges the risk.
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Comparison with IFRS 7

IPSAS 30, Financial Instruments: Disclosures is drawn primarily from IFRS 7,
Financial Instruments: Disclosures (originally issued in 2005, including
amendments published to April 2009). The main differences between IPSAS 30
and IFRS 7 are as follows:

. IPSAS 30 contains requirements related to concessionary loans. IFRS 7 does
not require disclosures relating to concessionary loans.

. In certain instances, IPSAS 30 uses different terminology from IFRS 7. The
most significant examples are the use of the terms “revenue,” “statement of
financial performance,” and “net assets/equity” in IPSAS 30. The equivalent
terms in IFRS 7 are “income,” “statement of comprehensive income,” and
“equity.”
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International Public Sector Accounting Standard 31, Intangible Assets, is set out
in paragraphs 1-133. All the paragraphs have equal authority. IPSAS 31 should be
read in the context of its objective, the Basis for Conclusions, the Preface to
International Public Sector Accounting Standards, and the Conceptual Framework
for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities. IPSAS 3,
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, provides a
basis for selecting and applying accounting policies in the absence of explicit
guidance.
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Objective

1.

Scope

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the accounting treatment for
intangible assets that are not dealt with specifically in another Standard.
This Standard requires an entity to recognize an intangible asset if, and only
if, specified criteria are met. The Standard also specifies how to measure
the carrying amount of intangible assets, and requires specified disclosures
about intangible assets.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the
accrual basis of accounting shall apply this Standard in accounting for
intangible assets.

This Standard shall be applied in accounting for intangible assets,
except:

(@  Intangible assets that are within the scope of another Standard;

(b)  Financial assets, as defined in IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments:
Presentation;

(c)  The recognition and measurement of exploration and evaluation
assets (see the relevant international or national accounting
standard dealing with exploration for, and evaluation of, mineral
resources);

(d)  Expenditure on the development and extraction of minerals, oil,
natural gas and similar non-regenerative resources;

(e [Deleted]
(f) [Deleted]

(g)  Powers and rights conferred by legislation, a constitution, or by
equivalent means;

(h)  Deferred tax assets (see the relevant international or national
accounting standard dealing with income taxes);

(1) Deferred acquisition costs, and intangible assets, arising from
an insurer’s contractual rights under insurance contracts within
the scope of the relevant international or national accounting
standard dealing with insurance contracts. In cases where the
relevant international or national accounting standard does
not set out specific disclosure requirements for those intangible
assets, the disclosure requirements in this Standard apply to
those intangible assets; and

) [Deleted]
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(k)  In respect of intangible heritage assets. However, the disclosure
requirements of paragraphs 115-127 apply to those heritage
assets that are recognized.

[Deleted]
[Deleted]

If another IPSAS prescribes the accounting for a specific type of intangible
asset, an entity applies that IPSAS instead of this Standard. For example,
this Standard does not apply to:

(@  Intangible assets held by an entity for sale in the ordinary course of
operations (see IPSAS 11, Construction Contracts, and IPSAS 12,
Inventories);

(b)  Leases that are within the scope of IPSAS 13, Leases;

(c)  Assets arising from employee benefits (see IPSAS 39, Employee
Benefits),

(d) Financial assets as defined in IPSAS 28. The recognition and
measurement of some financial assets are covered by IPSAS 34,
Separate Financial Statements, IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial
Statements and IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures;

(¢)  Recognition and initial measurement of service concession assets that
are within the scope of IPSAS 32, Service Concession Assets: Grantor.
However, this Standard applies to the subsequent measurement and
disclosure of such assets; and

(f) Goodwill (see IPSAS 40, Public Sector Combinations).

Some intangible assets may be contained in or on a physical substance such
as a compact disc (in the case of computer software), legal documentation
(in the case of a license or patent), or film. In determining whether an asset
that incorporates both intangible and tangible elements should be treated
under IPSAS 17, Property, Plant, and Equipment, or as an intangible asset
under this Standard, an entity uses judgement to assess which element is
more significant. For example, the navigation software for a fighter aircraft
is integral to the aircraft and is treated as property, plant and equipment. The
same applies to the operating system of a computer. When the software is
not an integral part of the related hardware, computer software is treated as
an intangible asset.

This Standard applies to, among other things, expenditure on advertising,
training, start-up, research, and development activities. Research and
development activities are directed to the development of knowledge.
Therefore, although these activities may result in an asset with physical
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

substance (e.g., a prototype), the physical element of the asset is secondary
to its intangible component, i.e., the knowledge embodied in it.

In the case of a finance lease, the underlying asset may be either tangible
or intangible. After initial recognition, a lessee accounts for an intangible
asset held under a finance lease in accordance with this Standard. Rights
under licensing agreements for items such as motion picture films, video
recordings, plays, manuscripts, patents, and copyrights are excluded from
the scope of IPSAS 13 and are within the scope of this Standard.

Exclusions from the scope of a Standard may occur if activities or transactions
are so specialized that they give rise to accounting issues that may need
to be dealt with in a different way. Such issues arise in the accounting for
expenditure on the exploration for, or development and extraction of, oil, gas,
and mineral deposits in extractive industries, and in the case of insurance
contracts. Therefore, this Standard does not apply to expenditure on such
activities and contracts. However, this Standard applies to other intangible
assets used (such as computer software), and other expenditure incurred
(such as start-up costs), in extractive industries, or by insurers.

Intangible Heritage Assets

11.

12.

13.

This Standard does not require an entity to recognize intangible heritage
assets that would otherwise meet the definition of, and recognition criteria
for, intangible assets. If an entity does recognize intangible heritage assets,
it must apply the disclosure requirements of this Standard and may, but is not
required to, apply the measurement requirements of this Standard.

Some intangible assets are described as intangible heritage assets because
of their cultural, environmental, or historical significance. Examples of
intangible heritage assets include recordings of significant historical events
and rights to use the likeness of a significant public person on, for example,
postage stamps or collectible coins. Certain characteristics, including the
following, are often displayed by intangible heritage assets (although these
characteristics are not exclusive to such assets):

(@  Their value in cultural, environmental, and historical terms is unlikely
to be fully reflected in a financial value based purely on a market price;

(b)  Legal and/or statutory obligations may impose prohibitions or severe
restrictions on disposal by sale;

(¢)  Their value may increase over time; and

(d) It may be difficult to estimate their useful lives, which in some cases
could be several hundred years.

Public sector entities may have large holdings of intangible heritage assets
that have been acquired over many years and by various means, including
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purchase, donation, bequest, and sequestration. These assets are rarely held
for their ability to generate cash inflows, and there may be legal or social
obstacles to using them for such purposes.

Some intangible heritage assets have future economic benefits or service
potential other than their heritage value, for example, royalties paid to the
entity for use of an historical recording. In these cases, an intangible heritage
asset may be recognized and measured on the same basis as other items
of cash-generating intangible assets. For other intangible heritage assets,
their future economic benefit or service potential is limited to their heritage
characteristics. The existence of both future economic benefits and service
potential can affect the choice of measurement base.

The disclosure requirements in paragraphs 117-124 require entities to make
disclosures about recognized intangible assets. Therefore, entities that
recognize intangible heritage assets are required to disclose in respect of
those assets such matters as, for example:

(@) The measurement basis used;

(b)  The amortization method used, if any;

(¢)  The gross carrying amount;

(d)  The accumulated amortization at the end of the period, if any; and

() A reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and end of
the period showing certain components thereof.

Definitions

16.

IPSAS 31

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

Amortization is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of
an intangible asset over its useful life.

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognized after
deducting any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment
losses.

Development is the application of research findings or other knowledge
to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved
materials, devices, products, processes, systems or services before the
start of commercial production or use.

An intangible asset is an identifiable nonmonetary asset without physical
substance.
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Research is original and planned investigation undertaken with
the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and
understanding.

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same
meaning as in those Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of
Defined Terms published separately.

Intangible Assets

17

Entities frequently expend resources, or incur liabilities, on the acquisition,
development, maintenance, or enhancement of intangible resources such
as scientific or technical knowledge, design and implementation of new
processes, or systems, licenses, intellectual property, and trademarks
(including brand names and publishing titles). Common examples of items
encompassed by these broad headings are computer software, patents,
copyrights, motion picture films, lists of users of a service, acquired fishing
licenses, acquired import quotas, and relationships with users of a service.

Identifiability

18.

18A.

19.

Not all the items described in paragraph 17 meet the definition of an
intangible asset, i.e., identifiability, control over a resource, and existence of
future economic benefits or service potential. If an item within the scope of
this Standard does not meet the definition of an intangible asset, expenditure
to acquire it or generate it internally is recognized as an expense when it is
incurred. However, if the item is acquired in an acquisition, it forms part of
the goodwill recognized at the acquisition date (see paragraph 66).

The definition of an intangible asset requires an intangible asset to be
identifiable to distinguish it from goodwill. Goodwill recognized in an
acquisition is an asset representing the future economic benefits arising
from other assets acquired in an acquisition that are not individually
identified and separately recognized. The future economic benefits may
result from synergy between the identifiable assets acquired or from assets
that, individually, do not qualify for recognition in the financial statements.

An asset is identifiable if it either:

(@  Isseparable,i.e., is capable of being separated or divided from the
entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented, or exchanged, either
individually or together with a related contract, identifiable asset
or liability, regardless of whether the entity intends to do so; or

(b)  Arises from binding arrangements (including rights from
contracts or other legal rights), regardless of whether those rights
are transferable or separable from the entity or from other rights
and obligations.
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For the purposes of this Standard, a binding arrangement describes an
arrangement that confers similar rights and obligations on the parties to it as
if it were in the form of a contract.

Control of an Asset

21.

22.

23.

24,

IPSAS 31

An entity controls an asset if the entity has the power to obtain the future
economic benefits or service potential flowing from the underlying resource
and to restrict the access of others to those benefits or that service potential.
The capacity of an entity to control the future economic benefits or service
potential from an intangible asset would normally stem from legal rights that
are enforceable in a court of law. In the absence of legal rights, it is more
difficult to demonstrate control. However, legal enforceability of a right is
not a necessary condition for control because an entity may be able to control
the future economic benefits or service potential in some other way.

Scientific or technical knowledge may give rise to future economic benefits
or service potential. An entity controls those benefits or that service
potential if, for example, the knowledge is protected by legal rights such as
copyrights, a restraint of trade agreement (where permitted), or by a legal
duty on employees to maintain confidentiality.

An entity may have a team of skilled staff and may be able to identify
incremental staff skills leading to future economic benefits or service
potential from training. The entity may also expect that the staff will
continue to make their skills available to the entity. However, an entity
usually has insufficient control over the expected future economic benefits
or service potential arising from a team of skilled staff and from training for
these items to meet the definition of an intangible asset. For a similar reason,
specific management or technical talent is unlikely to meet the definition of
an intangible asset, unless it is protected by legal rights to use it and to obtain
the future economic benefits or service potential expected from it, and it also
meets the other parts of the definition.

An entity may have a portfolio of users of its services or its success rate in
reaching intended users of its services and expect that, because of its efforts
in building relationships with users of its services, those users will continue
to use its services. However, in the absence of legal rights to protect, or
other ways to control the relationships with users of a service or the loyalty
of those users, the entity usually has insufficient control over the expected
economic benefits or service potential from relationships with users of a
service and loyalty for such items (e.g., portfolio of users of a service, market
shares or success rates of a service, relationships with, and loyalty of, users
of a service) to meet the definition of intangible assets. In the absence of
legal rights to protect such relationships, exchange transactions for the same
or similar non-contractual customer relationships (other than as part of an
acquisition) provide evidence that the entity is nonetheless able to control
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the expected future economic benefits or service potential flowing from the
relationships with the users of a service. Because such exchange transactions
also provide evidence that the relationships with users of a service are
separable, those relationships meet the definition of an intangible asset.

Future Economic Benefits or Service Potential

25.

The future economic benefits or service potential flowing from an intangible
asset may include revenue from the sale of products or services, cost
savings, or other benefits resulting from the use of the asset by the entity.
For example, the use of intellectual property in a production or service
process may reduce future production or service costs or improve service
delivery rather than increase future revenues (e.g., an on-line system that
allows citizens to renew driving licenses more quickly on-line, resulting in
a reduction in office staff required to perform this function while increasing
the speed of processing).

Recognition and Measurement

26.

26A.

27.

The recognition of an item as an intangible asset requires an entity to
demonstrate that the item meets:

(@  The definition of an intangible asset (see paragraphs 17-25); and
(b)  The recognition criteria (see paragraphs 28—30).

This requirement applies to the cost measured at recognition (the cost in an
exchange transaction or to internally generate an intangible asset, or the fair
value of an intangible asset acquired through a non-exchange transaction)
and those incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it.

Paragraphs 32-39 deal with the application of the recognition criteria to
separately acquired intangible assets, and paragraphs 39A—41 deal with
their application to intangible assets acquired in a public sector combination.
Paragraphs 42—-43 deal with the initial measurement of intangible assets
acquired through non-exchange transactions, paragraphs 44—45 with
exchanges of intangible assets, and paragraphs 46—48 with the treatment
of internally generated goodwill. Paragraphs 49—65 deal with the initial
recognition and measurement of internally generated intangible assets.

The nature of intangible assets is such that, in many cases, there are no
additions to such an asset or replacements of part of it. Accordingly, most
subsequent expenditures are likely to maintain the expected future economic
benefits or service potential embodied in an existing intangible asset rather
than meet the definition of an intangible asset and the recognition criteria
in this Standard. In addition, it is often difficult to attribute subsequent
expenditure directly to a particular intangible asset rather than to the entity’s
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28.

29.

30.

31.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

operations as a whole. Therefore, only rarely will subsequent expenditure—
expenditure incurred after the initial recognition of an acquired intangible
asset or after completion of an internally generated intangible asset—be
recognized in the carrying amount of an asset. Consistent with paragraph 61,
subsequent expenditure on brands, mastheads, publishing titles, lists users
of a service, and items similar in substance (whether externally acquired or
internally generated) is always recognized in surplus or deficit as incurred.
This is because such expenditure cannot be distinguished from expenditure
to develop the entity’s operations as a whole.

An intangible asset shall be recognized if, and only if:

(@)  Itis probable that the expected future economic benefits or service
potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity;
and

(b)  The cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably'.

An entity shall assess the probability of expected future economic benefits
or service potential using reasonable and supportable assumptions that
represent management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions
that will exist over the useful life of the asset.

An entity uses judgement to assess the degree of certainty attached to the
flow of future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to
the use of the asset on the basis of the evidence available at the time of initial
recognition, giving greater weight to external evidence.

An intangible asset shall be measured initially at cost in accordance
with paragraphs 32—43. Where an intangible asset is acquired through
a non-exchange transaction, its initial cost at the date of acquisition,
shall be measured at its fair value as at that date.

Separate Acquisition

32.

Normally, the price an entity pays to acquire separately an intangible asset
will reflect expectations about the probability that the expected future
economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset will flow to the
entity. In other words, the entity expects there to be an inflow of economic
benefits or service potential, even if there is uncertainty about the timing or
the amount of the inflow. Therefore, the probability recognition criterion in
paragraph 28(a) is always considered to be satisfied for separately acquired
intangible assets.

IPSAS 31

Information that is reliable is free from material error and bias, and can be depended on by users to
faithfully represent that which it purports to represent or could reasonably be expected to represent.
Paragraph BC16 of IPSAS 1 discusses the transitional approach to the explanation of reliability.
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33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In addition, the cost of a separately acquired intangible asset can usually be
measured reliably. This is particularly so when the purchase consideration is
in the form of cash or other monetary assets.

The cost of a separately acquired intangible asset comprises:

(@  Its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable
purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates; and

(b)  Any directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended
use.

Examples of directly attributable costs are:

(@  Costs of employee benefits (as defined in IPSAS 39) arising directly
from bringing the asset to its working condition;

(b)  Professional fees arising directly from bringing the asset to its
working condition; and

(c)  Costs of testing whether the asset is functioning properly.

Examples of expenditures that are not part of the cost of an intangible asset
are:

(@  Costs of introducing a new product or service (including costs of
advertising and promotional activities);

(b)  Costs of conducting operations in a new location or with a new class
of users of a service (including costs of staff training); and

(©)  Administration and other general overhead costs.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an intangible asset ceases
when the asset is in the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. Therefore, costs incurred in using
or redeploying an intangible asset are not included in the carrying amount of
that asset. For example, the following costs are not included in the carrying
amount of an intangible asset:

(@  Costs incurred while an asset capable of operating in the manner
intended by management has yet to be brought into use; and

(b) Initial operating deficits, such as those incurred while demand for the
asset’s output builds up.

Some operations occur in connection with the development of an intangible
asset, but are not necessary to bring the asset to the condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
These incidental operations may occur before or during the development
activities. Because incidental operations are not necessary to bring an asset
to the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
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39.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

intended by management, the revenue and related expenses of incidental
operations are recognized immediately in surplus or deficit, and included in
their respective classifications of revenue and expense.

If payment for an intangible asset is deferred beyond normal credit terms,
its cost is the cash price equivalent. The difference between this amount
and the total payments is recognized as interest expense over the period of
credit unless it is capitalized in accordance with the capitalization treatment
permitted in IPSAS 5, Borrowing Costs.

Acquisition of an intangible asset as part of an acquisition (public sector
combination)

39A.

39B.

In accordance with IPSAS 40, if an intangible asset is acquired in an
acquisition, the cost of that intangible asset is its fair value at the acquisition
date. The fair value of an intangible asset will reflect market participants’
expectations at the acquisition date about the probability that the expected
future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset will
flow to the entity. In other words, the entity expects there to be an inflow of
economic benefits or service potential, even if there is uncertainty about the
timing or the amount of the inflow. Therefore, the probability recognition
criterion in paragraph 28(a) is always considered to be satisfied for intangible
assets acquired in acquisitions. If an asset acquired in an acquisition is
separable or arises from binding arrangements (including rights from
contracts or other legal rights), sufficient information exists to measure
reliably the fair value of the asset. Thus, the reliable measurement criterion
in paragraph 28(b) is always considered to be satisfied for intangible assets
acquired in acquisitions.

In accordance with this Standard and IPSAS 40, an acquirer recognizes at
the acquisition date, separately from goodwill, an intangible asset of the
acquired operation, irrespective of whether the asset had been recognized by
the acquired operation before the acquisition. This means that the acquirer
recognizes as an asset separately from goodwill an in-process research
and development project of the acquired operation if the project meets the
definition of an intangible asset. An acquired operation’s in-process research
and development project meets the definition of an intangible asset when it:

(@  Meets the definition of an asset; and

(b)  Is identifiable, i.e., is separable or arises from binding arrangements
(including rights from contracts or other legal rights).

Intangible asset acquired in an acquisition (public sector combination)

39C.

IPSAS 31

If an intangible asset acquired in an acquisition is separable or arises from a
binding arrangement (including rights from contracts or other legal rights),
sufficient information exists to measure reliably the fair value of the asset.
When, for the estimates used to measure an intangible asset’s fair value, there
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39D.

39E.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

is a range of possible outcomes with different probabilities that uncertainty
enters into the measurement of the asset’s fair value.

An intangible asset acquired in an acquisition might be separable, but only
together with a related binding arrangement, identifiable asset or liability.
In such cases, the acquirer recognizes the intangible asset separately from
goodwill, but together with the related item.

The acquirer may recognize a group of complementary intangible assets as
a single asset provided the individual assets have similar useful lives. For
example, the terms ‘brand’ and ‘brand name’ are often used as synonyms
for trademarks and other marks. However, the former are general marketing
terms that are typically used to refer to a group of complementary assets
such as a trademark (or service mark) and its related trade name, formulas,
recipes and technological expertise.

Subsequent Expenditure on an Acquired In-process Research and Development

Project

40.

41.

Research or development expenditure that:

(@  Relates to an in-process research or development project acquired
separately or in an acquisition and recognized as an intangible
asset; and

(b)  Isincurred after the acquisition of that project;
shall be accounted for in accordance with paragraphs 52—60.

Applying the requirements in paragraphs 52—-60 means that subsequent
expenditure on an in-process research or development project acquired
separately or in an acquisition and recognized as an intangible asset is:

(@  Recognized as an expense when incurred if it is research expenditure;

(b)  Recognized as an expense when incurred if it is development
expenditure that does not satisfy the criteria for recognition as an
intangible asset in paragraph 55; and

()  Added to the carrying amount of the acquired in-process research or
development project if it is development expenditure that satisfies the
recognition criteria in paragraph 55.

Intangible Assets Acquired through Non-Exchange Transactions

42.

In some cases, an intangible asset may be acquired through a non-exchange
transaction. This may happen when another public sector entity transfers
to an entity in a non-exchange transaction, intangible assets such as airport
landing rights, licenses to operate radio or television stations, import licenses
or quotas or rights to access other restricted resources. A private citizen, for
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43.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

example a Nobel Prize winner, may bequeath his or her personal papers,
including the copyright to his or her publications to the national archives (a
public sector entity) in a non-exchange transaction.

Under these circumstances the cost of the item is its fair value at the date it is
acquired. For the purposes of this Standard, the measurement at recognition
of an intangible asset acquired through a non-exchange transaction, at its fair
value consistent with the requirements of paragraph 74, does not constitute a
revaluation. Accordingly, the revaluation requirements in paragraph 74, and
the supporting commentary in paragraphs 75—86 only apply when an entity
elects to revalue an intangible item in subsequent reporting periods.

Exchanges of Assets

44.

45.

One or more intangible assets may be acquired in exchange for a non-
monetary asset or assets, or a combination of monetary and non-monetary
assets. The following discussion refers simply to an exchange of one non-
monetary asset for another, but it also applies to all exchanges described
in the preceding sentence. The cost of such an intangible asset is measured
at fair value unless the fair value of neither the asset received nor the asset
given up is reliably measurable. The acquired asset is measured in this way
even if an entity cannot immediately derecognize the asset given up. If
the acquired asset is not measured at fair value, its cost is measured at the
carrying amount of the asset given up.

Paragraph 28(b) specifies that a condition for the recognition of an intangible
asset is that the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. The fair value of
an intangible asset for which comparable market transactions do not exist is
reliably measurable if:

(@  The variability in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is not
significant for that asset: or

(b)  The probabilities of the various estimates within the range can be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value.

If an entity is able to determine reliably the fair value of either the asset
received or the asset given up, then the fair value of the asset given up is used
to measure cost unless the fair value of the asset received is more clearly
evident.

Internally Generated Goodwill

46.
47.

IPSAS 31

Internally generated goodwill shall not be recognized as an asset.

In some cases, expenditure is incurred to generate future economic benefits
or service potential, but it does not result in the creation of an intangible
asset that meets the recognition criteria in this Standard. Such expenditure
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48.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

is often described as contributing to internally generated goodwill.
Internally generated goodwill is not recognized as an asset because it is
not an identifiable resource (i.e., it is not separable nor does it arise from
binding arrangements (including rights from contracts or other legal rights)
controlled by the entity that can be measured reliably at cost.

Differences between the market value of an entity and the carrying amount
of its identifiable net assets at any time may capture a range of factors that
affect the value of the entity. However, such differences do not represent the
cost of intangible assets controlled by the entity.

Internally Generated Intangible Assets

49.

50.

51.

It is sometimes difficult to assess whether an internally generated intangible
asset qualifies for recognition because of problems in:

(@  Identifying whether and when there is an identifiable asset that will
generate expected future economic benefits or service potential; and

(b)  Determining the cost of the asset reliably. In some cases, the cost of
generating an intangible asset internally cannot be distinguished from
the cost of maintaining or enhancing the entity’s internally generated
goodwill or of running day-to-day operations.

Therefore, in addition to complying with the general requirements for
the recognition and initial measurement of an intangible asset, an entity
applies the requirements and guidance in paragraphs 50—65 to all internally
generated intangible assets.

To assess whether an internally generated intangible asset meets the criteria
for recognition, an entity classifies the generation of the asset into:

(@ A research phase; and
(b) A development phase.

Although the terms “research” and “development” are defined, the terms
“research phase” and “development phase” have a broader meaning for the
purpose of this Standard.

If an entity cannot distinguish the research phase from the development
phase of an internal project to create an intangible asset, the entity treats the
expenditure on that project as if it were incurred in the research phase only.

Research Phase

52.

No intangible asset arising from research (or from the research phase
of an internal project) shall be recognized. Expenditure on research (or
on the research phase of an internal project) shall be recognized as an
expense when it is incurred.
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53.

54.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In the research phase of an internal project, an entity cannot demonstrate
that an intangible asset exists that will generate probable future economic
benefits or service potential. Therefore, this expenditure is recognized as an
expense when it is incurred.

Examples of research activities are:
(@  Activities aimed at obtaining new knowledge;

(b)  The search for, evaluation and final selection of, applications of
research findings or other knowledge;

(¢)  The search for alternatives for materials, devices, products, processes,
systems, or services; and

(d)  The formulation, design, evaluation, and final selection of possible
alternatives for new or improved materials, devices, products,
processes, systems, or services.

Development Phase

55.

56.

57.

IPSAS 31

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development
phase of an internal project) shall be recognized if, and only if, an entity
can demonstrate all of the following:

(a) The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale;

(b)  Its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
(© Its ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(d) How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic
benefits or service potential. Among other things, the entity
can demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the
intangible asset or the intangible asset itself or, if it is to be used
internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset;

(e The availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

(f)  Its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the
intangible asset during its development.

In the development phase of an internal project, an entity can, in some
instances, identify an intangible asset and demonstrate that the asset will
generate probable future economic benefits or service potential. This is
because the development phase of a project is further advanced than the
research phase.

Examples of development activities are:
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58.

59.

60.

61.

62.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(@  The design, construction, and testing of pre-production or pre-use
prototypes and models;

(b)  The design of tools, jigs, moulds, and dies involving new technology;

(¢)  The design, construction, and operation of a pilot plant or operation
that is not of a scale economically feasible for commercial production
or use in providing services;

(d)  The design, construction, and testing of a chosen alternative for new
or improved materials, devices, products, processes, systems, or
services; and

(e)  Website costs and software development costs.

To demonstrate how an intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits or service potential, an entity assesses the future
economic benefits or service potential to be received from the asset using the
principles in either IPSAS 21, Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets
or IPSAS 26, Impairment of Cash-Generating Assets, as appropriate. If the
asset will generate economic benefits or service potential only in combination
with other assets, the entity applies the concept of cash-generating units in
IPSAS 26.

Availability of resources to complete, use, and obtain the benefits from an
intangible asset can be demonstrated by, for example, an operating plan
showing the technical, financial, and other resources needed and the entity’s
ability to secure those resources. In some cases, an entity demonstrates the
availability of external finance by obtaining a lender’s or funder’s indication
of its willingness to fund the plan.

An entity’s costing systems can often measure reliably the cost of generating
an intangible asset internally, such as salary and other expenditure incurred
in securing logos, copyrights or licenses, or developing computer software.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, lists of users
of a service, and items similar in substance shall not be recognized as
intangible assets.

Expenditure on internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing
titles, lists of users of a service, and items similar in substance cannot be
distinguished from the cost of developing the entity’s operations as a whole.
Therefore, such items are not recognized as intangible assets.

Cost of an Internally Generated Intangible Asset

63.

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset for the purpose of
paragraph 31 is the sum of expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria in paragraphs 28, 29,
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64.

65.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

and 55. Paragraph 70 prohibits reinstatement of expenditure previously
recognized as an expense.

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all directly
attributable costs necessary to create, produce, and prepare the asset to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Examples of
directly attributable costs are:

(@  Costs of materials and services used or consumed in generating the
intangible asset;

(b)  Costs of employee benefits (as defined in IPSAS 39) arising from the
generation of the intangible asset;

(c)  Fees to register a legal right; and

(d  Amortization of patents and licenses that are used to generate the
intangible asset.

IPSAS 5 specifies criteria for the recognition of interest as an element of the
cost of an asset that is a qualifying asset.

The following are not components of the cost of an internally generated
intangible asset:

(@  Selling, administrative and other general overhead expenditure unless
this expenditure can be directly attributed to preparing the asset for
use;

(b)  Identified inefficiencies and initial operating deficits incurred before
the asset achieves planned performance; and

(c)  Expenditure on training staff to operate the asset.

Recognition of an Expense

66.

67.

IPSAS 31

Expenditure on an intangible item shall be recognized as an expense
when it is incurred unless:

(@) It forms part of the cost of an intangible asset that meets the
recognition criteria (see paragraphs 26—65); or

(b) Theitemis acquired in an acquisition and cannot be recognized as
an intangible asset. If this is the case, it forms part of the amount
recognized as goodwill at the acquisition date (see IPSAS 40).

In some cases, expenditure is incurred to provide future economic benefits
or service potential to an entity, but no intangible asset or other asset is
acquired or created that can be recognized. In the case of the supply of
goods, the entity recognizes such expenditure as an expense when it has a
right to access those goods. In the case of the supply of services, the entity
recognizes the expenditure as an expense when it receives the services.
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68.

69.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For example, expenditure on research is recognized as an expense when
it is incurred (see paragraph 52), except when it is acquired as part of an
acquisition. Other examples of expenditure that is recognized as an expense
when it is incurred include:

(@  Expenditure on start-up activities (i.e., start-up costs), unless this
expenditure is included in the cost of an item of property, plant, and
equipment in accordance with IPSAS 17. Start-up costs may consist
of establishment costs such as legal and secretarial costs incurred
in establishing a legal entity, expenditure to open a new facility or
operation (i.e., pre-opening costs), or expenditures for starting new
operations or launching new products or processes (i.e., pre-operating
costs);

(b)  Expenditure on training activities;

(c)  Expenditure on advertising and promotional activities (including
mail order catalogues and information pamphlets); and

(d)  Expenditure on relocating or reorganizing part or all of an entity.

An entity has a right to access goods when it owns them. Similarly, it has
a right to access goods when they have been constructed by a supplier in
accordance with the terms of a supply contract and the entity could demand
delivery of them in return for payment. Services are received when they are
performed by a supplier in accordance with a contract to deliver them to
the entity and not when the entity uses them to deliver another service, for
example, to deliver information about a service to users of that service.

Paragraph 66 does not preclude an entity from recognizing a prepayment
as an asset when payment for goods has been made in advance of the entity
obtaining a right to access those goods. Similarly, paragraph 66 does not
preclude an entity from recognizing a prepayment as an asset when payment
for services has been made in advance of the entity receiving those services.

Past Expenses not to be Recognized as an Asset

70.

Expenditure on an intangible item that was initially recognized as an
expense under this Standard shall not be recognized as part of the cost
of an intangible asset at a later date.

Subsequent Measurement

71.

An entity shall choose either the cost model in paragraph 73 or the
revaluation model in paragraph 74 as its accounting policy. If an
intangible asset is accounted for using the revaluation model, all the
other assets in its class shall also be accounted for using the same model,
unless there is no active market for those assets.
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72.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

A class of intangible assets is a grouping of assets of a similar nature and
use in an entity’s operations. The items within a class of intangible assets
are revalued simultaneously to avoid selective revaluation of assets and the
reporting of amounts in the financial statements representing a mixture of
costs and values as at different dates.

Cost Model

73.

After initial recognition, an intangible asset shall be carried at its cost
less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment
losses.

Revaluation Model

74,

75.

76.

77.

IPSAS 31

After initial recognition, an intangible asset shall be carried at arevalued
amount, being its fair value at the date of the revaluation less any
subsequent accumulated amortization. For the purpose of revaluations
under this Standard, fair value shall be determined by reference to an
active market. Revaluations shall be made with such regularity that
at the reporting date the carrying amount of the asset does not differ
materially from its fair value.

The revaluation model does not allow:

(@  The revaluation of intangible assets that have not previously been
recognized as assets; or

(b)  The initial recognition of intangible assets at amounts other than cost.

The revaluation model is applied after an asset has been initially recognized
at cost. However, if only part of the cost of an intangible asset is recognized
as an asset because the asset did not meet the criteria for recognition until
part of the way through the process (see paragraph 63), the revaluation model
may be applied to the whole of that asset. Also, the revaluation model may
be applied to an intangible asset that was received through a non-exchange
transaction (see paragraphs 42—43).

It is uncommon for an active market to exist for an intangible asset,
although this may happen. For example, in some jurisdictions, an active
market may exist for freely transferable homogeneous classes of licenses
or production quotas the entity has acquired from another entity. However,
an active market cannot exist for brands, newspaper mastheads, music and
film publishing rights, patents, or trademarks, because each such asset is
unique. Also, although intangible assets are bought and sold, contracts
are negotiated between individual buyers and sellers, and transactions are
relatively infrequent. For these reasons, the price paid for one asset may not
provide sufficient evidence of the fair value of another. Moreover, prices are
often not available to the public.
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78.

79.

80.

81.

82.

83.

84.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The frequency of revaluations depends on the volatility of the fair values
of the intangible assets being revalued. If the fair value of a revalued asset
differs materially from its carrying amount, a further revaluation is necessary.
Some intangible assets may experience significant and volatile movements in
fair value, thus necessitating annual revaluation. Such frequent revaluations
are unnecessary for intangible assets with only insignificant movements in
fair value.

When an intangible asset is revalued, the carrying amount of that asset is
adjusted to the revalued amount. At the date of the revaluation, the asset is
treated in one of the following ways:

(@  The gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent
with the revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset. For example,
the gross carrying amount may be restated by reference to observable
market data or it may be restated proportionately to the change in
the carrying amount. The accumulated amortization at the date of
the revaluation is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross
carrying amount and the carrying amount of the asset after taking
into account accumulated impairment losses; or

(b)  The accumulated amortization is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset.

The amount of the adjustment of accumulated amortization forms part of
the increase or decrease in the carrying amount that is accounted for in
accordance with paragraphs 84 and 85.

If an intangible asset in a class of revalued intangible assets cannot be
revalued because there is no active market for this asset, the asset shall
be carried at its cost less any accumulated amortization and impairment
losses.

If the fair value of a revalued intangible asset can no longer be determined
by reference to an active market, the carrying amount of the asset shall
be its revalued amount at the date of the last revaluation by reference
to the active market less any subsequent accumulated amortization and
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The fact that an active market no longer exists for a revalued intangible asset
may indicate that the asset may be impaired and that it needs to be tested in
accordance with IPSAS 21 or IPSAS 26, as appropriate.

If the fair value of the asset can be determined by reference to an active
market at a subsequent measurement date, the revaluation model is applied
from that date.

If an intangible asset’s carrying amount is increased as a result of a
revaluation, the increase shall be credited directly to revaluation
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8s.

86.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

surplus. However, the increase shall be recognized in surplus or deficit
to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset
previously recognized in surplus or deficit.

If an intangible asset’s carrying amount is decreased as a result of a
revaluation, the decrease shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.
However, the decrease shall be recognized directly in net assets/equity
to the extent of any credit balance in the revaluation surplus in respect
of that asset. The decrease recognized directly in net assets/equity
reduces the amount accumulated in net assets/equity under the heading
of revaluation surplus.

The cumulative revaluation surplus included in net assets/equity may be
transferred directly to accumulated surpluses or deficits when the surplus
is realized. The whole surplus may be realized on the retirement or disposal
of the asset. However, some of the surplus may be realized as the asset is
used by the entity; in such a case, the amount of the surplus realized is the
difference between amortization based on the revalued carrying amount of
the asset and amortization that would have been recognized based on the
asset’s historical cost. The transfer from revaluation surplus to accumulated
surpluses or deficits is not made through surplus or deficit.

Useful Life

&7.

88.

&9.

IPSAS 31

An entity shall assess whether the useful life of an intangible asset is
finite or indefinite and, if finite, the length of, or number of production
or similar units constituting, that useful life. An intangible asset shall be
regarded by the entity as having an indefinite useful life when, based on
an analysis of all of the relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to
the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows
for, or provide service potential to, the entity.

The accounting for an intangible asset is based on its useful life. An intangible
asset with a finite useful life is amortized (see paragraphs 96—105), and an
intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is not (see paragraphs 106—
109). The Illustrative Examples accompanying this Standard illustrate the
determination of useful life for different intangible assets, and the subsequent
accounting for those assets based on the useful life determinations.

Many factors are considered in determining the useful life of an intangible
asset, including:

(@  The expected usage of the asset by the entity and whether the asset
could be managed efficiently by another management team;

(b)  Typical product life cycles for the asset and public information on
estimates of useful lives of similar assets that are used in a similar
way;
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90.

91.

92.

93.

93A.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(c)  Technical, technological, commercial, or other types of obsolescence;

(d)  The stability of the industry in which the asset operates and changes
in the market demand for the products or services output from the
asset;

(e)  Expected actions by competitors or potential competitors;

(f)  The level of maintenance expenditure required to obtain the expected
future economic benefits or service potential from the asset and the
entity’s ability and intention to reach such a level;

(g)  The period of control over the asset and legal or similar limits on the
use of the asset, such as the expiry dates of related leases; and

(h)  Whether the useful life of the asset is dependent on the useful life of
other assets of the entity.

The term “indefinite” does not mean “infinite.” The useful life of an
intangible asset reflects only that level of future maintenance expenditure
required to maintain the asset at its standard of performance assessed at the
time of estimating the asset’s useful life, and the entity’s ability and intention
to reach such a level. A conclusion that the useful life of an intangible asset is
indefinite should not depend on planned future expenditure in excess of that
required to maintain the asset at that standard of performance.

Given the history of rapid changes in technology, computer software and
many other intangible assets are susceptible to technological obsolescence.
Therefore, it will often be the case that their useful life is short. Expected
future reductions in the selling price of an item that was produced using an
intangible asset could indicate the expectation of technological or commercial
obsolescence of the asset, which, in turn, might reflect a reduction of the
future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset.

The useful life of an intangible asset may be very long or even indefinite.
Uncertainty justifies estimating the useful life of an intangible asset on a
prudent basis, but it does not justify choosing a life that is unrealistically
short.

The useful life of an intangible asset that arises from binding
arrangements (including rights from contracts or other legal rights)
shall not exceed the period of the binding arrangement (including rights
from contracts or other legal rights), but may be shorter depending on
the period over which the entity expects to use the asset. If the binding
arrangements (including rights from contracts or other legal rights)
are conveyed for a limited term that can be renewed, the useful life of
the intangible asset shall include the renewal period(s) only if there is
evidence to support renewal by the entity without significant cost.

The useful life of:
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(a) A license or similar right previously granted by one combining
operation to another combining operation that is recognized by
the resulting entity in an amalgamation; or

(b) A reacquired right recognized as an intangible asset in an
acquisition is the remaining period of the binding arrangement
(including rights from contracts or other legal rights) in which the
right was granted and shall not include renewal periods.

There may be economic, political, social, and legal factors influencing
the useful life of an intangible asset. Economic, political, or social factors
determine the period over which future economic benefits or service
potential will be received by the entity. Legal factors may restrict the period
over which the entity controls access to such economic benefits or service
potential. The useful life is the shorter of the periods determined by these
factors.

Existence of the following factors, among others, indicates that an entity
would be able to renew the binding arrangements (including rights from
contracts or other legal rights) without significant cost:

(@  There is evidence, possibly based on experience, that the binding
arrangements (including rights from contracts or other legal rights)
will be renewed. If renewal is contingent upon the consent of a third
party, this includes evidence that the third party will give its consent;

(b)  There is evidence that any conditions necessary to obtain renewal
will be satisfied; and

(c)  The cost to the entity of renewal is not significant when compared
with the future economic benefits or service potential expected to
flow to the entity from renewal.

If the cost of renewal is significant when compared with the future economic
benefits or service potential expected to flow to the entity from renewal, the
“renewal” cost represents, in substance, the cost to acquire a new intangible
asset at the renewal date.

Intangible Assets with Finite Useful Lives

Amortization Period and Amortization Method

96.

IPSAS 31

The depreciable amount of an intangible asset with a finite useful life
shall be allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life. Amortization
shall begin when the asset is available for use, i.e., when it is in the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management. Amortization shall cease at the
date that the asset is derecognized. The amortization method used
shall reflect the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits
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or service potential are expected to be consumed by the entity. If that
pattern cannot be determined reliably, the straight-line method shall be
used. The amortization charge for each period shall be recognized in
surplus or deficit unless this or another Standard permits or requires it
to be included in the carrying amount of another asset.

A variety of amortization methods can be used to allocate the depreciable
amount of an asset on a systematic basis over its useful life. These methods
include the straight-line method, the diminishing balance method, and
the units of production method. The method used is selected on the basis
of the expected pattern of consumption of the expected future economic
benefits or service potential embodied in the asset and is applied consistently
from period to period, unless there is a change in the expected pattern of
consumption of those future economic benefits or service potential.

There is a rebuttable presumption that an amortization method that is based
on the revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of an intangible
asset is inappropriate. The revenue generated by an activity that includes the
use of an intangible asset typically reflects factors that are not directly linked
to the consumption of the economic benefits or service potential embodied
in the intangible asset. For example, revenue is affected by other inputs
and processes, selling activities and changes in sales volumes and prices.
The price component of revenue may be affected by inflation, which has no
bearing upon the way in which an asset is consumed. This presumption can
be overcome only in the limited circumstances:

(@  In which the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue, as
described in paragraph 97C; or

(b)  When it can be demonstrated that revenue and the consumption of
the economic benefits or service potential of the intangible asset are
highly correlated.

In choosing an appropriate amortization method in accordance with
paragraph 97, an entity could determine the predominant limiting factor
that is inherent in the intangible asset. For example, the contract that sets
out the entity’s rights over its use of an intangible asset might specify the
entity’s use of the intangible asset as a predetermined number of years (i.e.,
time), as a number of units produced or as a fixed total amount of revenue
to be generated. Identification of such a predominant limiting factor could
serve as the starting point for the identification of the appropriate basis of
amortization, but another basis may be applied if it more closely reflects the
expected pattern of consumption of economic benefits or service potential.

In the circumstance in which the predominant limiting factor that is inherent
in an intangible asset is the achievement of a revenue threshold, the revenue
to be generated can be an appropriate basis for amortization. For example,
the right to operate a toll road could be based on a fixed total amount of
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revenue to be generated from cumulative tolls charged (for example, a
contract could allow operation of the toll road until the cumulative amount
of tolls generated from operating the road reaches CU100 million). In the
case in which revenue has been established as the predominant limiting
factor in the contract for the use of the intangible asset, the revenue that is
to be generated might be an appropriate basis for amortizing the intangible
asset, provided that the contract specifies a fixed total amount of revenue to
be generated on which amortization is to be determined.

Amortization is usually recognized in surplus or deficit. However,
sometimes the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in an
asset are absorbed in producing other assets. In this case, the amortization
charge constitutes part of the cost of the other asset and is included in its
carrying amount. For example, the amortization of intangible assets used in
a production process is included in the carrying amount of inventories (see
IPSAS 12).

Residual Value

99.

100.

101.

102.

IPSAS 31

The residual value of an intangible asset with a finite useful life shall be
assumed to be zero unless:

(a) There is a commitment by a third party to acquire the asset at the
end of its useful life; or

(b)  There is an active market for the asset, and:

(1) Residual value can be determined by reference to that
market; and

(i)  Itis probable that such a market will exist at the end of the
asset’s useful life.

The depreciable amount of an asset with a finite useful life is determined
after deducting its residual value. A residual value other than zero implies
that an entity expects to dispose of the intangible asset before the end of its
economic life.

An estimate of an asset’s residual value is based on the amount recoverable
from disposal using prices prevailing at the date of the estimate for the
sale of a similar asset that has reached the end of its useful life and has
operated under conditions similar to those in which the asset will be used.
The residual value is reviewed at least at each reporting date. A change in the
asset’s residual value is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate
in accordance with IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors.

The residual value of an intangible asset may increase to an amount equal to
or greater than the asset’s carrying amount. Ifit does, the asset’s amortization
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charge is zero unless and until its residual value subsequently decreases to
an amount below the asset’s carrying amount.

Review of Amortization Period and Amortization Method

103.

104.

105.

The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life shall be reviewed at least at each reporting
date. If the expected useful life of the asset is different from previous
estimates, the amortization period shall be changed accordingly. If
there has been a change in the expected pattern of consumption of the
future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset, the
amortization method shall be changed to reflect the changed pattern.
Such changes shall be accounted for as changes in accounting estimates
in accordance with IPSAS 3.

During the life of an intangible asset, it may become apparent that the
estimate of its useful life is inappropriate. For example, the recognition of
an impairment loss may indicate that the amortization period needs to be
changed.

Over time, the pattern of future economic benefits or service potential
expected to flow to an entity from an intangible asset may change. For
example, it may become apparent that a diminishing balance method of
amortization is appropriate rather than a straight-line method. Another
example is if use of the rights represented by a license is deferred pending
action on other components of the entity’s strategic plan. In this case,
economic benefits or service potential that flow from the asset may not be
received until later periods.

Intangible Assets with Indefinite Useful Lives

106.
107.

An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life shall not be amortized.

In accordance with IPSAS 21 and IPSAS 26, an entity is required to test
an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life or an intangible asset not
yet available for use for impairment by comparing its recoverable service
amount or its recoverable amount, as appropriate, with its carrying amount:

(@  Annually; and

(b)  Whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired.

Review of Useful Life Assessment

108.

The useful life of an intangible asset that is not being amortized shall
be reviewed each reporting period to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment from
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indefinite to finite shall be accounted for as a change in an accounting
estimate in accordance with IPSAS 3.

For intangible assets measured under the cost model, reassessing the useful
life of an intangible asset as finite rather than indefinite in accordance
with either IPSAS 21 or IPSAS 26, as appropriate, is an indicator that the
asset may be impaired. As a result, the entity tests the asset for impairment
by comparing its recoverable service amount or its recoverable amount,
determined in accordance with either IPSAS 21 or IPSAS 26, as appropriate,
with its carrying amount, and recognizing any excess of the carrying amount
over the recoverable service amount or recoverable amount as appropriate,
as an impairment loss.

Recoverability of the Carrying Amount—Impairment Losses

110.

To determine whether an intangible asset is impaired, an entity applies either
IPSAS 21 or IPSAS 26, as appropriate. Those Standards explain when and
how an entity reviews the carrying amount of its assets, how it determines
the recoverable service amount or recoverable amount of an asset, as
appropriate, and when it recognizes or reverses an impairment loss.

Retirements and Disposals

111.

112.

113.

114.

IPSAS 31

An intangible asset shall be derecognized:

@ On disposal (including disposal through a non-exchange
transaction); or

(b) When no future economic benefits or service potential are
expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset
shall be determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds,
if any, and the carrying amount of the asset. It shall be recognized
in surplus or deficit when the asset is derecognized (unless IPSAS 13
requires otherwise on a sale and leaseback).

The disposal of an intangible asset may occur in a variety of ways (e.g., by
sale, by entering into a finance lease, or through a non-exchange transaction).
In determining the date of disposal of such an asset, an entity applies the
criteria in IPSAS 9, Revenue from Exchange Transactions for recognizing
revenue from the sale of goods. IPSAS 13 applies to disposal by a sale and
leaseback.

If, in accordance with the recognition principle in paragraph 28, an entity
recognizes in the carrying amount of an asset the cost of a replacement
for part of an intangible asset, then it derecognizes the carrying amount
of the replaced part. If it is not practicable for an entity to determine the
carrying amount of the replaced part, it may use the cost of the replacement
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as an indication of what the cost of the replaced part was at the time it was
acquired or internally generated.

114A. In the case of:

(@ A license or similar right previously granted by one combining
operation to another combining operation that is recognized by the
resulting entity in an amalgamation; or

(b)  Areacquired right recognized as an intangible asset in an acquisition,

if the right is subsequently reissued (sold) to a third party, the related carrying
amount, if any, shall be used in determining the gain or loss on reissue.

115. The consideration receivable on disposal of an intangible asset is recognized
initially at its fair value. If payment for the intangible asset is deferred, the
consideration received is recognized initially at the cash price equivalent.
The difference between the nominal amount of the consideration and the
cash price equivalent is recognized as interest revenue in accordance with
IPSAS 9 reflecting the effective yield on the receivable.

116. Amortization of an intangible asset with a finite useful life does not cease
when the intangible asset is no longer used, unless the asset has been fully
depreciated.

Disclosure
General

117. An entity shall disclose the following for each class of intangible assets,
distinguishing between internally generated intangible assets and other
intangible assets:

(@ Whether the useful lives are indefinite or finite and, if finite, the
useful lives or the amortization rates used;

(b)  The amortization methods used for intangible assets with finite
useful lives;

(©) The gross carrying amount and any accumulated amortization
(aggregated with accumulated impairment losses) at the beginning
and end of the period;

(d)  The line item(s) of the statement of financial performance in which
any amortization of intangible assets is included;

©)] A reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and end
of the period showing:
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1 Additions, indicating separately those from internal
development, those acquired separately, and those acquired
through acquisitions;

(i)  Disposals;

(iii) Increases or decreases during the period resulting from
revaluations under paragraphs 74, 84 and 85 (if any);

(iv) Impairment losses recognized in surplus or deficit during
the period in accordance with IPSAS 21 or IPSAS 26 (if

any);
(v)  Impairment losses reversed in surplus or deficit during the
period in accordance with IPSAS 21 or IPSAS 26 (if any);

(vi)  Any amortization recognized during the period;

(vii) Net exchange differences arising on the translation of the
financial statements into the presentation currency, and on
the translation of a foreign operation into the presentation
currency of the entity; and

(viii) Other changes in the carrying amount during the period.

A class of intangible assets is a grouping of assets of a similar nature and use
in an entity’s operations. Examples of separate classes may include:

@
(b)
©
@
©

()
(@

Brand names;

Mastheads and publishing titles;
Computer software;

Licenses;

Copyrights, patents, and other industrial property rights, service, and
operating rights;

Recipes, formulae, models, designs, and prototypes; and

Intangible assets under development.

The classes mentioned above are disaggregated (aggregated) into smaller
(larger) classes if this results in more relevant information for the users of the
financial statements.

An entity discloses information on impaired intangible assets in accordance
with IPSAS 21 or IPSAS 26 in addition to the information required by
paragraph 117(e)(iii)—(v).

IPSAS 3 requires an entity to disclose the nature and amount of a change
in an accounting estimate that has a material effect in the current period or
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is expected to have a material effect in subsequent periods. Such disclosure
may arise from changes in:

(@  The assessment of an intangible asset’s useful life;
(b)  The amortization method; or
(©)  Residual values.

121. An entity shall also disclose:

(@ For an intangible asset assessed as having an indefinite useful life,
the carrying amount of that asset and the reasons supporting the
assessment of an indefinite useful life. In giving these reasons, the
entity shall describe the factor(s) that played a significant role in
determining that the asset has an indefinite useful life.

(b) A description, the carrying amount, and remaining amortization
period of any individual intangible asset that is material to the
entity’s financial statements.

© For intangible assets acquired through a non-exchange transaction
and initially recognized at fair value (see paragraphs 42—43):

1 The fair value initially recognized for these assets;
(i)  Their carrying amount; and

(iii)) Whether they are measured after recognition under the
cost model or the revaluation model.

(d)  The existence and carrying amounts of intangible assets whose
title is restricted and the carrying amounts of intangible assets
pledged as security for liabilities.

©®) The amount of contractual commitments for the acquisition of
intangible assets.

122. When an entity describes the factor(s) that played a significant role in
determining that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite, the entity
considers the list of factors in paragraph 89.

Intangible Assets Measured after Recognition using the Revaluation Model

123. If intangible assets are accounted for at revalued amounts, an entity
shall disclose the following:

(@) By class of intangible assets:
6)] The effective date of the revaluation;

(i)  The carrying amount of revalued intangible assets; and
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(iii)  The carrying amount that would have been recognized had
the revalued class of intangible assets been measured after
recognition using the cost model in paragraph 73;

(b)  The amount of the revaluation surplus that relates to intangible
assets at the beginning and end of the reporting period, indicating
the changes during the reporting period and any restrictions on
the distribution of the balance to owners; and

(© The methods and significant assumptions applied in estimating
the assets’ fair values.

It may be necessary to aggregate the classes of revalued assets into larger
classes for disclosure purposes. However, classes are not aggregated if this
would result in the combination of a class of intangible assets that includes
amounts measured under both the cost and revaluation models.

Research and Development Expenditure

125.

126.

An entity shall disclose the aggregate amount of research and
development expenditure recognized as an expense during the period.

Research and development expenditure comprises all expenditure that is
directly attributable to research or development activities (see paragraphs
64 and 65 for guidance on the type of expenditure to be included for the
purpose of the disclosure requirement in paragraph 125).

Other Information

127.

An entity is encouraged, but not required, to disclose the following
information:

(@ A description of any fully amortized intangible asset that is still in
use; and

(b) A brief description of significant intangible assets controlled by the
entity but not recognized as assets because they did not meet the
recognition criteria in this Standard.

Transitional Provisions

128.

129.
130.
131.
131A.

IPSAS 31

An entity that has previously recognized intangible assets shall apply
this Standard retrospectively in accordance with IPSAS 3.

[Deleted]
[Deleted]
[Deleted]

Paragraph 79 was amended by Improvements to IPSASs 2014 issued in January
2015. An entity shall apply that amendment to all revaluations recognized in
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annual periods beginning on or after the date of initial application of that
amendment and in the immediately preceding annual period.

Effective Date

132.

132A.

132B.

132C.

132D.

132E.

An entity shall apply this Standard for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after April 1, 2011. Earlier application
is encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a period beginning
before April 1, 2011, it shall disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 21 and
IPSAS 26 at the same time.

Paragraph 6 was amended by IPSAS 32, Service Concession Arrange-
ments: Grantor issued in October 2011. An entity shall apply that
amendment for annual financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2014. Earlier application is encouraged. If an
entity applies the amendments for a period beginning before January 1,
2014, it shall disclose that fact and at the same time apply IPSAS 32, the
amendments to paragraphs 6 and 42A of IPSAS 5, the amendments to
paragraphs 25-27 and 85B of IPSAS 13, the amendments to paragraphs
5, 7 and 107C of IPSAS 17 and the amendments to paragraphs 2 and
125A of IPSAS 29.

Paragraphs 79, 91 and 97 were amended and paragraphs 97A, 97B, 97C
and 131A added by Improvements to IPSASs 2014 issued in January
2015. An entity shall apply those amendments prospectively for annual
financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January
1, 2015. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the
amendments for a period beginning before January 1, 2015, it shall
disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 129, 130, 131 and 133 were amended by IPSAS 33, First-
time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSASs) issued in January 2015. An entity shall apply those
amendments for annual financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2017. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity
applies IPSAS 33 for a period beginning before January 1, 2017, the
amendments shall also be applied for that earlier period.

IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements and IPSAS 37, Joint
Arrangements issued in January 2015, amended paragraph 6(d).
An entity shall apply that amendment when it applies IPSAS 35 and
IPSAS 37.

Paragraphs 3, 96, 116 and 117 were amended by Improvements to IPSASs
2015, issued in April 2016. An entity shall apply those amendments for
annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2017. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies
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the amendments for a period beginning before January 1, 2017, it shall
disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 4 and 5 were deleted by The Applicability of IPSASs, issued in
April 2016. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments
for a period beginning before January 1, 2018, it shall disclose that fact.

Impairment of Revalued Assets (Amendments to IPSASs 21 and 26)
amended paragraph 110. An entity shall apply that amendment for
annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies
that amendment for a period beginning before January 1, 2018, it shall
disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 6, 35 and 64 were amended by IPSAS 39, Employee
Benefits, issued in July 2016. An entity shall apply these amendments
for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies
the amendments for a period beginning before January 1, 2018 it shall
disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 39 at the same time.

Paragraphs 3, 6, 18, 24, 40, 41, 66, 67, and 117 were amended and
paragraphs 18A, 26A, 39A-39E, 93A and 114A were added by IPSAS
40, Public Sector Combinations, issued in January 2017. An entity shall
apply these amendments prospectively for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Therefore,
amounts recognized for intangible assets and goodwill in prior public
sector combinations shall not be adjusted. Earlier application is
encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments for a period beginning
before January 1, 2019 it shall disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 40 at
the same time.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis IPSASs of accounting as defined in
IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) for financial reporting purposes subsequent
to this effective date, this Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after the date of adoption of
IPSAS:s.
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Appendix A

Application Guidance

This Appendix is an integral part of IPSAS 31.

Website Costs

AGI.

AG2.

AG3.

AG4.

An entity may incur internal expenditure on the development and operation
of its own website for internal or external access. A website designed for
external access may be used for various purposes such as to disseminate
information, create awareness of services, request comment on draft
legislation, promote and advertise an entity’s own services and products,
provide electronic services, and sell services and products. A website
designed for internal access may be used to store entity policies and details
of users of a service, and search relevant information.

The stages of a website’s development can be described as follows:

(@)  Planning—includes undertaking feasibility studies, defining objec-
tives and specifications, evaluating alternatives, and selecting prefer-
ences;

(b)  Application and Infrastructure Development—includes obtaining a
domain name, purchasing and developing hardware and operating
software, installing developed applications, and stress testing;

(¢c)  Graphical Design Development—includes designing the appearance
of web pages; and

(d)  Content Development—includes creating, purchasing, preparing,
and uploading information, either textual or graphical in nature, on
the website before the completion of the website’s development. This
information may either be stored in separate databases that are inte-
grated into (or accessed from) the website or coded directly into the
web pages.

Once development of a website has been completed, the Operating stage
begins. During this stage, an entity maintains and enhances the applications,
infrastructure, graphical design, and content of the website.

When accounting for internal expenditure on the development and operation
of an entity’s own website for internal or external access, the issues are:

(@  Whether the website is an internally generated intangible asset that is
subject to the requirements of this Standard; and

(b)  The appropriate accounting treatment of such expenditure.
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AG6.

AGT.

AGS.

AGO.
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This Application Guidance does not apply to expenditure on purchasing,
developing, and operating hardware (e.g., web servers, staging servers,
production servers, and Internet connections) of a website. Such expenditure
is accounted for under IPSAS 17. Additionally, when an entity incurs
expenditure on an Internet service provider hosting the entity’s website, the
expenditure is recognized as an expense when the services are received.

IPSAS 31 does not apply to intangible assets held by an entity for sale in the
ordinary course of operations (see IPSAS 11 and IPSAS 12) or leases that fall
within the scope of IPSAS 13. Accordingly, this Application Guidance does
not apply to expenditure on the development or operation of a website (or
website software) for sale to another entity. When a website is leased under
an operating lease, the lessor applies this Application Guidance. When a
website is leased under a finance lease, the lessee applies this Application
Guidance after initial recognition of the leased asset.

An entity’s own website that arises from development and is for internal or
external access is an internally generated intangible asset that is subject to
the requirements of this Standard.

A website arising from development is recognized as an intangible asset
if, and only if, in addition to complying with the general requirements
described in paragraph 28 of this Standard for recognition and initial
measurement, an entity can satisfy the requirements in paragraph 55 of this
Standard. In particular, an entity may be able to satisfy the requirement to
demonstrate how its website will generate probable future economic benefits
or service potential in accordance with paragraph 55(d) of this Standard
when, for example, the website is capable of generating revenues, including
direct revenues from enabling orders to be placed, or providing services
using the website, rather than at a physical location using civil servants. An
entity is not able to demonstrate how a website developed solely or primarily
for promoting and advertising its own services and products will generate
probable future economic benefits or service potential, and consequently all
expenditure on developing such a website is recognized as an expense when
incurred.

Any internal expenditure on the development and operation of an entity’s
own website is accounted for in accordance with this Standard. The nature
of each activity for which expenditure is incurred (e.g., training employees
and maintaining the website) and the website’s stage of development or
post-development are evaluated to determine the appropriate accounting
treatment (additional guidance is provided in the table included at the end of
the Illustrative Examples). For example:
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(b)

©

@)
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The Planning stage is similar in nature to the research phase in
paragraphs 52—54 of this Standard. Expenditure incurred in this stage
is recognized as an expense when it is incurred;

The Application and Infrastructure Development stage, the
Graphical Design stage, and the Content Development stage, to the
extent that content is developed for purposes other than to advertise
and promote an entity’s own services and products, are similar
in nature to the development phase in paragraphs 55-62 of this
Standard. Expenditure incurred in these stages is included in the cost
of a website recognized as an intangible asset in accordance with
paragraph AG8 when the expenditure can be directly attributed and
is necessary to creating, producing or preparing the website for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
For example, expenditure on purchasing or creating content (other
than content that advertises and promotes an entity’s own services
and products) specifically for a website, or expenditure to enable use
of the content (e.g., a fee for acquiring a license to reproduce) on the
website, is included in the cost of development when this condition
is met. However, in accordance with paragraph 83 of this Standard,
expenditure on an intangible item that was initially recognized as an
expense in previous financial statements is not recognized as part
of the cost of an intangible asset at a later date (e.g., if the costs of a
copyright have been fully amortized, and the content is subsequently
provided on a website);

Expenditure incurred in the Content Development stage, to the
extent that content is developed to advertise and promote an entity’s
own services and products (e.g., digital photographs of products),
is recognized as an expense when incurred in accordance with
paragraph 67(c) of this Standard. For example, when accounting for
expenditure on professional services for taking digital photographs of
an entity’s own products and for enhancing their display, expenditure
is recognized as an expense as the professional services are received
during the process, not when the digital photographs are displayed on
the website; and

The Operating stage begins once development of a website is complete.
Expenditure incurred in this stage is recognized as an expense when
it is incurred unless it meets the recognition criteria in paragraph 28
of this Standard.
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AGI10. A website that is recognized as an intangible asset under paragraph
AGS of this Application Guidance is measured after initial recognition
by applying the requirements of paragraphs 71-86 of this Standard. The
best estimate of a website’s useful life should be short, as described in
paragraph 91.

AGI1. The guidance in paragraphs AG1-AGI0 does not specifically apply to
software development costs. However, an entity may apply the principles in
these paragraphs.
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Appendix B

Amendments to Other IPSASs
[Deleted]
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 31.

Background

BCl.

BC2.

Scope
BC3.

BC4.

BCA4A.

The IPSASB’s IFRSs Convergence Program is an important element in
IPSASB’s work program. The IPSASB’s policy is to converge accrual basis
IPSASs with IFRSs issued by the IASB where appropriate for public sector
entities.

Accrual basis IPSASs that are converged with IFRSs maintain the
requirements, structure and text of the IFRSs, unless there is a public sector
specific reason for a departure. Departure from the equivalent IFRS occurs
when requirements or terminology in the IFRS are not appropriate for the
public sector, or when inclusion of additional commentary or examples is
necessary to illustrate certain requirements in the public sector context.
Differences between IPSASs and their equivalent IFRSs are identified in
the Comparison with IFRS included in each IPSAS. The Comparison with
IAS 38 references the December 31, 2008 version of IAS 38.

The Board considered whether powers and rights conferred by legislation, a
constitution, or by equivalent means should be included in the scope of the
Standard. The Board has not formed a view on this topic and therefore, these
powers and rights are excluded from the scope of this Standard. The Board
is currently developing a Conceptual Framework and will reconsider, if
necessary, the applicability of this Standard to powers and rights conferred
by legislation, a constitution, or by equivalent means.

IAS 38 contains requirements and guidance on goodwill and intangible
assets acquired in a business combination. In issuing IPSAS 31, the
IPSASB considered whether goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a
business combination should be included in the scope of this Standard. The
IPSASB had not yet issued an IPSAS dealing with business combinations
and considered it likely that a number of public sector specific issues will
arise when combinations of public sector entities take place. The IPSASB
concluded at that time that goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a
business combination should not be included in the scope of this Standard.
In accordance with the hierarchy in IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Policies and Errors, users were referred to the requirements
of the relevant international or national accounting standards dealing with
goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a business combination.

Subsequently, the IPSASB issued IPSAS 40, Public Sector Combinations.
IPSAS 40 specifies the accounting for public sector combinations, including
the initial recognition and measurement of intangible assets. [IPSAS 40
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does not specify the subsequent measurement and disclosure of intangible
assets recognized as part of a public sector combination. Consequently, the
IPSASB reconsidered whether goodwill and intangible assets recognized in
a public sector combination should be included in the scope of this Standard.
The IPSASB agreed that such assets should be included in the scope of this
Standard as a result of the IPSASB issuing IPSAS 40, and amended the
Standard accordingly.

IAS 38 contains requirements on exchanges of assets when the exchange
transaction lacks commercial substance. The IPSASB considered whether
this guidance is necessary and concluded that it was not necessary because
this issue is addressed in IPSAS 23.

The TASB has issued an Interpretation of IAS 38 dealing with accounting
for website costs. The IPSASB believes the guidance contained in SIC 32 is
relevant to the public sector. Accordingly, IPSAS 31 includes as application
guidance the definitions and guidance contained in SIC 32. This application
guidance is an integral part of IPSAS 31. The appendix in SIC 32 that
illustrates the relevant accounting principles and how they are linked to
IPSAS 31 is included in the illustrative examples.

The Standard does not address emissions trading schemes. The IPSASB
noted that, emissions trading schemes a government has established are
a type of powers and rights conferred by legislation, a constitution, or
by equivalent means, which are excluded from the scope of the Standard
(see paragraph BC3). A government may acquire permits under emissions
trading schemes. The treatment of such permits is currently being studied
by some international and national standard-setting bodies and a consensus
has not been reached on the appropriate accounting treatment. The IPSASB
will reconsider, if necessary, the applicability of this Standard to emissions
trading schemes.

Intangible Assets Acquired through a Non-Exchange Transaction

BCS.

IPSAS 23 prescribes the initial recognition, initial measurement and
disclosure of assets and liabilities arising from non-exchange revenue
transactions. This Standard addresses the circumstance where an intangible
asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction. The IPSASB agreed
that, for intangible assets arising from such transactions, an entity applies
the requirements of IPSAS 23 in conjunction with this Standard for initial
measurement of the intangible asset and, accordingly, considers directly
attributable costs specified in this Standard.
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Revaluation Model

BCo.

The revaluation model proposed in IPSAS 31 is similar to that in IAS 38 which
requires revaluations to be accounted for on an asset-by-asset basis. [IPSAS
17, Property, Plant, and Equipment requires revaluations to be accounted for
by class of assets rather than by individual asset. The IPSASB considered
this approach for intangible assets, but concluded that it was not necessary
because intangible assets differ from property, plant, and equipment in that
they are less likely to be homogeneous. One of the major types of intangible
assets of public sector entities is internally-developed software, for which
detailed information is available on an individual asset basis. Consequently,
the IPSASB concluded that it was appropriate to require revalued intangible
assets to be accounted for on an asset-by-asset basis.

Revision of IPSAS 31 as a result of IASB’s Improvements to IFRSs and Narrow
Scope Amendments issued in December 2013 and May 2014

BC10.

The IPSASB reviewed the revisions to IAS 38 included in the Improvements
to IFRSs and Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation issued by the IASB in December 2013 and May 2014 and
generally concurred that there was no public sector specific reason for not
adopting the amendments.

Revision of IPSAS 31 as a result of Part II of Improvements to IPSASs 2015:
issues raised by stakeholders

BCIl1.

Stakeholders indicated that IPSASs referred to non-current assets held for
sale and disposal groups inconsistently. The IPSASB concluded that IFRS
5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, may
only be appropriate for the public sector in certain circumstances, for the
following reasons:

(@)  Sales of assets in the public sector may not be completed within one
year because of the levels of approval required. This raises questions
about the relevance and consistency of information provided in
accordance with IFRS 5. In particular, the IPSASB notes that, under
IFRS 5, non-current assets held for sale are not depreciated. The
IPSASB has concerns that not depreciating assets for an extended
period of time may be inappropriate.
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(b)  Many assets in the public sector are disposed of through a transfer or
distribution for no or nominal consideration. As IFRS 5 deals with
sales at fair value, the measurement and disclosure requirements
may not provide relevant information for these transfers. However,
the IPSASB recognizes that the measurement and disclosure
requirements in IFRS 5 may be appropriate where sales are intended
to take place at fair value.

(c)  Many discontinued operations in the public sector are operations
that previously provided services at no or nominal cost. As IFRS 5
deals with discontinued operations that were either cash-generating
units or a group of cash-generating units prior to disposal or
being classified as held for sale, the disclosure requirements may
not provide relevant information for public sector discontinued
operations. However, the IPSASB recognizes that the disclosure
requirements in IFRS 5 may be appropriate where discontinued
operations were previously either cash-generating units or one or
more groups of cash generating units.

Because the IPSASB had concluded that IFRS 5 would only be appropriate
in the public sector in limited circumstances, the IPSASB agreed to remove
references in IPSAS to international or national accounting standards
dealing with non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations.
The IPSASB had concerns that retaining this reference may result in
entities following the requirements of IFRS 5 in circumstances where
this may not be appropriate. The IPSASB noted that IPSAS 3 provides
guidance on selecting accounting policies for transactions that are not
specifically addressed in IPSASs. This guidance would permit entities to
adopt an accounting policy that is consistent with IFRS 5 where the entity
considers this is appropriate.

Revision of IPSAS 31 as a result of the IPSASB’s The Applicability of IPSASs,
issued in April 2016

BCI12.

The IPSASB issued The Applicability of IPSASs in April 2016. This
pronouncement amends references in all IPSASs as follows:

(@  Removes the standard paragraphs about the applicability of IPSASs
to “public sector entities other than GBEs” from the scope section of
each Standard;

(b)  Replaces the term “GBE” with the term “commercial public sector
entities”, where appropriate; and
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(©)  Amends paragraph 10 of the Preface to International Public Sector
Accounting Standards by providing a positive description of public
sector entities for which IPSASs are designed.

The reasons for these changes are set out in the Basis for Conclusions to
IPSAS 1.
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Ilustrative Examples

These examples accompany, but are not part of, IPSAS 31.

Recognition and Measurement of an Internally-Generated Intangible Asset

Example Applying Paragraph 63 of this Standard

IEL

IE2.

IE3.

IE4.

An entity developed a new system to schedule court cases more effectively
that will result in increased service delivery. During the financial year end-
ing March 31, 20X8, expenditure incurred for the development of the sys-
tem was CUI1,000,2 of which CU900 was incurred before March 1, 20X8
and CU100 was incurred between March 1, 20X8 and March 31, 20X8. The
entity is able to demonstrate that, at March 1, 20X8, the newly developed
system met the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset. The recover-
able service amount of the system (including future cash outflows to com-
plete the development before it is available for use) is estimated to be CU500.

At the end of the financial year, the developed system is recognized as an
intangible asset at a cost of CU100 (expenditure incurred since the date when
the recognition criteria were met, i.e., March 1, 20X8). The CU900 expen-
diture incurred before March 1, 20X8 is recognized as an expense because
the recognition criteria were not met until March 1, 20X8. This expenditure
does not form part of the cost of the system recognized in the statement of
financial position.

During the financial year ending March 31, 20X9, expenditure incurred is
CU2,000. At the end of this financial year, the recoverable service amount of
the system (including future cash outflows to complete the system before it
is available for use) is estimated to be CU1,900.

As at March 31, 20X09, the cost of the developed system is CU2,100 (CU100
expenditure recognized at the end of 20X8 plus CU2,000 expenditure rec-
ognized in the 20X9 financial year). The entity recognizes an impairment
loss of CU200 to adjust the carrying amount of the developed system before
the impairment loss (CU2,100) to its recoverable service amount (CU1,900).
This impairment loss will be reversed in a subsequent period if the require-
ments for the reversal of an impairment loss in IPSAS 21 are met.

Example Applying Paragraphs 55—65 of this Standard

IES.

An entity is developing a system which produces statistical reports for its
internal use and for sale to third-parties. The system is technically feasible,
the entity is aware that there is a demand for this type of report and which
third-parties are willing to pay for the product and therefore will generate

2

In this Standard, monetary amounts are denominated in “currency units” (CU).
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probable future economic benefits. The expenditure attributable to the
development of this system can be identified and measured reliably.

Assessing the Useful Lives of Intangible Assets

IE6.

IE7.

The following guidance provides examples on determining the useful life of
an intangible asset in accordance with this Standard.

Each of the following examples describes an acquired intangible asset, the
facts and circumstances surrounding the determination of its useful life, and
the subsequent accounting based on that determination.

An Acquired Patent with a Finite Useful Life

IES.

IE9.

Entity A acquires a patent over a formula for a vaccine, from Entity B to
secure Entity A’s ability to provide free vaccinations to its constituents. The
vaccine protected by the patent is expected to be a source of service potential
for at least 15 years. Entity A has a commitment from Entity C to purchase
that patent in five years for 60 per cent of the fair value of the patent at the
date it was acquired, and Entity A intends to sell the patent in five years.

The patent would be amortized over its five-year useful life to Entity A, with
a residual value equal to 60 per cent of the patent’s fair value at the date it
was acquired. The patent would also be reviewed for impairment in accor-
dance with IPSAS 21.

An Acquired Patent with an Indefinite Useful Life

IE10.

IEI1.

Entity A acquires an asset, the patent over a formula for a vaccine, from
Entity B to secure Entity A’s ability to provide free vaccinations to its con-
stituents. It is expected that the formula will need to be slightly modified
every 10 years to maintain its efficacy. There is evidence to support ongoing
renewal of the patent. A contract with Entity B stipulates that Entity B will
maintain the efficacy of the formula continuously, and evidence supports its
ability to do so. The costs to renew the patent and maintain the efficacy of
the formula are expected to be insignificant and will be paid to the Entity B
when the improvements are made.

An analysis of product lifecycle studies, and demographic and environmen-
tal trends, provides evidence that the patent will provide service potential to
Entity A by enabling it to deliver its vaccination program for an indefinite
period. Accordingly, the patent would be treated as having an indefinite use-
ful life. Therefore, the patent would not be amortized unless its useful life
is determined to be finite. The patent would be tested for impairment in
accordance with [PSAS 21.
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An Acquired Copyright that has a Remaining Legal Life of 50 Years

IE12.

IE13.

Entity A acquires a copyright from Entity B to enable it to reproduce and
sell the copyrighted material on a cost-recovery basis to its constituency. An
analysis of the habits of the entity’s constituency and other trends provides
evidence that the copyrighted material will generate net cash inflows for
only 30 more years.

The copyright would be amortized over its 30-year estimated useful life.
The copyright also would be reviewed for impairment in accordance with
IPSAS 21.

An Acquired Broadcasting License that Expires in Five Years—Part A

IE14.

IEIS.

Entity A acquires a broadcasting license from Entity B. Entity A intends
to provide free broadcasting services in the community. The broadcasting
license is renewable every 10 years if Entity A provides at least an average
level of service to its users of its service and complies with the relevant
legislative requirements. The license may be renewed indefinitely at little
cost and has been renewed twice before the most recent acquisition. Entity
A intends to renew the license indefinitely and evidence supports its ability
to do so. Historically, there has been no compelling challenge to the license
renewal. The technology used in broadcasting is not expected to be replaced
by another technology at any time in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the
license is expected to contribute to Entity A’s ability to provide free broad-
casting services indefinitely.

Entity B does not recognize its power to grant broadcasting licenses as an
intangible asset. The broadcasting license would be treated by Entity A as
having an indefinite useful life because it is expected to contribute to the
entity’s ability to provide free broadcasting services indefinitely. There-
fore, the license would not be amortized until its useful life is determined
to be finite. The license would be tested for impairment in accordance with
IPSAS 21.

An Acquired Broadcasting License that Expires in Five Years—Part B

IEIl6.

IE17.

The licensing authority subsequently decides that it will no longer renew
broadcasting licenses, but rather will auction the licenses. At the time the
licensing authority’s decision is made, Entity A’s broadcasting license has
three years until it expires. Entity A expects that the license will continue to
provide service potential until the license expires.

Because the broadcasting license can no longer be renewed, its useful life
is no longer indefinite. Thus, the acquired license would be amortized by
Entity A over its remaining three-year useful life and immediately tested for
impairment in accordance with IPSAS 21.
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An Acquired Right to Operate a Public Transit Route Between Two Cities that
Expires in Three Years

IEI1S.

IE19.

Entity A acquires from Entity B a right to operate a public transit route
between two cities, which generates revenues. The transit route may be
renewed every five years, and Entity A intends to comply with the appli-
cable rules and regulations surrounding renewal. Transit route renewals are
routinely granted at a minimal cost and historically have been renewed when
the entity that holds the rights to the route has complied with the applicable
rules and regulations. Entity A expects to provide transit services on the
route indefinitely. An analysis of demand and cash flows supports those as-
sumptions.

Because the facts and circumstances support the public transit route provid-
ing cash flows to Entity A for an indefinite period of time, the intangible
asset related to the transit route is treated as having an indefinite useful life.
Therefore, the intangible asset would not be amortized until its useful life
is determined to be finite. It would be tested for impairment in accordance
with IPSAS 26 annually and whenever there is an indication that it may be
impaired.

An Acquired List of Property Owners

IE20.

IE21.

A local authority (Entity A) acquires a list of property owners from anoth-
er public sector entity which is responsible for registering property deeds
(Entity B). Entity B is at another level of government, and is not part of Entity
A’s reporting entity. Entity A intends to use the list to generate tax revenues
and Entity A expects that it will be able to derive benefit from the informa-
tion on the acquired list’ for at least one year, but no more than three years.

The list of property owners would be amortized over Entity A’s best estimate
of its useful life, say 18 months. Although Entity B may intend to add prop-
erty owner names and other information to the list in the future, the expected
benefits to Entity A of the acquired list relate only to the property owners on
that list at the date Entity A acquired the list. The list of property owners also
would be reviewed for impairment in accordance with IPSAS 21 by assess-
ing annually and whenever there is any indication that it may be impaired.

Although the local authority may intend to add property owners and other information to the database in the

future, the expected benefits of the acquired database relate only to the property owners on that database at
the date it was acquired. Subsequent additions would be considered to be internally-developed intangible
assets, and accounted for in accordance with this Standard.

1445 IPSAS 31 ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLES



INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Examples Illustrating the Application Guidance

IE22.  The purpose of the table is to illustrate examples of expenditure that occur
during each of the stages described in paragraphs AG2—AG3 and to illustrate
application of paragraphs AG4—AG11 to assist in clarifying their meaning. It
is not intended to be a comprehensive checklist of expenditure that might be
incurred.
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STAGE/NATURE OF
EXPENDITURE

ACCOUNTING TREATMENT

Planning

*  Undertaking feasibility studies;

¢ Defining hardware and software
specifications;

«  Evaluating alternative products
and suppliers; and

*  Selecting preferences.

Recognize as an expense when incurred
in accordance with paragraph 52 of this
Standard.

Application and Infrastructure Development

*  Purchasing or developing
hardware.

*  Obtaining a domain name;

*  Developing operating software
(e.g., operating system and server
software);

*  Developing code for the
application;

* Installing developed applications
on the web server; and

*  Stress testing.

Apply the requirements of IPSAS 17.

Recognize as an expense when incurred,
unless the expenditure can be directly
attributed to preparing the website

to operate in the manner intended by
management, and the website meets the
recognition criteria in paragraphs 28 and
55% of this Standard.

Graphical Design Development

*  Designing the appearance (e.g.,
layout and color) of web pages.

Recognize as an expense when incurred,
unless the expenditure can be directly
attributed to preparing the website

to operate in the manner intended by
management, and the website meets the
recognition criteria in paragraphs 28 and
553 of this Standard.

Content Development

*  Creating, purchasing, preparing
(e.g., creating links and
identifying tags), and uploading

Recognize as an expense when incurred
in accordance with paragraph 67(c) of
this Standard to the extent that content

All expenditure on developing a website solely or primarily for promoting, advertising, or providing
information to the public at large regarding the entity’s own products and services is recognized an
expense when incurred in accordance with paragraph 66 of this Standard.

See footnote 3.
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STAGE/NATURE OF
EXPENDITURE

ACCOUNTING TREATMENT

information, either textual

or graphic in nature, on the
website before the completion
of the website’s development.
Examples of content include
information about an entity,
services, or products, and topics
that subscribers access.

is developed to advertise and promote
an entity’s own services and products
(e.g., digital photographs of products).
Otherwise, recognize as an expense
when incurred, unless the expenditure
can be directly attributed to preparing
the website to operate in the manner
intended by management, and the
website meets the recognition criteria in
paragraphs 28 and 55 of this Standard.

Operating

»  Updating graphics and revising
content;

. Adding new functions, features,
and content;

*  Registering the website with
search engines;

*  Backing up data;

*  Reviewing security access; and

*  Analyzing usage of the website.

Assess whether it meets the definition of
an intangible asset and the recognition
criteria set out in paragraph 28 of this
Standard, in which case the expenditure
is recognized in the carrying amount of
the website asset.

Other

. Selling, administrative, and other
general overhead expenditure
unless it can be directly attributed
to preparing the website for use
to operate in the manner intended
by management;

*  Clearly identified inefficiencies
and initial operating deficits
incurred before the website
achieves planned performance
(e.g., false-start testing); and

*  Training employees to operate
the website.

Recognize as an expense when in-
curred in accordance with paragraphs
63—69 of this Standard.

6

See footnote 3.
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Comparison with IAS 38

IPSAS 31, Intangible Assets is drawn primarily from IAS 38, Intangible Assets (as
at December 31, 2008). The main differences between IPSAS 31 and IAS 38 are as
follows:

. IPSAS 31 includes a scope exclusion for the powers and rights conferred by
legislation, a constitution, or by equivalent means.

. IPSAS 31 incorporates the guidance contained in the Standing Interpretation
Committee’s Interpretation 32, Intangible Assets—Web Site Costs as
Application Guidance to illustrate the relevant accounting principles.

. IPSAS 31 does not require or prohibit the recognition of intangible heritage
assets. An entity that recognizes intangible heritage assets is required to
comply with the disclosure requirements of this Standard with respect to
those intangible heritage assets that have been recognized and may, but is
not required to, comply with other requirements of this Standard in respect
of those intangible heritage assets. IAS 38 does not have similar guidance.

. IAS 38 contains guidance on intangible assets acquired by way of a
government grant. Paragraphs 31 of IPSAS 31 modifies this guidance to
refer to intangible assets acquired through non-exchange transactions.
IPSAS 31 states that where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-
exchange transaction, the cost is its fair value as at the date it is acquired.

. IAS 38 provides guidance on exchanges of assets when an exchange
transaction lacks commercial substance. IPSAS 31 does not include this
guidance.

. The examples included in IAS 38 have been modified to better address
public sector circumstances.

e IPSAS 31 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 38. The
most significant examples are the use of the terms “revenue,” “statement
of financial performance,” “surplus or deficit,” “future economic benefits
or service potential,” “accumulated surpluses or deficits,” “operating/
operation,” “rights from binding arrangements (including rights from
contracts or other legal rights),” and “net assets/equity” in IPSAS 31. The
equivalent terms in IAS 38 are “income,” “statement of comprehensive
income,” “profit or loss,” “future economic benefits,” “retained earnings,”
“business,” “contractual or other legal rights,” and “equity.”
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History of IPSAS

This version includes amendments resulting from IPSASs issued up to
January 31, 2017.

IPSAS 32, Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor was issued in October
2011.

Since then, IPSAS 27 has been amended by the following IPSASs:
. The Applicability of IPSASs (issued April 2016)
. Improvements to IPSASs 2015 (issued April 2016)

. IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) (issued January 2015)

Table of Amended Paragraphs in IPSAS 32

Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
3 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
4 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
13 Amended Improvements to
IPSASs April 2016
32 Amended Improvements to
IPSASs April 2016
33 Amended Improvements to
IPSASs April 2016
35 Deleted IPSAS 33 January 2015
35A New Improvements to
IPSASs April 2016
35B New Improvements to
IPSASs April 2016
36A New IPSAS 33 January 2015
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Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
36B New Improvements to
IPSASs April 2016
36C New The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
37 Amended IPSAS 33 January 2015
AG20 Amended Improvements to
IPSASs April 2016
AG35 Amended Improvements to
IPSASs April 2016
AG68 Deleted IPSAS 33 January 2015
AG69 Deleted IPSAS 33 January 2015
AG70 Deleted IPSAS 33 January 2015
AG71 Deleted IPSAS 33 January 2015
AG72 Deleted IPSAS 33 January 2015
AGT73 Deleted IPSAS 33 January 2015
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International Public Sector Accounting Standard 32, Service Concession
Arrangements: Grantor is set out in paragraphs 1-37. All the paragraphs have
equal authority. IPSAS 32 should be read in the context of its objective, the Basis
for Conclusions, the Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards,
and the Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by
Public Sector Entities. IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors, provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting
policies in the absence of explicit guidance.
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Objective

1.

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the accounting for service
concession arrangements by the grantor, a public sector entity.

Scope (see paragraphs AG1-AG2)

2.

An entity' that prepares and presents financial statements under the
accrual basis of accounting shall apply this Standard in accounting for
service concession arrangements.

[Deleted]
[Deleted]

Arrangements within the scope of this Standard involve the operator
providing public services related to the service concession asset on behalf of
the grantor.

Arrangements outside the scope of this Standard are those that do not involve
the delivery of public services and arrangements that involve service and
management components where the asset is not controlled by the grantor
(e.g., outsourcing, service contracts, or privatization).

This Standard does not specify the accounting by operators (guidance on
accounting for service concession arrangements by the operator can be
found in the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing
with service concession arrangements).

Definitions (see paragraphs AG3-AG4)

8.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

A binding arrangement, for the purposes of this Standard, describes
contracts and other arrangements that confer similar rights and obliga-
tions on the parties to it as if they were in the form of a contract.

A grantor, for the purposes of this Standard, is the entity that grants the
right to use the service concession asset to the operator.

An operator, for the purposes of this Standard, is the entity that uses the
service concession asset to provide public services subject to the grant-
or’s control of the asset.

A service concession arrangement is a binding arrangement between a
grantor and an operator in which:

An entity for the purposes of this Standard is referred to as the grantor.
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(@ The operator uses the service concession asset to provide a public
service on behalf of the grantor for a specified period of time; and

(b)  The operator is compensated for its services over the period of the
service concession arrangement.

A service concession asset is an asset used to provide public services in a
service concession arrangement that:

(@  Is provided by the operator which:

1 The operator constructs, develops, or acquires from a third
party; or

(i)  Is an existing asset of the operator; or
(b)  Is provided by the grantor which:
@) Is an existing asset of the grantor; or
(i)  Is an upgrade to an existing asset of the grantor.

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same
meaning as in those Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of
Defined Terms published separately.

Recognition and Measurement of a Service Concession Asset (see
paragraphs AG5-AG35)

O.

10.

11.

12.

IPSAS 32

The grantor shall recognize an asset provided by the operator and
an upgrade to an existing asset of the grantor as a service concession
asset if:

(@ The grantor controls or regulates what services the operator must
provide with the asset, to whom it must provide them, and at what
price; and

(b)  The grantor controls—through ownership, beneficial entitlement
or otherwise—any significant residual interest in the asset at the
end of the term of the arrangement.

This Standard applies to an asset used in a service concession
arrangement for its entire useful life (a “whole-of-life” asset) if the
conditions in paragraph 9(a) are met.

The grantor shall initially measure the service concession asset
recognized in accordance with paragraph 9 (or paragraph 10 for a
whole-of-life asset) at its fair value, except as noted in paragraph 12.

Where an existing asset of the grantor meets the conditions specified
in paragraph 9(a) and 9(b) (or paragraph 10 for a whole-of-life asset),
the grantor shall reclassify the existing asset as a service concession
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asset. The reclassified service concession asset shall be accounted for in
accordance with IPSAS 17, Property, Plant, and Equipment or IPSAS 31,
Intangible Assets, as appropriate.

After initial recognition or reclassification, service concession assets
shall be accounted for in accordance with IPSAS 17 or IPSAS 31, as
appropriate.

Recognition and Measurement of Liabilities
(see paragraphs AG36—-AG50)

14.

15.

16.

17.

Where the grantor recognizes a service concession asset in accordance
with paragraph 9 (or paragraph 10 for a whole-of-life asset), the grantor
shall also recognize a liability. The grantor shall not recognize a liability
when an existing asset of the grantor is reclassified as a service concession
asset in accordance with paragraph 12, except in circumstances where
additional consideration is provided by the operator, as noted in
paragraph 15.

The liability recognized in accordance with paragraph 14 shall be
initially measured at the same amount as the service concession asset
measured in accordance with paragraph 11, adjusted by the amount of
any other consideration (e.g., cash) from the grantor to the operator, or
from the operator to the grantor.

The nature of the liability recognized is based on the nature of the
consideration exchanged between the grantor and the operator. The nature
of the consideration given by the grantor to the operator is determined
by reference to the terms of the binding arrangement and, when relevant,
contract law.

In exchange for the service concession asset, the grantor may compensate
the operator for the service concession asset by any combination of:

(@)  Making payments to the operator (the “financial liability” model);

(b)  Compensating the operator by other means (the “grant of a right to the
operator” model) such as:

(1) Granting the operator the right to earn revenue from third-
party users of the service concession asset; or

(i)  Granting the operator access to another revenue-generating
asset for the operator’s use (e.g., a private wing of a hospital
where the remainder of the hospital is used by the grantor to
treat public patients or a private parking facility adjacent to a
public facility).
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Financial Liability Model (see paragraphs AG37-AG46)

18. Where the grantor has an unconditional obligation to pay cash or
another financial asset to the operator for the construction, development,
acquisition, or upgrade of a service concession asset, the grantor shall
account for the liability recognized in accordance with paragraph 14 as
a financial liability.

19. The grantor has an unconditional obligation to pay cash if it has guaranteed
to pay the operator:

(@) Specified or determinable amounts; or

(b)  The shortfall, if any, between amounts received by the operator from
users of the public service and any specified or determinable amounts
referred to in paragraph 19(a), even if the payment is contingent on the
operator ensuring that the service concession asset meets specified
quality or efficiency requirements.

20. IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments: Presentation, the derecognition
requirements in IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, and IPSAS 30, Financial Instruments: Disclosures apply
to the financial liability recognized under paragraph 14, except where this
Standard provides requirements and guidance.

21. The grantor shall allocate the payments to the operator and account
for them according to their substance as a reduction in the liability
recognized in accordance with paragraph 14, a finance charge, and
charges for services provided by the operator.

22. The finance charge and charges for services provided by the operator
in a service concession arrangement determined in accordance with
paragraph 21 shall be accounted for as expenses.

23. Where the asset and service components of a service concession
arrangement are separately identifiable, the service components of
payments from the grantor to the operator shall be allocated by reference
to the relative fair values of the service concession asset and the services.
Where the asset and service components are not separately identifiable,
the service component of payments from the grantor to the operator is
determined using estimation techniques.

Grant of a Right to the Operator Model (see paragraphs AG47-AG49)

24, Where the grantor does not have an unconditional obligation to pay
cash or another financial asset to the operator for the construction,
development, acquisition, or upgrade of a service concession asset, and
grants the operator the right to earn revenue from third-party users
or another revenue-generating asset, the grantor shall account for the
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liability recognized in accordance with paragraph 14 as the unearned
portion of the revenue arising from the exchange of assets between the
grantor and the operator.

25. The grantor shall recognize revenue and reduce the liability recognized
in accordance with paragraph 24 according to the economic substance
of the service concession arrangement.

26. Where the grantor compensates the operator for the service concession
asset and the provision of services by granting the operator the right to earn
revenue from third-party users of the service concession asset or another
revenue-generating asset, the exchange is regarded as a transaction that
generates revenue. As the right granted to the operator is effective for the
period of the service concession arrangement, the grantor does not recognize
revenue from the exchange immediately. Instead, a liability is recognized for
any portion of the revenue that is not yet earned. The revenue is recognized
according to the economic substance of the service concession arrangement,
and the liability is reduced as revenue is recognized.

Dividing the Arrangement (see paragraph AG50)

27. If the grantor pays for the construction, development, acquisition, or
upgrade of a service concession asset partly by incurring a financial
liability and partly by the grant of a right to the operator, it is necessary
to account separately for each part of the total liability recognized in
accordance with paragraph 14. The amount initially recognized for the
total liability shall be the same amount as that specified in paragraph
15.

28. The grantor shall account for each part of the liability referred to in
paragraph 27 in accordance with paragraphs 18-26.

Other Liabilities, Commitments, Contingent Liabilities and

Contingent Assets (see paragraphs AG51-AG54)

29. The grantor shall account for other liabilities, commitments, contingent
liabilities, and contingent assets arising from a service concession
arrangement in accordance with IPSAS 19, Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, IPSAS 28, IPSAS 29, and IPSAS 30.

Other Revenues (see paragraphs AG55-AG64)

30. The grantor shall account for revenues from a service concession
arrangement, other than those specified in paragraphs 24-26, in
accordance with IPSAS 9, Revenue from Exchange Transactions.

Presentation and Disclosure (see paragraphs AG65-AG67)
31. The grantor shall present information in accordance with IPSAS 1.
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33.
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All aspects of a service concession arrangement shall be considered in
determining the appropriate disclosures in the notes. A grantor shall
disclose the following information in respect of service concession
arrangements in each reporting period:

(@ A description of the arrangement;

(b)  Significant terms of the arrangement that may affect the amount,
timing, and certainty of future cash flows (e.g., the period of the
concession, re-pricing dates, and the basis upon which re-pricing
or re-negotiation is determined);

© The nature and extent (e.g., quantity, time period, or amount, as
appropriate) of:

1 Rights to use specified assets;

(i)  Rights to expect the operator to provide specified services
in relation to the service concession arrangement;

(iii) Thecarryingamountofservice concession assets recognized
at the end of the reporting period, including existing assets
of the grantor reclassified as service concession assets;

(iv)  Rights to receive specified assets at the end of the service
concession arrangement;

(v)  Renewal and termination options;

(vi)  Other rights and obligations (e.g., major overhaul of service
concession assets); and

(vii) Obligations to provide the operator with access to service
concession assets or other revenue-generating assets; and

(d)  Changes in the arrangement occurring during the reporting
period.

The disclosures required in accordance with paragraph 32 are provided
individually for each material service concession arrangement or in aggregate
for service concession arrangements involving services of a similar nature
(e.g., toll collections, telecommunications or water treatment services). This
disclosure is in addition to the disclosures required in IPSAS 17 and/or IPSAS
31 by class of assets. Service concession assets within service concession
arrangements of a similar nature that are reported in aggregate may form
a subset of a class of assets disclosed in accordance with IPSAS 17 and/or
IPSAS 31 or may be included in more than one class of assets disclosed in
accordance with IPSAS 17 and/or IPSAS 31. For example, for the purposes of
IPSAS 17 a toll bridge may be included in the same class as other bridges. For
the purposes of this paragraph, the toll bridge may be included with service
concession arrangements reported in aggregate as toll roads.
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Transitional

34.

35.

35A.

35B.

A grantor that has previously recognized service concession assets and
related liabilities, revenues, and expenses shall apply this Standard
retrospectively in accordance with IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

[Deleted]

Paragraphs 13, 32, 33 and AG35 were amended by Improvements to IPSASs
2015 issued in April 2016. An entity that has previously applied IPSAS 32
shall reassess the classification of service concession assets in accordance
with paragraph 13. The entity shall present service concession assets in the
revised classification retrospectively in accordance with IPSAS 3.

Where service concessions assets are reclassified in accordance with
paragraph 35A, an entity shall account for the service concession assets as
follows:

(@) If the service concession assets have previously been measured
using the cost model, and the class of assets to which those service
concession assets have been reclassified is measured using the
cost model, the entity shall continue to apply the cost model. The
entity shall carry forward the cost of the service concession assets,
along with any accumulated depreciation or amortization and any
accumulated impairment losses.

(b) If the service concession assets have previously been measured
using the cost model, and the class of assets to which those service
concession assets have been reclassified is measured using the
revaluation model, the entity shall either:

(1) Revalue the service concession assets; or

(i)  Subject to the requirements in IPSAS 3 dealing with changes
in accounting policies, retrospectively apply the cost model to
the remaining assets in the class of asset to which those service
concession assets have been reclassified. Where information
regarding the cost of the assets is not available, the entity may
use the carrying amount of the assets as the deemed cost.

(c)  Ifthe service concession assets have previously been measured using
the revaluation model, and the class of assets to which those service
concession assets have been reclassified is measured using the cost
model, the entity shall either:

1) Retrospectively apply the cost model to the service concession
assets. Where information regarding the cost of the assets is
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not available, the entity may use the carrying amount of the
service concession assets as the deemed cost; or

(i)  Subject to the requirements in IPSAS 3 dealing with changes
in accounting policies, revalue the remaining assets in the
class of asset to which those service concession assets have
been reclassified.

(d) If the service concession assets have previously been measured
using the revaluation model, and the class of assets to which those
service concession assets have been reclassified is measured using the
revaluation model, the entity shall adjust the revaluation surplus in
respect of each class of asset. Where previous revaluation decreases
have been recognized in respect of either a service concession asset
or one or more assets in the class to which the service concession
asset is transferred, the entity shall consider whether transfers
between revaluation surplus and accumulated surpluses or deficits
are required.

Effective Date

36.

36A.

36B.

36C.

IPSAS 32

An entity shall apply this Standard for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. Earlier
application is encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a period
beginning before January 1, 2014, it shall disclose that fact and apply
IPSAS 5, Borrowing Costs, IPSAS 13, Leases, IPSAS 17, IPSAS 29, and
IPSAS 31 at the same time.

Paragraphs 35 and 37 were amended by IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption
of Accrual Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards
(IPSASs) issued in January 2015. An entity shall apply those amendments
for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2017. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies
IPSAS 33 for a period beginning before January 1, 2017, the amendments
shall also be applied for that earlier period.

Paragraphs 13, 32, 33 and AG35 were amended and paragraphs 35A
and 35B added by Improvements to IPSASs 2015 issued in April 2016.
An entity shall apply those amendments for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. Earlier
application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments for a
period beginning before January 1, 2017 it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 3 and 4 were deleted by The Applicability of IPSASs, issued in
April 2016. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments
for a period beginning before January 1, 2018, it shall disclose that fact.
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When an entity adopts the accrual basis IPSASs of accounting as defined in
IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) for financial reporting purposes subsequent
to this effective date, this Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after the date of adoption of
IPSASs.
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Appendix A

Application Guidance

This Appendix is an integral part of IPSAS 32.

Scope (see paragraphs 2—7)

AGI.

AG2.

This Standard is intended to “mirror” Interpretation 12 of the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee, Service Concession
Arrangements (IFRIC 12), which sets out the accounting requirements for
the private sector operator in a service concession arrangement. To do so, the
scope, principles for recognition of an asset, and terminology are consistent
with the applicable guidance in IFRIC 12. However, because this Standard
deals with the accounting issues of the grantor, this Standard addresses the
issues identified in IFRIC 12 from the grantor’s point of view, as follows:

(@  The grantor recognizes a financial liability when it is obliged to
make a series of payments to the operator for provision of a service
concession asset (i.e., constructed, developed, acquired, or upgraded).
Using the measurement requirements specified in this Standard under
paragraphs 12, 14, and 20 of IFRIC 12, the operator recognizes
revenue for the construction, development, acquisition, upgrade,
and operation services it provides. Under paragraph 8 of IFRIC 12,
the operator derecognizes an asset that it held and recognized as
property, plant, and equipment before entering the service concession
arrangement.

(b)  The grantor recognizes a liability when it grants the operator the right
to earn revenue from third-party users of the service concession asset
or another revenue-generating asset. Under paragraph 26 of IFRIC
12, the operator recognizes an intangible asset.

(c)  The grantor derecognizes an asset it grants to the operator and over
which it no longer has control. Under paragraph 27 of IFRIC 12,
the operator recognizes the asset and a liability in respect of any
obligations it has assumed in exchange for the asset.

Paragraph 9 of this Standard specifies the conditions under which an
asset, other than a whole-of-life asset, is within the scope of the Standard.
Paragraph 10 of the Standard specifies the condition under which whole-of-
life assets are within the scope of the Standard.

Definitions (see paragraph 8)

AG3.

Paragraph 8 defines a service concession arrangement. Common features of
a service concession arrangement are:
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(@  The grantor is a public sector entity;

(b)  The operator is responsible for at least some of the management of the
service concession asset and related services and does not merely act
as an agent on behalf of the grantor;

(c)  The arrangement sets the initial prices to be levied by the operator
and regulates price revisions over the period of the service concession
arrangement;

(d  The operator is obliged to hand over the service concession asset to
the grantor in a specified condition at the end of the period of the
arrangement, for little or no incremental consideration, irrespective
of which party initially financed it; and

()  The arrangement is governed by a binding arrangement that sets
out performance standards, mechanisms for adjusting prices, and
arrangements for arbitrating disputes.

Paragraph 8 defines a service concession asset. Examples of service
concession assets are: roads, bridges, tunnels, prisons, hospitals, airports,
water distribution facilities, energy supply and telecommunication networks,
permanent installations for military and other operations, and other non-
current tangible or intangible assets used for administrative purposes in
delivering public services.

Recognition and Initial Measurement of a Service Concession Asset
(see paragraphs 9-13)

Recognition of a Service Concession Asset

AGS.

AG6.

The assessment of whether a service concession asset should be recognized
in accordance with paragraph 9 (or paragraph 10 for a whole-of-life asset) is
made on the basis of all of the facts and circumstances of the arrangement.

The control or regulation referred to in paragraph 9(a) could be by a binding
arrangement, or otherwise (such as through a third party regulator that
regulates other entities that operate in the same industry or sector as the
grantor), and includes circumstances in which the grantor buys all of the
output as well as those in which some or all of the output is bought by other
users. The ability to exclude or regulate the access of others to the benefits of
an asset is an essential element of control that distinguishes an entity’s assets
from those public goods that all entities have access to and benefit from.
The binding arrangement sets the initial prices to be levied by the operator
and regulates price revisions over the period of the service concession
arrangement. When the binding arrangement conveys the right to control
the use of the service concession asset to the grantor, the asset meets the
condition specified in paragraph 9(a) regarding control in relation to those to
whom the operator must provide services.
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AGT.

AGS.

AGO.

AGI10.

AGI1.

SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS: GRANTOR

For the purpose of paragraph 9(a), the grantor does not need to have complete
control of the price: it is sufficient for the price to be regulated by the grantor,
binding arrangement, or a third party regulator that regulates other entities
that operate in the same industry or sector (e.g., hospitals, schools, or
universities) as the grantor (e.g., by a capping mechanism). However, the
condition is applied to the substance of the agreement. Non-substantive
features, such as a cap that will apply only in remote circumstances, are
ignored. Conversely, if, for example, an arrangement purports to give the
operator freedom to set prices, but any excess profit is returned to the
grantor, the operator’s return is capped and the price element of the control
test is met.

Many governments have the power to regulate the behavior of entities
operating in certain sectors of the economy, either directly, or through
specifically created agencies. For the purpose of paragraph 9(a), the broad
regulatory powers described above do not constitute control. In this
Standard, the term “regulate” is intended to be applied only in the context of
the specific terms and conditions of the service concession arrangement. For
example, a regulator of rail services may determine rates that apply to the
rail industry as a whole. Depending on the legal framework in a jurisdiction,
such rates may be implicit in the binding arrangement governing a service
concession arrangement involving the provision of railway transportation,
or they may be specifically referred to therein. However, in both cases, the
control of the service concession asset is derived from either the contract,
or similar binding arrangement, or from the specific regulation applicable
to rail services and not from the fact that the grantor is a public sector entity
that is related to the regulator of rail service.

For the purpose of paragraph 9(b), the grantor’s control over any significant
residual interest should both restrict the operator’s practical ability to sell or
pledge the asset and give the grantor a continuing right of use throughout
the period of the service concession arrangement. The residual interest in
the asset is the estimated current value of the asset as if it were already of
the age and in the condition expected at the end of the period of the service
concession arrangement.

Control should be distinguished from management. If the grantor retains
both the degree of control described in paragraph 9(a) and any significant
residual interest in the asset, the operator is only managing the asset on the
grantor’s behalf—even though, in many cases, it may have wide managerial
discretion.

The conditions in paragraphs 9(a) and 9(b) together identify when the asset,
including any replacements required, is controlled by the grantor for the
whole of its economic life. For example, if the operator has to replace part of
an asset during the period of the arrangement (e.g., the top layer of a road or
the roof of a building), the asset is considered as a whole. Thus the condition
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AGI2.

AGI3.

AGl4.

AGIS.

SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS: GRANTOR

in paragraph 9(b) is met for the whole of the asset, including the part that is
replaced, if the grantor controls any significant residual interest in the final
replacement of that part.

Sometimes the use of a service concession asset is partly regulated in the
manner described in paragraph 9(a) and partly unregulated. However, these
arrangements take a variety of forms:

(@  Any asset that is physically separable and capable of being operated
independently and meets the definition of a cash-generating unit
as defined in IPSAS 26, Impairment of Cash-Generating Assets is
analyzed separately to determine whether the condition set out in
paragraph 9(a) is met if it is used wholly for unregulated purposes (e.g.,
this might apply to a private wing of a hospital, where the remainder
of the hospital is used by the grantor to treat public patients); and

(b)  When purely ancillary activities (such as a hospital shop) are
unregulated, the control tests are applied as if those services did not
exist, because in cases in which the grantor controls the services in
the manner described in paragraph 9(a), the existence of ancillary
activities does not detract from the grantor’s control of the service
concession asset.

The operator may have a right to use the separable asset described in
paragraph AGIl2(a), or the facilities used to provide ancillary unregulated
services described in paragraph AGI2(b). In either case, there may in
substance be a lease from the grantor to the operator; if so, it is accounted
for in accordance with IPSAS 13.

Existing Asset of the Grantor
The arrangement may involve an existing asset of the grantor:

(@  To which the grantor gives the operator access for the purpose of the
service concession arrangement; or

b To which the grantor gives the operator access for the purpose of
g g p purp
generating revenues as compensation for the service concession asset.

The requirement in paragraph 11 is to measure assets recognized in
accordance with paragraph 9 (or paragraph 10 for a whole-of-life asset)
initially at fair value. Existing assets of the grantor used in the service
concession arrangement are reclassified rather than recognized under
this Standard. Only an upgrade to an existing asset of the grantor (e.g.,
that increases its capacity) is recognized as a service concession asset in
accordance with paragraph 9, or paragraph 10 for a whole-of-life asset).
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AGL17.

AGI8.

AGI9.

AG20.
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In applying the impairment tests in IPSAS 17 or IPSAS 31, as appropriate, the
grantor does not necessarily consider the granting of the service concession
to the operator as a circumstance that causes impairment, unless there has
been a change in use of the asset that affects its future economic benefits or
service potential. The grantor refers to IPSAS 21, Impairment of Non-Cash-
Generating Assets or IPSAS 26, as appropriate, to determine whether any of
the indicators of impairment have been triggered under such circumstances.

If the asset no longer meets the conditions for recognition in paragraph 9 (or
paragraph 10 for a whole-of-life asset), the grantor follows the derecognition
principles in IPSAS 17 or IPSAS 31, as appropriate. For example, if the asset
is transferred to the operator on a permanent basis, it is derecognized. If the
asset is transferred on a temporary basis, the grantor considers the substance
of this term of the service concession arrangement in determining whether
the asset should be derecognized. In such cases, the grantor also considers
whether the arrangement is a lease transaction or a sale and leaseback
transaction that should be accounted for in accordance with IPSAS 13.

When the service concession arrangement involves upgrading an existing
asset of the grantor such that the future economic benefits or service
potential the asset will provide are increased, the upgrade is assessed to
determine whether it meets the conditions for recognition in paragraph 9
(or paragraph 10 for a whole-of-life asset). If those conditions are met, the
upgrade is recognized and measured in accordance with this Standard.

Existing Asset of the Operator

The operator may provide an asset for use in the service concession
arrangement that it has not constructed, developed, or acquired. If the
arrangement involves an existing asset of the operator which the operator
uses for the purpose of the service concession arrangement, the grantor
determines whether the asset meets the conditions in paragraph 9 (or
paragraph 10 for a whole-of-life asset). If the conditions for recognition
are met, the grantor recognizes the asset as a service concession asset and
accounts for it in accordance with this Standard.

Constructed or Developed Asset

Where a constructed or developed asset meets the conditions in paragraph
9 (or paragraph 10 for a whole-of-life asset) the grantor recognizes and
measures the asset in accordance with this Standard. IPSAS 17 or IPSAS 31,
as appropriate, set out the criteria for when a service concession asset should
be recognized. Both IPSAS 17 and IPSAS 31 require that an asset shall be
recognized if, and only if:
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(@  Itis probable that future economic benefits or service potential
associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

(b)  The cost or fair value of the item can be measured reliably?.

Those criteria, together with the specific terms and conditions of the binding
arrangement, need to be considered in determining whether to recognize the
service concession asset during the period in which the asset is constructed
or developed. For both property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets,
the recognition criteria may be met during the construction or development
period, and, if so, the grantor will normally recognize the service concession
asset during that period.

The first recognition criterion requires the flow of economic benefits or
service potential to the grantor. From the grantor’s point of view, the primary
purpose of a service concession asset is to provide service potential on
behalf of the public sector grantor. Similar to an asset the grantor constructs
or develops for its own use, the grantor would assess, at the time the costs
of construction or development are incurred, the terms of the binding
arrangement to determine whether the service potential of the service
concession asset would flow to the grantor at that time.

The second recognition criterion requires that the initial cost or fair value
of the asset can be measured reliably. Accordingly, to meet the recognition
criteriain IPSAS 17 or IPSAS 31, as appropriate, the grantor must have reliable
information about the cost or fair value of the asset during its construction or
development. For example, if the service concession arrangement requires
the operator to provide the grantor with progress reports during the asset’s
construction or development, the costs incurred may be measurable, and
would therefore meet the recognition principle in IPSAS 17 for constructed
assets or in [IPSAS 31 for developed assets. Also, where the grantor has little
ability to avoid accepting an asset constructed or developed to meet the
specifications of the contract, or a similar binding arrangement, the costs are
recognized as progress is made towards completion of the asset. Thus, the
grantor recognizes a service concession asset and an associated liability.

Measurement of Service Concession Assets

AG24.

Paragraph 11 requires service concession assets recognized in accordance
with paragraph 9 (or paragraph 10 for a whole-of-life asset) to be measured
initially at fair value. In particular, fair value is used to determine the cost of a
constructed or developed service concession asset or the cost of any upgrades
to existing assets, on initial recognition. The requirement in paragraph 11
does not apply to existing assets of the grantor that are reclassified as service

2 Information that is reliable is free from material error and bias, and can be depended on by users to
faithfully represent that which it purports to represent or could reasonably be expected to represent.
Paragraph BC16 of IPSAS 1 discusses the transitional approach to the explanation of reliability.
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concession assets in accordance with paragraph 12 of this Standard. The use
of fair value on initial recognition does not constitute a revaluation under
IPSAS 17 or IPSAS 31.

The type of compensation exchanged between the grantor and the operator
affects how the fair value of the service concession asset is determined on
initial recognition. The paragraphs that follow outline how to determine the
fair value of the asset on initial recognition based on the type of compensation
exchanged:

(@  Where payments are made by the grantor to the operator, the fair
value on initial recognition of the asset represents the portion of the
payments paid to the operator for the asset.

(b)  Where the grantor does not make payments to the operator for the
asset, the asset is accounted for in the same way as an exchange of
non-monetary assets in IPSAS 17 and IPSAS 31.

Types of Compensation

Service concession arrangements are rarely if ever the same; technical
requirements vary by sector and by jurisdiction. Furthermore, the terms of
the arrangement may also depend on the specific features of the overall legal
framework of the particular jurisdiction. Contract laws, where they exist,
may contain terms that do not have to be repeated in individual contracts.

Depending on the terms of the service concession arrangement, the grantor
may compensate the operator for the service concession asset and service
provision by any combination of the following:

(@  Making payments (e.g., cash) to the operator;
(b)  Compensating the operator by other means, such as:

1) Granting the operator the right to earn revenue from third-
party users of the service concession asset; or

(ii))  Granting the operator access to another revenue-generating
asset for its use.

Where the grantor compensates the operator for the service concession asset
by making payments to the operator, the asset and service components of
the payments may be separable (e.g., the binding arrangement specifies
the amount of the predetermined series of payments to be allocated to the
service concession asset) or inseparable.
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Separable Payments

A service concession arrangement may be separable in a variety of
circumstances, including, but not limited to, the following:

(@)  Partofapayment stream that varies according to the availability of the
service concession asset itself and another part that varies according
to usage or performance of certain services are identified;

(b)  Different components of the service concession arrangement run for
different periods or can be terminated separately. For example, an
individual service component can be terminated without affecting the
continuation of the rest of the arrangement; or

(c)  Different components of the service concession arrangement can be
renegotiated separately. For example, a service component is market
tested and some or all of the cost increases or reductions are passed on
to the grantor in such a way that the part of the payment by the grantor
that relates specifically to that service can be identified.

IPSAS 17 and IPSAS 31 require initial measurement of an asset acquired
in an exchange transaction at cost, which is the cash price equivalent of the
asset. For exchange transactions, the transaction price is considered to be fair
value, unless indicated otherwise. Where the asset and service components
of payments are separable, the cash price equivalent of the service concession
asset is the present value of the service concession asset component of the
payments. However, if the present value of the asset portion of the payments
is greater than fair value, the service concession asset is initially measured
at its fair value.

Inseparable Payments

Where the asset and service component of payments by the grantor to the
operator are not separable, the fair value in paragraph 11 is determined using
estimation techniques.

For the purpose of applying the requirements of this Standard, payments and
other consideration required by the arrangement are allocated at the inception
of the arrangement or upon a reassessment of the arrangement into those for
the service concession asset and those for other components of the service
concession arrangement (e.g., maintenance and operation services) on the
basis of their relative fair values. The fair value of the service concession
asset includes only amounts related to the asset and excludes amounts for
other components of the service concession arrangement. In some cases,
allocating the payments for the asset from payments for other components
of the service concession arrangement will require the grantor to use an
estimation technique. For example, a grantor may estimate the payments
related to the asset by reference to the fair value of a comparable asset in an
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agreement that contains no other components, or by estimating the payments
for the other components in the service concession arrangement by reference
to comparable arrangements and then deducting these payments from the
total payments under the arrangement.

Operator Receives Other Forms of Compensation

The types of transactions referred to in paragraph 17(b) are non-monetary
exchange transactions. Paragraph 38 of IPSAS 17 and paragraph 44 of
IPSAS 31, as appropriate, provide guidance on these circumstances.

When the operator is granted the right to earn revenue from third-party
users of the service concession asset, or another revenue-generating asset,
or receives non-cash compensation from the grantor, the grantor does not
incur a cost directly for acquiring the service concession asset. These forms
of compensation to the operator are intended to compensate the operator
both for the cost of the service concession asset and for operating it during
the term of the service concession arrangement. The grantor therefore
needs to initially measure the asset component in a manner consistent with
paragraph 11.

Subsequent Measurement

AG35.

After initial recognition, a grantor applies IPSAS 17 and IPSAS 31 to the
subsequent measurement and derecognition of a service concession asset.
IPSAS 21 and IPSAS 26 are also applied in considering whether there is any
indication that a service concession asset is impaired. These requirements in
these Standards are applied to all assets recognized or classified as service
concession assets in accordance with this Standard.

Recognition and Measurement of Liabilities (see paragraphs 14-28)

AG36.

The grantor recognizes a liability in accordance with paragraph 14 only when
a service concession asset is recognized in accordance with paragraph 9 (or
paragraph 10 for a whole-of-life asset). The nature of the liability recognized
in accordance with paragraph 14 differs in each of the circumstances
described in paragraph AG25 according to its substance.

The Financial Liability Model (see paragraphs 18-23)

AG37.

AG38.

When the grantor has an unconditional obligation to make a predetermined
series of payments to the operator, the liability is a financial liability as
defined in IPSAS 29. The grantor has an unconditional obligation if it has
little, if any, discretion to avoid the obligation usually because of the binding
arrangement with the operator being enforceable by law.

When the grantor provides compensation to the operator for the cost of the
service concession asset and service provision in the form of a predetermined
series of payments, an amount reflecting the portion of the predetermined
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series of payments that pertains to the asset is recognized as a liability in
accordance with paragraph 14. This liability does not include the finance
charge and service components of the payments specified in paragraph 21.

Where the grantor makes any payments to the operator in advance of the
service concession asset being recognized, the grantor accounts for those
payments as prepayments.

The finance charge specified in paragraph 21 is determined based on the
operator’s cost of capital specific to the service concession asset, if this is
practicable to determine.

If the operator’s cost of capital specific to the service concession asset is
not practicable to determine, the rate implicit in the arrangement specific
to the service concession asset, the grantor’s incremental borrowing rate, or
another rate appropriate to the terms and conditions of the arrangement, is
used.

Where sufficient information is not available, the rate used to determine
the finance charge may be estimated by reference to the rate that would be
expected on acquiring a similar asset (e.g., a lease of a similar asset, in a
similar location and for a similar term). The estimate of the rate should be
reviewed together with:

(@  The present value of the payments;
(b)  The assumed fair value of the asset; and

(¢)  The assumed residual value, to ensure all figures are reasonable and
mutually consistent.

In cases when the grantor takes part in the financing (e.g., by lending the
operator the funds to construct, develop, acquire, or upgrade a service
concession asset, or through guarantees), it may be appropriate to use the
grantor’s incremental borrowing rate to determine the finance charge.

The interest rate used to determine the finance charge may not be subsequently
changed unless the asset component or the whole of the arrangement is
renegotiated.

The finance charge related to the liability in a service concession arrangement
is presented consistently with other finance charges in accordance with
IPSAS 28, IPSAS 29, and IPSAS 30.

The service component of payments determined in accordance with
paragraph 21 is ordinarily recognized evenly over the term of the service
concession arrangement because this pattern of recognition best corresponds
to the service provision. In cases when specific expenses are required to
be separately compensated, and their timing is known, such expenses are
recognized as incurred.
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Grant of a Right to the Operator Model (see paragraphs 24—26)

AG47.

AG48.

AGH49.

When the grantor compensates the operator for the service concession asset
and service provision by granting the operator the right to earn revenue from
third-party users of the service concession asset, the operator is granted the
right to earn revenue over the period of the service concession arrangement.
Likewise, the grantor earns the benefit associated with the assets received in
the service concession arrangement in exchange for the right granted to the
operator over the period of the arrangement. Accordingly, the revenue is not
recognized immediately. Instead, a liability is recognized for any portion of
the revenue that is not yet earned. Revenue is recognized and the liability
reduced in accordance with paragraph 25 based on the economic substance
of the service concession arrangement, usually as access to the service
concession asset is provided to the operator over the term of the service
concession arrangement. As described in paragraph AG27, the grantor may
compensate the operator by a combination of payments and granting a right
to earn revenue directly from third-party users. In such cases, if the operator’s
right to earn such third-party revenues significantly reduces or eliminates the
grantor’s predetermined series of payments to the operator, another basis may
be more appropriate for reducing the liability (e.g., the term over which the
grantor’s future predetermined series of payments are reduced or eliminated).

When the grantor compensates the operator for the service concession asset
and service by the provision of a revenue-generating asset, other than the
service concession asset, revenue is recognized and the liability recognized
in accordance with paragraph 24 is reduced in a manner similar to that
described in paragraph AG47. In such cases, the grantor also considers the
derecognition requirements in IPSAS 17 or IPSAS 31, as appropriate.

In some cases under the grant of a right to the operator model, there may be a
“shadow toll”. Some shadow tolls are paid for the construction, development,
acquisition, or upgrade of the service concession asset, and its operation by
the operator. In cases where the grantor pays the operator solely for the
usage of the service concession asset by third-party users, such payment
is compensation in exchange for the usage and not the acquisition of the
service concession asset. Accordingly, such payments do not relate to the
liability specified in paragraph AG48. The grantor compensates the operator
only to the extent of the usage of the service concession asset, and accounts
for such payments as expenses in accordance with IPSAS 1.

Dividing the Arrangement (see paragraphs 27-28)

AG50.

If the operator is compensated for the service concession asset partly by
a predetermined series of payments and partly by receiving the right to
earn revenue from third-party use of either the service concession asset or
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another revenue-generating asset, it is necessary to account separately for
each portion of the liability related to the grantor’s consideration. In these
circumstances, the consideration to the operator is divided into a financial
liability portion for the predetermined series of payments and a liability
portion for the right granted to the operator to earn revenue from third-party
use of the service concession asset or another revenue-generating asset.
Each portion of the liability is recognized initially at the fair value of the
consideration paid or payable.

Other Liabilities, Commitments, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
(see paragraph 29)

AGSI.

AGS52.

AGS3.

AG54.

Service concession arrangements may include various forms of financial
guarantees (e.g., a guarantee, security, or indemnity related to the debt
incurred by the operator to finance construction, development, acquisition,
or upgrade of a service concession asset), or performance guarantees (e.g.,
guarantee of minimum revenue streams, including compensation for short-
falls).

Certain guarantees made by a grantor may meet the definition of a financial
guarantee contract. The grantor determines whether guarantees made by the
grantor as part of a service concession arrangement meet the definition of
a financial guarantee contract and applies IPSAS 28, IPSAS 29, and IPSAS
30 in accounting for the guarantee. Where the guarantee is an insurance
contract, the grantor can elect to apply the relevant international or national
accounting standard dealing with insurance contracts. See IPSAS 28,
paragraphs AG3—AG?9 for further guidance.

Guarantees and commitments that do not meet the requirements in [IPSAS 28
and IPSAS 29 relating to financial guarantee contracts or are not insurance
contracts are accounted for in accordance with IPSAS 19.

Contingent assets or liabilities may arise from disputes over the terms of the
service concession arrangement. Such contingencies are accounted for in
accordance with IPSAS 19.

Other Revenues (see paragraph 30)

AGS55.

The operator may compensate the grantor for access to the service concession
asset by providing the grantor with a series of predetermined inflows of
resources, including the following:

(@  Anupfront payment or a stream of payments;
(b)  Revenue-sharing provisions;

() A reduction in a predetermined series of payments the grantor is
required to make to the operator; and
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(d)  Rent payments for providing the operator access to a revenue-
generating asset.

When the operator provides an upfront payment, a stream of payments, or
other consideration to the grantor for the right to use the service concession
asset over the term of the service concession arrangement, the grantor
accounts for these payments in accordance with IPSAS 9. The timing of the
revenue recognition is determined by the terms and conditions of the service
concession arrangement that specify the grantor’s obligation to provide the
operator with access to the service concession asset.

Where the operator provides an upfront payment, a stream of payments,
or other consideration to the grantor in addition to the service concession
asset, for the right to earn the revenue from third-party use of the service
concession asset, or another revenue-generating asset, any portion of the
payments received from the operator not earned in the accounting period is
recognized as a liability until the conditions for revenue recognition are met.

When the conditions for revenue recognition are met, the liability is reduced
as the revenue is recognized in accordance with paragraph 30.

However, given the varying nature of the types of assets that may be used
in service concession arrangements, and the number of years over which the
arrangements operate, there may be more appropriate alternative methods
for recognizing revenue associated with the inflows specified in the binding
arrangement that better reflect the operator’s economic consumption of their
access to the service concession asset and/or the time value of money. For
example, an annuity method that applies a compounding interest factor
that more evenly recognizes revenue on a discounted basis, as opposed
to on a nominal basis, may be more appropriate for a service concession
arrangement with a term extending over several decades.

When an upfront payment is received from the operator, the revenue is
recognized in a way that best reflects the operator’s economic consumption
of its access to the service concession asset and/or the time value of money.
For example, when the operator is required to pay annual installments over
the term of the service concession arrangement, or predetermined sums for
specific years, the revenue is recognized over the specified term.

For service concession arrangements under which the operator is granted the
right to earn revenue from third-party users of the service concession asset,
revenue relates to the inflow of economic benefits received as the services
are provided and is therefore recognized on the same basis as the liability is
reduced. In these cases, the grantor will often negotiate to include a revenue-
sharing provision in the arrangement with the operator. Revenue-sharing as
part of a service concession arrangement may be based on all revenue earned
by the operator, or on revenue above a certain threshold, or on revenue more
than the operator needs to achieve a specified rate of return.
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The grantor recognizes revenue generated from revenue-sharing provisions
in service concession arrangements as it is earned, in accordance with the
substance of the relevant agreement, after any contingent event (e.g., the
achievement of a revenue threshold) is deemed to have occurred. The grantor
applies IPSAS 19 to determine when the contingent event has occurred.

A reduction in the future predetermined series of payments the grantor
would otherwise be required to make to the operator provides the grantor
with upfront non-cash consideration. Such revenue is recognized as the
liability is reduced.

When the operator pays a nominal rent for access to a revenue-generating
asset, the rental revenue is recognized in accordance with IPSAS 23, Revenue
from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers).

Presentation and Disclosure (see paragraphs 31-33)

AG65.

AG66.

AG67.

Disclosures relating to various aspects of service concession arrangements
may be addressed in existing Standards. This Standard addresses only the
additional disclosures relating to service concession arrangements. Where
the accounting for a particular aspect of a service concession arrangement
is addressed in another Standard, the grantor follows the disclosure
requirements of that Standard in addition to those set out in paragraph 32.

IPSAS 1 requires finance costs to be presented separately in the statement
of financial performance. The finance charge determined in accordance with
paragraph 21 is included in this item.

In addition to the disclosures outlined in paragraphs 3133, the grantor
also applies the relevant presentation and disclosure requirements in
other IPSASs as they pertain to assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses
recognized under this Standard.

Transition (see paragraphs 34-35)

AG68.
AG69.
AGT70.
AGTI.
AGT2.
AGT3.

[Deleted]
[Deleted]
[Deleted]
[Deleted]
[Deleted]
[Deleted]
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Appendix B

Amendments to Other IPSASs
[Deleted]
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 32.

Objective

BCl.

Scope
BC2.

BC3.

BCA4.

In the absence of an International Public Sector Accounting Standard
dealing with service concession arrangements, public sector entities are
directed, in IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements to look to other
international or national accounting standards. In the case of arrangements
involving private sector participation, they would try to apply the principles
in Interpretation 12 of the International Accounting Standards Board’s
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC
12), Service Concession Arrangements. However, IFRIC 12 addresses
accounting by the operator, and does not, therefore, provide guidance for
the grantor. The IPSASB believes this Standard will promote consistency
and comparability in how service concession arrangements are reported by
public sector entities.

After considering the various types of arrangements involving public and
private sector entities identified in the development of the March 2008
Consultation Paper, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Service
Concession Arrangements, the IPSASB concluded that the scope of this
Standard should be the mirror of IFRIC 12, in particular, the criteria under
which the grantor recognizes a service concession asset (see paragraphs
BCI11-BC16). The rationale for this decision is that this approach would
require both parties to the same arrangement to apply the same principles
in determining which party should recognize the asset used in a service
concession arrangement. Thus, arrangements in which the criteria for
recognition of a service concession asset in paragraph 9 (or paragraph 10 for
a whole-of-life asset) are not satisfied, are outside the scope of this IPSAS.
The IPSASB considers that this approach minimizes the possibility for an
asset to be accounted for by both of the parties, or by neither party.

The IPSASB recognized that the Standard should provide Implementation
Guidance on the relevant IPSASs that apply to arrangements outside the
scope of the Standard. The Implementation Guidance contains a flowchart
illustrating the application of this Standard as well as a table of references
to relevant IPSASs for the other types of arrangements that are outside the
scope of this Standard.

The IPSASB concluded that it was important to provide guidance on
accounting for the consideration given by the grantor to the operator for
the service concession asset. The consideration may give the operator rights
to a determinable series of payments of cash or cash equivalents or a right
to earn revenue from third-party users of the service concession asset or
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another revenue-generating asset for its use, or a combination of both types
of consideration. Each type of consideration results in specific accounting
issues on which the IPSASB has provided guidance to facilitate consistent
application of the Standard.

The IPSASB also concluded that guidance was necessary on applying the
general revenue recognition principles in IPSAS 9, Revenue from Exchange
Transactions to service concession arrangements because of the unique
features of some service concession arrangements (e.g., revenue-sharing
provisions).

This Standard does not specify the accounting by operators, because it is
addressed in IFRIC 12. In many cases the operator is a private sector entity,
and IPSASs are not designed to apply to private sector entities. The operator or
the grantor may also be a [Government Business Enterprise (GBE)] (the term
in square brackets is no longer used following the issue of The Applicability
of IPSASs in April 2016). When this Standard was issued, IPSASs were not
designed to apply to GBEs. International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) were applied to private sector entities and GBEs.

Some respondents to ED 43 suggested that the scope of the proposed
Standard should be extended to include public-to-public service concession
arrangements. The IPSASB noted that addressing the accounting for such
arrangements was not the primary purpose of the project which was to
address the cases when the grantor is a public sector entity that follows
accrual IPSASs. The IPSASB noted that application of this Standard
by analogy would be appropriate under paragraphs 12—15 of IPSAS 3,
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors for the
public sector grantor and that relevant international or national accounting
standard dealing with service concession arrangements may be applied by
the public sector operator

Definitions

BCS.

BCo.

ED 43 did not provide definitions because IFRIC 12 did not do so.
Accordingly, ED 43 provided guidance on certain terminology. Respondents
to ED 43 proposed that, because this is a Standard and not an Interpretation,
it was important to include definitions for consistency in application of the
Standard. The IPSASB agreed that this Standard should include definitions.

The IPSASB agreed not to use the term “infrastructure” to refer to the asset
used in a service concession arrangement, even though IFRIC 12 uses the
term. The IPSASB noted that the term is used in IPSASs in ways that may
not be fully compatible with this Standard. Further, the term has a prescribed
meaning in some jurisdictions that differs from that used in IFRIC 12. To
ensure clarity that the asset referred to is the one recognized on the basis of
the conditions for recognition in paragraph 9 of this Standard (or paragraph
10 for a whole-of-life asset), the asset in this Standard is referred to as the
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“service concession asset”. This term is intended to cover the same types of
assets as envisaged in IFRIC 12.

The term “binding arrangement” had not been defined previously, but has
been used in other IPSASs to describe arrangements that confer similar
rights and obligations on the parties to it as if they were in the form of a
contract. The IPSASB concluded that for the purposes of this Standard, this
term should be defined to ensure consistent application of the Standard.

Recognition of a Service Concession Asset

BCIl1.

BCI12.

BC13.

BCl14.

The main accounting issue in service concession arrangements is whether
the grantor should recognize a service concession asset.

The IPSASB considered the merits of the risks and rewards and the control-
based approach to assess whether the grantor should recognize the asset. The
risks and rewards approach focuses on the economic aspects of the terms
and conditions in the arrangement. The IPSASB did not believe this focus
to be appropriate for service concession arrangements because the primary
purpose of a service concession asset, from the grantor’s point of view, is
to provide specified public services on behalf of the grantor using a service
concession asset, and not to provide economic benefits such as revenue
generated by such assets (e.g., from user fees). Thus, the service potential
of the asset accrues to the grantor. Economic benefits are only likely to
arise from a service concession arrangement in circumstances where the
operator is granted the right to earn revenue from third-party users, of
either the service concession asset or another revenue-generating asset. A
control-based approach focuses on control over the economic benefits and
the service potential of the service concession asset.

As it is often the case that service concession arrangements are entered into
for the sharing of risks between the grantor and the operator, the IPSASB also
questioned whether sufficiently objective criteria could be established for
assessing risks and rewards to enable consistent results to be determined. In
addition, weighting of various risks and rewards was seen to be problematic.
The IPSASB concluded, therefore, that the risks and rewards approach is
inappropriate.

The IPSASB also considered whether a rights and obligations approach was
appropriate. Although such an approach could have conceptual merit, the
IPSASB believes that it would represent a significant change in the accounting
and financial reporting of assets and liabilities for public sector entities that
could have implications beyond service concession arrangements. Given the
IPSASB’s decision to complement IFRIC 12, which uses a control-based
approach, the IPSASB agreed that a rights and obligations approach was not
appropriate for this Standard.
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The IPSASB concluded that a control-based approach was the most effective
means to determine whether the grantor should recognize the asset. The
IPSASB concluded that if a control-based approach is used, it should be
consistent with IFRIC 12, for the same reasons cited in paragraph BC2.
Accordingly, this Standard addresses only arrangements in which the grantor
(a) controls or regulates the services provided by the operator, and (b) controls
any significant residual interest in the service concession asset at the end of
the term of the arrangement. Consistent with IFRIC 12, in the case of whole-
of-life assets, only condition (a) must be met for recognition of a service
concession asset. The IPSASB concluded that it was important to stress that
a service concession arrangement is a binding arrangement. Accordingly, the
assessment of whether a service concession asset should be recognized is
made on the basis of all of the facts and circumstances of the arrangement.

Paragraph 9(a) of this Standard is consistent with paragraph 5 of IFRIC 12.
It is intended to apply only to the regulation that is specific to the service
concession arrangement, and not to the broad understanding of public
sector regulatory powers from the grantor’s point of view. The regulation
referred to in paragraph 9(a) of this Standard is either by contract or through
a regulator. Guidance is provided in paragraph AG6 on applying the term
“regulates” in paragraph 9(a) to determine whether the grantor should
recognize a service concession asset. Some respondents to ED 43 asserted
that providing such additional guidance creates an asymmetry with IFRIC
12, as there is no additional guidance on the meaning of this term. The
IPSASB considers the additional guidance provided in paragraph AG6 is
necessary to ensure symmetry exists between the public sector grantor’s
and the private sector operator’s application of the “regulates” criterion in
determining whether to recognize the service concession asset, as the public
sector may have considered the term in the context of the broad regulatory
powers of governments.

Recognition of a Liability

BC17.

BC18.

ED 43 described two circumstances that may give rise to a liability when
the grantor recognizes a service concession asset, based on the nature of
the consideration due to the operator in exchange for the service concession
asset.

ED 43 proposed that when the grantor recognizes a service concession asset,
a liability shall also be recognized. The ED noted that this liability may
be any combination of a financial liability and a performance obligation.
ED 43 proposed that a financial liability occurs when the grantor has a
determinable series of cash payments of cash or cash equivalents to make
to the operator and a performance obligation occurs when the grantor
compensates the operator by granting the operator the right to charge users
of the service concession asset or by granting the operator access to another
revenue-generating asset for its use. ED 43 proposed that the grantor account
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for the performance obligation in accordance with IPSAS 19, Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Respondents to ED 43 sought clarification on this issue, particularly with
respect to the “performance obligation” identified in ED 43. Respondents’
concerns are summarized below.

(@  Theright to charge users of the service concession asset or by granting
the operator access to another revenue-generating asset was seen by
some respondents as independent of the compensation for the asset.
These respondents highlighted that the requirement to provide access
is a feature of most service concession arrangements, and if this is to
be recognized, such recognition should not be dependent on the non-
occurrence of a payment stream from the grantor to the operator.

(b)  While being described as a performance obligation, there is no
obligation for an outflow of economic resources from the grantor
in future periods. These respondents therefore question whether a
liability as defined in IPSAS 1, or a provision as defined in IPSAS 19
could be fairly represented to exist.

In addition, a number of other respondents, possibly as a result of the above
concerns, requested clarification of the meaning of “performance obligation”
in the ED. A few of these respondents queried whether the substance of the
nature of this “balancing item” was deferred revenue.

The IPSASB agreed that clarification of this issue was required. The
IPSASB noted that using the term “performance obligation” could give rise
to confusion because it is used in IPSAS 23, Revenue from Non-Exchange
Transactions (Taxes and Transfers) in relation to non-exchange transactions.
The IPSASB noted that a service concession arrangement is an exchange
transaction rather than a non-exchange transaction and therefore it would be
preferable not to use the term performance obligation in relation to exchange
transactions.

In IFRIC 12, when the operator does not control the service concession
asset, the operator recognizes either a financial asset, or an intangible asset,
depending on which party bears the demand risk. The IPSASB agreed that,
to maintain symmetry with IFRIC 12, the same approach should be adopted
for the grantor. Thus, two models are identified for accounting for the credit
when the grantor recognizes a service concession asset in accordance with
this Standard: the financial liability model, and the grant of a right to the
operator model (which replaces the “performance obligation™).

The IPSASB’s decision to amend the terminology used in ED 43 from
“performance obligation” to the Standard’s use of “liability” does not change
the grantor’s accounting treatment of a service concession arrangement from
that proposed in ED 43.
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The Financial Liability Model

BC24.

BC25.

BC26.

BC27.

BC28.

Where the grantor compensates the operator by the delivery of cash or
another financial asset in exchange for its control of a service concession
asset, IFRIC 12 classifies this type of arrangement as the “financial asset
model” because the operator receives a financial asset. This Standard refers
to this type of arrangement as the “financial liability model” because the
grantor has a financial liability.

A financial liability arises in cases when the grantor is obligated to make a
determinable series of payments to the operator because the grantor has an
obligation as a result of the binding arrangement to deliver cash or another
financial asset to another entity (the operator). The IPSASB concluded
further that when there is a determinable series of payments of cash or cash
equivalents, the payments should be allocated as a reduction of the liability,
an imputed finance charge, and charges for services provided by the operator
under the service concession arrangement.

Service concession arrangements are concluded by way of a binding
arrangement, which may include contracts or similar arrangements that
confer similar rights and obligations on the parties as if they were in the form
of a contract. The IPSASB concluded that, if similar arrangements exist that
confer the same rights and obligations on either party as if they were in the
form of a contract, IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments: Presentation, IPSAS
29, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and IPSAS 30,
Financial Instruments: Disclosures should be applied by analogy to such
arrangements.

In considering a departure from this aspect of IFRIC 12, the IPSASB noted
that the main features of IFRIC 12 that were the subject of the “mirror”
approach to developing this Standard were limited to the scope of the
arrangements to be included and the recognition and disclosure requirements.

IFRIC 12 requires the financial asset to be accounted for in accordance
with the IFRS on financial instruments. This Standard provides guidance
for determining the interest rate to be used to determine the finance charge
under the financial liability model. The IPSASB considered the grantor
ordinarily would not have sufficient information to determine a market
rate. Accordingly, the guidance requires the operator’s cost of capital to be
used, if that is practicable to determine. It also permits other rates to be used
appropriate to the specific terms and conditions of the service concession
arrangement.

Grant of a Right to the Operator Model

BC29.

In responding to the issues raised by respondents to ED 43, the IPSASB
reconsidered the nature of the consideration given by the grantor for the
service concession asset where the operator recoups the price of the asset

IPSAS 32 BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS 1484



BC30.

BC31.

BC32.

BC33.
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from earning revenue from third-party users of the service concession asset
or another revenue-generating asset. The IPSASB noted that in this situation,
the cash consideration for the service concession asset is not being met by
the grantor but by users of the service concession asset or other revenue-
generating asset. The economic substance of this arrangement provides
an increase in net assets to the grantor, and therefore revenue accrues and
should be recognized. As the service concession arrangement is an exchange
transaction, the Board referred to IPSAS 9 when considering the nature of
the revenue and the timing of the recognition of that revenue.

Where the operator bears the demand risk, the grantor compensates
the operator by the grant of a right (e.g., a license) to charge users of the
public service related to the service concession asset or of another revenue-
generating asset. The grantor provides the operator access to the asset in
order for the operator to be compensated for construction, development,
acquisition, or upgrade of the service concession asset. IFRIC 12 classifies
this type of arrangement as the “intangible asset model.” This Standard refers
to this type of arrangement as the “grant of a right to the operator model.”

The IPSASB therefore considered whether the credit should be accounted
for as a liability, as a direct increase to net assets/equity, or as revenue.

It was agreed that, in this circumstance, the grantor does not have a liability
because the service concession arrangement is an exchange of assets, with
the service concession asset being obtained by the grantor in exchange for
a transfer of rights to the operator to earn revenue from third-party users of
the asset over the period of the service concession arrangement.

Some respondents to ED 43 indicated that the credit should be treated as net
assets/equity, consistent with IPSAS 1, which defines net assets/equity as the
residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its liabilities.
IPSAS 1 envisages four components of net assets/equity. Those components
include:

(@  Contributed capital, being the cumulative total at the reporting date of
contributions from owners, less distributions to owners;

(b)  Accumulated surpluses or deficits;

(©)  Reserves, including a description of the nature and purpose of each
reserve within net assets/equity; and

(d  Non-controlling interests.

The IPSASB concluded that the credit did not represent a direct increase in
the grantor’s net assets/equity because the credit is not one of the components
of net assets/equity identified in paragraph BC33 for the reasons noted below:

(@) Contributions from owners are defined as “future economic benefits
or service potential that has been contributed to the entity by parties
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(b)

(©)

@)
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external to the entity, other than those that result in liabilities of the
entity, that establish a financial interest in the net assets/equity of
the entity, which: (a) Conveys entitlement both to (i) distributions of
future economic benefits or service potential by the entity during its
life, such distributions being at the discretion of the owners or their
representatives, and to (ii) distributions of any excess of assets over
liabilities in the event of the entity being wound up; and/or (b) Can be
sold, exchanged, transferred, or redeemed.” The credit related to the
recognition of a service concession asset does not meet this definition
because the operator has not made a contribution to the grantor that
results in a financial interest in the entity by the operator as envisaged
by IPSAS 1.

Accumulated surplus/deficitis an accumulation of an entity’s surpluses
and deficits. The credit related to recognition of a service concession
asset represents an individual transaction and not an accumulation.

Reserves generally arise from items recognized directly in net assets/
equity from specific requirements in IPSASs, and may include, for
example, gains and losses on revaluation of assets (e.g., property, plant,
and equipment, investments). The credit related to the recognition
or reclassification of a service concession asset does not represent a
gain or loss specified to be directly recognized in net/assets equity
because it involves an exchange transaction and not a revaluation of an
existing asset of the grantor. Existing assets of the grantor, when used
in a service concession arrangement and continue to meet the control
criteria in this Standard, are reclassified, thus no revaluation is done.

A non-controlling interest is defined as “that portion of the surplus
or deficit and net assets/equity of a controlled entity attributable to
net assets/equity interests that are not owned, directly or indirectly,
through controlled entities, by the controlling entity” A non-
controlling interest may arise, for example, when at the whole-of-
government level, the economic entity includes a commercial public
sector entity that has been partly privatized. Accordingly, there may
be private shareholders who have a financial interest in the net assets/
equity of the entity. The credit related to the recognition of a service
concession asset does not meet this definition because operator does
not have such a financial interest in the grantor.

The IPSASB agreed that the credit represents revenue. As a service
concession arrangement is an exchange transaction, the IPSASB referred to
IPSAS 9 when considering the nature of the revenue and the timing of the
recognition of that revenue. In accordance with IPSAS 9, when goods are
sold or services are rendered in exchange for dissimilar goods or services,
the exchange is regarded as a transaction that generates revenue as it
results in an increase in the net assets of the grantor. In this situation, the
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grantor has received a service concession asset in exchange for granting a
right (a license) to the operator to charge the third party users of the public
service that it provides on the grantor’s behalf. The service concession asset
recognized by the grantor and the right (intangible asset) recognized by the
operator are dissimilar. However, until the criteria for recognition of revenue
have been satisfied, the credit is recognized as a liability.

The IPSASB noted that, in this situation, there is no cash inflow to equal
the revenue recognized. This result is consistent with IPSAS 9 in which an
entity provides goods or services in exchange for another dissimilar asset
that is subsequently used to generate cash revenues.

The revenue is measured at the fair value of the goods or services received,
adjusted by the amount of any cash or cash equivalents transferred. When
the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be measured reliably,
the revenue is measured at the fair value of the goods or services given up,
adjusted by the amount of any cash or cash equivalents transferred.

IPSAS 9 identifies three types of transaction that give rise to revenue: the
rendering of services, the sale of goods (or other assets) and revenue arising
from the use by others of the entity’s assets, yielding interest, royalties, and
dividends. In considering the nature of the revenue, the IPSASB considered
these types of transactions separately.

The IPSASB considered the approaches to revenue recognition set out
in IPSAS 9 in relation to the “grant of a right to the operator” model and
concluded that none of those scenarios fully met the circumstances of
this model. Nevertheless, the IPSASB noted that the timing of revenue
recognition under each of them is over the term of the arrangement, rather
than immediately. The IPSASB determined that, by analogy, such a pattern
of revenue recognition was also appropriate for recognizing the revenue
arising from the liability related to this model. As a result, until the criteria
for recognition of revenue have been satisfied, the credit is recognized as a
liability.

The IPSASB considered whether the grantor should recognize the operating
expenses in the circumstances described in paragraph BC30 relating to the
grant of a right to the operator model. The IPSASB noted that the grantor’s
liability recognized relates solely to the service concession asset received
by the grantor. If the service expenses were recognized, the grantor would
also have to recognize annually imputed revenue equal to the annual
expense. The IPSASB did not believe this accounting would provide useful
information, because revenue and an expense of equal amounts would be
recognized annually. The IPSASB noted further that reliable information
about the operator’s expenses may not be available in any case. The IPSASB
therefore concluded that the grantor should not recognize operating expenses
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associated with the service concession arrangement in the circumstances
described in paragraph BC30.

Accounting Issues Addressed in Other IPSASs

BC41.

Because of the complexity of many service concession arrangements, there
may be additional accounting issues related to certain terms in the contract,
or a similar binding arrangement (e.g., revenues, expenses, guarantees,
and contingencies). The IPSASB agreed that it was not necessary to repeat
such existing guidance in this Standard. Accordingly, when an existing
IPSAS specifies the accounting and reporting for a component of a service
concession arrangement, that IPSAS is referred to in this Standard and no
additional guidance is provided. However, the IPSASB noted some cases
(e.g., revenue recognition), when the application of such IPSASs would be
difficult given certain unique features in service concession arrangements.
To ensure consistent implementation of this Standard, the IPSASB provided
specific guidance on how the principles in the other IPSAS would be applied.

Transition

BC42.

BC43.

BC44.

BC45.

This Standard requires an entity that has previously recognized service
concession assets and related liabilities, revenues, and expenses to apply this
Standard retrospectively in accordance with IPSAS 3. The Standard also
requires an entity that has not previously recognized service concession
assets and related liabilities, revenues, and expenses and uses the accrual
basis of accounting to apply this Standard either retrospectively or
prospectively using deemed cost from the beginning of the earliest period
for which comparative information is presented in the financial statements.

The general requirement in IPSAS 3 is that the changes should be accounted
for retrospectively, except to the extent that retrospective application would be
impracticable. The IPSASB noted that there are two aspects to retrospective
determination: reclassification and remeasurement. The IPSASB took the
view that it will usually be practicable to determine retrospectively the
appropriate classification of all amounts previously included in a grantor’s
statement of financial position, but that retrospective remeasurement of
service concession assets might not always be practicable, particularly if an
entity has not previously recognized service concession assets and related
liabilities, revenues, and expenses.

The IPSASB noted that, when retrospective restatement is not practicable,
IPSAS 3 requires prospective application from the earliest practicable date,
which could be the start of the current reporting period.

The transitional provisions in this Standard for entities that have not
previously recognized service concession assets were amended from ED 43
because some respondents to ED 43 questioned why the general requirement
in IPSAS 3 is not also appropriate for an entity that has not previously
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recognized service concession arrangements. ED 43 required prospective
application in such cases, but permitted retrospective application.

When developing ED 43 the IPSASB had concerns relating to the practicality
of determining the measurement of a service concession asset, and considered
that this could result in inconsistent treatment of arrangements entered into
in the past. This was a similar issue to that which arose in finalizing IPSAS
31, Intangible Assets. On that basis, the IPSASB considered it appropriate to
propose transitional provisions in ED 43 that were consistent with those in
IPSAS 31.

However, the IPSASB noted that the circumstances surrounding intangible
assets differ from those in service concession arrangements. Notably, service
concession arrangements generally involve long-term binding arrangements
for which information required to develop fair value and cost information
would likely be more readily available than it is for intangible assets acquired
or developed in the past, even in cases where an entity had not previously
recognized service concession assets.

The IPSASB did however acknowledge that because many of these
arrangements may have been entered into some time ago, it may be difficult
to apply full retrospective application. As a result, the IPSASB considered
that a “deemed cost” could be used to recognize and measure service
concession assets.

Revision of IPSAS 32 as a result of Part II of Improvements to IPSASs 2015:
issues raised by stakeholders

BC49.

BC50.

The IPSASB had its attention drawn to a possible inconsistency between the
requirements in IPSAS 32 and the requirements in IPSAS 17 and IPSAS 31.
The requirements in IPSAS 32 could be seen as requiring service concession
assets to be presented as a single class of assets, even if they were of a
dissimilar nature and function. As it is not the intention of the IPSASB to
require that dissimilar assets be reported as if they were similar, the IPSASB
decided to propose clarifications to IPSAS 32 to make its intentions clear. The
IPSASB considered whether these changes would reduce the information
available to users, but is satisfied that the current disclosure requirements,
in particular those in paragraph 32, ensure high quality disclosures about
assets subject to service concession arrangements.

The IPSASB noted that the reclassification of service concessions assets
could require a change in measurement basis for some entities. For example,
some service concession assets measured using the revaluation model, might
be reclassified into a class of assets measured using the cost model. Equally,
some service concession assets measured using the cost model, might be
reclassified into a class of assets measured using the revaluation model.
Because the balance between the service concession assets and the other assets
in a class will vary from entity to entity, the IPSASB agreed to permit entities
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to select the measurement basis to be applied at the point of reclassification.
The IPSASB also noted that the information required to retrospectively apply
the cost model might not be readily available. Consequently, the IPSASB
agreed to permit entities to use the carrying amounts determined under the
revaluation model as deemed cost at the point of reclassification where an
entity elects to measure a class of assets using the cost model.

Revision of IPSAS 32 as a result of the IPSASB’s The Applicability of IPSASs,
issued in April 2016

BCs1.

The IPSASB issued The Applicability of IPSASs in April 2016. This
pronouncement amends references in all IPSASs as follows:

(@@  Removes the standard paragraphs about the applicability of IPSASs
to “public sector entities other than GBEs” from the scope section of
each Standard;

(b)  Replaces the term “GBE” with the term “commercial public sector
entities”, where appropriate; and

()  Amends paragraph 10 of the Preface to International Public Sector
Accounting Standards by providing a positive description of public
sector entities for which IPSASs are designed.

The reasons for these changes are set out in the Basis for Conclusions to
IPSAS 1.
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Implementation Guidance

This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 32.

IGL. The purpose of this Implementation Guidance is to illustrate certain aspects
of the requirements of IPSAS 32.

Accounting Framework for Service Concession Arrangements

1G2. The diagram below summarizes the accounting for service concession

arrangements established by IPSAS 32.

Does the grantor control or regulate what services
the operator must provide with the service
concession asset, to whom it must provide them,
and at what price?

Yes

\ 4

Does the grantor control, through ownership,
beneficial entitlement or otherwise, any significant
residual interest in the service concession asset at
the end of the service concession arrangement?
Or is the service concession asset used in the
arrangement for its entire useful life?

No

\ 4

l Yes

Is the service concession asset constructed,
developed, or acquired by the operator from a
third party for the purpose of the service
concession arrangement, or is the asset an existing
asset of the operator which becomes the service
concession asset aspartof the service concession
arrangement?

\ 4

OUTSIDE
THE SCOPE OF
THE STANDARD

No

¢ Yes

Is the service concession asset an existing
asset of the grantor to which the operator is
given access forthe purpose of the service
concession arrangement?

Yes

WITHIN THE SCOPE OF THE STANDARD

Grantor recognizes a service concession asset, or the grantor reclassifies an item of property, plant, and
equipment, an intangible asset, or a leased asset as a service concession asset

" AR

Grantor accounts for the service concession asset as property, plant, and equiy t or an i
asset in accordance with IPSAS 17 or IPSAS 31, as appropriate

Grantor follows impairment testing as set out in IPSAS 21 and IPSAS 26

Grantor recognizes related liability equal to the value of the SCA asset (IPSAS 9, IPSAS 28, IPSAS 29,
and IPSAS 30)

Grantor recognizes revenues and expenses related to the SCA
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References to IPSASs that Apply to Typical Types of Arrangements

Involving an Asset Combined with Provision of a Service

IG3. The table sets out the typical types of arrangements for private sector
participation in the provision of public sector services and provides references
to IPSASs that apply to those arrangements. The list of arrangements types
is not exhaustive. The purpose of the table is to highlight the continuum of
arrangements. It is not the IPSASB’s intention to convey the impression that
bright lines exist between the accounting requirements for various types of
arrangements.

1G4. Shaded text shows arrangements within the scope of IPSAS 32.

Category Lessee Service provider Owner
Typical Lease Service Rehabilitate- Build- Build- 100%
arrangement | (e.g., and/or operate-transfer | operate- own- Divestment/
types operator maintenance transfer operate | Privatization/
leases contract Corporation
asset from | (specific
grantor) tasks
e.g., debt
collection,
facility
management)
Asset
. Grantor Operator
ownership
Capital
. Grantor Operator
investment
Demand risk Shared Grantor Grantor and/or Operator Operator
Typical Indefinite (or
duration §.20 may be limited
1-5 years 25-30 years by binding
years arrangement
or license)
Residual
. Grantor Operator
interest
Relevant IPSAS 13 IPSAS 1 This IPSAS/IPSAS 17/ IPSAS 17/IPSAS 31
IPSASs IPSAS 31 (derecognition)
IPSAS 9 (revenue
recognition)
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Ilustrative Examples

These examples accompany, but are not part of, IPSAS 32.

IEL

These examples deal with only three of many possible types of service
concession arrangements. Their purpose is to illustrate the accounting
treatment for some features that are commonly found in practice. To make
the illustrations as clear as possible, it has been assumed that the term of
the service concession arrangement is only ten years and that the operator’s
annual receipts are constant over that period. In practice, terms may be much
longer and annual revenues may increase with time.

Arrangement Terms (Common to All Three Examples)

IE2.

IE3.
IE4.

IES.

IE6.

In these examples, monetary amounts are denominated in “currency units”
(CU).

These terms are common to the three examples that follow:

The terms of the arrangement require an operator to construct a road—
completing construction within two years—and maintain and operate the
road to a specified standard for eight years (i.e., years 3—10). The arrangement
is within the scope of this Standard and the road meets the conditions for
recognition of a service concession asset in paragraph 9 (or paragraph 10 for
a whole-of-life asset).

The terms of the arrangement also require the operator to resurface the road
when the original surface has deteriorated below a specified condition. The
operator estimates that it will have to undertake the resurfacing at the end
of year 8 at a fair value of CU110. The compensation to the operator for
this service is included in the predetermined series of payments and/or the
revenue the operator has the right to earn from the service concession asset
or another revenue-generating asset granted to the operator by the grantor.

It is assumed that the original road surface is a separate component of the
service concession asset and meets the criteria for recognition specified
in IPSAS 17 when the service concession asset is initially recognized. It
is further assumed that there is sufficient certainty regarding the timing
and amount of the resurfacing work for it to be recognized as a separate
component when the resurfacing occurs.® It is assumed that the expected
cost of the resurfacing can be used to estimate the initial cost of the surface
layers recognized as a separate component of the service concession
asset. The road surface is therefore recognized as a separate component of
the initial fair value of the service concession asset and measured at the

3

If this was not the case (e.g., where the operator might resurface in future, or might incur additional
maintenance over the period of the service concession arrangement), it might not be appropriate to
recognize a component.
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IE10.

IEI1.

IE12.
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estimated fair value of the resurfacing and depreciated over years 3—8. This
depreciation period is shorter than that for the road base, and takes into
account that resurfacing would ordinarily occur over six years, rather than
25 years. During the construction phase, it is assumed that only the road
base is constructed in year 1, and that the road only becomes ready to use at
the end of year 2.

Recognition of the replacement component of the road surface as a separate
component of the service concession asset in year 8 also results in an increase
in the liability recognized by the grantor. Where the liability relates to the
grant of a right to the operator model, additional revenue in respect of this
increase is recognized evenly over the term of the arrangement. However,
if the expenditure represented an improvement in service potential such
as a new traffic lane rather than restoration to original service capability
then it would be appropriate to instead recognize revenue relevant to that
improvement only once it has occurred.

At the beginning of year 3, the total fair value of the road is CUI1,050,
comprised of CU940 related to the construction of the base layers and CU110
related to construction of the surface layers. The fair value of the surface
layers is used to estimate the fair value of the resurfacing (which is treated
as a replacement component in accordance with IPSAS 17). The estimated
life of surface layers (i.e., six years) is also used to estimate the depreciation
of the replacement component in years 9 and 10. The total initial fair value
of the road is lower than the present value of the series of predetermined
payments pertaining to the asset, where applicable.

The road base has an economic life of 25 years. Annual depreciation is
taken by the grantor on a straight-line basis. It is therefore CU38 (940/25)
for the base layers. The surface layers are depreciated over 6 years (years
3-8 for the original component, and starting in year 9 for the replacement
component). Annual depreciation related to the surface layers is CUI18
(CU110/6). There is no impairment in the value of the road over the term of
the service concession arrangement.

The operator’s cost of capital is not practicable to determine. The rate
implicit in the service concession arrangement specific to the asset is 6.18%.

It is assumed that all cash flows take place at the end of the year.

It is assumed that the time value of money is not significant. Paragraph AG59
provides guidance on methods that may be appropriate where the time value
of money is significant.
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Atthe end of year 10, the arrangement will end. At the end of the arrangement,
the operator will transfer the operation of the road to the grantor.

The total compensation to the operator under each of the three examples is
inclusive of each of the components of the service concession arrangement
and reflects the fair values for each of the services, which are set out in
Exhibit 1.

The grantor’s accounting policy for property, plant, and equipment is to
recognize such assets using the cost model specified in IPSAS 17.

Exhibit 1: Fair Values of the Components of the Arrangement
(Currency Units)

Contact Component Fair Value
Road — base layers 940
Road — original surface layers 110
Total FV of road 1,050
Annual service component 12
Effective interest rate 6.18%

Example 1: The Grantor makes a Predetermined Series of Payments
to the Operator

Additional Terms

IE16.

The terms of the arrangement require the grantor to pay the operator CU200
per year in years 3—10 for making the road available to the public. The total
consideration (payment of CU200 in each of years 3—10) reflects the fair
values for each of the services indicated in Exhibit 1. These payments are
intended to cover the cost of constructing the road, annual operating costs of
CUI2 and reimbursement to the operator for the cost of resurfacing the road
in year 8 of CU110.

Financial Statement Impact

IE17.

IEIS.

The grantor initially recognizes the service concession asset as property,
plant, and equipment at its fair value (total CU1,050, comprised of CU940
related to construction of the base layers and CU110 related to construction
of the original surface layers). The asset is recognized as it is constructed
(CUS525 in year 1 and CU525 in year 2). Depreciation is taken annually
(CUS6, comprised of CU38 for the base layers and CUI8 for the surface
layers), starting from year 3.

The grantor initially recognizes a financial liability at fair value equal to
the fair value of the asset under construction at the end of year 1 (CU525).
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The liability is increased at the end of year 2 to reflect both the fair value of the
additional construction (CU525) and the finance charge on the outstanding
financial liability. Because the amount of the predetermined payment related
to the service component of the service concession arrangement is known,
the grantor is able to determine the amount of the payment that reduces the
liability. A finance charge at the implicit rate of 6.18% is recognized annually.
The liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost, i.e., the amount
initially recognized plus the finance charge on that amount calculated using
the effective interest method minus repayments.

The compensation for the road resurfacing is included in the predetermined
series of payments. There is no direct cash flow impact related to the road
resurfacing; however, the grantor recognizes the resurfacing as an asset when
the work is undertaken and recognizes depreciation expense of CU110/6 =
CU18, beginning in year 9.

The compensation for maintenance and operating the road (CUI2) is
included in the predetermined series of payments. There is no cash flow
impact related to this service expense; however, the grantor recognizes an
expense annually.

The costs of services are accounted for in accordance with IPSAS 1.

Overview of Cash Flows, Statement of Financial Performance, and Statement of
Financial Position

IE22.

The grantor’s cash flows, statement of financial performance, and statement
of financial position over the duration of the arrangement will be as illustrated
in Tables 1.1 to 1.3. In addition, Table 1.4 shows the changes in the financial
liability.
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Table 1.1 Cash Flows (Currency Units)

Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Total
Predetermined - —| (200)| (200)| (200)| (200)| (200)| (200)| (200)| (200)| (1,600)
series of
payments
Net inflow/ - —| (200)| (200)| (200)| (200)| (200)| (200)| (200)| (200)| (1,600)
(outflow)

Table 1.2 Statement of Financial Performance (Currency Units)

Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10| Total
Service - - A2) (12)| (12)| (12)| (12)| (12)] (12)| (12)] (96)
expense

Finance charge - 32 ©DH] 9| G| @3] GH| 25| 22 (1| (344
Depreciation — - - B8 (B8] (B (38| (3| (38| (BY| ((38)] (304)
base layers

Depreciation — - - A8 19| A8 1A8)| 19| 1Y) - - (110)
original surface

layer

Depreciation - - - - - - - - (18)] (19) 37

— replacement
surface layer
Total -
depreciation
Annual
surplus/
(deficit)
NOTES:

6o 6D 66| 6o 61| 6ol e 6| @

G| 135 @28 a9 ain| 13| ©3)] o) @) 891)

1. Depreciation in years 3-8 reflects the depreciation on the initially-constructed road surface. It is
fully depreciated over that period. Depreciation in years 9—10 reflects the depreciation on the new
service concession asset component (surface) recognized in year 8.

2. Although these Illustrative Examples use a straight-line depreciation method, it is not intended
that this method be used in all cases. Paragraph 76 of IPSAS 17 requires that, “The depreciation
method shall reflect the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential
is expected to be consumed by the entity.” Likewise, for intangible assets, paragraph 96 of IPSAS
31 requires that, “The depreciable amount of an intangible asset with a finite useful life shall be
allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life.”
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Table 1.3 Statement of Financial Position (Currency Units)

Year

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

10

Service
concession asset —
base layers

525

940

902

864

826

788

750

712

674

636

Service concession
asset — original
surface layer

110

92

73

55

37

18

Service concession
asset — replacement
surface layer

110

92

73

Total Service
concession asset

525

1,050

994

937

881

825

768

822

766

709

Cash

(200)

(400)

(600)

(800)

(1,000)

(1,200)

(1,400)

(1,600)

Financial liability

(525)

(1,082)

(961)

(832)

(695)

(550)

(396)

(343)

(177)

Cumulative
surplus/deficit

32

167

295

414

525

628

721

811

891

NOTES:

concession asset.

1. In this example, the resurfacing occurs as expected in year 8, when the initially-constructed road
surface is fully depreciated. If the resurfacing occurred earlier, the initially-constructed road surface
would not be fully depreciated, and would need to be derecognized in accordance with IPSAS 17
before the new component of the service concession asset related to the resurfacing is recognized.

2. The new component of the service concession asset related to the resurfacing is recognized in
year 8. Years 9-10 reflect deprecation on this additional component (Table 1.2).
3. The financial liability is increased in year 8 for the recognition of the new component of the service
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Table 1.4 Changes in Financial Liability (Currency Units)

Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Balance brought - 525( 1,082 961 832 695| 550| 396| 343 177
forward

Liability recognized 525 525 - - - - - _ _ _
along with initial service

concession asset

Finance charge added - 32 - - — - - — _ _

to liability prior to
payments being made

Portion of
predetermined series of
payments that reduces
the liability

- | az2n| a29| a3n| q4s)| as4| ae3)| ae66)| 177)

Liability recognized - - - - - - - 110 - -
along with replacement
surface layers

Balance carried forward | 525| 1,082 961 832 695 550 396 343 177 -

Example 2: The Grantor Gives the Operator the Right to Charge
Users a Toll for Use of the Road

Additional Arrangement Terms

IE23.

The terms of the arrangement allow the operator to collect tolls from drivers
using the road. The operator forecasts that vehicle numbers will remain
constant over the duration of the arrangement and that it will receive tolls of
CU200 in each of years 3—10. The total consideration (tolls of CU200 in each
of years 3—10) reflects the fair values for each of the services indicated in
Exhibit 1, and is intended to cover the cost of constructing the road, annual
operating costs of CUI12 and reimbursement to the operator for the cost of
resurfacing the road in year 8 of CU110.

Financial Statement Impact

1E24.

The grantor initially recognizes the service concession asset as property,
plant, and equipment at its fair value (total CU1,050, comprised of CU940
related to construction of the base layers and CU110 related to construction
of the original surface layers). The asset is recognized as it is constructed
(CUS525 in year 1 and CU525 in year 2). Depreciation is taken annually
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(CUS56, comprised of CU38 for the base layers and CU18 for the surface
layers, starting in year 3).

As consideration for the service concession asset, the grantor recognizes
a liability under the grant of a right to the operator model for granting the
operator the right to collect tolls of CU200 in years 3—10. The liability is
recognized as the asset is recognized.

The liability is reduced over years 3—10, and the grantor recognizes revenue
on that basis because access to the service concession asset is expected to be
provided evenly over the term of the service concession arrangement from
the point at which the asset is capable of providing economic benefits.

The compensation for the road resurfacing is included in the tolls the operator
expects to earn over the term of the service concession arrangement. There
is no direct cash flow impact related to the road resurfacing; however, the
grantor recognizes the resurfacing as an asset when the work is undertaken
and recognizes depreciation expense of CU110/6 = CU18, beginning in year 9.

The compensation for maintenance and operating the road (CUI2) is
included in the tolls the operator expects to earn over the term of the service
concession arrangement. There is no financial statement impact related to
this service expense. It does not affect cash flow because the grantor has no
cash outflow. It is not recognized as an operating expense because the fair
value of the asset and liability initially recognized do not include any service
costs the operator may incur.

Overview of Cash Flows, Statement of Financial Performance, and Statement
of Financial Position

IE29.

IE30.

The grantor’s cash flows, statement of financial performance, and statement
of financial position over the duration of the arrangement will be as illustrated
in Tables 2.1 to 2.3. In addition, Table 2.4 shows the changes in the liability.

Cash Flows

Because there are no payments made to the operator, there are no cash flow
impacts for this example.
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Table 2.2 Statement of Financial Performance (Currency Units)

Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Total

Revenue - —| 145| 145| 145| 145 145| 145| 145| 145 1160

(reduction of

liability)

Depreciation — - - 38| (38| (B®) | B8 | (B8 | (38| (38| (39 (304)

base layers

Depreciation — - - A8 | (19| A® | (18| (19| (18) - - (110)

original surface

layer

Depreciation - - - - - - - - a8y | (19 (37

— replacement

surface layer

Total - -1 B6)| 5| GO | 56)| 57| (56) | (56) | (57) (451)

depreciation

Annual - - 89 88 89 89 88 89 89 88 709

surplus/(deficit)

NOTES:

1. Depreciation in years 3-8 reflects the depreciation on the initially-constructed road surface. It is
fully depreciated over that period.

2. Depreciation in years 9—10 reflects the depreciation on the new service concession asset component
(surface) recognized in year 8.

3. The revenue (reduction of the liability) includes revenue from the additional liability (Table 2.3).
All revenue is recognized evenly over the term of the arrangement.
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Table 2.3 Statement of Financial Position (Currency Units)

Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Service concession 525 940 902 864 826 788 750 712 674 636
asset — base layers

Service concession - 110 92 73 55 37 18 - - -
asset — original
surface layer

Service concession - - - - - - - 110 92 73
asset — replacement
surface layer

Total Service 525 1,050 994| 937| 881 825| 768| 822 766 709
concession asset

Cash - - - - - - - - -
Liability (525) | (1,050) | (905)| (760) | (615)| (470) | (325)| (290)| (145)
Cumulative - - (89)| (177)| (266) | (355)| (443)| (532)| (621)| (709)
surplus/deficit

NOTES:

1. In this example, the resurfacing occurs as expected in year 8, when the initially-constructed road

surface is fully depreciated. If the resurfacing occurred earlier, the initially-constructed road surface
would not be fully depreciated, and would need to be derecognized in accordance with IPSAS 17
before the new component of the service concession asset related to the resurfacing is recognized.
2. The new component of the service concession asset related to the resurfacing is recognized in year
8. Years 9-10 reflect deprecation on this additional component (Table 2.2).
3. The liability is increased in year 8 for the recognition of the new component of the service
concession asset.
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Table 2.4 Changes in Liability (Currency Units)

Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Balance brought —| 525(1,050| 905| 760| 615| 470 325| 290 145
forward

Liability recognized 525 525 - - - — - - — _

along with initial
service concession asset

Revenue (reduction of - —| (145) | (145) | (145) | (145) | (145) | (145) | (145) | (145)
liability)
Liability recognized - - - - - - - 110 - -

along with replacement
surface layers

Balance carried forward | 525 | 1,050 905 760 615 470 325 290 145 -

Example 3: The Grantor Makes a Predetermined Series of Payments to the
Operator and Also Grants the Operator the Right to Charge Users a Toll for
Use of the Road

Additional Arrangement Terms

IE31.  The terms of the arrangement allow the operator to collect tolls from drivers
using the road. The operator forecasts that vehicle numbers will remain
constant over the duration of the arrangement and that it will receive tolls of
CU100 in each of years 3—10. The arrangement also requires the grantor to
make a predetermined series of payments to the operator of CU100 annually.
The fair value of the right to collect tolls and the predetermined series of
payments are considered to compensate the operator equally (i.e., 50% from
each form of compensation to the operator).

Financial Statement Impact

IE32. The grantor initially recognizes the service concession asset as property,
plant, and equipment at its fair value (total CU1,050, comprised of CU940
related to construction of the base layers and CU110 related to construction
of the original surface layers). The asset is recognized as it is constructed
(CU525 in year 1 and CUS525 in year 2). Depreciation is taken annually
(CU56, comprised of CU38 for the base layers and CU18 for the surface
layers).

IE33.  As consideration for the service concession asset, the grantor recognizes
both a liability under the grant of a right to the operator model by granting
the operator the right to collect tolls of CU100 in years 3—10, and a financial
liability to make payments of CUL00 in years 3—10. A liability and a
financial liability are recognized as the asset is recognized at the end of year
1 (CUS525). The liability and financial liability are increased at the end of
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year 2 to reflect both the fair value of the additional construction (CU525)
and the finance charge on the outstanding financial liability.

The grantor’s obligation related to the right granted to the operator to
charge tolls and the predetermined payments are regarded as two separate
items. Therefore in this arrangement it is necessary to divide the grantor’s
consideration to the operator into two parts—a liability and a financial
liability.

The liability of CU525 (recognized evenly at the end of years 1 and 2) is
reduced over years 3—10, and the grantor recognizes revenue on the same
basis because the tolls are expected to be earned evenly over the term of the
service concession arrangement from the point at which the asset is capable
of providing service benefits.

The grantor initially recognizes a financial liability at fair value equal to
half of the fair value of the asset (CU525), recognized evenly at the end of
years | and 2; a liability under the grant of a right to the operator model
is recognized in an amount equal to the other half of the fair value of the
asset. The financial liability is also increased at the end of year 2 by the
finance charge on the outstanding financial liability. Because the amount
of the predetermined payments related to the service component of the
service concession arrangement is known, the grantor is able to determine
the amount of the payments that reduces the liability. A finance charge at the
implicit rate of 6.18% is recognized annually. The liability is subsequently
measured at amortized cost, i.e., the amount initially recognized plus the
finance charge on that amount calculated using the effective interest method
minus repayments.

The operator is compensated for the road resurfacing (CU110) equally through
the tolls the operator expects to earn over the term of the service concession
arrangement and the series of predetermined payments (i.e., 50% from each).
There is no direct cash flow impact related to the road resurfacing; however,
the grantor recognizes the resurfacing as an asset when the work is undertaken
and recognizes depreciation expense of CU110/6 = CUIS8, beginning in
year 9.

The operator is compensated for maintenance and operating the road (CU12)
equally through the tolls the operator expects to earn over the term of the
service concession arrangement and the predetermined payment (i.e., 50%
from each). There is no direct cash flow impact related to this service expense
because the grantor has no cash outflow. However, the grantor recognizes an
expense annually for the portion of the compensation related to the series
of predetermined payments (CU6). There is no financial statement impact
for the remaining CU6 of this service expense. It is not recognized as an
operating expense because the fair value of the asset and liability initially
recognized do not include any service costs the operator may incur.

IPSAS 32 ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLES 1504



SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS: GRANTOR

IE39.  The grantor’s cash flows, statement of financial performance, and statement
of financial position over the duration of the arrangement will be as illustrated
in Tables 3.1 to 3.3. In addition, Table 3.4 shows the changes in the liability
and Table 3.5 shows the changes in the financial liability.

Overview of Cash Flows, Statement of Financial Performance, and Statement of
Financial Position

Table 3.1 Cash Flows (Currency Units)

Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 | Total
Predetermined - —| (100) | (100) | (100) [ (100) [ (100) | (100) | (100) | (100) | (800)
series of
payments
Net inflow/ - — | (100) | (100) | (100) [ (100) [ (100) [ (100) | (100) | (100) | (800)
(outflow)
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Table 3.2 Statement of Financial Performance (Currency Units)

Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 | Total
Revenue - - 73 72 73 72 73 72 73 72 580
(reduction of

liability)

Service expense - - 6) (6) (6) (6) 6) (6) (6) (6) (48)
Finance charge - d6)| 33| GO 26)| 22| (17| (12)| (11) 6) | (172)
Depreciation — - - G&) | (38| (B[ (B8 | B8 | (38| (38| (38) | (304)
base layers

Depreciation — - - 18] 19| A8 | (1| (19| (1) - -1 (110)
original surface

layer

Depreciation — - - - - - - - - A% (19 (37
replacement

surface layer

Total depreciation - - 56| 57| B6)| (56)| (5| (56)| (56)| (57)| (451)
Annual surplus/ -l ae| @] en| as| a2 | @ - 4| ©n
(deficit)

NOTES:

1. Depreciation in years 3-8 reflects the depreciation on the initially-constructed road surface. It is

fully depreciated over that period.

2. Depreciation in years 9-10 reflects the depreciation on the new service concession asset component
(surface) recognized in year 8.

3. The revenue (reduction of the liability) includes revenue from the additional liability (Table 3.3).
All revenue is recognized evenly over the term of the arrangement.
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Table 3.3 Statement of Financial Position (Currency Units)

Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
Service concession 525 940 902 864 826 788 750 712 674 636
asset — base layers

Service concession - 110 92 73 55 37 18 - - -
asset — surface layer

Service concession - - - - - - - 110 92 73

asset — replacement
surface layer

Total service 525( 1,050 994| 937 881 825 768 822 766 709
concession asset

Cash - —| (100)| (200)| (300)| (400)| (500) (600)| (700)| (800)

Liability (262)| (525)| (452)| (380)| (307)| (235)| (162)| (145)| (72) -

Financial liability (263)| (541)| (480)| (416)| (348)| (276)| (199)| (172)| (89) -

Cumulative surplus/ - 16 38 59 74 86 93 95 95 91

deficit

NOTES:

1. In this example, the resurfacing occurs as expected in year 8, when the initially-constructed road
surface is fully depreciated. If the resurfacing occurred earlier, the initially-constructed road
surface would not be fully depreciated, and would need to be derecognized in accordance with
IPSAS 17 before the new component of the service concession asset related to the resurfacing is
recognized.

2. The new component of the service concession asset related to the resurfacing is recognized in year
8. Years 9-10 reflect deprecation on this additional component (Table 3.2).

3. The liability is increased in year 8 for the recognition of 50% of the new component of the service
concession asset.

4. The financial liability is increased in year 8 for the recognition of 50% of the new component of|

the service concession asset.
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Table 3.4 Changes in Liability (Currency Units)

Year

1

2

3

4

10

Balance brought
forward

262

525

452

380

307

235

162

145

72

Liability recognized
along with initial
service concession asset

262

263

Revenue (reduction of
liability)

(73)

(712)

(73)

(72)

(73)

(72)

(73)

(72)

Liability recognized
along with replacement
surface layers

55

Balance carried forward

262

525

452

380

307

235

162

145

72

Table 3.5 Changes in Financial Liability (Currency Units)

Year

1

2

3

4

5

6

10

Balance brought
forward

263

541

480

416

348

276

199

172

89

Liability recognized
along with initial service
concession asset

263

262

Finance charge added
to liability prior to
payments being made

Portion of
predetermined series of
payments that reduces
the liability

(61)

(64

(68)

(72)

an

(82)

(83)

(89)

Liability recognized
along with replacement
surface layers

55

Balance carried forward

263

541

480

416

348

276

199

172

89
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January 31, 2017.

IPSAS 33—FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF ACCRUAL BASIS
INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS (IPSASs)

History of IPSAS

This version includes amendments resulting from IPSASs issued up to

IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) was issued in January 2015.

Since then, IPSAS 33 has been amended by the following IPSASs:

. IPSAS 40, Public Sector Combinations (issued January 2017)
. IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits (issued July 2016)

. The Applicability of IPSASs (issued April 2016)

. Improvements to IPSASs 2015 (issued April 2016)

Table of Amended Paragraphs in IPSAS 33

Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
7 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
8 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
36 Amended IPSAS 39 July 2016
39 Amended Improvements to [IPSASs
April 2016
62A New IPSAS 40 January 2017
62B New IPSAS 40 January 2017
62C New IPSAS 40 January 2017
86 Amended IPSAS 40 January 2017
102 Amended IPSAS 39 July 2016
104 Amended IPSAS 39 July 2016
105 Amended IPSAS 39 July 2016
106 Deleted IPSAS 39 July 2016
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Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
107 Deleted IPSAS 39 July 2016
129 Amended IPSAS 40 January 2017
130 Amended IPSAS 40 January 2017
132 Amended IPSAS 40 January 2017
154A New The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
154B New IPSAS 39 July 2016
154C New IPSAS 40 January 2017
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IPSAS 33—FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF ACCRUAL BASIS
INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS (IPSASSs)
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International Public Sector Accounting Standard 33, First-time Adoption of
Accrual Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) is set
out in paragraphs 1-154. All the paragraphs have equal authority. IPSAS 33 should
be read in the context of its objective, the Basis for Conclusions, the Preface to
International Public Sector Accounting Standards, and the Conceptual Framework
for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities. IPSAS 3,
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors provides a basis
for selecting and applying accounting policies in the absence of explicit guidance.
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Objective

1.

Scope

IPSAS 33

The objective of this Standard is to provide guidance to a first-time adopter
that prepares and presents financial statements following the adoption of
accrual basis IPSASs, in order to present high quality information:

(@)  That provides transparent reporting about a first-time adopter’s
transition to accrual basis IPSASs;

(b)  That provides a suitable starting point for accounting in accordance
with accrual basis IPSASs irrespective of the basis of accounting the
first-time adopter has used prior to the date of adoption; and

() Where the benefits are expected to exceed the costs.

An entity shall apply this IPSAS when it prepares and presents its annual
financial statements on the adoption of, and during the transition to,
accrual basis IPSASs.

This IPSAS applies when an entity first adopts accrual basis IPSASs and
during the transitional period allowed in this IPSAS. It does not apply when,
for example, a first-time adopter:

(@)  Stops presenting financial statements in accordance with prescribed
requirements, having previously presented them as well as another
set of financial statements that contained an explicit and unreserved
statement of compliance with accrual basis IPSASs;

(b)  Presented financial statements in the previous reporting period
in accordance with prescribed requirements and those financial
statements contained an explicit and unreserved statement of
compliance with accrual basis IPSASs; or

(c)  Presented financial statements in the previous reporting period that
contained an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with
accrual basis IPSASs, even if the auditors modified their audit report
on those financial statements.

This Standard shall be applied from the date on which a first-time adopter
adopts accrual basis IPSASs and during the period of transition. This Standard
permits a first-time adopter to apply transitional exemptions and provisions
that may impact fair presentation. Where these transitional exemptions and
provisions are applied, a first-time adopter is required to disclose information
about the transitional exemptions and provisions adopted, and progress
towards fair presentation and compliance with accrual basis [PSASs.

At the end of the transitional period a first-time adopter must comply with
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure requirements in
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the other accrual basis IPSAS in order to assert compliance with accrual
basis IPSASs as required in IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.

6. This IPSAS does not apply to changes in accounting policies made by an
entity that already applies IPSASs. Such changes are the subject of:

(@  Requirements on changes in accounting policies in IPSAS 3,
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors;
and

(b)  Specific transitional requirements in other IPSASs. The transitional
provisions in other IPSASs apply only to changes in accounting
policies made by an entity that already applies accrual basis IPSASs;
they do not apply to a first-time adopter’s transition to IPSASs, except
as specified in this IPSAS.

7. [Deleted]

8. [Deleted]

Definitions

9. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings

specified:

Date of adoption of IPSASs is the date an entity adopts accrual basis
IPSASs for the first time, and is the start of the reporting period in
which the first-time adopter adopts accrual basis IPSASs and for which
the entity presents its first transitional IPSAS financial statements or its
first IPSAS financial statements.

Deemed cost is an amount used as a surrogate for acquisition cost or
depreciated cost at a given date.

First IPSAS financial statements are the first annual financial statements
in which an entity complies with the accrual basis IPSASs and can make
an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with those IPSASs
because it adopted one or more of the transitional exemptions in this
IPSAS that do not affect the fair presentation of the financial statements
and its ability to assert compliance with accrual basis IPSASs.

First-time adopter is an entity that adopts accrual basis IPSASs for the
first time and presents its first transitional IPSAS financial statements
or its first IPSAS financial statements.

Opening statement of financial position is a first-time adopter’s
statement of financial position at the date of adoption of IPSASs.

Period of transition is the period during which a first-time adopter
applies one or more of the exemptions in this [IPSAS before it complies
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with the accrual basis IPSASs, and before it is able to make an explicit
and unreserved statement of such compliance with IPSASs.

Previous basis of accounting is the basis of accounting that a first-time
adopter used immediately before adopting accrual basis IPSASs.

Transitional IPSAS financial statements are the financial statements
prepared in accordance with this IPSAS where a first-time adopter
cannot make an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance
with other IPSASs because it adopted one or more of the transitional
exemptions in this IPSAS that affect the fair presentation of the financial
statements and its ability to assert compliance with accrual basis IPSASs.

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same
meaning as in those Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of
Defined Terms published separately.

Date of Adoption of IPSASs

10.

The date of adoption of IPSASs is the date that an entity adopts accrual basis
IPSASs for the first time. It is the start of the reporting period in which the
first-time adopter adopts accrual basis IPSASs and for which it presents
its first transitional IPSAS financial statements or its first IPSAS financial
statements. If a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemptions in
this IPSASs that affect fair presentation and compliance with accrual basis
IPSASs (see paragraphs 36—62) in producing its first transitional IPSAS
financial statements, it can only make an explicit and unreserved statement of
compliance with accrual basis [IPSASs when the exemptions that provided the
relief have expired, and/or when the relevant items are recognized, measured
and/or the relevant information is presented and/or disclosed in the financial
statements in accordance with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier).
Financial statements shall not be described as complying with IPSASs unless
they comply with all the requirements of all the applicable IPSASs.

First IPSAS Financial Statements

11.

An entity’s first IPSAS financial statements are the first annual financial
statements in which the first-time adopter can make an explicit and unreserved
statement in those financial statements of compliance with accrual basis
IPSASs. If a first-time adopter does not adopt the exemptions in this IPSAS
that affect fair presentation and compliance with accrual basis IPSASs (see
paragraphs 36—62), its first financial statements following the adoption of
accrual basis IPSASs will also be its first IPSAS financial statements.

Previous Basis of Accounting

12.

IPSAS 33

The previous basis of accounting is the basis of accounting that a first-time
adopter used immediately before adopting accrual basis IPSASs. This might
be a cash basis of accounting, an accrual basis of accounting, a modified
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version of either a cash basis or an accrual basis of accounting, or another
prescribed basis.

Transitional IPSAS Financial Statements

13.

14.

An entity’s transitional IPSAS financial statements are the annual financial
statements in which an entity transitions to accrual basis IPSASs and adopts
certain exemptions in this IPSAS that affect the fair presentation of the
financial statements and its ability to assert compliance with accrual basis
IPSAS:s. If a first-time adopter adopts the exemptions in this IPSASs that affect
fair presentation and compliance with accrual basis IPSASs (see paragraphs
36—62), it will not be able to make an explicit and unreserved statement
of compliance with other accrual basis IPSASs until the exemptions that
provided the relief in this IPSAS have expired and/or when the relevant items
are recognized, measured and/or the relevant information has been presented
and/or disclosed in accordance with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is
earlier). Financial statements shall not be described as complying with IPSASs
unless they comply with all the requirements of all the applicable IPSASs.

An entity’s transitional IPSAS financial statements are those financial
statements, where the entity transitions from another accounting basis such
as when it:

(@  Prepared its most recent previous financial statements in accordance
with the IPSAS, Financial Reporting Under the Cash Basis of
Accounting;

(b)  Presented its most recent previous financial statements:

1) In accordance with prescribed requirements that are not
consistent with IPSASs in all respects;

(i)  In conformity with IPSASs in all respects, except that the
financial statements did not contain an explicit and unreserved
statement that they complied with IPSASs;

(i) Containing an explicit statement of compliance with some,
but not all, IPSASs, including the adoption of the exemptions
provided in this IPSAS that affect fair presentation and
compliance with accrual basis IPSASs (see paragraphs 36—62);

(iv)  In accordance with prescribed requirements inconsistent with
IPSASs, using some individual IPSASs to account for items
for which prescribed requirements did not exist; or

(v) In accordance with prescribed requirements, with a
reconciliation of some amounts to the amounts determined in
accordance with IPSASs;

(©) Prepared financial statements in accordance with IPSASs for internal
use only, without making them available to external users;
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(d)  Prepared a reporting package in accordance with IPSASs for
consolidation purposes without preparing a complete set of financial
statements as defined in IPSAS 1; or

(¢)  Did not present financial statements for previous periods.

Recognition and Measurement

Opening Statement of Financial Position on Adoption of IPSASs

15.

A first-time adopter shall prepare and present an opening statement of
financial position at the date of adoption of IPSASs. This is the starting
point for its accounting in accordance with accrual basis IPSASs.

Accounting Policies

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

IPSAS 33

On the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs, a first-time adopter
shall apply the requirements of the IPSASs retrospectively except if
required, or otherwise permitted, in this IPSAS.

A first-time adopter shall use the same accounting policies in its opening
statement of financial position and throughout all periods presented,
except as specified in paragraphs 36—134. The accounting policies shall
comply with each IPSAS effective at the date of adoption of IPSASs,
except as specified in paragraphs 36-134.

A first-time adopter that takes advantage of the exemptions in paragraph 36—
134 will be required to amend its accounting policies after the exemptions
that provided the relief have expired and/or when the relevant items are
recognized, measured and/or the relevant information is presented and/
or disclosed in the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

A first-time adopter shall apply the versions of accrual basis IPSASs
effective at the date of adoption of IPSASs. A first-time adopter may apply a
new IPSAS that is not yet mandatory if that IPSAS permits early application.
Any new IPSASs that become effective during the period of transition shall
be applied by the first-time adopter from the date it becomes effective.

Except as described in paragraphs 36—134, a first-time adopter shall, in its
opening statement of financial position:

(@  Recognize all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by
IPSASSs;

(b)  Not recognize items as assets or liabilities if IPSASs do not permit
such recognition;

()  Reclassify items that it recognized in accordance with the previous
basis of accounting as one type of asset, liability or component of net
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21.

22.

assets/equity, but are a different type of asset, liability or component
of net assets/equity in accordance with IPSASs; and

(d)  Apply IPSASs in measuring all recognized assets and liabilities.

The accounting policies that a first-time adopter uses in financial statements
may differ from those that it used at the end of its comparative period
under its previous basis of accounting. The resulting adjustments arise
from transactions, other events or conditions before the date of adoption of
IPSASs. Therefore, a first-time adopter shall recognize those adjustments
to the opening balance of accumulated surplus or deficit in the period in
which the items are recognized and/or measured (or, if appropriate, another
category of net assets/equity). The first-time adopter shall recognize these
adjustments in the earliest period presented.

The transitional exemptions and provisions in other IPSAS apply to changes
in accounting policies made by an entity that already applies accrual basis
IPSASSs. The transitional exemptions and provisions in this IPSAS applies to
a first-time adopter that prepares and presents its annual financial statements
on the adoption of, and during the transition to accrual basis IPSASs.

Exceptions to the Retrospective Application of IPSASs

23.

24,

25.

A first-time adopter’s estimates in accordance with IPSASs at the date of
adoption of IPSASs, shall be consistent with estimates made in accordance
with the previous basis of accounting (after adjustments to reflect any
difference in accounting policies), unless there is objective evidence that
those estimates were inconsistent with the requirements in [PSASs.

This IPSAS prohibits retrospective application of some aspects of accrual
basis IPSASs. A first-time adopter may receive information after the date
of adoption of IPSASs about estimates that it had made under its previous
basis of accounting. In accordance with paragraph 23, a first-time adopter
shall treat the receipt of that information in the same way as non-adjusting
events after the reporting period in accordance with IPSAS 14, Events after
the Reporting Period.

A first-time adopter may need to make estimates in accordance with IPSASs
at the date of adoption of IPSASs or during the period of transition that were
not required at that date under the previous basis of accounting. To achieve
consistency with IPSAS 14, those estimates in accordance with IPSASs shall
reflect conditions that existed at the date of adoption of IPSASs or at the
date during the period of transition. In particular, estimates determined at
the date of adoption of IPSASs or during the period of transition of market
prices, interest rates or foreign exchange rates shall reflect market conditions
at that date. For non-financial assets, such as property, plant and equipment,
estimates about the asset’s useful life, residual value or condition reflect
management’s expectations and judgment at the date of adoption of IPSASs
or the date during the period of transition.
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26.

Paragraphs 23-25 apply to the opening statement of financial position.
They also apply to a comparative period where an entity elects to present
comparative information in accordance with paragraph 78, in which case the
references to the date of adoption of IPSASs are replaced by references to the
end of that comparative period.

Fair Presentation and Compliance with IPSASs

27.

28.

29.

30.

IPSAS 33

A first-time adopter’s first IPSAS financial statements shall fairly present
the financial position, financial performance, and cash flows of the entity.
Fair presentation requires the faithful representation of the effects of
transactions, other events, and conditions in accordance with the definitions
and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses set out
in IPSASs. If a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemptions in
paragraphs 36—62, these exemptions will affect the fair presentation of the
financial statements and the first-time adopter’s ability to assert compliance
with accrual basis IPSASs, until the exemptions that provided the relief have
expired and/or when the relevant items are recognized and/or measured in
accordance with the applicable IPSAS (whichever is earlier).

A first-time adopter shall claim full compliance with IPSASs only when it
has complied with all the requirements of the applicable IPSASs effective
at that date, subject to paragraph 11. If a first-time adopter adopts one or
more of the exemptions in paragraph 36-62, the fair presentation of the
financial statements and its ability to assert compliance with accrual basis
IPSASs will be affected. An entity’s whose financial statements comply with
IPSAS:s shall make an explicit and unreserved statement of such compliance
in the notes. Financial statements shall not be described as complying with
IPSASs unless they comply with all the requirements of IPSASs, and shall
be qualified as accrual basis IPSAS complaint financial statements.

In accordance with paragraph 29 of IPSAS 1 fair presentation is achieved in
virtually all circumstances by compliance with applicable IPSASs. For a first-
time adopter to claim full compliance with IPSASs, all the requirements of
the applicable IPSASs needs to be complied with to ensure that information
is presented in a manner that meets the qualitative characteristics, subject to
paragraph 11.

The exemptions in paragraphs 36—62 provide relief from the recognition,
measurement, presentation and/or disclosure requirements in IPSASs on
the date of adoption of IPSASs and during the period of transition. A first-
time adopter may elect to adopt these exemptions, but shall consider that
applying these exemptions will affect the fair presentation of its financial
statements and its ability to assert compliance with accrual basis IPSASs in
accordance with paragraphs 27 and 28 until the exemptions that provided the
relief have expired and/or when the relevant items are recognized, measured,
and/or the relevant information is presented and/or disclosed in the financial
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31.

32.

statements in accordance with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier).
Before making use of such exemptions, a first-time adopter shall consider all
the relevant facts and circumstances and the potential effect on its financial
statements.

A first-time adopter shall assess whether the transitional exemptions
adopted affect the fair presentation of the financial statements and the
first-time adopter’s ability to assert compliance with accrual basis IPSASs.

For example, a first-time adopter adopts the three year transitional relief
period for the recognition and measurement of traffic fines because
insufficient data is available about the value of fines issued, fines written off,
the compromises reached with offenders etc. The relief period is not applied
to any other class of non-exchange revenue. The revenue received from fines
is not material in relation to the financial statements as a whole. The entity
concludes that, by adopting the transitional exemption and provisions, fair
presentation and compliance with IPSASs will not be affected. As a result,
the first-time adopter will still be able to achieve fair presentation and assert
compliance with accrual basis IPSASs at the date of adoption of accrual
basis IPSASs or during the period of transition.

Exemptions that Affect Fair Presentation and Compliance
with Accrual Basis IPSASs during the Period of Transition

33.

34.

35.

A first-time adopter may adopt the exemptions in paragraphs 36—
62. These exemptions will affect the fair presentation of a first-time
adopter’s financial statements and its ability to assert compliance with
accrual basis IPSASs during the period of transition in accordance with
paragraphs 27 and 28 while they are applied. A first-time adopter shall
not apply these exemptions by analogy to other items.

Notwithstanding the exemptions provided in paragraphs 36—62 a first-
time adopter is encouraged to comply in full with all the requirements
of the applicable IPSASs as soon as possible.

To the extent that a first-time adopter applies the exemptions in
paragraph 36—62, it is not required to apply any associated presentation
and/or disclosure requirements in the applicable IPSASs until the
exemptions that provided the relief have expired or the relevant items are
recognized and/or measured in the financial statements in accordance
with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

Three Year Transitional Relief Period for the Recognition
and/or Measurement of Assets and/or Liabilities

Recognition and/or Measurement of Assets and/or Liabilities

36.

Where a first-time adopter has not recognized assets and/or liabilities
under its previous basis of accounting, it is not required to recognize and/
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37.

38.

39.

40.

or measure the following assets and/or liabilities for reporting periods
beginning on a date within three years following the date of adoption of
IPSASSs:

(@  Inventories (see IPSAS 12, Inventories);
(b)  Investment property (see IPSAS 16, Investment Property);

(© Property, plant and equipment (see IPSAS 17, Property, Plant and
Equipment);

(d) Defined benefit plans and other long-term employee benefits (see
IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits);

(e Biological assets and agricultural produce (see IPSAS 27,
Agriculture);

(f)  Intangible assets (see IPSAS 31, Intangible Assets);

(g)  Service concession assets and the related liabilities, either under the
financial liability model or the grant of a right to the operator model
(see IPSAS 32, Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor); and

(h)  Financial instruments (see IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments;
Recognition and Measurement).

Where a first-time adopter applies the exemption in paragraph 36(d), it
shall recognize the obligation and any related plan assets at the same time.

Where a first-time adopter has recognized the assets and/or liabilities
included in paragraph 36 under its previous basis of accounting, it is not
required to change its accounting policy(ies) in respect of the measurement
of these assets and/or liabilities for reporting periods beginning on a date
within three years following the date of adoption of IPSASs.

Subject to paragraphs 36 and 38, a first-time adopter is not required to change
its accounting policy(ies) in respect of the recognition and/or measurement of
assets and/or liabilities for reporting periods beginning on a date within three
years following the date of adoption of IPSASs. The transitional exemptions
in paragraphs 36 and 38 are intended to allow a first-time adopter a period to
develop reliable! models for recognizing and/or measuring its assets and/or
liabilities during the period of transition. The first-time adopter may apply
accounting policies for the recognition and/or measurement of such assets
and/or liabilities that do not comply with the provisions of other IPSASs.

Subject to the provisions of paragraphs 36 and 38, a first-time adopter
shall only change its accounting policies during the period of transition
to better conform to the accounting policies in accrual basis IPSASs,

IPSAS 33

Information that is reliable is free from material error and bias, and can be depended on by users to
faithfully represent that which it purports to represent or could reasonably be expected to represent.
Paragraph BC16 of IPSAS 1 discusses the transitional approach to the explanation of reliability.
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41.

and may retain its existing accounting policies until the exemptions that
provided the relief have expired or when the relevant items are recognized
and/or measured in the financial statements in accordance with the
applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier). A first-time adopter may change
its accounting policy in respect of the recognition and/or measurement of
assets and/or liabilities on a class-by-class or category-by-category basis
where the use of classes or categories is permitted in the applicable IPSAS.

To the extent that a first-time adopter applies the exemptions in
paragraphs 36 and 38 which allows a three year transitional relief period
to not recognize and/or measure financial assets, it is not required to
recognize and/or measure any related revenue in terms of IPSAS 9,
Revenue from Exchange Transactions, or other receivables settled in
cash or another financial asset in terms of IPSAS 23, Revenue from Non-
Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers).

Recognition and/or Measurement of Non-Exchange Revenue

42.

43.

A first-time adopter is not required to change its accounting policy in
respect of the recognition and measurement of non-exchange revenue
for reporting periods beginning on a date within three years following
the date of adoption of IPSASs. A first-time adopter may change its
accounting policy in respect of revenue from non-exchange transactions
on a class-by-class basis.

The transitional provision in paragraph 42 is intended to allow a first-time
adopter a period to develop reliable models for recognizing and measuring
revenue from non-exchange transactions in accordance with IPSAS 23,
Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers) during the
period of transition. The first-time adopter may apply accounting policies for the
recognition and/or measurement of revenue from non-exchange transactions
that do not comply with the provisions of IPSAS 23. The transitional provision
in paragraph 42 allows a first-time adopter to apply IPSAS 23 incrementally
to different classes of revenue from non-exchange transactions. For example,
a first-time adopter may be able to recognize and measure property taxes and
some other classes of transfers in accordance with IPSAS 23 from the date of
adoption of IPSASs, but may require three years to fully develop a reliable
model for recognizing and measuring income tax revenue.

Other Exemptions

IPSAS 5, Borrowing Costs

44,

Where a first-time adopter applies the exemption in paragraph 36 which
allows a three year transitional relief period to not recognize and/or
measure assets, and elects to account for borrowing costs in terms of
the allowed alternative treatment, it is not required to capitalize any
borrowing costs on qualifying assets for which the commencement
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45.

date for capitalization is prior to the date of adoption of accrual basis
IPSASs, until the exemption that provided the relief has expired and/or
when the relevant assets are recognized and/or measured in accordance
with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

Paragraph 36 allows a first-time adopter to not, recognize and/or measure
assets in accordance with IPSASs 16, 17, 27, 31 and 32 for a period of up
to three years from the date of adoption of IPSASs. During this period, a
first-time adopter may need to consider the requirements of those IPSASs at
the same time as the capitalization of borrowing costs where it applies the
allowed alternative method. Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of
the transitional exemption period for the recognition and/or measurement of
assets in accordance with IPSASs 16, 17, 27, 31 and 32 it is not required to
capitalize borrowing costs incurred on qualifying assets prior, or during the
period of transition. Only when the exemptions that provided the relief have
expired, and/or when the relevant assets are recognized and/or measured in
accordance with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier) will a first-time
adopter be allowed to capitalize borrowing costs incurred on the qualifying
assets in accordance with the allowed alternative treatment.

IPSAS 13, Leases

46.

47.

Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption in
paragraph 36 which allows a three year transitional relief period to not
recognize assets, it is not required to apply the requirements related to
finance leases until the exemption that provided the relief has expired,
and/or when the relevant assets are recognized in accordance with the
applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

This IPSAS allows a first-time adopter a period of up to three years from the date
of adoption of IPSASs to not recognize assets in accordance with IPSASs 16,
17,27, 31 and 32. During this period, a first-time adopter may need to consider
the recognition requirements of those IPSASs at the same time as considering
the recognition of finance leases in this IPSAS. Where a first-time adopter takes
advantage of the exemption in accordance with IPSASs 16, 17, 27, 31 and 32
it is not required to recognize finance lease assets and/or liabilities until the
exemptions that provided the relief have expired, and/or when the relevant assets
are recognized in accordance with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

IPSAS 19, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

48.

IPSAS 33

Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption in
paragraph 36 which allows a three year transitional relief period to
not recognize and/or measure property, plant and equipment, it is not
required to recognize and/or measure the liability relating to the initial
estimate of costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the
site on which it is located until the exemption for IPSAS 17 has expired,
and/or the relevant asset is recognized and/or measured in accordance
with IPSAS 17 (whichever is earlier).
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49.

50.

This IPSAS allows a first-time adopter a period of up to three years from
the date of adoption of IPSASs to not recognize and/or measure property,
plant and equipment. IPSAS 17 requires an entity to include as part of the
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, the initial estimate of the
costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which
it is located. Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption
that allows a three year transitional relief period for the recognition and/or
measurement of property, plant and equipment, a first-time adopter is not
required to apply the requirements related to the initial estimate of costs
of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it
is located until the exemption that provided the relief has expired, and/or
when the relevant asset is recognized and/or measured in accordance with
IPSAS 17 (whichever is earlier). The liability shall be measured as at the date
of adoption of IPSASs, or where a first-time adopter has taken advantage
of the exemption that allows a three year transitional relief period for the
recognition and/or measurement of an asset, the date on which the exemption
that provides the relief has expired and/or the asset has been recognized and/
or measured in accordance with the applicable IPSASs.

Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption in
paragraph 48, it shall recognize and/or measure the obligation and any
related asset at the same time.

IPSAS 20, Related Party Disclosures

51

52.

Afirst-time adopter is notrequired to disclose related party relationships,
related party transactions and information about key management
personnel for reporting periods beginning on a date within three years
following the date of adoption of IPSASs.

Notwithstanding the transitional provision in paragraph 51, a first-
time adopter is encouraged to disclose information about related party
relationships, related party transactions and information about key
management personnel that is known at the date of adoption of IPSAS.

IPSAS 34, Separate Financial Statements, IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial
Statements and IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

53.

54.

Where a first-time adopter has not recognized its interests in controlled
entities, associates or joint ventures under its previous basis of
accounting, it is not required to recognize and/or measure its interests
in other entities as a controlled entity, associate or joint venture for
reporting periods beginning on a date within three years following the
date of adoption of accrual basis IPSAS.

Subject to paragraph 53, a first-time adopter is not required to change its
accounting policy in respect of the recognition and/or measurement of its
interests in controlled entities, associates or joint ventures for reporting
periods beginning on a date within three years following the date of adoption
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of IPSASs. The transitional exemption in paragraph 53 is intended to allow a
first-time adopter a period to identify and appropriately classify its interests in
other entities as either controlled entities, associates or joint ventures during the
period of transition. The first-time adopter may apply accounting policies for the
recognition and/or measurement of its interests in controlled entities, associates
or joint ventures that do not comply with the provisions of other IPSASs.

IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements

55.

56.

57.

58.

Subject to paragraph 53, a first-time adopter shall present consolidated
financial statements following the adoption of accrual basis IPSASs. A
first-time adopter presenting consolidated financial statements is, however,
not required to eliminate all balances, transactions, revenue and expenses
between entities within the economic entity for reporting periods beginning
on a date within three years following the date of adoption of IPSASs.

On adoption of IPSASs, an entity may have controlled entities with a
significant number of transactions between controlled entities. Accordingly,
it may be difficult to identify some transactions and balances that need to be
eliminated for the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements
of the economic entity. For this reason, paragraph 55 provides relief for a
period of up to three years to fully eliminate balances, transactions, revenue
and expenses between entities within the economic entity.

Notwithstanding the transitional exemption in paragraph 55, a first-
time adopter is encouraged to eliminate those balances, transactions,
revenue and expenses that are known on the date of adoption of IPSASs
to comply in full with the provisions of IPSAS 35 6 as soon as possible.

Where a first-time adopter has taken advantage of the transitional
exemption in paragraph 53 and/or paragraph 55, it shall not present
financial statements as consolidated financial statements until:

(@  The exemptions that provided the relief have expired; and

(b)  Its interests in other entities have been appropriately recognized
and/or measured as controlled entities, associates or joint
ventures; or

(© Inter-entity balances, transactions, revenue and expenses between
entities within the economic entity are eliminated (whichever is
earlier).

IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

59.

IPSAS 33

When a first-time adopter applies the equity method on adoption of
IPSAS 36, the investor is not required to eliminate its share in the surplus
and deficit resulting from upstream and downstream transactions
between the investor and its associate or joint venture for reporting
periods beginning on a date within three years following the date of
adoption of IPSASs.
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60.

61.

62.

On adoption of IPSASs, a first-time adopter may be an investor in one or
more associates or joint ventures with a significant number of upstream and
downstream transactions between the investor and the investee. Accordingly,
it may be difficult to identify some upstream and/or downstream transactions
in which the investor’s share in the associate’s or joint venture’s surplus or
deficit needs to be eliminated in applying the equity method. For this reason,
paragraph 59 provides the investor relief with a period of up to three years to
fully eliminate its share in the associate’s or joint venture’s surplus or deficit
resulting from upstream and/or downstream transactions.

Notwithstanding the transitional exemption in paragraph 59, a first-time
adopter is encouraged to eliminate its share in the associate’s and joint
venture’s surplus and deficit resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions that are known on the date of adoption of IPSASs, to
comply in full with the provisions of IPSAS 36 as soon as possible.

Where a first-time adopter has taken advantage of the transitional
exemption in paragraph 53 and/or paragraph 59, it shall not present
financial statements in which investments in associates or joint ventures
are accounted for using the equity method until:

(@ The exemptions that provided the relief have expired; and

(b)  The interest in other entities have been appropriately recognized
and/or measured as an associate or joint venture; or

© Its share in the associate’s surplus and deficit resulting from
upstream and downstream transactions between the investor and
the investee are eliminated (whichever is earlier).

IPSAS 40, Public Sector Combinations

62A.

62B.

Where a first-time adopter applies the exemption in paragraph 36 which
allows a three year transitional relief period to not recognize and/or
measure assets and/or liabilities, the first-time adopter may be a party
to a public sector combination during that three year transitional relief
period. The first-time adopter is not required to recognize and/or measure
the assets and/or liabilities associated with the public sector combination,
until the exemption that provided the relief has expired and/or when
the relevant assets and/or liabilities are recognized and/or measured in
accordance with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

Where a first-time adopter applies the exemption in paragraph 62A it
shall not recognize goodwill in respect of an acquisition. The first-time
adopter shall recognize the difference between (a) and (b) below in net
assets/equity:

(@) The aggregate of:
@) Any consideration transferred;
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62C.

(i)  Any non-controlling interests in an acquired operation; and

(iii) Any previously held equity interests in an acquired
operation.

(b) The net amounts of any identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed.

IPSAS 40 is applied prospectively. Consequently, a first-time adopter does
not adjust any amounts of goodwill recognized as a result of a public sector
combination that occurred prior to the application of IPSAS 40.

Exemptions that Do Not Affect Fair Presentation and Compliance
with Accrual Basis IPSASs During the Period of Adoption

63.

A first-time adopter is required, or may elect, to adopt the exemptions in
paragraphs 64—134. These exemptions will not affect the fair presentation
of a first-time adopter’s financial statements and its ability to assert
compliance with accrual basis IPSASs during the period of transition in
accordance with paragraphs 27 and 28 while they are applied. A first-
time adopter shall not apply these exemptions by analogy to other items.

Using Deemed Cost to Measure Assets and/or Liabilities

64.

65.

IPSAS 33

A first-time adopter may elect to measure the following assets and/
or liabilities at their fair value when reliable cost information about
the assets and liabilities is not available, and use that fair value as the
deemed cost for:

(a) Inventory (see IPSAS 12);

(b)  Investment property, if the first-time adopter elects to use the cost
model in IPSAS 16;

(c)  Property, plant and equipment (see IPSAS 17);

(d)  Intangible assets, other than internally generated intangible
assets (see IPSAS 31) that meets:

1 The recognition criteria in IPSAS 31 (excluding the reliable
measurement criterion); and

(ii)  The criteria in IPSAS 31 for revaluation (including the
existence of an active market);

(e Financial Instruments (see IPSAS 29); or
(f) Service concession assets (see [PSAS 32).

Deemed cost can only be determined where the acquisition cost of the asset and/
or the liability is not available. Deemed cost assumes that the entity had initially
recognized the asset and/ or the liability at the given date. Subsequent depreciation
or amortization is based on that deemed cost on the premise that the acquisition
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66.

67.

68.

69.

70.

cost is equal to the deemed cost. For example, a first-time adopter may elect to
measure property, plant and equipment at deemed cost at the date of adoption of
IPSASs because cost information about the item of property, plant and equipment
was not available on that date, and use fair value as its deemed cost at that date.
Any subsequent depreciation is based on the fair value determined at that date
and starts from the date that the deemed cost has been determined.

The use of deemed cost is not considered a revaluation or the application of the
fair value model for subsequent measurement in accordance with other IPSASs.

A first-time adopter may elect to use the revaluation amount of property,
plant and equipment under its previous basis of accounting as deemed cost
if the revaluation was, at the date of the revaluation, broadly comparable to:

(@  Fair value; or

(b)  Cost or depreciated cost, where appropriate, in accordance with
IPSASs adjusted to reflect, for example, changes in a general or
specific price index.

A first-time adopter may have established a deemed cost in accordance
with its previous basis of accounting for property, plant and equipment by
measuring it at fair value at one particular date because of a specific event:

(@  Ifthe measurement date is at or before the date of adoption of IPSASs, a
first-time adopter may use such event-driven fair value measurements
as deemed cost for IPSASs at the date of that measurement.

(b)  If the measurement date is after the date of adoption of IPSASs, but
during the period of transition where the first-time adopter takes
advantage of the exemption that provides a three year transitional
relief period to not recognize and/or measure certain assets, the event-
driven fair value measurements may be used as deemed cost when
the event occurs. A first-time adopter shall recognize the resulting
adjustments directly in accumulated surplus or deficit when the asset
is recognized and/or measured.

In determining the fair value in accordance with paragraph 67, the first-time
adopter shall apply the definition of fair value and guidance in other applicable
IPSASs in determining the fair value of the asset in question. The fair value
shall reflect conditions that existed at the date on which it was determined.

If reliable market-based evidence of fair value is not available for
inventory, or investment property that is of a specialized nature, a first-
time adopter may consider the following measurement alternatives in
determining a deemed cost:

(@ For inventory, current replacement cost; and

(b)  For investment property of a specialized nature, depreciated
replacement cost.
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Using Deemed Cost to Measure Assets Acquired Through a Non-Exchange
Transaction

71.

A first-time adopter may elect to measure an asset acquired through a
non-exchange transaction at its fair value when reliable cost information
about the asset is not available, and use that fair value as its deemed cost.

Using Deemed Cost for Investments in Controlled Entities, Joint Ventures and
Associates (IPSAS 34)

72.

73.

Where a first-time adopter measures an investment in a controlled entity,
joint venture or associate at cost in its separate financial statements, it
may, on the date of adoption of IPSASs, elect to measure that investment
at one of the following amounts in its separate opening statement of
financial position:

(@) Cost; or

(b) Deemed cost. The deemed cost of such an investment shall be its
fair value (determined in accordance with IPSAS 29) at the first-
time adopter’s date of adoption of IPSASs in its separate financial
statements.

A first-time adopter may have established a deemed cost in accordance with
its previous basis of accounting for an investment in a controlled entity, joint
venture or associate by measuring it at its fair value at one particular date
because of a specific event. In such instances, a first-time adopter applies
paragraph 72(a) and (b).

Date at which Deemed Cost can be Determined

74.

75.

76.

IPSAS 33

The date at which deemed cost is determined may vary depending on
whether the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemptions that
provides a three year transitional relief period to not recognize and/or
measure certain assets and/or liabilities. When the first-time adopter
takes advantage of the exemption, deemed cost can be determined at
any date during this period, or on the date that the exemption expires
(whichever is earlier), and shall be recognized in accordance with
paragraph 76. If a first-time adopter does not adopt the exemption,
deemed cost shall be determined at the beginning of the earliest period
for which the first-time adopter presents IPSAS financial statements.

Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption that provides a
three year transitional relief period to not recognize and/or measure certain
assets and/or liabilities, it may determine a deemed cost for that asset and/or
liability at any point of time within the three year transitional relief period.

When a deemed cost is determined during the period in which a first-
time adopter takes advantage of the exemption that provides a three year
transitional exemption not to recognize and/or measure an asset and/or
liability, a first-time adopter shall recognize the adjustment against the
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opening accumulated surplus or deficit in the year in which the deemed
cost of the asset and/or liability is recognized and/or measured.

IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements

Comparative Information

77.

78.

79.

A first-time adopter is encouraged, but not required, to present
comparative information in its first transitional IPSAS financial
statements or its first IPSAS financial statements presented in accordance
with this IPSAS. When a first-time adopter presents comparative
information, it shall be presented in accordance with the requirements
of IPSAS 1.

Where a first-time adopter elects to present comparative information,
the transitional IPSAS financial statements or the first IPSAS financial
statements presented in accordance with this IPSAS shall include:

(@  One statement of financial position with comparative information
for the preceding period, and an opening statement of financial
position as at the beginning of the reporting period prior to the
date of adoption of accrual basis IPSAS;

(b) One statement of financial performance with comparative
information for the preceding period;

() One statement of changes in net assets/equity with comparative
information for the preceding period;

(d)  One cash flow statement with comparative information for the
preceding period;

(¢) A comparison of budget and actual amounts for the current year
as a separate additional financial statement or as a budget column
in the financial statements if the first-time adopter makes its
approved budget publicly available; and

(f) Related notes including comparative information, and the
disclosure of narrative information about material adjustments
as required by paragraph 142.

Where a first-time adopter elects to not present comparative information,
its transitional IPSAS financial statements following the adoption of
accrual basis IPSASs or its first IPSAS financial statements presented in
accordance with this IPSASs shall include:

(@  One statement of financial position, and an opening statement of
financial position at the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSAS;

(b)  One statement of financial performance;

() One statement of changes in net assets/equity;
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80.

8l.

(d)  One cash flow statement;

(¢) A comparison of budget and actual amounts for the current year
as a separate additional financial statement or as a budget column
in the financial statements if the first-time adopter makes its
approved budget publicly available; and

(f)  Related notes and the disclosure of narrative information about
material adjustments as required by paragraph 142.

Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemptions in
paragraphs 36—62 which allow a three year transitional relief period
to not recognize and/or measure an item, comparative information for
the year following the date of adoption of IPSASs shall be adjusted only
when information is available about the items following their recognition
and/or measurement during the relief period.

IPSAS 1 requires an entity to present comparative information in respect
of the previous period for all amounts reported in the financial statements.
Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption that provides a
three year transitional exemption to not recognize and/or measure an item,
it shall, during the period of transition present comparative information for
an item recognized and/or measured during that period only, if information
is available about the item for the comparative period. The first-time adopter
shall apply the requirements in IPSAS 1 after it has adjusted its first IPSAS
financial statements.

Non-IPSAS Comparative Information

82.

83.

A first-time adopter may present comparative information in accordance
with its previous basis of accounting. In any financial statements containing
comparative information in accordance with the previous basis of accounting,
the first-time adopter shall label the information prepared using the previous
basis of accounting information as not being prepared in accordance with
IPSASs, and disclose the nature of the main adjustments that would be
required to comply with IPSASs.

Where a first-time adopter presents non-IPSAS comparative information
in its first IPSAS or first transitional IPSAS financial statements following
its adoption of accrual basis IPSASs, the transitional exemptions and
provisions provided in this Standard shall not be applied to the non-IPSAS
comparative information presented in the first IPSAS financial statements or
first transitional IPSAS financial statements.

Non-IPSAS Historical Summaries

84.

IPSAS 33

A first-time adopter may elect to present historical summaries of selected
data for periods before the first period for which it presents financial
statements in accordance with IPSASs. This IPSAS does not require such
summaries to comply with the recognition and measurement requirements
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of IPSASs. In any financial statements containing historical summaries in
accordance with the previous basis of accounting, the first-time adopter shall
label the previous basis of accounting information prominently as not being
prepared in accordance with IPSASs, and disclose the nature of the main
adjustments that would be required to comply with IPSASs. The first-time
adopter need not quantify those adjustments.

IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

85.

86.

87.

On the date of adoption of IPSASs a first-time adopter need not comply
with the requirements for cumulative translation differences that exist
at that date. If a first-time adopter uses this exemption:

(@  The cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations
are deemed to be zero at the date of adoption of IPSASs; and

(b)  The gain or loss on a subsequent disposal of any foreign operation
shall exclude translation differences that arose before the date of
adoption of IPSASs and shall include later translation differences.

A first-time adopter shall apply the requirement to treat any goodwill
(see IPSAS 40) arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on the acquisition of that foreign operation, as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation, prospectively on the date of adoption of IPSASs.

In applying the transitional exemption in paragraph 85, a first-time adopter
shall not restate prior years for the acquisition of a foreign operation acquired
prior to the date of adoption of IPSASs, and accordingly shall, where
appropriate, treat goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition
as assets and liabilities of the entity rather than as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation. Therefore, those goodwill and fair value adjustments
either are already expressed in the entity’s functional currency or are non-
monetary foreign currency items, which are reported using the exchange
rate at the date of the acquisition.

IPSAS 5, Borrowing Costs

88.

89.

90.

A first-time adopter is encouraged, but not required, to apply the
requirements of IPSAS 5 retrospectively where it adopts or changes its
accounting policy to the benchmark treatment.

Where a first-time adopter adopts or changes its accounting policy to
the benchmark treatment it is allowed to designate any date before the
date of adoption of IPSASs and apply IPSAS 5 prospectively on or after
that designated date.

Where a first-time adopter changes its accounting policy to the allowed
alternative treatment, any borrowing costs incurred both before and
after date of adoption of IPSASs on qualifying assets for which the
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commencement date for the capitalization is prior to the date of adoption
of IPSASs, shall be recognized retrospectively in accordance with the
allowed alternative treatment.

IPSAS 10, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

Severe Hyperinflation

91.

92.

93.

94.

If a first-time adopter has a functional currency that was, or is, the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy, it shall determine whether
it was subject to severe hyperinflation before the date of adoption of
IPSASs.

The currency of a hyperinflationary economy is subject to severe
hyperinflation if it has both of the following characteristics:

(@) A reliable general price index is not available to all entities with
transactions and balances in the currency; and

(b)  Exchangeability between the currency and a relatively stable foreign
currency does not exist.

The functional currency of a first-time adopter ceases to be subject to
severe hyperinflation on the functional currency normalization date. That
is the date when the functional currency no longer has either, or both, of
the characteristics in paragraph 94 or when there is a change in the first-
time adopter’s functional currency to a currency that is not subject to severe
hyperinflation.

When a first-time adopter’s date of adoption of IPSAS:s is on, or after, the
functional currency normalization date, the first-time adopter may elect
to measure all assets and liabilities held before the functional currency
normalization date at fair value on the date of adoption to IPSASs. The
first-time adopter may use that fair value as the deemed cost of those
assets and liabilities in the opening statement of financial position.

IPSAS 13, Leases

95.

96.

IPSAS 33

A first-time adopter shall on the date of adoption of IPSAS, classify all
existing leases as operating or finance leases on the basis of circumstances
existing at the inception of the lease, to the extent that these are known
on the date of adoption of IPSASs.

If, however, the lessee and the lessor have agreed to change the provisions of
the lease between the date of inception of the lease and the date of adoption
of accrual basis IPSASs in a manner that would have resulted in a different
classification of the lease at the date of adoption, the revised agreement
shall be regarded as a new agreement. A first-time adopter shall consider
the provisions of the new agreement at the date of adoption of accrual basis
IPSAS:s in classifying the lease as an operating or finance lease.
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IPSAS 18, Segment Reporting

97. A first-time adopter is not required to present segment information for
reporting periods beginning on a date within three years following the
date of adoption of IPSASs.

IPSAS 21, Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets

98. A first-time adopter shall apply the requirements in IPSAS 21
prospectively from the date of adoption of IPSASs, except in relation to
those assets where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption
in paragraph 36 which allows a three year transitional relief period to
not recognize and/or measure assets. When a first-time adopter takes
advantage of the exemption that provides a three year transitional
relief period in IPSAS 16, 17, 27, 31 and 32, it applies IPSAS 21 when
the exemption that provided the relief has expired, and/or the relevant
assets are recognized and/or measured in accordance with the applicable
IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

99. On the date that the transitional exemption that provided the relief has
expired, and/or when the relevant assets are recognized and/or measured
in the financial statements (whichever is earlier), a first-time adopter
shall assess whether there is any indication that the non-cash-generating
assets recognized and/or measured are impaired. Any impairment loss
shall be recognized in opening accumulated surplus or deficit on the date
of adoption of IPSASs, or in opening accumulated surplus or deficit in
the reporting period in which the transitional exemption expires, and/or
the relevant assets are recognized and/or measured (whichever is earlier).

100. A first-time adopter shall apply the requirements of IPSAS 21 prospectively.
This means that on the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs, or if the first-
time adopter has adopted transitional relief relating to the recognition and/
or measurement of assets, only when the three year transitional exemption
expires, and/or when the relevant assets are recognized and/or measured in
the financial statements (whichever is earlier), will a first-time adopter be
required to assess whether there is an indication that any non-cash-generating
assets included in the opening statement of financial position, are impaired.

IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits

101. A first-time adopter shall recognize and/or measure all employee
benefits on the date of adoption of IPSASs, except for defined benefit
plans and other long-term employee benefits where it takes advantage of
the exemption in paragraph 36.

Defined Benefit Plans and Other Long-Term Employee Benefits

102. On the date of adoption of IPSASs, or where a first-time adopter takes
advantage of the three year transitional exemption, the date on which
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103.

104.

105.

106.
107.

IPSAS 33

the exemption expires, or when the relevant liabilities are recognized
and/or measured in the financial statements (whichever is earlier), a
first-time adopter shall determine its initial liability for defined benefit
plans and other long-term employee benefits at that date as:

(@  The present value of the obligation at the date of adoption of
IPSASSs, or where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the three
year transitional relief period, the date on which the exemption
expires, or when the relevant liabilities are recognized and/or
measured in the financial statements (whichever is earlier), by
using the Projected Unit Credit Method; and

(b)  Minus the fair value, at the date of adoption of IPSASs, or where
a first-time adopter takes advantage of the three year transitional
relief period, the date on which the exemption expires, or when
the relevant liabilities are recognized and/or measured in the
financial statements (whichever is earlier) of plan assets (if any)
out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.

(© [Deleted]

If the initial liability in accordance with paragraph 102 is more or less
than the liability that was recognized and/or measured at the end of
the comparative period under the first-time adopter’s previous basis of
accounting, the first-time adopter shall recognize that increase/decrease
in opening accumulated surplus or deficit in the period in which the
items are recognized and/or measured.

The effect of the change in the accounting policy to IPSAS 39 includes any
remeasurements that arose, if any, in earlier periods. Under its previous basis
of accounting, a first-time adopter may not have recognized and/or measured
any liability, in which case the increase in the liability will represent the full
amount of the liability minus the fair value, at the date of adoption of IPSASs
or where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the three year transitional
relief period, the date on which the exemption expires, or when the relevant
liabilities are recognized and/or measured in the financial statements
(whichever is earlier), of any plan assets in accordance with paragraph 102(b).
This increased liability is recognized in opening accumulated surplus or
deficit in the period in which the items are recognized and/or measured.

A first-time adopter shall recognize all cumulative remeasurements in
opening accumulated surplus or deficit in the period in which the items
are recognized and/or measured.

[Deleted]
[Deleted]
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IPSAS 26, Impairment of Cash-Generating Assets

108.

109.

110.

A first-time adopter shall apply the requirements in IPSAS 26
prospectively from the date of adoption of IPSASs, except in relation to
those assets where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption
in paragraph 36 which allows a three year transitional relief period to
not recognize and/or measure assets. When a first-time adopter takes
advantage of the exemption that provides a three year transitional relief
period in IPSASs 16, 17, 27, 31 and 32, it applies IPSAS 26 when the
exemption that provided the relief has expired, and/or the relevant assets
are recognized and/or measured in accordance with the applicable
IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

On the date that the transitional exemption that provided the relief has
expired, and/or when the relevant assets are recognized and/or measured
in the financial statements (whichever is earlier), a first-time adopter shall
assess whether there is any indication that the cash-generating assets
recognized and/or measured are impaired. Any impairment loss shall
be recognized in opening accumulated surplus or deficit on the date of
adoption of IPSASs, or in opening accumulated surplus or deficit in the
reporting period in which the transitional exemption expires, and/or the
relevant assets are recognized and/or measured (whichever is earlier).

A first-time adopter shall apply the requirements of IPSAS 26 prospectively.
This means that on the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs, or if the first-
time adopter has adopted the transitional relief relating to the recognition and/
or measurement of assets, only when the three year transitional exemption
expires, and/or when the relevant assets are recognized and/or measured in
the financial statements (whichever is earlier), will a first-time adopter be
required to assess whether there is an indication that any cash-generating
assets included in the opening statement of financial position, are impaired.

IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments: Presentation

111.

112.

On the date of adoption of IPSASs, a first-time adopter shall evaluate
the terms of the financial instrument to determine whether it contains
both a liability component and a net asset/equity component. If the
liability component is no longer outstanding on the date of adoption of
IPSAS:s, the first-time adopter need not separate the compound financial
instrument into a liability component and a net asset/equity component.

IPSAS 28 requires an entity to split a compound financial instrument at
inception into separate liability and net asset/equity components. If the
liability component is no longer outstanding, retrospective application of
IPSAS 28 involves separating two portions of net assets/equity. The first
portion is in accumulated surplus and deficit and represents the cumulative
interest accreted on the liability component. The other portion represents the
original net asset/equity component. However, this IPSASs allows a first-
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time adopter to not separate these two portions if the liability component is
no longer outstanding at the date of adoption of IPSASs.

IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

Designation of Financial Instruments on the Date of Adoption of IPSAS or During
the Period of Transition

113.

114.

A first-time adopter may designate a financial asset or financial liability
as a financial asset or financial liability at fair value through surplus or
deficit that meet the criteria for designation in IPSAS 29, in accordance
with paragraph 114. A first-time adopter shall disclose the fair value of
financial assets and financial liabilities designated into each category at
the date of designation, their classification and carrying amount.

IPSAS 29 permits a financial asset to be designated on initial recognition
as available for sale or a financial instrument (provide it meets certain
criteria) to be designated as a financial asset or financial liability at fair
value though surplus or deficit. Despite this requirement, exceptions
apply in the following circumstances:

(@ A first-time adopter is permitted to make an available-for-sale
designation at the date of adoption of IPSASs.

(b) A first-time adopter is permitted to designate, at the date of
adoption of IPSASs, any financial asset or financial liability as at
fair value through surplus or deficit provided the asset or liability
meets the criteria in paragraph 10(b)(i), 10(b)(ii) or 13 of IPSAS
29 at that date.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

115.

116.

IPSAS 33

Except as permitted by paragraph 116 a first-time adopter shall apply the
derecognition requirements in IPSAS 29 prospectively for transactions
occurring on or after the date of adoption of IPSASs, or where a first-
time adopter takes advantage of the exemptions not to recognize financial
instruments, the date on which the exemptions that provided the relief
have expired and/or the financial instruments are recognized (whichever is
earlier). For example, if a first-time adopter derecognized non-derivative
financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities in accordance with
its previous basis of accounting as a result of a transaction that occurred
before the date of adoption of IPSASs, it shall not recognize those assets
and liabilities in accordance with IPSAS 29, unless they qualify for
recognition as a result of a later transaction or event.

Notwithstanding the provision in paragraph 115, a first-time adopter
may apply the derecognition requirements in IPSAS 29 retrospectively
from a date of the first-time adopter choosing, provided that the
information needed to apply IPSAS 29 to financial assets and financial
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liabilities derecognized as a result of past transactions was obtained at
the time of initially accounting for these transactions.

Hedge Accounting

117.

118.

119.

As required by IPSAS 29, a first-time adopter shall at the date of
adoption of IPSASs, or where a first-time adopter takes advantage of
the exemption that provides a three year transitional relief period to
not recognize and/or measure financial instruments, the date when
the exemption that provided the relief has expired and/or the relevant
financial instruments are recognized and/or measured in accordance
with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier):

(@) Measure all derivatives at fair value; and

(b)  Eliminate all deferred losses and gains arising on derivatives that
were reported in accordance with its previous basis of accounting
as if they were assets or liabilities.

A first-time adopter shall not reflect in its opening statement of financial
position a hedging relationship of a type that does not qualify for hedge
accounting in accordance with IPSAS 29 (for example, many hedging
relationships where the hedging instrument is a cash instrument or
written option; or where the hedged item is a net position). However,
if a first-time adopter designated a net position as a hedged item in
accordance with its previous basis of accounting, it may designate an
individual item within that net position as a hedged item in accordance
with IPSASs, provided that it does so no later than the date of adoption
of IPSASs or where it takes advantage of the exemption that provides
a three year transitional relief period to not recognize and/or measure
financial instruments, the date when the exemption that provided
the relief has expired, and/or the relevant financial instruments are
recognized and/or measured in accordance with the applicable IPSASs
(whichever is earlier).

If, before the date of adoption of IPSASs, or where a first-time adopter
takes advantage of the exemption that provides a three year transitional
relief period to not recognize and/or measure financial instruments the
date on which the exemption that provided the relief has expired, and/
or the relevant financial instruments are recognized and/or measured
in accordance with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier), a first-
time adopter had designated a transaction as a hedge but the hedge
does not meet the conditions for hedge accounting in IPSAS 29, the
first-time adopter shall apply paragraphs 102 and 112 of IPSAS 29 to
discontinue hedge accounting. Transactions entered into before the date
of adoption of IPSASs, or where a first-time adopter takes advantage
of the exemption that provides a three year transitional relief period to
not recognize and/or measure financial instruments, the date when the
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transitional exemption expires and/or the relevant financial instruments
arerecognized and/or measured in accordance with IPSAS 29 (whichever
is earlier), shall not be retrospectively designated as hedges.

Impairment of Financial Assets

120.

121.

122.

Afirst-time adopter shall apply theimpairment requirements prospectively
from the date of adoption of IPSASs, except in relation to those financial
assets where it takes advantage of the exemptions in paragraphs 36,38 and
42 which allow a three year transitional relief period to not recognize and/
or measure financial instruments. When a first-time adopter adopts the
three year transitional relief period provided, it applies the impairment
provisions when exemption that provided the relief has expired, and/or
the relevant financial instruments are recognized and/or measured in
accordance with IPSAS 29 (whichever is earlier).

A first-time adopter shall on the date of adoption of IPSASs, or when
the exemptions that provided the relief have expired, and/or when the
relevant financial instruments are recognized and/or measured and
relevant information has been presented and/or disclosed in the financial
statements in accordance with the applicable IPSAS (whichever is
earlier), assess at that date whether there is any indication that the
financial instrument recognized and/or measured in the statement of
financial position, is impaired. Any impairment loss incurred shall be
recognized in opening accumulated surplus or deficit in the period in
which the financial instrument is recognized and/or measured.

A first-time adopter shall apply the impairment requirements prospectively.
This means that on the date of adoption of IPSAS 29, when the exemptions
that provided the relief have expired, and/ or when the relevant financial
instruments are recognized and/or measured, a first-time adopter shall
be required to assess whether there is an indication that the financial
instrument is impaired. Any impairment loss shall be recognized in opening
accumulated surplus or deficit on the date of adoption of IPSASs, or in the
opening accumulated surplus or deficit of the reporting period in which
the exemptions that provided the relief have expired, and/or the relevant
financial instruments are recognized and/or measured (whichever is earlier).

IPSAS 30, Financial Instruments: Disclosures

123.

124.

IPSAS 33

Where the first-time adopter elects to present comparative information in
accordance with paragraph 78, it is not required to present information
about the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments
for the comparative period in its transitional IPSAS financial statements
or its first IPSAS financial statements.

A first-time adopter shall apply the requirements in IPSAS 30
prospectively fromthe date of adoption of IPSASs, or when the exemptions
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that provided the relief have expired, and/or when the relevant financial
instrument is recognized and/or measured in accordance with IPSAS 29
(whichever is earlier).

IPSAS 31, Intangible Assets

125. A first-time adopter shall recognize and/or measure an internally
generated intangible asset if it meets the definition of an intangible asset
and the recognition criteria in IPSAS 31, even if the first-time adopter
has, under its previous basis of accounting, expensed such costs. A deemed
cost may not be determined for internally generated intangible assets.

126. As required by paragraph 20, a first-time adopter is required to recognize
all assets for which recognition is required by IPSASs. A first-time adopter
shall therefore recognize any internally generated intangible asset if it meets
the definition of an intangible asset and the recognition criteria in IPSAS 31,
irrespective of whether such costs were expensed under its previous basis of
accounting.

IPSAS 32, Service Concession Arrangements
Initial Measurement of Related Liability

127. Where a first-time adopter elects to measure service concession assets
using deemed cost, the related liabilities shall be measured as follows:

(@  For the liability under the financial liability model, the remaining
contractual cash flows specified in the binding arrangement and
the rate prescribed in IPSAS 32; or

(b)  For the liability under the grant of a right to the operator model,
the fair value of the asset less any financial liabilities, adjusted to
reflect the remaining period of the service concession arrangement.

128. A first-time adopter shall recognize and/or measure any difference
between the value of the service concession asset and the financial
liability under the financial liability model in paragraph 127 in opening
accumulated surplus or deficit in the period in which the items are
recognized and/or measured.

IPSAS 34, Separate Financial Statements, IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial
Statements and IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

129. If a controlled entity becomes a first-time adopter later than its
controlling entity, except for the controlled entity of an investment
entity, the controlled entity shall, in its financial statements, measure its
assets and liabilities at either:

(@ The carrying amounts determined in accordance with this IPSAS
that would be included in the controlling entity’s consolidated
financial statements, based on the controlled entity’s date of
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130.

adoption of [IPSASs, if no adjustments were made for consolidation
procedures and for the effects of the public sector combination in
which the controlling entity acquired the controlled entity; or

(b)  The carrying amounts required by the rest of this IPSAS, based
on the controlled entity’s date of adoption of IPSASs. These
carrying amounts could differ from those described in (a):

1) When the exemptions in this IPSAS result in measurements
that depend on the date of adoption of IPSASs.

(i)  When the accounting policies used in the controlled entity’s
financial statements differ from those in the consolidated
financial statements. For example, the controlled entity
may use as its accounting policy the cost model in IPSAS 17,
whereas the economic entity may use the revaluation model.

A similar election is available to an associate or joint venture that
becomes a first-time adopter later than an entity that has significant
influence or joint control over it.

However, if a controlling entity becomes a first-time adopter later than its
controlled entity (or associate or joint venture) the controlling entity shall,
in its consolidated financial statements, measure the assets and liabilities
of the controlled entity (or associate or joint venture) at the same carrying
amounts as in the financial statements of the controlled entity (or associate
or joint venture), after adjusting for consolidation and equity accounting
adjustments and for the effects of the public sector combination in which
the controlling entity acquired the controlled entity (or associate or joint
venture), subject to the exemptions that may be adopted in terms of this
IPSAS. Similarly, if a controlled entity becomes a first-time adopter for
its separate financial statements earlier or later than for its consolidated
financial statements, it shall measure its assets and liabilities at the same
amounts in both financial statements, subject to the exemptions that may
be adopted in this IPSAS, except for consolidation adjustments.

IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements

131.

A first-time adopter that is a controlled entity shall assess whether it
is an investment entity on the basis of the facts and circumstances that
exist at the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs, and measure its
investment in each controlled entity at fair value through surplus or
deficit at the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs.

IPSAS 37, Joint Arrangements

132.

IPSAS 33

Where a first-time adopter accounted for its investment in a joint
venture under its previous basis of accounting basis using proportionate
consolidation, the investment in the joint venture shall be measured on
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133.

134.

the date of adoption as the aggregate of the carrying amount of the assets
and liabilities that the entity previously proportionately consolidated,
including any purchased goodwill arising from acquisition transactions
(see IPSAS 40).

The opening balance of the investment determined in accordance with
paragraph 132 is regarded as the deemed cost of the investment at initial
recognition. A first-time adopter shall test the investment for impairment
as at the date of adoption, regardless of whether there is any indication
that the investment may be impaired. Any impairment loss shall be
adjusted to the accumulated surplus or deficit at the date of adoption.

If aggregating all previously proportionately consolidated assets and
liabilities results in negative net assets, the first-time adopter shall assess
whether it has legal or constructive obligations in relation to the negative
net assets and, if so, the first-time adopter shall recognize a corresponding
liability. If the first-time adopter concludes that it does not have legal
or constructive obligations in relation to the negative net assets, it shall
not recognize the corresponding liability but it shall adjust accumulated
surplus or deficit at the date of adoption. The first-time adopter shall
disclose this fact, along with its cumulative unrecognized share of losses
of its joint ventures as at the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs.

Disclosures

135.

136.

137.

A first-time adopter with financial statements that comply with the
requirements of this IPSAS while taking advantage of the transitional
exemptions and provisions that affect fair presentation and its ability to
assert compliance with accrual basis IPSASs, shall make an explicit and
unreserved statement of compliance with this IPSAS in the notes to the
financial statements. This statement shall be accompanied by a statement
that the financial statements do not fully comply with accrual basis IPSASs.

Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the transitional
exemptions in this IPSAS, the first-time adopter shall disclose:

(@) The extent to which it has taken advantage of the transitional
exemptions that affect the fair presentation of the financial
statements and its ability to assert compliance with accrual basis
IPSASSs; and/or

(b)  The extent to which it has taken advantage of the transitional
exemptions that do not affect the fair presentation of the financial
statements and its ability to assert compliance with accrual basis
IPSASs.

To the extent that a first-time adopter has taken advantage of the
transitional exemptions and provisions in this IPSAS that affect fair
presentation and compliance with accrual basis IPSASs in relation to
assets, liabilities, revenue and/or expenses, it shall disclose:
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138.

139.

140.

@ Progress made towards recognizing, measuring, presenting
and/or disclosing assets, liabilities revenue and/or expenses in
accordance with the requirements of the applicable IPSAS;

(b)  The assets, liabilities, revenue and/or expenses that have been
recognized and measured under an accounting policy that is not
consistent with the requirements of applicable IPSAS;

(© The assets, liabilities, revenue and/or expenses that have not been
measured, presented and/or disclosed in the previous reporting
period, but which are now recognized and/or measured, and/or
presented and/or disclosed;

(d  The nature and amount of any adjustments recognized during the
reporting period; and

(¢)  Anindication of how and by when it intends to comply in full with
the requirements of the applicable IPSAS.

Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the transitional exemption
to not eliminate some balances, transactions, revenue and expenses, and/
or where it applies the three year transitional relief for the recognition
and/or measurement of its interest in controlled entities, associates or
joint ventures in paragraph S5, it shall disclose the nature of the balances,
transactions, revenue and expenses and/or upstream or downstream
transactions that have been eliminated during the reporting period.

Where a first-time adopter is not able to present consolidated financial
statements because of the transitional exemptions and provisions
adopted in paragraphs 58 or 62, it shall disclose:

(@) The reason why the financial statements, investments in associates
or interests in joint ventures could not be presented as consolidated
financial statements; and

(b)  An indication by when the first-time adopter will be able to
present consolidated financial statements.

The disclosure requirements of paragraphs 135 and 139 will assist
users to track the progress of the first-time adopter in conforming its
accounting policies to the requirements in the applicable IPSASs during

the period of transition.

Explanation of Transition to IPSASs

141.

IPSAS 33

A first-time adopter shall disclose:
(a) The date of adoption of IPSASs; and

(b)  Information and explanations about how the transition from
the previous basis of accounting to IPSASs affected its reported
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financial position, and, where appropriate, its reported financial
performance and cash flows.

Reconciliations

142.

143.

144,

145.

146.

147.

A first-time adopter shall present in the notes to its transitional IPSAS
financial statements or its first IPSAS financial statements:

(@ A reconciliation of its net assets/equity reported in accordance
with its previous basis of accounting to its opening balance of net
assets/equity at the date of adoption of IPSASs; and

(b) A reconciliation of its surplus or deficit in accordance with its
previous basis of accounting to its opening balance of surplus or
deficit at the date of adoption of IPSASs.

A first-time adopter that has applied a cash basis of accounting in its
previous financial statements is not required to presentsuch reconciliations.

The reconciliation presented in accordance with paragraph 142 shall
provide sufficient detail, both quantitative and qualitative, to enable users
to understand the material adjustments to the opening statement of financial
position and, where applicable, the restated comparative statement of
financial performance presented in accordance with accrual basis IPSAS.
Where narrative explanations are included in other public documents issued
in conjunction with the financial statements, a cross reference to those
documents shall be included in the notes.

If an entity becomes aware of errors made under its previous basis of
accounting, the reconciliations required by paragraph 142 shall distinguish
the correction of those errors from changes in accounting policies.

If an entity did not present financial statements for previous periods,
its transitional IPSAS financial statements or its first IPSAS financial
statements shall disclose that fact.

Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemptions in
paragraph 36—43 which allow a three year transitional relief period to
not recognize and/or measure items, it shall present as part of the notes,
a reconciliation of items that have been recognized and/or measured
during the reporting period when these items were not included in
the previous reported financial statements. The reconciliation shall
be presented in each period when new items are recognized and/or
measured in accordance with this IPSAS.

The reconciliation presented in accordance with paragraph 146 provides
sufficient detail to enable users to understand which items have been
recognized and/or measured during the reporting period where the first-
time adopter adopts one of more of the exemptions that provide a three
year transitional relief period to not recognize and/or measure an item. The
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reconciliation explains the adjustments to the previously reported statement of
financial position and, where applicable, the previously reported statement
of financial performance in each period when new items are recognized
and/or measured in accordance with this IPSAS.

Disclosures where Deemed Cost is Used for Inventory, Investment Property,
Property, Plant and Equipment, Intangible Assets, Financial Instruments or
Service Concession Assets

148.

If a first-time adopter uses fair value, or the alternative in paragraphs
64,67 or 70, as deemed cost for inventory, investment property, property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets, financial instruments, or service
concession assets, its financial statements shall disclose:

@ The aggregate of those fair values or other measurement
alternatives that were considered in determining deemed cost;

(b)  The aggregate adjustment to the carrying amounts recognized
under the previous basis of accounting; and

(© Whether the deemed cost was determined on the date of adoption
of IPSASs or during the period of transition.

Disclosures Where Deemed Cost is Used for Investments in Controlled Entities,

Joint Ventures or Associates

149.

150.

If a first-time adopter uses fair value as deemed cost in its opening
statement of financial position for an investment in a controlled entity,
joint venture or associate in its separate financial statements, its separate
financial statements shall disclose:

@ The aggregate deemed cost of those investments for which deemed
cost is fair value; and

(b) The aggregate adjustment to the carrying amounts reported
under the previous basis of accounting.

The disclosure requirements required in paragraph 148 and 149 shall be
disclosed in each period when new items are recognized and/or measured
until the exemptions that provided the relief have expired and/or when
the relevant assets are recognized and/or measured in accordance with

the applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

Exemptions from Disclosure Requirements in IPSASs During the Period of

Transition

151.

IPSAS 33

To the extent that a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption
that provides a three year relief period to not recognize and/or measure
items, it is not required to apply any associated presentation and/or
disclosure requirements related to such items as required in IPSAS 1,
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152.

IPSAS 18 and/or the applicable IPSASs until such time as the exemptions
that provided the relief have expired and/or when the relevant items have
been recognized and/or measured in accordance with the applicable
IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

Notwithstanding the transitional provision in paragraph 151, a first-
time adopter is encouraged to disclose the information required by
IPSAS 1, IPSAS 18 and/or the applicable IPSAS as soon as possible.

Transitional Provisions

153.

Where a first-time adopter has adopted the existing transitional
provisions in other accrual basis IPSASs, it shall continue to apply
those transitional provisions until they expire and/or the relevant items
are recognized and/or measured in accordance with the applicable
IPSAS (whichever is earlier). If the first-time adopter elects to adopt
the transitional exemptions in this IPSAS, the relief period applied in
adopting accrual basis IPSASs, may not be longer than the relief period
provided in this IPSAS.

Effective Date

154.

154A.

154B.

154C.

A first-time adopter shall apply this Standard if its first IPSAS financial
statements are for a period beginning on or after January 1, 2017.
Earlier application is permitted.

Paragraphs 7 and 8 were deleted by The Applicability of IPSASs, issued in
April 2016. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments
for a period beginning before January 1, 2018, it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 36, 102, 104 and 105 were amended and paragraphs 106 and
107 were deleted by IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits, issued in July 2016.
An entity shall apply these amendments for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Earlier
application is encouraged. If an entity applies these amendments for a
period beginning before January 1, 2018 it shall disclose that fact and
apply IPSAS 39 at the same time.

Paragraphs 86,129,130 and 132 were amended and paragraphs 62A—-62C
were added by IPSAS 40, Public Sector Combinations, issued in January
2017. An entity shall apply these amendments for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments
for a period beginning before January 1, 2019 it shall disclose that fact
and apply IPSAS 40 at the same time.
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FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF ACCRUAL BASIS IPSASS

Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 33.

Background

BCL.

BC2.

BC3.

BCA4.

BCs.

BCe.

BC7.

Prior to the development of IPSAS 33, there was no Standard that addresses
issues arising from the first-time adoption of IPSASs. As a result, the IPSASB
approved a project in June 2011 to develop a comprehensive set of principles
to be used by entities on the adoption of accrual basis International Public
Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs).

While this IPSAS has Implementation Guidance, it is not within the scope
of this project to develop more detailed practical guidance on the first-time
adoption of IPSASs. The IPSASB is of the view that because specific issues
relating to first-time adoption are likely to vary from one jurisdiction to the
next, and because the starting point for first-time adopters varies depending
on their previous basis of accounting, individual jurisdictions need to play a
role in the development of additional implementation guidance to assist first-
time adopters in their transition to accrual basis IPSASs.

This IPSAS addresses the transition from either a cash basis, or an accrual
basis under another reporting framework, or a modified version of either the
cash or accrual basis of accounting. Consequently, the IPSASB agreed that
the project is not an IFRS convergence project.

The IPSASB did, however, consider the transitional exemptions included in
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards,
as well as the transitional provisions included in the existing suite of [IPSASs,
in developing this IPSAS.

In developing this IPSAS, the IPSASB agreed that, because this IPSAS is
not a convergence project, all the transitional provisions and exemptions
should be included in a single pronouncement. In comparison with IFRS 1,
the IPSASB agreed that no transitional provisions and exemptions should
be included as appendices, as this could be confusing to the preparers of the
financial statements if the provisions and exemptions are dispersed all over
the Standard.

The transitional exemptions provided in this IPSAS will replace many of the
transitional provisions in IPSASs once they are applied.

When the IPSASB issues new pronouncements, it will consider specific
transitional provisions to be included in this IPSAS that will provide relief
to a first-time adopter. Transitional provisions for entities already applying
accrual basis IPSASs will be included in the new pronouncements that are
developed.
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Scope
BCS.

BCo.

BC10.

BCIl1.

BCI12.

FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF ACCRUAL BASIS IPSASS

This IPSAS applies when an entity first adopts accrual basis IPSASs for the
first time and during the period that it transitions to accrual basis [IPSASs to
the extent that it has adopted one or more of the transitional exemptions and
provisions in this IPSASs. This IPSAS provides relief to a first-time adopter
in presenting its financial statements, and allows a first-time adopter certain
voluntary exemptions during the period of transition.

This IPSAS requires an entity to comply with each effective IPSAS on
the date of adoption, but grants limited exemptions from requirements in
certain areas where the benefits to users of financial statements are less than
the cost of complying with those requirements. Retrospective application
of some IPSASs is prohibited, particularly where they require judgment by
management about past conditions.

The exemptions provided in this IPSAS may override some of the
requirements in existing accrual basis IPSASs during the transition to
accrual basis IPSASs.

The date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs is the start of the reporting
period in which the first-time adopter elects to adopt accrual basis IPSASs. If,
on the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs the first-time adopter elects
to apply one or more of the voluntary exemptions or provisions that affect
fair presentation and the first-time adopter’s ability to assert compliance
with accrual basis IPSASs, the first-time adopter will present transitional
IPSAS financial statements during the period of transition. At the end of the
transitional period the first-time adopter must comply with the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure requirements in the other accrual
basis IPSASs in order to assert compliance with accrual basis IPSASs as
required in IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, even though the
date of adoption of accrual basis IPSAS may have been at an earlier point.

If, however, on the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs the first-time
adopter elects not to apply one or more of the exemptions or provisions
that affect fair presentation and the ability to assert compliance with
accrual basis IPSASs, the first-time adopter can present IPSAS financial
statements during the period of transition. IPSAS financial statements are
financial statements in which the first-time adopter can make an explicit
and unreserved statement in those financial statements of compliance with
accrual basis IPSAS:s. If a first-time adopter does not adopt the exemptions
in this IPSAS that affect fair presentation and compliance with accrual basis
IPSASs, its first financial statements following the adoption of accrual basis
IPSASs may also be its first IPSAS financial statements.
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FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF ACCRUAL BASIS IPSASS

Developing Criteria to Develop and Assess Transitional Exemptions

BC13.

BCl14.

BC15.

BCl16.

In developing the transitional exemptions in this IPSAS, the IPSASB
developed a set of criteria based on what user information needs are likely
to be on the adoption of and transition to accrual basis IPSASs as set out
in Chapter 2 of the Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial
Reporting by Public Sector Entities (the Conceptual Framework). These
criteria were used to evaluate these transitional provisions, along with an
assessment of the qualitative characteristics, and constraints on, information
included in GPFRs as outlined in Chapter 3 of the Conceptual Framework.
The results of these evaluations are included in paragraphs BC14 to BC19.

In developing requirements for the first-time adopter’s opening statement of
financial position and in considering the transitional exemptions, the IPSASB
referred to the objective of financial statements, as set out in Chapter 2 of the
Conceptual Framework.

Chapter 2 of the Conceptual Framework states that the objective of financial
statements is to provide information about the financial position, performance
and changes in financial position of an entity that is useful to a wide range
of users in providing information for accountability and decision-making
purposes.

Chapter 3 of the Conceptual Framework also identifies qualitative
characteristics of information included in the general purpose financial
reports (GPFRs) of public sector entities. These qualitative characteristics
are relevance, faithful representation, understandability, timeliness,
comparability and verifiability. The constraints on information included in
GPFRs are materiality and cost-benefit.

Criteria Used to Develop the Transitional Exemptions

Fair Presentation and Compliance with IPSASs

BCI17.

BCI8.

IPSAS 1 requires that an entity whose financial statements comply with
IPSASs shall make an explicit and unreserved statement of such compliance
in the notes to the financial statements. Financial statements shall not
be described as complying with IPSASs unless they comply with all the
requirements of IPSASs. Due to the complexity of issues relating to the first-
time adoption of IPSASs, the IPSASB agreed that relief should be provided
in certain instances. The IPSASB however agreed that some relief will affect
the fair presentation of a first-time adopter’s financial statements and the
ability to assert compliance with accrual basis IPSASs.

The IPSASB agreed that there should be a differentiation between those
transitional exemptions which do not affect fair presentation of a first-
time adopter’s financial statements and those that do. The IPSASB also
agreed that, structuring the Standard in this way will give preparers a
better understanding of the affect that the various transitional provisions
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BCI09.

BC20.

BC21.

BC22.

FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF ACCRUAL BASIS IPSASS

and exemptions will have on their financial statements during the period of
transition. Following the differentiation the IPSASB agreed that first-time
adopters should be alerted to the fact that they will not be able to assert
compliance with accrual basis IPSASs as required by IPSAS 1 if they adopt
certain exemptions provided in this IPSAS.

The IPSASB agreed that where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the
exemptions that affect fair presentation and compliance with accrual basis
IPSASs, it will not be able to make an unreserved statement of compliance
with accrual basis IPSASs until such time as the exemptions that provided
the relief have expired, or when the relevant items are recognized, measured
and/or the relevant information has been presented and/or disclosed in the
financial statements in accordance with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is
earlier).

Following comment received on the proposed IPSAS on First-time Adoption
of Accrual Basis IPSAS, the IPSASB agreed to clarify that a first-time
adopter should apply judgment in assessing to what extent the transitional
exemptions and provisions adopted affect fair presentation of the financial
statements and the first-time adopter’s ability to assert compliance with
accrual basis IPSAS. Where a first-time adopter elects to apply one or
more of the transitional exemptions and provisions that affect the fair
presentation of the financial statements and its ability to assert compliance
with accrual basis IPSAS, the first-time adopter may still conclude that fair
presentation is achieved because the recognition and/or measurement of the
item, transaction or event that are exempted is not significant in relation
to the financial statements as a whole. Applying judgment to assess the
significance of the transitional exemption and provision adopted in relation
to the financial statements as a whole needs to be assessed based on the first-
time adopter’s specific circumstances.

The IPSASB agreed that the financial statements presented at the end of the
first reporting period where a first-time adopter takes advantage of one of more
of the transitional exemptions that affect fair presentation and compliance
with accrual basis IPSASs, should be referred to as the transitional IPSAS
financial statements. This is because the first-time adopter will not be able to
make an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with IPSASs while
applying the exemptions in this IPSAS that affect the fair presentation of the
financial statements and a first-time adopter’s ability to assert compliance
with accrual basis IPSASs.

To provide relevant information during the transition to accrual basis
IPSASs disclosures to inform users about the transitional exemptions
adopted by a first-time adopter, and how it transitions from its previous basis
of accounting to accrual basis IPSASs.
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FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF ACCRUAL BASIS IPSASS

BC23. The IPSASB noted that, as part of a first-time adopter’s transition to accrual
accounting, an implementation plan should be developed so as to assess
the first-time adopter’s progress reporting under accrual basis IPSASs.
Disclosures on the progress towards recognizing, measuring, presenting
and/or disclosing assets, liabilities, revenue and/or expenses in accordance
with this plan will provide useful information to the users of financial
statements in understanding how and by when the first-time adopter intends
to comply in full with the requirements of all the applicable IPSASs.

Presentation of Information on First-Time Adoption

Presenting Comparative Information Following the Adoption of Accrual Basis
IPSASs

BC24. The IPSASB considered whether comparative information should be
required on the adoption of IPSASs, as the existing transitional provisions in
IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements do not require comparative
information in respect of the financial statements in which accrual accounting
is first adopted in accordance with IPSASs.

BC25. In considering the cost-benefit criterion, the IPSASB confirmed that the
current approach in IPSAS 1 for the presentation of comparative information
should be retained to promote the adoption of accrual IPSASs. This IPSAS
therefore only encourages the provision of comparative information,
with no requirement that a first-time adopter should provide comparative
information in its transitional IPSAS financial statements, or first IPSAS
financial statements.

BC26. Where a first-time adopter elects to not present comparative information, the
IPSASB agreed that, as a minimum, a first-time adopter’s transitional IPSAS
financial statements, should include one statement of financial position and
an opening statement of financial position at the date of adoption of accrual
basis IPSAS:s.

BC27. Where an entity elects to present comparative information, the IPSASB
agreed that a first-time adopter should present one statement of financial
position with comparative information for the preceding period and an
opening statement of financial position as at the beginning of the reporting
period prior to the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs.

BC28. As the adoption of the three year transitional relief period also affects the
presentation of comparative information, the IPSASB agreed that where the
first-time adopter takes advantage of any of the transitional relief periods
permitted, it should only adjust comparative information for the year
following the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs when information is
available about the items that were recognized and/or measured during that
period. Comparative information will thus only be adjusted retrospectively
to the extent that the information is available.
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A first-time adopter shall apply the requirements in IPSAS 1 relating to the
disclosure of comparative information after it has presented its first [IPSAS
financial statements.

Presenting a Reconciliation Following the Adoption of Accrual Basis IPSASs

BC30.

BC31.

BC32.

BC33.

BC34.

BC35s.

In considering what information would be useful to users of the financial
statements in relation to the first-time adoption of IPSASs, the IPSASB agreed
that a reconciliation should be presented in the notes to the transitional IPSAS
financial statements, or first IPSAS financial statements. The presentation of a
reconciliation provides an important link between the information previously
presented under the first-time adopter’s previous basis of accounting, and the
information prepared using IPSASs. The purpose of the reconciliation is to
illustrate the adjustments that are necessary to conform with the requirements
of accrual basis IPSASs, and how the transition from the previous basis of
accounting to IPSASs affected the first-time adopter’s reported financial
position, financial performance and cash flows. This information will be
useful to the users of financial statements.

The IPSASB considered two types of reconciliations that could be presented —
the first one reconciling opening balances as at the date of adoption of
IPSASs, and the second a reconciliation reconciling the end of the latest
period presented in the first-time adopter’s most recent annual financial
statements in accordance with its previous basis of accounting.

The IPSASB concluded that the latter option will be too onerous and that
the cost of presenting the reconciliation, outweighs the benefit. It was also
concluded that users will not likely make use of such reconciliations and that
the information will not have predictive value.

As a result, it was agreed that a first-time adopter should only present a
reconciliation of its closing balances reported under its previous basis
of accounting, to its net assets/equity in accordance with IPSASs for the
opening statement of financial position. The information should be presented
in the notes to the transitional IPSAS financial statements, or the first IPSAS
financial statements.

If a first-time adopter previously applied a cash basis of accounting it would
not have presented net assets/equity. The IPSASB therefore agreed that if a
first-time adopter’s previous basis of accounting is cash, it is not required to
present a reconciliation.

To meet the qualitative characteristics of relevance, understandability and
comparability during the period of transition where a first-time adopter takes
advantage of the exemption that provides relief from the recognition and/or
measurement of assets and/or liabilities, the IPSASB considered whether a
first-time adopter should be required to present a reconciliation at different
points during its transition to accrual basis IPSASs.
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The IPSASB agreed that where a first-time adopter takes advantage of any
of the transitional relief periods permitted, it should present a reconciliation
of items that have been recognized and/or measured during the reporting
period when these items have not been recognized and/or measured in
the previous reported financial statements. This reconciliation should
be presented in addition to the reconciliation that is presented to explain
differences between the first-time adopter’s previous basis of accounting and
those items that are recognized and/or measured in accordance with IPSASs
in the opening statement of financial position.

Presenting a Comparison of Budget and Actual Information in a First-time Adopter’s
Financial Statements

BC37.

BC38.

The IPSASB debated whether a first-time adopter should be required
to present a comparison of budget and actual information following the
adoption of accrual basis IPSASs, and whether such information is useful to
the users of the financial statements.

The IPSASB considered that if a first-time adopter prepares its budget on
the cash-basis of accounting after the adoption of IPSASs, presenting this
comparison in its transitional IPSAS financial statements, or its first IPSAS
financial statements could be onerous. The IPSASB, however, agreed that
such a comparison should be included in a first-time adopter’s financial
statements, as the comparison is a unique feature of IPSASs and promotes
accountability and decision-making.

Presenting a Cash Flow Statement in a First-time Adopter’s Financial Statements

BC39.

BC40.

During the comment period, respondents requested the IPSASB to consider
providing transitional exemptions and provisions for the preparation of the
cash flow statement where a first-time adopter elects to adopt a three year
relief period for the recognition and/or measurement of certain assets and/
or liabilities. Respondents noted that it did not seem appropriate to present a
cash flow statement when the statement of financial position is incomplete.

The IPSASB confirmed its previous decision to not provide any transitional
relief as, during the transitional period, users still need cash flow information
on: (a) the sources of cash inflows: (b) the items on which cash was expensed
during the reporting period; and (c) the cash balance as at the end of the
reporting period.

Alignment of Accrual IPSASs and Government Finance Statistics Reporting

BC41.

As the objective of this Standard is to provide a suitable starting point for
accounting in accordance with accrual basis IPSAS it does not provide
specific guidance to a first-time adopter on alignment of GFS reporting
and accrual basis IPSASs. In its Consultation Paper, Alignment of IPSASs
and Government Finance Statistics Reporting Guidelines: Resolution of
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Differences through Convergence and Management, the IPSASB discusses
where guidance on GFS alignment options within the suite of IPSASB’s
pronouncements will be best addressed. By choosing Government Finance
Statistics (GFS) aligned policy options on the first-time adoption of accrual
IPSASs, a first-time adopter may facilitate production of high quality and
timely data for inclusion in their GFS reports.

Exemptions that Affect Fair Presentation and Compliance with Accrual Basis

IPSAS

Transitional Exemptions Relating to the Recognition, Measurement and
Classification of Non-Financial Assets

BC42.

BC43.

BC44.

BC45.

When an entity first adopts IPSASs, it may not have comprehensive
information about the existence of all the assets under its control, and may
require a period of time to obtain and compile appropriate records to account
for such assets. As this is relevant to entities that previously did not apply
the accrual basis of accounting, it is likely that these entities will require
considerable effort to recognize, measure and/or classify their assets in
accordance with IPSASs.

In considering the relief that should be provided to a first-time adopter for
the recognition of its assets, the IPSASB considered the existing five year
relief period in IPSAS 17. To encourage entities to prepare for the adoption
of IPSASs in advance of the preparation of their transitional IPSAS financial
statements, or their first IPSAS financial statements, the IPSASB agreed
that a grace period not exceeding three years should be allowed. As entities
should prepare well in advance for their transition to accrual basis IPSASs
and not solely rely on the relief period provided in this IPSAS, the IPSASB
is of the view that the three year transitional period is more manageable, and
reduces the period over which entities will not be able to assert compliance
with IPSASs.

The IPSASB agreed that prescribing a relief period in this IPSAS, rather than
allowing each jurisdiction to prescribe their own transitional period, reduces
inconsistencies between jurisdictions. The credibility and comparability of
financial statements during the period of transition will also be enhanced.

The IPSASB confirmed that the relief provided in this IPSAS should not
be seen as a complete roadmap for the adoption of accrual basis IPSASs,
but rather the end stage of their adoption process. The relief period of three
years provided in this IPSAS is aimed at providing relief to a first-time
adopter to assist with the final conversion to accrual basis IPSASs. Prior to
the adoption of this IPSAS, a first-time adopter should adequately prepare
for its transition to accrual basis IPSASs. The complexity and length of the
transition will depend on its previous basis of accounting. The three year
relief period should not be seen as the entire adoption phase.
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The guidance in Study 14, Transition to the Accrual Basis of Accounting:
Guidance for Governments and Government Entities issued by the IPSASB
may assist a first-time adopter in planning their conversion to accrual basis
IPSASs, prior to adoption of this IPSAS.

The IPSASB proposed that a relief period of three years should be provided
for the following assets:

(@  Investment property;

(b)  Property, plant and equipment;

(c)  Biological assets and agricultural produce;
(d) Intangible assets; and

©®) Service concession assets.

Following comment received on this proposed IPSAS, the IPSASB agreed
to also allow a relief period for the recognition and/or measurement of
inventory. The IPSASB agreed that, even though inventory is a current
asset which is realised, consumed, sold or used in an entity’s operating
cycle, a first-time adopter may need time to identify and classify its assets
appropriately between inventory, investment property or property, plant and
equipment, particularly in respect of land. Inventory may also comprise
specialized assets or high volumes of items, e.g. medical supplies, for which
additional time may be required for appropriate classification.

In considering whether a relief period should be allowed for the recognition
of biological assets and agricultural produce, the IPSASB noted that these
assets and activities may be limited in some jurisdictions while they may be
more significant in other jurisdictions, for example, developing countries.
On balance, the IPSASB agreed that a three year relief period should be
provided for the recognition of biological assets and agricultural produce to
assist those jurisdictions where this is a significant issue.

IPSAS 5 allows a first-time adopter to either adopt the benchmark treatment
or the allowed alternative treatment in accounting for borrowing costs
incurred on qualifying assets. When a first-time adopter elects to apply the
allowed alternative treatment, there may a timing difference between the
capitalization of borrowing costs on qualifying assets where the first-time
adopter takes advantage of the three year transitional relief period to not
recognize certain assets. To address this timing difference, and because it
might not be practical to obtain information on borrowing costs incurred prior
to the recognition of the asset where the first-time adopter takes advantage
of the three year transitional exemption period, the IPSASB agreed that a
first-time adopter should not be required to capitalize any borrowing costs
on qualifying assets for which the commencement date for capitalization is
prior to the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs. Based on comment
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received from respondents on the proposed Exposure Draft, the IPSASB
also agreed that any borrowing costs incurred during the period of transition
should also not be capitalized until the exemptions that provided the relief
have expired and/or when the relevant assets are recognized in accordance
with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

After comment received on the proposed IPSAS, the IPSASB also agreed
that a first-time adopter may change its accounting policy in respect of the
recognition and/or measurement of assets and/or liabilities on a class-by-
class or category-by-category basis where the use of classes or categories are
permitted in the applicable IPSAS.

Transitional Exemptions relating to the Measurement of Non-Financial Assets

BCs2.

The IPSASB acknowledged that some entities may have recognized non-
financial assets under their previous basis of accounting. The IPSASB
therefore agreed that a three year transitional relief period should be allowed
for the measurement of all non-financial assets that were recognized by
a first-time adopter under its previous basis of accounting. During this
transitional period, a first-time adopter will be able to develop reliable
models for applying the principles in the IPSASs. During the transitional
period the first-time adopter will not be required to change its accounting
policy in respect of the measurement of these assets.

Transitional Exemptions Relating to the Recognition of Liabilities

Interaction Between the Asset Standards and Other IPSASs

BC53.

BC54.

Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of one or more of the transitional
exemptions relating to the recognition of assets, it would, as part of this
process, analyze title deeds, contracts and other similar arrangements,
including lease arrangements, in determining what assets should be
accounted for and their measurement. As a result, a first-time adopter may
not be in a position to account for finance lease liabilities related to finance
lease assets until such time as the transitional relief period provided has
expired and/or the relevant assets are recognized in accordance with the
applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

Likewise, where a first-time adopter has elected to adopt the transitional
relief provided for the recognition of service concession assets in accordance
with IPSAS 32, it will not be in a position to account for the related liability
under either the financial liability model or the grant of a right to the operator
model until such time as the transitional relief period provided has expired
and/or the relevant assets are recognized and/or measured in accordance
with IPSAS 32 (whichever is earlier).
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The IPSASB agreed that the recognition of finance lease liabilities and the
recognition and/or measurement of liabilities related to service concession
assets should also be delayed until the relief period related to the relevant
assets have expired and/or the applicable assets have been recognized and/or
measured.

Recognition of Provisions Included in the Initial Cost of Property, Plant and
Equipment

BC56.

BC57.

BCS58.

The IPSASB concluded that no transitional relief period should be provided
for provisions in IPSAS 19 and that a first-time adopter should account for
all its liabilities on the date of adoption of IPSASs. The IPSASB, however,
acknowledges that the delay in the recognition and/or measurement of
property, plant and equipment affects the recognition and/or measurement
of certain provisions which are included in the cost of such assets.

IPSAS 17 requires an entity to include, as part of the cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment, the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling
and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located, the
obligation which an entity incurs either when the item is acquired, or as a
consequence of having used the item during a particular period for purposes
other than to produce inventories during that period. IPSAS 17 requires
that the obligation for costs accounted for in accordance with IPSAS 17 is
recognized and measured in accordance with IPSAS 19.

The IPSASB agreed that it would not be possible to recognize and/or measure
provisions for the initial estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the item
and restore the site on which it is located until such time as the relevant
item of property, plant and equipment is recognized and/or measured in
accordance with IPSAS 17. A transitional relief period was therefore also
provided for the recognition and/or measurement of the provision to address
the timing difference.

IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits

BC59.

The IPSASB acknowledged that the recognition and/or measurement of
specific liabilities in IPSAS 39, will be challenging for many public sector
entities as new systems may be required and/or existing systems may need to
be upgraded. The IPSASB therefore agreed that a first-time adopter should
be given a three year relief period for the recognition and/or measurement
of assets and liabilities related to defined benefit plans and other long-term
employee benefits. To avoid a skewed statement of financial position, the
IPSASB further agreed that any plan assets should be recognized and/or
measured at the same time as the liabilities. All other employee benefits
should be recognized and/or measured on the date of adoption of IPSASs.
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[Deleted]

Transitional Exemptions Relating to the Recognition and Measurement of
Monetary Assets and/or Liabilities

IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

BCé6l1.

BC62.

BC63.

The existing transitional provisions in IPSAS 29 do not provide any relief
to a first-time adopter for the recognition and/or measurement of financial
instruments. Because many public sector entities will need some time to
identify and appropriately classify their financial instruments, the IPSASB
agreed that a transitional relief period should be provided to a first-time
adopter for the recognition and/or measurement of financial instruments.
A transitional relief period of three years was granted in line with the relief
period provided for the recognition and/or measurement of other items.

The IPSASB, however, agreed that a distinction should be made between
those entities that previously recognized financial instruments and those that
did not. The IPSASB was of the view that many basic financial instruments
such as cash, debtors and creditors are already recognized by public sector
entities. A three year relief period for the recognition of financial instruments
that have not been recognized under a first-time adopter’s previous basis of
accounting, is therefore provided.

As with non-monetary assets, the IPSASB agreed that the same principle
should be applied to the recognition and/or measurement of monetary assets
and/or liabilities, i.e. to the extent that a first-time adopter has recognized
financial instruments under its previous basis of accounting, the IPSASB
agreed that a three year relief period should be granted for the measurement
and classification of financial instruments following the date of adoption
of IPSASs. During this transitional period, a first-time adopter will be
able to develop reliable models for applying the principles in IPSAS 29. It
would also be allowed to apply accounting policies for the measurement of
financial instruments that differs from the requirements in IPSAS 29 during
the period of transition.

Transitional Exemptions Relating to the Recognition and Measurement
of Non-Exchange Revenue

IPSAS 23, Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers)

BCo64.

The existing transitional provisions in IPSAS 23 allow a first-time adopter
to not change its accounting policy in respect of the recognition and
measurement of taxation revenue for a period of five years. IPSAS 23 also
allows a first-time adopter to not change its accounting policy in respect of
recognition and measurement of revenue from non-exchange transactions,
other than taxation revenue, for a period of three years. It also requires that
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changes in accounting policies should only be made to better conform to
IPSAS 23.

The IPSASB concluded that it will be challenging for many public sector
entities to implement IPSAS 23 as new systems may be required and/
or existing systems may need to be upgraded. Because of these practical
challenges, the IPSASB agreed that a transitional relief period should be
provided. The IPSASB, however, acknowledged that a first-time adopter
should build up models to assist with the transition to accrual accounting
prior to the adoption of the accrual basis. In line with the relief period of
three years provided for the recognition of assets and/or liabilities in other
IPSASs, and in line with the existing three year transitional relief period
provided for other non-exchange revenue in IPSAS 23, it was agreed that a
first-time adopter should be granted a relief period of three years to develop
reliable models for recognizing and measuring revenue from non-exchange
transactions. The IPSASB agreed that a transitional period of three years
is manageable, and reduces the period over which an entity will not be
able to assert compliance with accrual basis IPSASs. During the period of
transition, a first-time adopter will be allowed to apply accounting policies
for the recognition of non-exchange revenue transactions that do not comply
with the provisions in [IPSAS 23.

Exemptions from Presentation and/or Disclosure Requirements Where a First-time
Adopter Takes Advantage of the Exemptions that Provide a Three Year Transitional
Relief Period

BC66.

BC67.

The IPSASB acknowledged and agreed that the three year exemption
provided for the recognition and/or measurement of assets and/or liabilities
also implies that the associated presentation and/or disclosure requirements
in the applicable IPSASs do not need to be complied with as the information
will not be available. The IPSASB agreed that the information need not
be provided until the exemptions that provided the relief have expired or
when the relevant assets and/or liabilities are recognized and/or measured in
accordance with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

For the same reason, the IPSASB agreed that a first-time adopter should
not be required to provide any related disclosure requirements in IPSAS 1,
Presentation of Financial Statements and IPSAS 18, Segment Reporting.

IPSAS 5, Borrowing Costs

BCe8.

The existing transitional provisions in IPSAS 5 encouraged a first-time
adopter to adjust its financial statements retrospectively if it did not recognize
borrowing costs under its previous basis of accounting. The IPSASB agreed
that it does not want to provide more relief to a first-time adopter than to
those entities that already apply IPSASs, particularly where the first-time
adopter elects to adopt the allowed alternative treatment under which
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borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized as a part of the cost of an
asset.

As a result, the IPSASB agreed that a first-time adopter should only be
encouraged to apply the requirements of IPSAS 5 retrospectively where
it adopts or changes its accounting policy to the benchmark treatment.
Providing this relief was seen a necessary because obtaining information
retrospectively may be costly and considerable effort may be needed to
obtain such information.

The IPSASB, however acknowledged that some information may be available
to a first-time adopter depending on its previous basis of accounting. It
was therefore agreed that a first-time adopter who adopted or changed its
accounting policy to the benchmark treatment, should apply the principles
in IPSAS 5 prospectively, but it may designate a date before the date of
adoption of IPSASs in applying IPSAS 5. This relief can only be adopted to
the extent that the information is available.

The IPSASB does not want to encourage first-time adopters to adopt the
allowed alternative treatment. Therefore it was agreed that where a first-time
adopter changes its accounting policy to the allowed alternative treatment, any
borrowing costs incurred on qualifying assets both before and after the date of
adoption of IPSASs, for which the commencement date for capitalization is
prior to the date of adoption of IPSASs, should be recognized retrospectively
where the first-time adopter has not taken advantage of the transitional relief
to not recognise and/or measure assets for a period of three years.

IPSAS 34, Separate Financial Statements, IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial
Statements and IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

BC72.

BC73.

BC74.

The IPSASB considered whether it should provide transitional relief that
allows a first-time adopter to not present consolidated financial statements
on adoption of IPSASs. In considering this proposal, it was argued that
providing such an exemption would contradict the concept of a reporting
entity and would not result in fair presentation.

The IPSASB therefore agreed that providing a relief period to not present
consolidated financial statements should not be provided, but instead, a first-
time adopter should be given a three year relief period from eliminating
balances, transactions, revenues and expenses between entities within the
economic entity.

As some balances, transactions revenues and expenses may be known on
adoption of IPSASs, a first-time adopter is encouraged to eliminate only
those known balances, transactions revenues and expenses.
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For the same reason, the IPSASB agreed that a similar exemption should
also be provided where a first-time adopter has one or more jointly controlled
entity in terms of IPSAS 8, and where it has one or more associate in terms
of IPSAS 7.

Providing a three year relief for the initial recognition and/or measurement of
interests in other entities

BC76.

Following comments received on Exposure Draft, the IPSASB agreed that
relief should be provided to a first-time adopter for the initial recognition
and/or measurement of its interests in other entities. This relief would allow
those first-time adopters that have not gathered the necessary information on
the date of adoption, more time to appropriately classify and measure their
interests in other entities. The relief provided is consistent with that provided
for financial instruments.

Presenting consolidated financial statements where the three year relief is adopted
Jor the initial recognition and/or measurement of interests in other entities and/or to
not eliminate inter-entity balances, transactions, revenue and expenses

BC77.

BC78.

BC79.

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft expressed a view that relief should
be provided from preparing consolidated financial statements where a first-
time adopter has elected to not eliminate some, or all of the inter-entity
balances, transactions, revenue and expenses between entities within the
economic entity. The IPSASB concluded that the financial statements that
are presented where a first-time adopter has taken advantage of the three
year relief for the initial recognition and/or measurement of interests in
other entities, and/or where it has elected to not eliminate some, or all inter-
entity balances, transactions, revenue and expenses, cannot be presented as
consolidated financial statements, until (a) the exemptions that provided the
relief have expired, and/or (b) inter-entity balances, transactions, revenue and
expenses have been eliminated, and/or (c) its interests other entities have
been recognized and/or measured appropriately. The IPSASB agreed that
disclosure requirements should be added to explain to users why the financial
statements are not presented as consolidated financial statements.

The IPSASB agreed that providing this clarification is necessary because,
where a first-time adopter has not eliminated inter-entity balances,
transactions, revenue and expenses as required by IPSAS 35 preparing
consolidated financial statements will merely be an aggregation of inter-
entity balances, transactions, revenue and expenses within the economic
entity. Such statements would not be useful for accountability and decision-
making purposes.

Likewise eliminating the carrying amount of an investment in the controlled
entity as required by IPSAS 35 may not be possible if the first-time adopter
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has not recognized and/measured its interest in other entities as required by
the applicable IPSASs.

IPSAS 40, Public Sector Combinations

BCT9A.

BC79B.

In developing IPSAS 40, Public Sector Combinations, the IPSASB
considered whether it should provide transitional relief that allows a first-
time adopter not to recognize and/or measure all the assets and/or liabilities
associated with a public sector combination. The IPSASB noted that IPSAS
40 is applied prospectively, and so its application would not require a first-
time adopter to adjust their accounting for a public sector combination that
occurred prior to the application of that Standard. However, a public sector
combination could occur during a first-time adopter’s three year transitional
relief period. The IPSASB considered that requiring a first-time adopter to
recognize and measure all the assets and liabilities associated with a public
sector combination without requiring them to recognize and measure all
similar assets and liabilities would not provide useful information for the
users of the financial statements.

Consequently, the IPSASB agreed to provide transitional relief that allows
a first-time adopter not to recognize and/or measure all the assets and/
or liabilities associated with a public sector combination as part of this
Standard. The IPSASB also agreed that a first-time adopter should not
recognize goodwill where it did not recognize and/or measure all the assets
and/or liabilities associated with a public sector combination.

Exemptions that Do Not Affect Fair Presentation and Compliance with Accrual
Basis IPSAS

Deemed Cost

Deemed Cost for Assets and/or Liabilities

BC80.

Some measurements in accordance with IPSASs are based on an
accumulation of past costs or other transaction data. If a first-time adopter has
not previously collected the necessary information, collecting or estimating
it retrospectively may be costly and/or impractical. To avoid excessive cost,
this IPSAS allows a first-time adopter to use the fair value as a substitute for
the initial cost of inventory, investment property where the first-time adopter
elects to use the cost model in IPSAS 16, property, plant and equipment,
financial instruments and service concession assets at the date of adoption
of IPSASs. Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption
that provides a three year transitional relief period to not recognize and/or
measure certain assets, the fair value is the deemed cost at the date at which
the asset is recognized and/or measured during the period of transition.
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While it could be argued that the use of fair value would lead to a lack
of comparability, the IPSASB noted that cost is generally equivalent to
fair value at the date of acquisition. Therefore, the use of fair value as the
deemed cost of an asset means that a first-time adopter reports the same cost
data as if it had acquired an asset with the same value or same remaining
service potential at the date of adoption of IPSASs. If there is any lack of
comparability, it arises from the aggregation of costs incurred at different
dates, rather than from the use of fair value as deemed cost for some assets
at a date. In the view of the IPSASB, using deemed cost facilitates the
introduction of IPSASs in a cost-effective way.

Under the revaluation model in IPSAS 17, if an entity revalues an asset, it must
revalue all assets in that class. This restriction prevents selective revaluation
of only those assets whose revaluation would lead to a particular result.
The IPSASB considered whether a similar restriction should be included in
determining a deemed cost. IPSAS 21, Impairment of Non-cash-generating
Assets and IPSAS 26, Impairment of Cash-generating Assets requires an
impairment test if there is any indication that an asset is impaired. Thus, if a
first-time adopter uses fair value as deemed cost for assets whose fair value
is likely to be above cost, it cannot ignore indications that the recoverable
amount or recoverable service amount of other assets may have fallen below
their carrying amount.

The IPSASB also considered the circumstances under which a first-time
adopter should be allowed to determine a deemed cost on initial adoption
of IPSAS, or where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption
that provides a three year transitional relief period to not recognize and/or
measure certain assets. The IPSASB considered whether the use of a deemed
cost should be restricted to those situations where cost information is not
available for assets, or whether it should be allowed in all circumstances,
irrespective of whether cost information is available on the date of adoption of
IPSASs, or the date on which the asset is recognized and/or measured where
a first-time adopter has taken advantage of the exemption that provides a
three year transitional relief period to not recognize and/or measured certain
assets.

The IPSASB agreed that, to avoid the selective valuation of assets, the use
of a deemed cost should be restricted to those circumstances where reliable
information about the historical cost of the asset is not available.

Deemed Cost for Investments in Controlled Entities, Joint Ventures or Associates

BC8s.

The IPSASB also agreed that a first-time adopter may elect to measure an
investment in a controlled entity, joint venture or associate at cost in its
separate financial statements on the date of adoption of IPSASs at either
cost as determined in accordance with IPSAS 6, or deemed cost. Deemed
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cost is determined as fair value in accordance with IPSAS 29, Financial
Instruments.: Recognition and Measurement.

Deemed Cost for Intangible Assets

BC86.

BC87.

BC8S.

BC&9.

BC90.

BC91.

In considering whether a first-time adopter should be allowed to determine
a deemed cost for intangible assets, the IPSASB considered the existing
transitional provisions in IPSAS 31. IPSAS 31 allows a first-time adopter
to use a previous revaluation of intangible assets at, or before, the date of
transition as deemed cost at the date of the revaluation if the revaluation is
broadly comparable to fair value or cost or depreciated cost that is adjusted
to reflect for example, changes in a general or specific price index. IPSAS
31, however, only allows a first-time adopter to determine a deemed cost if
the recognition criteria in IPSAS 31 (including the reliable measurement of
original cost), and the criteria for revaluation (including the existence of an
active market), have been met.

The IPSASB debated whether public sector entities will be likely to fulfil
the second criterion on initial adoption of IPSAS, i.e. existence of an active
market. The IPSASB acknowledged that it may be uncommon for an active
market to exist in the public sector for intangible assets, and as a consequence,
the use of the deemed cost approach will likely be considerably restricted.
As aresult, a first-time adopter may be unable to determine a deemed cost
for some intangible assets such as in-house developed IT systems.

The IPSASB considered whether the reliable measurement of original cost
should be required for first-time adopters which previously applied a cash
basis of accounting, as some entities might find it cumbersome to identify
the original cost of their intangible assets. It was also argued that where
a first-time adopter has previously applied the accrual basis of accounting
and it has acquired intangible assets through a non-exchange transaction, it
might not be able to reliably measure original cost.

Based on these considerations, the IPSASB concluded that the reliable
measurement of the original cost should be excluded as a criterion for the
application of the deemed cost approach on first-time adoption of IPSASs.

The IPSASB therefore agreed that a first-time adopter is allowed to determine
a deemed cost for intangible assets where that deemed costs meets: (a)
the recognition criteria in IPSAS 31 (excluding the reliable measurement
criterion) and (b) the criteria in IPSAS 31 for revaluation (including the
existence of an active market).

In considering whether a first-time adopter should be allowed to determine a
deemed cost for internally generated intangible assets, the IPSASB concluded
that it would be difficult to retrospectively assess the probability of expected
future economic benefits or service potential through reasonable and
supportable assumptions as management would not be able to apply hindsight
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in obtaining such information. Due to the absence of reliable information on
the date of adoption of IPSASs, it was therefore agreed that a deemed cost
may not be determined for internally generated intangible assets.

Alternative Measurement Bases for Fair Value in Determining Deemed Cost

BC92.

BC93.

BC94.

BC9s.

The IPSASB considered whether some revaluations in accordance with a
first-time adopter’s previous basis of accounting might be more relevant to
users than original cost. It was concluded that it would not be reasonable
to require a time-consuming and expensive estimation of cost, if previous
revaluations already comply with IPSASs. This IPSAS therefore allows a
first-time adopter to use a revaluation under its previous basis of accounting
for property, plant and equipment determined at or before the date of
adoption of IPSASs, as deemed cost. This may be used if the revaluation is,
at the date of the revaluation, broadly comparable to:

(@  Fair value; or

(b)  Cost or depreciated cost, where appropriate, in accordance with
IPSASs adjusted to reflect, for example, changes in a general or
specific price index.

In determining “fair value”, the guidance in each applicable IPSAS is
considered, where such guidance is provided. In IPSAS 17 it is noted that
fair value is normally determined by reference to market-based evidence,
often by appraisal. IPSAS 17 also states that if market based evidence is not
available to measure items of property, plant and equipment, an entity can
estimate fair value using replacement cost, reproduction cost or a service
units approach.

The IPSASB noted that the fair value guidance in IPSAS 16 only considers
a market-based value, and that limited guidance is provided in IPSAS 12
in determining fair value. The IPSASB concluded that because a first-time
adopter may find it difficult to determine a market-based fair value for all
investment properties and all inventories, other measurement alternatives
may need to be considered in determining deemed cost for inventory or
investment property.

The IPSASB agreed that a first-time adopter may consider the following
measurement alternatives in determining a deemed cost if reliable market-
based evidence of fair value is not available on the date of adoption of
IPSASs, or on the date that the asset is recognized and/or measured where
a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption that provides a three
year transitional relief period to not recognize and/or measure certain assets:

(@  For inventory, current replacement cost; and
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(b)  For investment property of a specialized nature, depreciated
replacement cost.

Determining a Deemed Cost Where the First-Time Adopter has Taken Advantage of
the Three Year Transitional Exemption Period

BC96.

BC97.

The IPSASB concluded that, to the extent that a first-time adopter has
elected to adopt one of more of the transitional exemptions that provides
relief for the recognition and/or measurement of assets, it may not be able to
retrospectively adjust the value of the asset to the date of adoption of accrual
basis IPSASs. Retrospectively adjusting the value of the asset would require
consideration of the price of the asset and other market factors that existed
on the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs, including whether there was
any indication that the asset was impaired.

The IPSASB concluded that this would not be cost effective. It was therefore
agreed that, where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption
which allows a three year transitional relief period to not recognize and/or
measure an asset, it may determine a deemed cost for that asset at any point
of time within the three year transitional relief period. Any adjustments
resulting from the recognition of the asset are recognized against the opening
accumulated surplus or deficit in the year in which asset is recognized and/or
measured.

IPSAS 18, Segment Reporting

BC98.

BC99.

The IPSASB considered whether relief should be provided to a first-time
adopter for the presentation of segment information. The IPSASB agreed
that, despite the fact that the presentation of segment information might
be useful, a first-time adopter should be provided a relief period, as the
information used in presenting segment information needs to be built on
existing information in the financial statements.

As the IPSASB agreed to allow a three year transitional relief period for
the recognition and/or measurement of assets and liabilities, the information
which is needed to present segment information may only be available when
the exemptions that provided the relief have expired, or when the relevant
items are recognized and/or measured in accordance with the applicable
IPSASs (whichever is earlier). As relevant and reliable information may
not be available to present a meaningful segment report during the period
of transition, and because the presentation of a segment report may not be
a priority for users during the transition to accrual basis IPSASs it was
agreed that a three year exemption period should also be provided for the
presentation of segment information.
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The IPSASB also concluded that, because segment information is additional
to the information required on the elements presented in the financial
statements, allowing this relief is appropriate.

IPSAS 20, Related Party Disclosures

BC101.

BC102.

In providing a first-time adopter time to build up information on its related
party relationships and related party transactions, the IPSASB agreed that
the disclosure of related party relationships, related party transactions and
information about key management personnel should be treated in the same
way as the required eliminations of balances, transactions, revenue and
expenses between entities in IPSAS 6 to 8.

This IPSAS therefore provides a transitional exemption for a period of
three years for the disclosure of related party relationships, related party
transactions and information about key management personnel.

IPSAS 21, Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets and IPSAS 26, Impairment of
Cash-Generating Assets

BC103.

BC104.

BC105.

BC106.

The IPSASB acknowledged that a first-time adopter may have applied an
accounting policy for the recognition and reversal of impairment losses
that are different to the requirements in IPSAS 21 and 26, or may have not
considered impairment at all. On adoption of IPSASs, it may be difficult
to determine the amount of adjustments resulting from retrospective
application of a change in an accounting policy, as this requires hindsight.

As a result, the IPSASB agreed that IPSAS 21 and 26 should be applied
prospectively, but that the first-time adopter should be required to assess
whether an indicator of impairment has been triggered for its cash-
generating and non-cash-generating assets in the opening statement of
financial position.

In recognizing the effect of an impairment loss on first-time adoption of
IPSAS 21 or IPSAS 26, the IPSASB considered two options. The first option
was to measure such assets at their recoverable amount, or recoverable
service amount and use that as the deemed cost. The IPSASB noted that the
effect of applying this option may means that impairment losses could not be
reversed in the future. This option was therefore not seen as appropriate.

The second option, which provides more relevant information is to measure
the assets at their recoverable amount, or recoverable service amount, and
report the effect in net assets/equity. The IPSASB supported this option.
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Timing of Impairment Test for Assets Where an Entity Adopts the Relief Period for
the Recognition of Assets

BC107.

BC108.

The IPSASB concluded that where a first-time adopter takes advantage of
the exemption that provides relief for the recognition and/or measurement
of assets, it may be difficult to retrospectively adjust the value of the asset
to the date of adoption of IPSASs. A first-time adopter may find it difficult
to determine the amount of adjustments that would be required based on
impairment that may or may not have existed at the date of transition.

The IPSASB therefore agreed that IPSAS 21 and IPSAS 26 should be
applied prospectively from the date when the transitional exemptions that
provided the relief have expired, or when the relevant asset is recognized
and/or measured in accordance with the applicable IPSASs (whichever is
earlier).

IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits

BC109.

The IPSASB also agreed that, where a first-time adopter takes advantage of
the exemptions that provide relief for the recognition and/or measurement
of liabilities, it should provide information about amounts for the current
and previous four annual periods of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation, the fair value of the plan assets, and the surplus or deficit in the
plan and adjustments as required by IPSAS 39 prospectively.

IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments: Presentation

BCI110.

IPSAS 28 requires an entity to split a compound financial instrument at
inception of the agreement, into separate liability and equity components.
It was concluded that separating these two portions would be costly and
would not provide relevant information to users of financial statements if the
liability component of the compound instrument is no longer outstanding
at the date of adoption of IPSASs. As a result, this IPSAS requires that, if
the liability component is no longer outstanding at the date of adoption of
IPSAS, the first-time adopter need not separate the cumulative interest on
the liability component from the net assets/equity component.

IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

BCI11.

The IPSASB concluded that, as it is in most instances impracticable to
apply impairment principles retrospectively, the impairment of financial
instruments should be applied prospectively. This exemption is consistent
with the exemption provided for non-cash-generating assets and cash-
generating assets in accordance with IPSAS 21 and 26.

IPSAS 30, Financial Instruments: Disclosures

BCl112.

The IPSASB concluded that if a first-time adopter did not disclose information
relating to financial instruments, and the nature and extent of risks arising
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from financial instruments under its previous basis of accounting, obtaining
such information may be costly, and therefore is not feasible.

The IPSASB therefore agreed that the disclosure requirements relating
to financial instruments should be applied prospectively from the date
of adoption of IPSAS, or where the first-time adopter takes advantage of
the exemption that provides a three year transitional relief period to not
recognize and/or measure financial assets, when the exemptions expire, or
when the relevant items are recognized and/or measured in accordance with
the applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

To the extent that a first-time adopter elects to present comparative
information, it was agreed that a first-time adopter need not present
comparative information for disclosures relating to the nature and extent of
risks arising from financial instruments for the comparative period because
obtaining such information may be costly, and is therefore not feasible.

IPSAS 31, Intangible Assets

BC115.

BCl16.

On first-time adoption of IPSASs, a first-time adopter will be required
to recognize all assets and liabilities for which recognition is required by
IPSASs. IPSAS 31 requires that past expenditure on an intangible asset that
was initially recognized as an expense should not be recognized as part of
the cost of an intangible asset at a later date.

The IPSASB concluded that, because a first-time adopter may have expensed
costs incurred on intangible assets under its previous basis of accounting
prior to the adoption of IPSASs, a first-time adopter should be allowed to
recognize all intangible assets that meet the recognition criteria and other
criteria in IPSAS 31 (i.e., identifiable control of an asset and that future
economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset will
flow to the entity), even though such costs may have been expensed prior to
adoption of IPSASs. It was however, confirmed that such assets should only
be recognized as intangible assets if reliable cost information is available
and an active market exists for that asset on the date of adoption of [IPSASs.

Interests in Other Entities

BCI117.

The TPSASB considered whether IPSAS 33 should refer to IPSAS 6,
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, IPSAS 7, Investments
in Associates, and IPSAS 8, Interests in Joint Ventures, as well as IPSAS
34, Separate Financial Statements, IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial
Statements, and IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures,
which were published in January 2015 with an effective date of January 1,
2017, with early adoption permitted. The IPSASB noted that as IPSAS 33
was published in January 2015, any entity adopting IPSAS 33 and electing
to apply the 3 year exemptions, would be required to apply IPSASs 34-36 by
the time the transitional period is complete. The IPSASB formed a view that
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it was very unlikely that entities adopting IPSAS 33, prior to January 1, 2017,
would adopt IPSASs 6—8 as this would require a further transition to IPSAS
34-36 shortly afterwards. The IPSASB therefore concluded that IPSAS 33
should not include provisions relating to IPSASs 6-8.

Revision of IPSAS 33 as a result of the IPSASB’s The Applicability of IPSASs,
issued in April 2016

BC118. The IPSASB issued The Applicability of IPSASs in April 2016. This
pronouncement amends references in all IPSASs as follows:

(@  Removes the standard paragraphs about the applicability of IPSASs
to “public sector entities other than GBEs” from the scope section of
each Standard;

(b)  Replaces the term “GBE” with the term “commercial public sector
entities”, where appropriate; and

() Amends paragraph 10 of the Preface to International Public Sector
Accounting Standards by providing a positive description of public
sector entities for which IPSASs are designed.

The reasons for these changes are set out in the Basis for Conclusions
to IPSAS 1.
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Implementation Guidance

This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 33.

IG1.

The purpose of this Implementation Guidance is to illustrate certain aspects
of the requirements of IPSAS 33.

Date of Adoption of IPSASs

1G2.

1G3.

1G4.

The date of adoption of IPSASs is the date an entity adopts accrual basis
IPSAS for the first time in preparing its financial statements.

Prior to the adoption of this IPSAS, a first-time adopter shall have adequately
prepared for its transition to accrual basis IPSASs. The guidance provided
in Study 14, Transition to the Accrual Basis of Accounting: Guidance for
Governments and Government Entities issued by the IPSASB, may assist
a first-time adopter with planning the conversion to accrual basis IPSASs.
The relief provided in this IPSAS shall therefore not be seen as a complete
roadmap for the adoption of accrual basis IPSASs, but rather the end stage
of the adoption process.

A first-time adopters’ date of adoption will therefore to be the start of the
reporting period in which it elects to adopt accrual basis IPSASs for which
it presents its transitional IPSAS financial statements or its first IPSAS
financial statements. For example, an entity elects to adopt accrual basis
IPSASs from January 1, 20X1 for its reporting period ending December
31,20X1. The date of adoption of IPSASs will be January 1, 20X1.

Transitional IPSAS Financial Statements

IGS.

1G6.

On the date of adoption of IPSASs, a first-time adopter may elect to adopt
one of more of the exemptions included in IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of
Accrual Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs).
Some of the exemptions included in IPSAS 33 affect the fair presentation of
a first-time adopter’s financial statements and its ability to assert compliance
with accrual basis IPSASs (Appendix A lists the transitional exemptions
and provisions that a first-time adopter is required to apply and/or can elect
to apply on adoption of accrual basis IPSASs and illustrates whether fair
presentation and the first-time adopter’s ability to assert compliance with
accrual basis IPSASs will be affected).

As a first-time adopter is not able to make an explicit and unreserved
statement of compliance with accrual basis IPSASs following the adoption
of the exemptions provided in IPSAS 33, the financial statements presented
for the first reporting period following the adoption of accrual basis IPSASs,
will be referred to as the “transitional IPSAS financial statements”.
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For example, if the first-time adopter adopts the transitional exemption
that provides relief for the recognition of certain items of property,
plant and equipment when adopting accrual basis IPSASs on January 1,
20X1, it would not be able to make an explicit and unreserved statement
of compliance with accrual basis IPSASs at the end of its first reporting
period, i.e. December 31, 20X1. The financial statements prepared for the
first reporting period, will therefore be referred to as the “first transitional
IPSAS financial statements”.

The financial statements presented during the period of transition until
the exemptions that provided the relief have expired, and/or when the
relevant items are recognized and/or measured in the financial statements in
accordance with the applicable IPSASs, will be referred to as the “transitional
IPSAS financial statements”.

Basis of Preparation When Preparing Transitional IPSAS Financial Statements

IG9.

IG10.

As stated in paragraph 27 of IPSAS 33, a first-time adopter that elects to
adopt one or more of the exemptions included in IPSAS 33, may not be able
to make an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with accrual
basis IPSASs as required by IPSAS 1. During the period of transition, this
fact shall be highlighted to the users of financial statements in presenting the
“basis of preparation” in the financial statements.

As an illustration, if a first-time adopter elected to adopt the transitional
exemption that allows it three years in which to recognize and/or measure
investment property, the following explanation may be provided in the “basis
of preparation” paragraph in the financial statements during the period of
transition:

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accrual
basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs). IPSAS 33
allows a first-time adopter a period of up to three years to recognize and/or
measure certain assets and/or liabilities.

In its transition to accrual basis IPSASs, Public Sector Entity X took
advantage of this transitional exemption for investment property. As a result,
it is unable to make and explicit an unreserved statement of compliance with
accrual basis IPSASs in preparing its transitional IPSAS financial statements
for this reporting period. Public Sector Entity X intends to recognize and/or
measure its investment property by 20X3.
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First IPSAS Financial Statements

IG11.

1G12.

1G13.

1G14.

A first-time adopter’s first IPSAS financial statements will be the first set
of financial statements that it presents in which it makes an explicit and
unreserved statement of compliance with accrual basis [IPSAS:s.

A first-time adopter will not be able to prepare its first IPSAS financial
statements until the exemptions in IPSAS 33 that provided relief which
affected fair presentation and compliance with IPSAS, have expired, or when
the relevant items are recognized, measured and/or the relevant information
has been presented and/or disclosed in accordance with the applicable
IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

Following from the example in IG5, the transitional exemptions that provided
the relief for the recognition of certain items of property, plant and equipment
expire after three years, i.e. December 31, 20X3. If it is assumed that the
entity has not adopted any other transitional exemptions in IPSAS 33 that
affect fair presentation and compliance with IPSASs, and that it recognizes
and/or measures the items of property, plant and equipment during the
transitional period, a first-time adopter will present its first IPSAS financial
statements for the period ending December 31, 20X3.

If a first-time adopter has not adopted any of the exemptions in IPSAS 33
that affect fair presentation and its ability to claim compliance with accrual
basis IPSASs, its first accrual financial statements will also be its first IPSAS
financial statements.

To illustrate:

Timeline — First Time Adoption IPSAS (assuming that entity elects
to apply the three year transitional relief for the recognition and/or
measurement of certain assets)

An entity adopts accrual basis IPSASs on 1 January 20X0 by applying
IPSAS 33, First Time Adoption of Accrual Basis IPSASs

The first-time adopter elects to apply the three year relief for the recognition
of property, plant and equipment. Assume that it does not adopt of any other
relief periods. It also elects not to present comparative information.

The first-time adopter recognizes all property, plant and equipment by 31
December 20X2.
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Estimates

IG15.

1G16.

Paragraph 23 of IPSAS 33 requires that a first-time adopter’s estimates in
accordance with IPSASs at the date of adoption of IPSASs shall be consistent
with estimates made at the end of its comparative period in accordance with
the previous basis of accounting (after adjustments to reflect any difference
in accounting policies), unless there is objective evidence that those
estimates were in error. An entity may receive information after the date
of adoption of IPSASs about estimates that it had made under the previous
basis of accounting. In accordance with paragraph 24, a first-time adopter
shall treat the receipt of that information in the same way as non-adjusting
events after the reporting period in accordance with IPSAS 14, Events after
the Reporting Period.

For example, assume that a first-time adopter’s date of adoption of IPSASs
is January 1, 20X4 and new information on July 15, 20X4 requires the
revision of an estimate made in accordance with the previous basis of
accounting at December 31, 20X3. The first-time adopter shall not reflect
that new information in its opening statement of financial position (unless
the estimates require adjustment for any differences in accounting policies
or there is objective evidence that the estimates were in error). Instead, the
first-time adopter shall reflect that new information in surplus or deficit for
the year ended December 31, 20X4.

Transitional Exemptions that Provide Three Year Relief for the Recognition
and/or Measurement of Assets and/or Liabilities

1G17.

IG18.

IPSAS 33 provides a first-time adopter a period of up to three years’ relief
in which it is allowed to not recognize and/or measure certain assets and
liabilities. Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of this exemption, it
will have to consider and analyze title deeds, contracts and other similar
arrangements in accounting for, and classifying these assets in accordance
with the applicable IPSAS.

For example, assume that a first-time adopter controls a wide range of
property, plant and equipment when it adopts accrual basis IPSASs on
January 1, 20X1. If the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption
that provides a three year transitional relief period to not recognize and/
or measure the property, plant and equipment, it may recognize and/or
measure the property, plant and equipment during the period of transition
from January 1, 20X1 until December 31, 20X3. If the property, plant and
equipment is recognized for example, on April 1,20X2, the first-time adopter
shall adjust the opening accumulated surplus or deficit on January 1, 20X2.
As required by paragraph 142 of IPSAS 33, the first-time adopter shall, as
part of the notes to the financial statements, provide a reconciliation to the
accumulated surplus or deficit as at December 31, 20X1 (i.e. the opening
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balance as at January 1, 20X2) for the property, plant and equipment that was
recognized on April 1, 20X2.

Where a first-time adopter has taken advantage of the three year relief
period, it shall not derecognise any of the assets and/or liabilities that were
recognized under its previous basis of accounting unless it is to comply
with an IPSAS requirement. Any adjustments to the assets and/or liabilities
recognized under its previous basis of accounting shall be adjusted during
the period of transition against the opening accumulated surplus of deficit in
the period in which the adjustment is made.

Accounting for Finance Leases Assets and Finance Lease Liabilities

1G20.

IG21.

Where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption that provides a
three year transitional relief period to not recognize its finance lease assets,
it will also not be able to comply with the recognition requirements relating
to the finance lease liabilities, until the transitional exemptions related to the
finance leased assets have expired, or the finance leased assets have been
recognized in accordance with IPSAS 13.

For example, assume that a first-time has a motor vehicle that is subject to a
finance lease agreement on the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs on
January 1, 20X1. The first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption
that provides a three year transitional relief period to not recognize the
motor vehicle. The motor vehicle is recognized on December 31, 20X3 when
the exemption expires. IPSAS 33 requires the first-time adopter to only
recognize the corresponding finance lease liability for the motor vehicle on
December 31, 20X3, i.e. on the date that the finance lease asset (the motor
vehicle) is recognized.

Recognition of Provisions Included in the Initial Cost of an Item of Property, Plant
and Equipment

1G22.

1G23.

IPSAS 17 recognizes that in some cases, the construction or commissioning
of an item of property, plant and equipment will result in an obligation for
an entity to dismantle or remove the item of property, plant and equipment
and restore the site on which the asset is located. An entity is required to
apply IPSAS 19, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
in recognising and measuring the resulting provision to be included in the
initial cost of the item of property, plant and equipment.

IPSAS 33 provides an exemption for the recognition of this liability. A first-
time adopter is allowed to not recognize and/or measure the liability relating
to the initial estimate of costs of dismantling and removing the item and
restoring the site on which it is located, until such time as the exemption for
IPSAS 17 expires and/or the relevant asset is recognized and/or measured
and relevant information has been presented and/or disclosed in the financial
statements in accordance with IPSAS 17 (whichever is earlier).
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For example, an entity adopts accrual basis IPSASs on January 1, 20X1
and takes advantage of the exemption in IPSAS 33 that provides a three
year transitional relief period to not recognize a government owned nuclear
power station. The first-time adopter determines a deemed cost for the asset
on June 30, 20X3 and recognizes the asset on that date at CU1,000,000. The
first-time adopter determines that it has a decommissioning obligation under
IPSAS 19 of CU500,000 at the date of adoption of IPSASs. The obligation
amounts to CU550,000 on June 30, 20X3 when the asset is recognized.

IPSAS 33 requires the first-time adopter to only recognize and/or measure
its obligation relating to the dismantling and restoring of the site on June
30, 20X3, i.e. the date on which the asset is recognized. The liability will
be measured at CU550,000 which reflects the first-time adopter’s obligation
on the date that the asset is recognized. The first-time adopter shall, as
part of the notes to the financial statements, provide a reconciliation to the
accumulated surplus or deficit as at December 31, 20X2 (i.e. the opening
balance as at January 1, 20X3) for the recognition of the obligation and the
related asset that was recognized on June 30, 20X2.

Borrowing Costs Incurred on Qualifying Assets

1G26.

1G27.

1G28.

Paragraph 90 of IPSAS 33 requires that, where a first-time adopter elects
to account for borrowing costs in accordance with the allowed alternative
treatment, it is required to apply the requirements in IPSAS 5, Borrowing
Costs retrospectively, for any borrowing costs incurred on qualifying assets
before the date for adoption of IPSASs.

Paragraph 44 of IPSAS 33 provides an exemption to this requirement by
allowing a first-time adopter to commence capitalization of borrowings
costs incurred on qualifying assets after the recognition of an asset where
the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption that provides a three
year transitional relief period for the recognition of assets.

For example, a first-time adopter adopts the allowed alternative treatment in
accounting for borrowing costs incurred on qualifying assets. The date of
adoption of IPSASs is January 1, 20X1. The first-time adopter determines
that the borrowing cost incurred prior to the adoption of IPSASs on January
1, 20X1 amounts to CU500,000 and that borrowing costs incurred at the end
following two reporting periods amounted to CU20,000 and CU30,000. In
addition, the first-time adopter adopts the exemption that provides three year
transitional relief from the recognition of property, plant and equipment and
as a result, recognizes the item of property, plant and equipment at the end
of the second reporting period at CU1,000,000.

At the end of 20X2, the item of property, plant and equipment recognized
on the statement of financial position will be CU1,030,000 (CU1,000,000 +
CU30,000). Borrowing costs incurred prior to the recognition of the item of
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property, plant and equipment, i.e. CU500,000 and CU20,000 shall not be
included as part of the cost of the qualifying asset.

Presenting Comparative Information

1G29.

Paragraph 78 of IPSAS 33 encourages, but does not require an entity
to present comparative information in its transitional IPSAS financial
statements or its first IPSAS financial statements in accordance with this
IPSAS. The decision to present comparative information affects not only the
extent of the information presented, but also the date of adoption of IPSASs.

Date of Adoption of IPSASs

1G30.

To illustrate: The end of a first-time adopter’s first accrual basis reporting
period is December 31, 20X5. The first-time adopter decides to present
comparative information in those financial statements for one year only (see
paragraph 78 of IPSAS 33). Therefore, its date of adoption of IPSASs is the
beginning of the comparative period i.e. January 1, 20X4 (or equivalently
December 31, 20X3).

Information Presented when a First-Time Adopter Elects to Prepare Comparative
Information

IG31.

Where the first-time adopter elects to prepare comparative information, it is
required to apply the accrual basis IPSASs effective for periods ending on
December 31, 20X5 in:

(@  Preparing and presenting its opening accrual basis statement of
financial position at January 1, 20X4; and

(b)  Preparing and presenting its:

) Statement of financial position for December 31, 20X5
(including comparative amounts for 20X4);

(i)  Statement of financial performance (including comparative
amounts for 20X4);

(i)  Statement of changes in net assets/equity for December 31,
20XS5 (including comparative amounts for 20X4);

(iv)  Statement of cash flows for the year to December 31, 20X5
(including comparative amounts for 20X4);

(v)  Disclosures (including comparative information for 20X4);

(vi) A comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year to
December 31, 20X5; and

(vii) Reconciliations in accordance with paragraph 142.
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First-Time Adopter Elects to Not Prepare Comparative Information

1G32.

Where a first-time adopter elects to not prepare comparative information,
it is required to apply the accrual basis effective for periods ending on
December 31, 20X5:

(@  Preparing and presenting its opening accrual basis statement of
financial position at 1 January 20X5; and

(b)  Preparing and presenting its:
1 Statement of financial position for December 31, 20X5;
(i)  Statement of financial performance for December 31, 20X5;

(i)  Statement of changes in net assets/equity for December 31,
20X5;

(iv)  Statement of cash flows for the year to December 31, 20X5;
(v)  Disclosures;

(vi) A comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year to
December 31, 20X5; and

(vii) Reconciliations in accordance with paragraph 142.

Adoption of Three Year Transitional Relief Period

1G33.

1G34.

Where the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemptions that provide
relief from the recognition and/or measurement of assets and/or liabilities,
IPSAS 33 requires it to only adjust comparative information for reporting
periods following the date of adoption of IPSASs to the extent that reliable
and relevant information is available about the items that have been
recognized and/or measured.

To illustrate: The end of a first-time adopter’s first accrual basis reporting
period is December 31, 20X2. The first-time adopter on the date of adoption
of IPSASs on January 1, 20X1, adopts the transitional exemption providing
a three year relief period for the recognition of investment property. At the
end of 20X3 the first-time adopter has recognized the investment property,
which is included in the statement of financial position as at December 31,
20X3. Only if reliable and relevant information if available about the value
of the investment property recognized during 20X3, will the first-time
adopter adjust the comparative information presented (i.e., for the period
ending December 31, 20X2).

Presenting Reconciliations

IG35.

Paragraph 142 of IPSAS 33 requires a first-time adopter to present a
reconciliation of its closing balances reported under its previous basis
of accounting, to its net assets/equity in accordance with IPSASs for
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the transitional IPSAS financial statements or its first IPSAS financial
statements. A reconciliation is presented of its surplus or deficit in
accordance with its previous basis of accounting to its opening balance of
surplus or deficit at the date of adoption of IPSASs.

For example, a first-time adopter, which previously applied a modified-
accrual basis of accounting, adopts accrual basis IPSASs on January 1,
20X4 and elects to present comparative information as permitted in IPSAS
33. The first-time adopter shall, in accordance with paragraphs 142 and
143 of IPSAS 33, present a reconciliation in the notes to its transitional
IPSAS financial statements that provides sufficient detail to enable users to
understand the material adjustments to the opening statement of financial
position as at January 1, 20X4, and the restated comparative statement of
financial performance, where applicable.

Paragraph 146 further requires a first-time adopter that takes advantage
of the exemptions that provide a three year transitional relief period to not
recognize and/or measure items, to present a reconciliation of items that
have been recognized and/or measured during the reporting period which
were not recognized and/or measured in the previous financial statements.

Following from the example in 1G29, a first-time adopter adopts the
exemption in IPSAS 33 that allows it to not recognize investment property
for a period of three years. The first-time adopter applies this exemption
and only recognizes the investment property at the end of year three, i.e.
December 31, 20X4. As an adjustment is made to the opening balance of
accumulated surplus or deficit as on January 1, 20X4 in recognizing the
investment property, paragraph 146 requires the first-time adopter to present
a reconciliation in its notes to the financial statements for the year ending
December 31, 20X4 to allow users to understand the adjustment that was
made following the recognition of the investment property.

Deemed Cost

IG39.

IPSAS 33 allows afirst-time adopter to determine a deemed cost as a substitute
for acquisition cost or depreciated cost at the date of adoption of IPSAS:s,
where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption that provides a
three year transitional relief period to not recognize and/or measure certain
assets and/or liabilities. A deemed cost may however only be determined if
no cost information is available about the historical cost of the asset and/or
liability. When a first-time adopter initially measures these assets on the date
of adoption of IPSASs, or when the transitional exemptions that provided
the first-time adopter with a three year relief period to not recognize and/or
measure certain assets have expired, it recognizes the effect:
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(@  As an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated surplus or
deficit in the opening statement of financial position in the period in
which the deemed is determined; or

(b) In the revaluation surplus if the first-time adopter adopts the
revaluation model in IPSAS 17 or in IPSAS 31, Intangible Assets.

To illustrate:

Public Sector Entity X adopted accrual basis IPSAS on January 1, 20X4 and
applied deemed cost to measure investment property. In applying deemed
cost, investment property was valued at CU 1,800,000 on the date of adoption.
Public Sector Entity X elected to not present comparative information.

Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity for the Year ended December

31, 20X4
Attributable to owners of the |Total net
controlling entity assets/equity
Other
Accumulated Reserves
surplus/deficit
CU CU CU
Opening balance as at 210,000 10,000 220,000
January 1, 20X4
Measurement of investment 1,500,000 1,500,000
property at deemed cost in
accordance with IPSAS 33
(see note 34)
Restated opening balance as 1,710,000 10,000 1,720,000
at January 1, 20X4
Surplus for the period 5,000 5,000
Balance as at 1,715,000 10,000 1,725,000

December 31, 20X4
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Notes to the financial statements of Public Sector Entity X as at
December 31, 20X4:

Note 34 — Investment Property

December 31, 20X4
cU

Opening balance of investment 300,000
property recognized under previous
basis of accounting

Investment property measured at 1,500,000
deemed cost as provided in IPSAS 33
on January 1, 20X4

Restated opening balance of 1,800,000
investment property at January 1,
20X4

Additions

Transitional exemptions adopted in IPSAS 33 on adoption of accrual
basis IPSASs

Public Sector Entity X adopted accrual basis IPSAS on January 1, 20X4
and applied deemed cost in measuring investment property as reliable
cost information about some investment properties was not available. As
a result, Public Sector Entity X restated its opening balance of investment
property with an additional value of CU1,500,000 on January 1, 20X4.

Note 54 — Reconciliation of net assets/equity and surplus or deficit on
January 1, 20X4

Reconciliation of net assets/equity as on January 1, 20X4

Net assets/equity as on
January 1, 20X4
CU

Opening balance of net assets/equity 220,000
as on January 1, 20X4 reported under
previous basis of accounting
Recognition of investment property at 1,500,000
deemed cost (see note 34)
Restated opening balance of net 1,720,000
assets/equity as on January 1, 20X4
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Reconciliation of surplus or deficit on January 1, 20X4

Surplus or deficit on
January 1, 20X4

CU
Surplus or deficit as at 31, December 210,000
20X3 as reported under previous basis of
accounting
Recognition of investment property at 1,500,000
deemed cost (see note 34)
Restated surplus or deficit as on 1,710,000
January 1, 20X4

Determining a Deemed Cost During the Period of Transition

1G40.

1G41.

1G42.

If a first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption in IPSAS 33 that
provides a three year transitional relief period to not recognize and/or
measure an asset, the IPSAS requires that it may determine a deemed cost
for that asset during any point of time within the three year transitional relief
period.

Subsequent depreciation and amortization, if applicable, is based on that
deemed cost and starts from the date of adoption of IPSASs, or when the
transitional exemptions that provided the relief have expired, or when
the relevant items are recognized and/or measured in accordance with the
applicable IPSASs (whichever is earlier).

For example, a first-time adopter adopts IPSASs on January 1, 20X1 and
adopts the exemption that provides a three year transitional relief period for
the recognition of an investment property. Because the first-time adopter does
not have reliable cost information about the historical cost of the investment
property on the date of adoption of IPSASs it decides to determine a deemed
cost for the investment property. The deemed cost for the investment
property is determined during the second reporting period (i.e. 20X2) in
which the first-time adopter applies the exemption. IPSAS 33 allows the first-
time adopter to use the deemed cost determined during 20X2 in recognizing
the investment property by adjusting the opening accumulated surplus and
deficit on January 1, 20X2. The deemed cost as determined on January 1,
20X2 will be used in determining subsequent depreciation and in assessing
impairment where the first-time adopter elects to apply the cost model as its
subsequent measurement basis in applying IPSAS 16.
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IPSAS 5, Borrowing Costs

1G43.

1G44.

An entity adopts the accrual basis IPSASs on January 1, 20X3 and adopts
the allowed alternative treatment in accounting for borrowing costs.
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset amounts
to CU525,000, of which CU500,000 was incurred prior to the adoption of
accrual basis IPSASs, while CU25,000 was incurred in the first reporting
period ending December 31, 20X3. Paragraph 90 of IPSAS 33 requires the
first-time adopter to retrospectively recognize any borrowing costs incurred
prior to the adoption of accrual basis IPSASs when it adopts the allowed
alternative method. Therefore, CU500,000 shall be capitalized to the cost
of the asset recognized in the opening statement of financial position as at
January 1, 20X3.

If the entity has elected to apply the benchmark treatment, paragraph 88 of
IPSAS 33 encourages, but does not require, the first-time adopter to apply
the accounting policy retrospectively. If the first-time adopter elects to apply
its accounting policy prospectively, it will only expense CU25,000 in the
statement of financial performance for the period ending December 31,
20X3.

IPSAS 9, Revenue from Exchange Transactions

1G45.

If a first-time adopter has received amounts that do not yet qualify for
recognition as revenue in accordance with IPSAS 9 (for example, the
proceeds of a sale that does not qualify for recognition as revenue), the first-
time adopter recognizes the amounts received as a liability in its opening
statement of financial position and measures that liability at the amount
received. It shall derecognize the liability and recognize the revenue in its
statement of financial performance when the recognition criteria in IPSAS 9
are met.

IPSAS 10, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

1G46.

1G47.

A first-time adopter complies with IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates in determining its functional currency and
presentation currency. When the first-time adopter prepares its opening
statement of financial position, it applies IPSAS 10, Hyperinflationary
Economies, to any periods during which the economy of the functional
currency or presentation currency was hyperinflationary.

If the first-time adopter elects to use the exemptions in paragraphs 64 to
76 of IPSAS 33, it applies IPSAS 10 to periods after the date for which the
revalued amount or fair value was determined.
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IPSAS 14, Events After the Reporting Date

1G48.

1G49.

Except as described in paragraph 1G49, a first-time adopter applies
IPSAS 14, Events After the Reporting Date in determining whether:

(@) Its opening statement of financial position reflects an event that
occurred after the date of transition; and

(b)  Comparative amounts in its transitional IPSAS financial statements
or its first IPSAS financial statements, where applicable, reflect an
event that occurred after the end of that comparative period.

Paragraphs 23-26 of IPSAS 33 require some modifications to the principles
in IPSAS 14 when a first-time adopter determines whether changes in
estimates are adjusting or non-adjusting events at the date of adoption of
IPSASSs (or, when applicable, the end of the comparative period). Cases 1 and
2 below illustrate those modifications. In case 3 below, paragraphs 23-26 of
IPSAS 33 do not require modifications to the principles in IPSAS 14.

(a)  Case 1—If a first-time adopter’s previous basis of accounting required
estimates of similar items for the date of adoption of IPSASs, using
an accounting policy that is consistent with IPSASs. In this case,
the estimates in accordance with IPSASs need to be consistent with
estimates made for that date in accordance with previous basis of
accounting, unless there is objective evidence that those estimates were
in error (see IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors). The first-time adopter reports later revisions to
those estimates as events of the period in which it makes the revisions,
rather than as adjusting events resulting from the receipt of further
evidence about conditions that existed at the date of adoption of
IPSASs.

(b)  Case 2—Previous basis of accounting required estimates of similar
items for the date of adoption of IPSASs, but the first-time adopter
made those estimates using accounting policies that are not consistent
with its accounting policies in accordance with IPSASs. In this case,
the estimates in accordance with IPSASs need to be consistent with the
estimates required in accordance with the previous basis of accounting
for that date (unless there is objective evidence that those estimates
were in error), after adjusting for the difference in accounting policies.
The opening statement of financial position reflects those adjustments
for the difference in accounting policies. As in case 1, the first-time
adopter reports later revisions to those estimates as events of the
period in which it makes the revisions.

For example, the previous basis of accounting may have required
a first-time adopter to recognize and measure provisions on a basis
consistent with IPSAS 19, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
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Contingent Assets, except that the previous basis of accounting’s
measurement was on an undiscounted basis. In this example, the first-
time adopter uses the estimates in accordance with its previous basis of
accounting as inputs in making the discounted measurement required
by IPSAS 19.

(c)  Case 3—Previous basis of accounting did not require estimates
of similar items for the date of adoption of IPSASs. Estimates in
accordance with IPSASs for that date reflect conditions existing
at that date. In particular, estimates of market prices, interest rates
or foreign exchange rates at the date of adoption of IPSASs reflect
market conditions at that date. This is consistent with the distinction
in IPSAS 14 between adjusting events after the reporting period and
non-adjusting events after the reporting period.

To illustrate: Entity A’s first transitional IPSAS financial statements
are for the period ending December 31, 20X5 with the first-time adopter
electing to present comparative information. In terms of its previous basis
of accounting the following transactions and events are noted in entity A’s
financial statements for December 31, 20X3 and 20X4:

(@)  Estimates of accrued expenses and provisions were made at those
dates;

(b)  The entity accounted on a cash basis for a defined benefit pension
plan; and

(¢c)  No provision was recognized for a court case arising from events that
occurred in September 20X4. When the court case was concluded on
June 30, 20XS5, entity A was required to pay CU1000 and paid this on
July 10, 20X5.

In preparing its transitional IPSAS financial statements, entity A concludes
that its estimates in accordance with its previous basis of accounting of
accrued expenses and provisions at December 31, 20X3 and 20X4 were made
on a basis consistent with its accounting policies in accordance with IPSASs.
Although some of the accruals and provisions turned out to be overestimates
and others to be underestimates, entity A concludes that its estimates were
reasonable and that, therefore, no error had occurred. As a result, accounting
for those overestimates and underestimates involves the routine adjustment
of estimates in accordance with IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors.
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Application of Requirements

In preparing its opening statement of financial position at January 1, 20X4 and in its
comparative statement of financial position at December 31, 20X4, entity A:

(a) Does not adjust the previous estimates for accrued expenses and provisions;
and
(b) Makes estimates (in the form of actuarial assumptions) necessary to account

for the pension plan in accordance with IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits. Entity
A’s actuarial assumptions at January 1, 20X4 and December 31, 20X4 do not
reflect conditions that arose after those dates. For example, entity A’s:

(1)  Discount rates at January 1, 20X4 and December 31, 20X4 for the
pension plan and for provisions reflect market conditions at those
dates; and

(1)  Actuarial assumptions at January 1, 20X4 and December 31, 20X4
about future employee turnover rates do not reflect conditions that
arose after those dates—such as a significant increase in estimated
employee turnover rates as a result of a curtailment of the pension
plan in 20X5.

The treatment of the court case at December 31, 20X4 depends on the reason why
entity A did not recognize a provision in accordance with its previous basis of
accounting at that date.

Assumption 1 — The previous basis of accounting was consistent with IPSAS 19,
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. Entity A concluded that the
recognition criteria were not met. In this case, entity A’s assumptions in accordance
with IPSASs are consistent with its assumptions in accordance with its previous basis
of accounting. Therefore, entity A does not recognize a provision at December 31,
20X4.

Assumption 2 — Entity A’s previous basis of accounting was not consistent with
IPSAS 19. Therefore, entity A develops estimates in accordance with IPSAS 19.
Under IPSAS 19, an entity determines whether an obligation exists at the end of the
reporting period by taking account of all available evidence, including any additional
evidence provided by events after the reporting period. Similarly, in accordance with
IPSAS 14, Events after the Reporting Period, the resolution of a court case after the
reporting period is an adjusting event after the reporting period if it confirms that
the entity had a present obligation at that date. In this instance, the resolution of the
court case confirms that entity A had a liability in September 20X4 (when the events
occurred that gave rise to the court case). Therefore, entity A recognizes a provision
at December 31, 20X4. Entity A measures that provision by discounting the CU1 000
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paid on July 10, 20XS5 to its present value, using a discount rate that complies with
IPSAS 19 and reflects market conditions at December 31, 20X4.

IGS1.

Paragraphs 23-26 of the IPSAS 33 do not override requirements in other
IPSASs that base classifications or measurements on circumstances existing
at a particular date. Examples include:

(@  The distinction between finance leases and operating leases (see
IPSAS 13, Leases); and

(b)  The distinction between financial liabilities and equity instruments
(see IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments: Presentation).

IPSAS 13, Leases

1G52.

In accordance with paragraph 95 of IPSAS 33 and paragraph 18 of IPSAS
13, a lessee or lessor classifies leases as operating leases or finance leases on
the basis of circumstances existing at the inception of the lease, on the date
of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs. In some cases, the lessee and the lessor
may agree to change the provisions of the lease, other than by renewing
the lease, in a manner that would have resulted in a different classification
in accordance with IPSAS 13 had the changed terms been in effect at the
inception of the lease. If so, the revised agreement is considered as a new
agreement over its term from the date of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs.
However, changes in estimates (for example, changes in estimates of the
economic life or of the residual value of the leased property) or changes in
circumstances (for example, default by the lessee) do not give rise to a new
classification of a lease.

IPSAS 17, Property, Plant and Equipment

IGS53.

If a first-time adopter’s depreciation methods and rates in accordance with
its previous basis of accounting are acceptable in accordance with IPSASs,
it accounts for any change in estimated useful life or depreciation pattern
prospectively from when it makes that change in estimate (paragraphs 22
and 26 of IPSAS 33 and paragraph 76 of IPSAS 17. However, in some cases,
a first-time adopter’s depreciation methods and rates in accordance with its
previous basis of accounting may differ from those that would be acceptable
in accordance with IPSASs (for example, if they do not reflect a reasonable
estimate of the asset’s useful life). If those differences have a material effect
on the financial statements, the entity adjusts accumulated depreciation in
its opening statement of financial position retrospectively so that it complies
with IPSASs.
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A first-time adopter may elect to use one of the following amounts as the
deemed cost of property, plant and equipment:

(@)  Fair value at the date of adoption of IPSASs (paragraph 67 of
IPSAS 33), in which case the first-time adopter provides the disclo-
sures required by paragraph 148 of IPSAS 33; or

(b)  Arevaluation in accordance with its previous basis of accounting that
meets the criteria in paragraph 67 of IPSAS 33.

Subsequent depreciation is based on that deemed cost and starts from the
date for which the first-time adopter determined the deemed cost, or where
the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption that provides a
three year transitional relief period to not recognize certain assets, when
the exemptions providing the relief have expired, or the asset has been
recognized in accordance with IPSAS 17 (whichever is earlier).

If a first-time adopter chooses as its accounting policy the revaluation
model in IPSAS 17 for some or all classes of property, plant and equipment,
it presents the cumulative revaluation surplus as a separate component of
net assets/equity. The revaluation surplus at the date of adoption of IPSASs
is based on a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset at that date
with its cost or deemed cost. If the deemed cost is the fair value at the date
of adoption of IPSASs or where the first-time adopter takes advantage of
the exemption that provides a three year transitional relief period to not
recognize and/or measure certain assets, when the exemptions providing
the relief have expired, or the asset has been recognized and/or measured
in accordance with IPSAS 17 (whichever is earlier), the first-time adopter
provides the disclosures required by paragraph 148 of IPSAS 33.

If revaluations in accordance with the first-time adopter’s previous basis of
accounting did not satisfy the criteria in paragraphs 67 or 69 of IPSAS 33,
the first-time adopter measures the revalued assets in its opening statement
of financial position on one of the following bases:

(@  Cost (or deemed cost) less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses under the cost model in IPSAS 17;

(b) Deemed cost, being the fair value or an alternative when market-
based evidence of fair value is not available, at the date of adop-
tion of IPSASs, or where a first-time adopter takes advantage of the
exemption that provides a three year transitional relief period to not
recognize and/or measure certain assets, the date at which the asset is
recognized and/or measured during the period of transition, or when
the transitional exemptions expire (whichever is earlier); or

(©) A revalued amount, if the entity adopts the revaluation model in
IPSAS 17 as its accounting policy in accordance with IPSASs for all
items of property, plant and equipment in the same class.
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IPSAS 17 requires each part of an item of property, plant and equipment
with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item to be
depreciated separately. However, IPSAS 17 does not prescribe the unit of
measurement for recognition of an asset, i.e. what constitutes an item of
property, plant and equipment. Thus, judgment is required in applying
the recognition criteria to an entity’s specific circumstances (paragraphs 18
and 59).

IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits

IG59.

1G60.

IG61.

At the date of adoption of IPSASs, a first-time adopter applies IPSAS 39 in
measuring defined benefits plans and other long-term employee benefits, and
recognizes all cumulative actuarial gains or losses from the inception of the
plan until the date of adoption of IPSASs, or where the first-time adopter
takes advantage of the exemption that provides a three year transitional
relief period from the recognition of defined benefit plans and other long-
term employee benefits, the date on which the exemptions expire or when the
defined benefits plans and other long-term employee benefits are recognized
and/or measured in accordance with IPSAS 39 (whichever is earlier).

A first-time adopter’s actuarial assumptions at the date of adoption of
IPSASs, or where the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemptions
that provide relief from the recognition of defined benefit plans and other
long-term employee benefits, the date on which the exemptions expire or
when the defined benefits plans and other long-term employee benefits are
recognized and/or measured in accordance with IPSAS 39 (whichever is
earlier), are consistent with actuarial assumptions made at the end of its
comparative period (if the first-time adopter elects to present comparative
information in accordance with paragraph 78 of IPSAS 33) in accordance
with its previous basis of accounting (after adjustments to reflect any
difference in accounting policies), unless there is objective evidence that
those assumptions were in error (paragraph 23 of the IPSAS 33). Any later
revisions to those assumptions are an actuarial gain or loss of the period in
which the first-time adopter makes the revisions.

A first-time adopter may need to make actuarial assumptions at the date of
adoption of IPSASs, or where the first-time adopter takes advantage of the
exemptions that provide relief from the recognition of defined benefit plans
and other long-term employee benefits, the date on which the exemptions
expire or when the defined benefits plans and other long-term employee
benefits are recognized and/or measured in accordance with IPSAS 39
(whichever is earlier), that were not necessary in accordance with its basis
of accounting. Such actuarial assumptions do not reflect conditions that
arose after the date of adoption of IPSASs, or where the first-time adopter
takes advantage of the exemptions that provide relief from the recognition
of defined benefit plans and other long-term employee benefits, the date
on which the exemptions expire or when the defined benefits plans and

IPSAS 33 IMPLEMENTATION GUIDANCE 1592



1G62.

FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF ACCRUAL BASIS IPSASS

other long-term employee benefits are recognized and/or measured in
accordance with IPSAS 39 (whichever is earlier). In particular, discount
rates and the fair value of plan assets at the date of adoption of IPSASs,
or where the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemptions that
provide relief from the recognition of defined benefit plans and other long-
term employee benefits, the date on which the exemptions expire or when
the liabilities are recognized and/or measured in accordance with IPSAS
39 (whichever is earlier), reflect market conditions at that date. Similarly,
the first-time adopter’s actuarial assumptions at the date of adoption of
IPSASs, or where the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemptions
that provide relief from the recognition of defined benefit plans and other
long-term employee benefits, the date on which the exemptions expire or
when the defined benefits plans and other long-term employee benefits are
recognized and/or measured in accordance with IPSAS 39 (whichever is
earlier), about future employee turnover rates do not reflect a significant
increase in estimated employee turnover rates as a result of a curtailment
of the pension plan that occurred after the date of adoption of IPSASs,
or where the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemptions that
provide relief from the recognition of defined benefit plans and other
long-term employee benefits, the date on which the exemptions expire or
when the defined benefits plans and other long-term employee benefits are
recognized and/or measured in accordance with IPSAS 39 (whichever is
earlier) (paragraph 23 of IPSAS 33).

In many cases, a first-time adopter’s transitional IPSAS financial statements
orits first IPSAS financial statements will reflect measurements of employee
benefit obligations at three dates (where a first-time adopter elects to present
comparative information in accordance with paragraph 78 of IPSAS 33): the
end of the first reporting period, the date of the comparative statement of
financial position (where the first-time adopter elects to present comparative
information) and the date of adoption of IPSASs, or where the first-time
adopter takes advantages of the exemptions that provide relief from the
recognition of defined benefit plans and other long-term employee benefits,
the date on which the exemptions expire or when the defined benefits plans
and other long-term employee benefits are recognized and/or measured in
accordance with IPSAS 39 (whichever is earlier). IPSAS 39 encourages
the first-time adopter to involve a qualified actuary in the measurement
of all material post-employment benefit obligations. To minimize costs, a
first-time adopter may request a qualified actuary to carry out a detailed
actuarial valuation at one or two of these dates and roll the valuation(s)
forward or back to the other date(s). Any such roll forward or roll back
reflects any material transactions and other material events (including
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changes in market prices and interest rates) between those dates (paragraph
68 of IPSAS 25).

IPSAS 21, Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets and IPSAS 26,
Impairment of Cash-Generating Assets

1G63.

1G64.

1G65.

Paragraph 98 and 108 of IPSAS 33 requires a first-time adopter to apply
the requirements in IPSAS 21 and IPSAS 26 prospectively from the date
of adoption of accrual basis IPSASs, or where a first-time adopter takes
advantage of the exemptions that provide a three year transitional relief period
to not recognize and/or measure an asset, the date when the exemptions that
provided the relief expire and/or the asset is recognized and/or measured. For
example, if an entity adopts accrual basis IPSASs on January 1, 20X1 and
takes advantage of the three year transitional relief period to not recognize
and/or measure an item or property, plant and equipment, if would not be
required to assess the item of property, plant and equipment for impairment
until (a) December 31, 20X3 (i.e. the date on which the transitional exemption
expire) or (b) the date following the recognition of the item of property, plant
and equipment if it was recognized and/or measured during the period of
transition (whichever is earlier).

The estimates used to determine whether a first-time adopter recognizes
an impairment loss (and to measure any such impairment loss) at the date
of adoption of IPSASs, or where the first-time adopter takes advantage of
the exemption that provides relief from the recognition of assets, the date
on which the exemptions expire or when the assets are recognized and/or
measured in accordance with the applicable IPSAS (whichever is earlier)
are consistent with estimates made for at the end of its comparative period
(if the first-time adopter eclects to present comparative information in
accordance with paragraph 78 of IPSAS 33) the first-time adopter’s previous
basis of accounting (after adjustments to reflect any difference in accounting
policies), unless there is objective evidence that those estimates were in error
(paragraphs 23 and 24 of IPSAS 33). The first-time adopter reports any later
revisions to those estimates as an event of the period in which it makes the
revisions.

In assessing whether it needs to recognize an impairment loss (and in
measuring any such impairment loss) at the date of adoption of IPSASs, or
where the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption that provides
relief from the recognition of assets, the date on which the exemptions expire
or when the assets are recognized and/or measured in accordance with the
applicable IPSAS (whichever is earlier), the first-time adopter may need to
make estimates for that date that were not necessary in accordance with
its previous basis of accounting. Such estimates and assumptions do not
reflect conditions that arose after the date of transition, or where the first-
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time adopter takes advantage of the exemption that provides relief from the
recognition of assets, the date on which the exemptions expire or when the
assets are recognized and/or measured in accordance with the applicable
IPSAS (whichever is earlier) (paragraph 25 of IPSAS 33).

IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments: Presentation

1G66.

In its opening statement of financial position, a first-time adopter applies the
criteria in IPSAS 28 to classify financial instruments issued (or components
of compound instruments issued) as either financial liabilities or net asset/
equity instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangement when the instrument first satisfied the recognition criteria in
IPSAS 28 (paragraphs 13 and 35), without considering events after that date
(other than changes to the terms of the instruments).

IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

Recognition

1G67.

IG68.

A first-time adopter recognizes all financial assets and financial liabilities
(including all derivatives) that qualify for recognition in accordance with
IPSAS 29 and have not yet qualified for derecognition in accordance with
IPSAS 29, except non-derivative financial assets and non-derivative financial
liabilities derecognized in accordance with its previous basis of accounting
before the date of adoption of IPSASs, or where the first-time adopter takes
advantage of the exemption that provides relief from the recognition of
financial instruments, the date on which the exemptions expire or when the
financial instruments are recognized and/or measured in accordance with
the applicable IPSAS (whichever is earlier), to which the first-time adopter
does not choose to apply paragraph 116 of IPSAS 33 (see paragraphs 115 and
116 of IPSAS 33).

For example, a first-time adopter that does not apply paragraph 116 of
IPSAS 33 does not recognize assets transferred in a securitization, transfer
or other derecognition transaction that occurred before the date of adoption
of IPSASs if those transactions qualified for derecognition in accordance
with its previous basis of accounting. However, if the first-time adopter uses
the same securitization arrangement or other derecognition arrangement for
further transfers after the date of transition to IPSASs, or where the first-
time adopter takes advantage of the exemption that provides relief from the
recognition and/or measurement of financial instruments, the date on which
the exemptions expire or when the financial instruments are recognized
and/or measured in accordance with the applicable IPSAS (whichever is
earlier), those further transfers qualify for derecognition only if they meet
the derecognition criteria of IPSAS 29.
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Embedded Derivatives

1G69.

When IPSAS 29 requires a first-time adopter to separate an embedded
derivative from a host contract, the initial carrying amounts of the
components at the date when the instrument first satisfies the recognition
criteria in IPSAS 29 reflect circumstances at that date (IPSAS 29 paragraph
12). If the first-time adopter cannot determine the initial carrying amounts
of the embedded derivative and host contract reliably, it measures the entire
combined contract as at fair value through surplus or deficit (IPSAS 29
paragraph 14).

Measurement

1G70.

In preparing its opening statement of financial position, a first-time adopter
applies the criteria in IPSAS 29 to identify those financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value and those that are measured at
amortized cost.

Adjusting the Carrying Amount of Financial Instruments on the Date of Adoption of
Accrual Basis IPSASs or During the Period of Transition

IG71.

A first-time adopter shall treat an adjustment to the carrying amount of a
financial asset or financial liability as an adjustment to be recognized in the
opening balance of accumulated surplus or deficit at the date of adoption of
IPSASSs, or where the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption
that provides relief from the recognition and/or measurement of financial
instruments, the date on which the exemptions expire or when the financial
instruments are recognized and/or measured in accordance with the
applicable IPSAS (whichever is earlier), only to the extent that it results from
adopting IPSAS 29. Because all derivatives, other than those that are financial
guarantee contracts or are designated and effective hedging instruments, are
classified as held for trading, the differences between the previous carrying
amount (which may have been zero) and the fair value of the derivatives are
recognized as an adjustment of the balance of accumulated surplus or deficit
at the beginning of the financial year in which IPSAS 29 is initially applied, or
where the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption that provides
relief from the recognition and/or measurement of financial instruments,
the date on which the exemptions expire or when the financial instruments
are recognized and/or measured in accordance with the applicable IPSAS
(whichever is earlier).

Hedge Accounting

1G72.

Paragraphs 117 to 119 of IPSAS 33 deal with hedge accounting. The
designation and documentation of a hedge relationship must be completed
on or before the date of adoption of IPSASs, or where the first-time adopter
takes advantage of the exemption that provides relief from the recognition
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and/or measurement of financial instruments, the date on which the
exemptions expire or when the financial instruments are recognized and/
or measured in accordance with the applicable IPSAS (whichever is earlier)
if the hedge relationship is to qualify for hedge accounting from that date.
Hedge accounting can be applied prospectively only from the date that the
hedge relationship is fully designated and documented.

A first-time adopter may, in accordance with its previous basis of accounting,
have deferred or not recognized gains and losses on a fair value hedge of a
hedged item that is not measured at fair value. For such a fair value hedge, a
first-time adopter adjusts the carrying amount of the hedged item at the date
of adoption of IPSASs, or where the first-time adopter takes advantage of the
exemption that provides relief from the recognition of financial instruments,
the date on which the exemptions expire or when the financial instruments
are recognized and/or measured in accordance with the applicable IPSAS
(whichever is earlier). The adjustment is the lower of:

(@  That portion of the cumulative change in the fair value of the hedged
item that reflects the designated hedged risk and was not recognized
in accordance with its previous basis of accounting; and

(b)  That portion of the cumulative change in the fair value of the hedging
instrument that reflects the designated hedged risk and, in accordance
with its previous basis of accounting, was either (i) not recognized
or (i) deferred in the statement of financial position as an asset or
liability.

A first-time adopter may, in accordance with its previous basis of accounting,
have deferred gains and losses on a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction.
If, at the date of adoption of IPSAS, or where the first-time adopter takes
advantage of the exemption that provides relief from the recognition and/
or measurement of financial instruments, the date on which the exemptions
expire or when the financial instruments are recognized and/or measured in
accordance with the applicable IPSAS (whichever is earlier), the hedged
forecast transaction is not highly probable, but is expected to occur, the entire
deferred gain or loss is recognized in net assets/equity. Any net cumulative
gain or loss that has been reclassified to net assets/equity on initial application
of IPSAS 29 or where the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption
that provides relief from the recognition and/or measurement of financial
instruments, the date on which the exemptions expire or when the financial
instruments are recognized and/or measured in accordance with the applicable
IPSAS (whichever is earlier) remains in net assets/equity until (a) the forecast
transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or
non-financial liability, (b) the forecast transaction affects surplus or deficit
or (c) subsequently circumstances change and the forecast transaction is no
longer expected to occur, in which case any related net cumulative gain or
loss is reclassified from net assets/equity to surplus or deficit. If the hedging
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instrument is still held, but the hedge does not qualify as a cash flow hedge in
accordance with IPSAS 29, hedge accounting is no longer appropriate starting
from the date of adoption of IPSASs, or where the first-time adopter takes
advantage of the exemption that provides relief from the recognition and/
or measurement of financial instruments, the date on which the exemptions
expire or when the financial instruments are recognized and/or measured in
accordance with the applicable IPSAS (whichever is earlier).

IPSAS 31, Intangible Assets

IG75.

1G7e.

1G77.

A first-time adopter’s opening statement of financial position excludes all
intangible assets and other intangible items that do not meet the criteria for
recognition in accordance with IPSAS 31 at the date of adoption of IPSAS,
or where the first-time adopter takes advantage of the exemption that
provides relief from the recognition of intangible assets, the date on which
the exemptions expire and/or when the intangible assets are recognized and/
or measured in accordance with the applicable IPSAS (whichever is earlier)
and includes all intangible assets that meet the recognition criteria in IPSAS
31 at that date.

The criteria in IPSAS 31 require an entity to recognize an intangible asset if,
and only if:

(@)  Itis probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to
the asset will flow to the entity; and

(b)  The cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

IPSAS 31 supplements these two criteria with further, more specific, criteria
for internally generated intangible assets.

In accordance with paragraphs 63 and 66 of IPSAS 31, an entity capitalises
the costs of internally generated intangible assets prospectively from the date
when the recognition criteria are met. IPSAS 33 allows an entity to recognize
previously expensed intangible assets to the extent that the item meets the
definition of an intangible asset, and the recognition criteria in IPSAS 31.
Thus, if an internally generated intangible asset qualifies for recognition at the
date of adoption of IPSASs, or where the first-time adopter takes advantage
of the exemption that provides relief from the recognition of intangible
assets, the date on which the exemptions expire and/or when the intangible
assets are recognized and/or measured in accordance with the IPSAS 31
(whichever is earlier) the first-time adopter recognizes and/or measures the
asset in its opening statement of financial position even if it had recognized
the related expenditure as an expense in accordance with its pervious basis of
accounting.

IPSAS 33 IMPLEMENTATION GUIDANCE 1598



IG78.

IG79.

IGR0.

IG8I.

FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF ACCRUAL BASIS IPSASS

If the asset does not qualify for recognition in accordance with IPSAS 31
until a later date, its cost is the sum of the expenditure incurred from that later
date.

The criteria in paragraph IG76 also apply to intangible assets acquired
separately. In many cases, contemporaneous documentation prepared to
support the decision to acquire the asset will contain an assessment of the
future economic benefits or service potential. Furthermore, as explained in
paragraph 33 of IPSAS 31, the cost of a separately acquired intangible asset
can usually be measured reliably.

A first-time adopter may elect to use one of the following amounts as the
deemed cost of intangible assets (except for internally generated intangible
assets):

(@  Fair value at the date of adoption of IPSASs, or where a first-time
adopter takes advantage of the exemption that provides a three year
transitional relief period to not recognize and/or measure certain
assets, the date at which the asset is recognized and/or measured
during the period of transition, or the date on which the exemptions
expire (whichever is earlier) (paragraph 67 of IPSAS 33), in which
case the entity gives the disclosures required by paragraph 148 of
IPSAS 33; or

(b) A revaluation in accordance with its previous basis of accounting that
meets the criteria in paragraph 67 of IPSAS 33.

If a first-time adopter’s amortization methods and rates in accordance with
its previous basis of accounting are acceptable in accordance with IPSASs,
it accounts for any change in estimated useful life or amortization pattern
prospectively from when it makes that change in estimate (paragraphs 23
and 24 of IPSAS 33 and paragraph 103 of IPSAS 31). However, in some
cases, the first-time adopter’s amortization methods and rates in accordance
with its previous basis of accounting may differ from those that would be
acceptable in accordance with IPSASs (for example, if they do not reflect
a reasonable estimate of the asset’s useful life). If those differences have
a material effect on the financial statements, the first-time adopter adjusts
accumulated amortization on in its opening statement of financial position
retrospectively so that it complies with IPSASs.

IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements

1G82.

If a first-time adopter did not consolidate a controlled entity in accordance
with its previous basis of accounting, then, in its consolidated financial
statements, the first-time adopter measures the controlled entity’s assets
and liabilities at the same carrying amounts as in the accrual basis financial
statements of the controlled entity following its adoption of IPSASs, after
adjusting for consolidation procedures and for the effects of the public sector
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combination in which it acquired the controlled entity (paragraph 130 of
IPSAS 33). If the controlled entity has not adopted accrual basis IPSASs
in its financial statements, the carrying amounts described in the previous
sentence are those that IPSASs would require in those financial statements.

Controlling Entity Adopts Accrual Basis IPSASs Before the Controlled Entity

Background

IG83.

Controlling entity A presents its (consolidated) first IPSAS financial statements
in 20X35. Its controlled entity B, wholly owned by controlling entity A since
formation, prepares i